VOLKSWAGEN GROUP




Key Figures

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

2022 2021 %

Volume Data® in thousands

Deliveries to customers (units) 8,263 8,882 -7.0
Vehicle sales (units) 8,481 8,576 -1.1
Production (units) 8,717 8,283 +5.2
Employees at Dec. 31 675.8 672.8 +0.4

Financial Data (IFRSs), € million

Sales revenue 279,232 250,200 +11.6

Operating result before special items 22,523 20,026 +12.5
Operating return on sales before special items (%) 8.1 8.0

Special items -399 -751 —46.8

Operating result 22,124 19,275 +14.8
Operating return on sales (%) 7.9 7.7

Earnings before tax 22,044 20,126 +9.5
Return on sales before tax (%) 7.9 8.0

Earnings after tax 15,836 15,428 +2.6

Automotive Division?

Total research and development costs 18,908 15,583 +21.3
R&D ratio (%) 8.1 7.6

Cash flows from operating activities 29,865 32,402 -7.8

Cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities? 25,058 23,793 +5.3

of which: capex 12,731 10,496 +21.3
capex/sales revenue (%) 5.5 5.1

Net cash flow 4,807 8,610 —44.2

Net liquidity at Dec. 31 43,015 26,685 +61.2
Return on investment (ROI) in % 12.0 10.4

Financial Services Division
Return on equity before tax* (%) 14.0 17.3

VOLKSWAGEN AG

2022 2021 %

Volume Data in thousands
Employees at Dec. 31 116.7 117.6 -0.8

Financial Data (HGB), € million

Sales revenue 79,491 70,917 +12.1
Net income for the fiscal year 12,477 4,041 X
Dividends (€)

per ordinary share 8.70 7.50

per preferred share 8.76 7.56
1 Volume data including the unconsolidated Chinese joint ventures. These companies are accounted for using the equity method. Prior-year deliveries updated to reflect

subsequent statistical trends.

Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions.
Excluding acquisition and disposal of equity investments: €22,061 (17,910) million.

Earnings before tax as a percentage of average equity.
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This document is an English translation of the original annual report written in German. In case of discrepancies, the German version shall take precedence. All figures shown in the report
are rounded, so minor discrepancies may arise from addition of these amounts. The figures from the previous fiscal year are shown in parentheses directly after the figures for the current
reporting period. Specified vehicle ranges correspond to results obtained through the Worldwide Harmonized Light Vehicles Test Procedure (WLTP) on the chassis dynamometer. WLTP value
ranges for series-produced vehicles may vary depending on the equipment. The actual range will deviate in practice depending on various other factors.
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This annual report was published on the occasion of the Annual Media Conference on March 14, 2023.

This annual report contains forward-looking statements on the business development of the Volkswagen
Group. These statements are based on assumptions relating to the development of the economic, political
and legal environment in individual countries, economic regions and markets, and in particular for the auto-
motive industry, which we have made on the basis of the information available to us and which we consider to
be realistic at the time of going to press. The estimates given entail a degree of risk, and actual developments
may differ from those forecast. Any changes in significant parameters relating to our key sales markets, or
any significant shifts in exchange rates, energy and other commodities or the supply of parts relevant to the
Volkswagen Group, or deviations in the actual effects of the Covid-19 pandemic from the scenario presented
in this report will have a corresponding effect on the development of our business. In addition, there may be
departures from our expected business development if the assessments of the factors influencing sustainable
value enhancement and of risks and opportunities presented in this annual report develop in a way other than
we are currently expecting, or if additional risks and opportunities or other factors emerge that affect the
development of our business.
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Letter to our Shareholders
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We continued our transformation toward electric, digital mobility and strengthened our financial resilience
in fiscal year 2022. T am delighted with the remarkable effort made by our team of more than
675,000 employees. Our robust financial situation will enable us to make a strong investment in the future
in 2023. The automotive industry will change more in the next five years than in the previous 50. In my new
role as the Group’s CEO, I want to make our company even more successful, even more sustainable and even
more valuable in the new era of electric and digital mobility.

We are well prepared for this transformation both strategically and financially. The Volkswagen Group
achieved a solid result in 2022 and improved its profitability. And it did so in a challenging environment. Our
continued price and cost discipline and improvements in the mix contributed to this result. As a conse-
quence, we increased our operating result before special items by €2.5 billion to €22.5 billion. Sales revenue
rose by 11.6% to €279.2 billion thanks to improvements in the mix and in our price positioning.

We are pleased that we can also let you, our shareholders, share in this success. The Board of Management
and Supervisory Board propose a dividend of €8.70 per ordinary share and €8.76 per preferred share, a year-
over-year increase of €1.20 per ordinary and preferred share, respectively.

My personal highlight in fiscal year 2022 was Porsche’s IPO. The IPO marked a historic day and Porsche is
more independent and agile. Its new independence allows the brand to gain even more momentum. At the
same time, the IPO brought in proceeds of around €16 billion for the Group. This means our Automotive
Division closed fiscal year 2022 with net liquidity of €43 billion.

One priority in the past year was to strengthen the robustness of our global operations. In view of geopolitical
developments such as nationalism or protectionism, we will further diversify our business globally.
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We are the market leader in Europe and China and aim to hold this position. At the same time, we have
expanded our business in the United States and have an ambitious growth plan. Local production of the
Volkswagen ID.4 has started at the plant in Chattanooga. With our newly launched Scout project, we plan to
enter the attractive US pickup and rugged SUV market. In Canada, we have started the search for a site for a
battery gigafactory. Growing electrification of the US automotive industry is creating the biggest strategic
growth opportunity for the Group in the market. In China, we will continue to invest in e-mobility and
software. Together with Horizon Robotics, the Group will press ahead with developing driver assistance
systems and highly automated driving in China.

Another priority in the past year was our company’s financial robustness. The aim is to make more efficient
use of our capital. We are sharpening our focus on return and net cash flow. I am determined to increase the
value of our company in a sustainable manner. That is why last year we began creating virtual equity stories
for our brands, brand groups and value drivers in the Group. In this way we aim to make the Group’s strengths
more visible and increase value in the long term. We will report on the initial results in the second quarter of
2023.

In 2022, we also took a major step forward in our transformation towards sustainable mobility, and increased
the share of electric vehicles relative to total deliveries. Almost 7% of all the vehicles we delivered worldwide
were powered by electricity alone. Overall, we sold 572,000 e-cars, a good 26% more than in the previous year.
This year, we are aiming for electric vehicles to account for around 10% of our sales. TRATON will also continue
to push forward with the electrification of its buses and trucks.

A faster ramp-up of e-mobility requires us to expand our battery capacities and charging networks. In 2022,
we pooled our battery cell manufacturing activities within the newly established PowerCo battery unit.
Following the groundbreaking ceremony last July, our very first battery cell factory is currently being built in
Salzgitter, and we have already decided on the locations for three of the planned six battery factories in
Europe. In the past fiscal year, we launched a joint venture with Enel in Italy and strengthened our partner-
ship with bp in Europe in order to expand the charging network for our customers. Alongside progress with
our Electrify America charging network in the USA and CAMS in China, this has brought us a step closer to
our goal of creating 45,000 fast charging points worldwide by 2025.

Electric mobility is the greatest lever in achieving our objective of net carbon neutrality in 2050. A con-
siderable difference is also made by a more intense use of green electricity, which we already employ for the
entire external power supply at our European plants. Furthermore, I am delighted that the prestigious
Science Based Targets Initiative has honored our more stringent CO; targets in production. We aim to reduce
production-related CO, emissions from our passenger cars and light commercial vehicles by 50% by 2030, an
improvement on the initial goal of 30%.

One of our most pressing issues last year was the reorganization of our software activities. Establishing our
automotive software unit CARIAD was very clearly the right decision, and now we have taken CARIAD a step
further: we have examined which core competencies we will cater for in house and where partnerships make
more sense. We have redefined the interfaces to our brands and optimized processes and tools. Our long-
term goal continues to be the development of uniform software for the Group that allows us to fully leverage
the economies of scale.
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Last year, we also expanded our mobility solutions further in order to meet the mobility needs of our
customers in the best way possible both now and in the future. Together with partners, we acquired Europcar
and recently launched the pilot phase of our new mobility platform in Vienna. This app will cover the
ecosystem of mobile services across all brands, from subscription models for several months, through
leasing, to car sharing for a few minutes.

Together with my Board of Management team, I set out from day one to give the Volkswagen Group a new
format. One that is strong, robust, resilient, digital and sustainable. In 2022, we took stock of the most
important areas of action, tackled a large number of issues and made many decisions. The direction has been
set with our new ten-point plan.

We will start implementing the plan this year and will report regularly on progress. Our goal is to play a
leading role in the market for e-mobility, too, with first-class products and services that boast persuasive
design and technology, and a convincing user experience. We continue to work on achieving a globally
balanced presence in Europe, in China, and with a strong third pillar in North America. And we are controlling
our brands and platforms by means of binding key performance indicators, while at the same time
promoting entrepreneurship and sustainable value creation.

These are all tasks that we are tackling together as a team. I warmly invite you to join the Board of
Management team and me as we implement our strategy in 2023.

Sincerely,

(5 dene.

Oliver Blume
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Together with my Board of Management team,
[ set out from day one to give the Volkswagen
Group a new format. One that is strong, robust,
resilient, digital and sustainable.

— Oliver Blume —
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To our Shareholders Report of the Supervisory Board

Report of the Supervisory Board

(in accordance with section 171(2) of the AktG)

Ladies and gentlemen,

In fiscal year 2022, the work of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG and its committees focused on the
Volkswagen Group’s strategic direction. This included the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG and the sale of 25%
plus one ordinary share of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG to Porsche Automobil Holding SE. The Supervisory Board
regularly deliberated on the Company’s position and development in the reporting period. We supervised
and supported the Board of Management in its running of the business and advised it on issues relating to
the management of the Company, and particularly on sustainability issues, in accordance with our duties
under the law, the Articles of Association and the rules of procedure. The Supervisory Board was directly
involved in all decisions of fundamental importance to the Group. Additionally, we discussed strategic
considerations with the Board of Management at regular intervals.

The Board of Management complied with its disclosure obligations, which are set out in the information
policy adopted by the Supervisory Board in 2018. The Board of Management provided us with information
regularly, promptly and comprehensively both in writing and orally, particularly on all matters of relevance
to the Company relating to its strategy, business development and the Company’s planning and position.
This also included the risk situation and risk management. In this respect, the Board of Management also
informed the Supervisory Board of further improvements to the internal control system and the risk and
compliance management systems. In addition, the Supervisory Board received information about
compliance and other topical issues from the Board of Management on an ongoing basis. We received the
documents relevant to our decisions in good time for our meetings. At regular intervals, we also received a
detailed report from the Board of Management on the current business position and the forecast for the
current year. Any deviations in performance from the plans and targets previously drawn up were explained
in detail by the Board of Management, either in person or in writing. Together with the Board of Management
we analyzed the reasons for the deviations and determined corresponding countermeasures. In particular,
the Board of Management reported in detail and in a timely manner on the impacts related to the Russia-
Ukraine conflict and explained the measures that had been taken.

In addition, the Chair of the Supervisory Board consulted with the Chair of the Board of Management at
regular intervals between meetings to discuss important current issues. These included the Group’s strategy
and planning, its business development, and the risk situation and risk management, including integrity
and compliance issues in the Volkswagen Group. Within reason, the Chair of the Supervisory Board discusses
Supervisory Board-specific topics with investors and, in consultation with the Board of Management, may
also discuss non-Supervisory Board-specific topics. Governance issues were one focus of the discussions. The
Chair of the Supervisory Board informed the Supervisory Board of such discussions after they had taken
place.
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The Supervisory Board held a total of 16 meetings in fiscal year 2022. Eight of the meetings were held face to
face and eight as video or conference calls. In four meetings, the Supervisory Board solely discussed the IPO
of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG and the sale of 25% plus one ordinary share of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG to
Porsche Automobil Holding SE. The Supervisory Board members who had indicated that they had a possible
conflict of interest in this regard did not participate in these meetings. On this basis, the attendance rate
(calculated for all meetings held during the fiscal year under review and for all Supervisory Board members
in office) was 85.0%. Supervisory Board members who did not attend a meeting for reasons other than a
possible conflict of interests were able to engage with the meeting topics using the preparatory documents
and could participate in the resolutions by means of a written vote. Particularly urgent matters were decided
in writing or using electronic means of communication.

COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES

In order to discharge the duties entrusted to it, the Supervisory Board has established four committees: the
Executive Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Mediation Committee established in accordance with
section 27(3) of the Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG — German Codetermination Act) and the Audit
Committee. The Executive Committee is comprised of four shareholder representatives and four employee
representatives. The shareholder representatives on the Executive Committee make up the Nomination
Committee. The Mediation Committee is comprised of two shareholder representatives and two employee
representatives, as was the Audit Committee until July 31, 2022. Since then, the Audit Committee has been
comprised of three shareholder representatives and three employee representatives. The members of these
committees as of December 31, 2022 are stated in the Group Corporate Governance Declaration.

The Executive Committee met 38 times in the reporting period. Sixteen of the meetings were held face to
face and 22 as video or conference calls. In 22 meetings, the Executive Committee solely discussed the IPO of
Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG and the sale of 25% plus one ordinary share of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG to Porsche
Automobil Holding SE. At its other meetings, the Executive Committee meticulously prepared the
resolutions of the Supervisory Board, discussed the allocation of responsibilities, size and composition of
the Board of Management and took decisions on matters such as contractual issues concerning the Board of
Management other than remuneration, and consent to ancillary activities by members of the Board of
Management.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for proposing suitable candidates for the Supervisory Board
to recommend for election to the Annual General Meeting. In doing so, it takes into account the targets set
by the Supervisory Board for its composition, and the diversity concept for the composition of the
Supervisory Board, and strives to fill the profile of skills and expertise prepared for the full Board. The
Nomination Committee also particularly makes sure that there are no gaps in the skills and expertise of the
full Board (Skill Gaps Assessment). No meetings of this committee took place in 2022.

The Mediation Committee established in accordance with section 27(3) of the MitbestG did not need to
convene in the reporting year.

The Audit Committee held four meetings in 2022. All four of the meetings were held face to face; none
were held as video or conference calls. It focused on the annual and consolidated financial statements, the
Risk Management System including the effectiveness of the Internal Control System and the Internal Audit
System, and the work performed by the Company’s Compliance organization. In addition, the Audit
Committee concerned itself with the Volkswagen Group’s quarterly reports and the half-yearly financial
report, as well as with current issues, the supervision of financial reporting and the financial reporting
process, and the examination thereof by the auditors. The Audit Committee regularly evaluates the quality
of the audit. In consultation with the auditors, it discusses the assessment of audit risk, the audit strategy
and audit planning and the results of the audit.

11
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Hans Dieter Potsch

Furthermore, the shareholder and employee representatives generally met for separate preliminary
discussions before each of the Supervisory Board meetings.

In connection with their seat on the Supervisory Board, members of the Supervisory Board receive
support from the Company upon induction as well as with respect to education and training; the Company
particularly supports the organization of seminars and bears the costs thereof. In the reporting year, for
example, the Supervisory Board members received training on compliance and integrity, on new
environmental, social and governance (ESG) developments and requirements, and on the EU Taxonomy.
Supervisory Board members appointed for the first time are also provided with a detailed introduction to
topics that apply specifically to the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG.

TOPICS DISCUSSED BY THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The first Supervisory Board meeting in the reporting year took place on February 24, 2022 and discussed
plans for the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG and the sale of 25% plus one ordinary share of Dr. Ing. h.c. F.
Porsche AG to Porsche Automobil Holding SE.

The next meeting of the Supervisory Board took place on March 4, 2022. Alongside the development and
manufacture of a forward-looking electric vehicle from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand, the meeting’s
agenda primarily comprised formal topics.

The Supervisory Board convened for another meeting on March 11, 2022. Following a detailed
examination, we approved the consolidated financial statements and the annual financial statements of
Volkswagen AG for 2021 prepared by the Board of Management. We examined the combined management
report, the combined separate nonfinancial report for 2021 and the precautionary Report by the Board of
Management on Relationships of Volkswagen AG with Affiliated Companies in accordance with section

12
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312 of the AktG (dependent company report). Upon completion of our examination of the dependent
company report, we came to the conclusion that there were no objections to be raised to the concluding
declaration by the Board of Management in the dependent company report. The other items on the agenda
included the issue of the audit engagement for the 2022 annual and consolidated financial statements as
well as the engagement for the review of the condensed consolidated interim financial statements and
interim management reports for 2022, the engagement for the external audit of the content of the combined
separate nonfinancial report for 2022 and of the remuneration report for 2022, and the agenda for and
convening of the 62nd Annual General Meeting of Volkswagen AG.

At the next Supervisory Board meeting on April 7, 2022, the focus was on the composition of the Board of
Management of Volkswagen AG and Audi’s possible entry into the Formula 1 race series.

On May 11, 2022, the Supervisory Board held a meeting that, alongside the plans for the manufacture of
all-electric models for the US market under the Scout brand, particularly discussed the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. F.
Porsche AG and the sale of 25% plus one ordinary share of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG to Porsche Automobil
Holding SE, the composition of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG, and
preparations for the 62nd Annual General Meeting of Volkswagen AG.

The next meeting of the Supervisory Board took place following the Annual General Meeting of
Volkswagen AG on May 12, 2022; we discussed the composition of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG
and analyzed the Annual General Meeting.

At the Supervisory Board meeting on July 8, 2022, we discussed, among other things, the composition of
the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG and the plans relating to the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG
and the sale of 25% plus one ordinary share of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG to Porsche Automobil Holding SE.
We also discussed the raw materials strategy.

The Supervisory Board meeting onJuly 22, 2022, focused on the composition of the Board of Management
of Volkswagen AG. We resolved at this meeting to appoint Dr. Oliver Blume as the Chair of the Board of
Management of Volkswagen AG effective September 1, 2022, and agreed with Dr. Herbert Diess that he would
step down from this position at the same time.

The Supervisory Board held its next meeting on August 30, 2022, also to discuss the composition of the
Board of Management of Volkswagen AG. We discussed changes to Group management and a new allocation
of responsibilities on the Board of Management. In this context, the Board of Management was also slimmed
down to nine members, and a number of Group Management functions were created as an extension to the
board-level management functions.

At the Supervisory Board meetings on September 5, September 18 and September 28, 2022, we discussed
the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG and the sale of 25% plus one ordinary share of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG
to Porsche Automobil Holding SE. Among other things, we decided, based on the rules on related-party
transactions, to approve the conclusion of the share purchase agreement between Volkswagen AG and
Porsche Automobil Holding SE regarding the sale of 25% plus one ordinary share of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG
to Porsche Automobil Holding SE.

The meeting of the Supervisory Board on September 30, 2022 focused particularly on strategic issues.
Among other things, we discussed the plans of the Board of Management regarding a partnership in China
in the field of artificial intelligence and the way forward with regard to the business activities of Scania and
MAN in Russia.

On October 13, 2022, the Supervisory Board held a meeting in which we again looked at strategic issues.
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At the Supervisory Board meeting on November 11, 2022, we discussed the composition of the Board of
Management of Volkswagen AG. We also discussed with the Board of Management the status of the
development and production of a forward-looking electric vehicle from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand
as well as plans for the manufacture of all-electric models for the US market. In addition, we looked at the
current status of the Volkswagen Group’s investment and financial planning for the period from 2023 to 2027.
Together with the Board of Management, we issued the annual declaration of conformity with the German
Corporate Governance Code and resolved in this context to update the profile of skills and expertise for the
Supervisory Board.

The final Supervisory Board meeting of the reporting year took place on December 15, 2022. At this
meeting, we discussed preparations for the Extraordinary General Meeting on December 16, 2022 and
redrafted the rules of procedure for the Board of Management.

In the reporting period, we voted in writing on, among other things, supporting the proposal by the
shareholder Qatar Holding to elect Mr. Al-Mahmoud to the Supervisory Board, the election of Mr. Al-
Mahmoud as Chair of the Audit Committee, HR-related matters, and consent to ancillary activities by
members of the Board of Management.

The following table shows the number of meetings of the full Board and the committees as well as the
individual participation of the members of the Supervisory Board in 2022:

Meetings of the full

Supervisory Board  Meetings of the Committees

Hans Dieter P6tsch 12 out of 16 16 out of 38
Jorg Hofmann 15 out of 16 38 out of 38
Dr. Hussain Ali Al Abdulla (until May 12, 2022) 5outof 5 -
Dr. Hessa Sultan Al Jaber 11 out of 16 -
Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud (since May 12, 2022) 7 out of 11 loutofl
Dr. Bernd Althusmann (until November 8, 2022) 11 out of 14 -
Harald Buck (since October 4, 2022) 3outof3 -
Matias Carnero Sojo 13 out of 16 N
Daniela Cavallo 16 out of 16 40 out of 40
Dr. Hans-Peter Fischer (until May 12, 2022) 5outof 5 -
Julia Willie Hamburg (since November 8, 2022) 2 outof 2 -
Marianne Hei 16 out of 16 4outof4
Dr. Arno Homburg (since May 12, 2022) 11loutof1l -
Ulrike Jakob (until May 12, 2022) 5outof 5 -
Dr. Louise Kiesling (until December 9, 2022) 8 outof 15 -
Simone Mahler (since May 12, 2022) 1loutof1l -
Peter Mosch 16 out of 16 38 out of 40
Bertina Murkovic (until May 12, 2022) 5out of 5 15 out of 15
Daniela Nowak (since May 12, 2022) 11 out of 11 -
Dr. Hans Michel Piéch 12 out of 16 16 out of 38
Dr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche 11 outof 16 4outof 4
Dr. Wolfgang Porsche 12 outof 16 16 out of 38
Jens Rothe 14 out of 16 23 out of 24
Conny Schénhardt 16 out of 16 4outof4
Stephan Weil 14 out of 16 35 out of 38
Werner Weresch (until September 30, 2022) 9 out of 13 -
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Supervisory Board members who are also members of the Piéch or Porsche families or were involved in
the transaction in a governing body of Porsche Automobil Holding SE or Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG did not
participate in the discussions and resolutions of the Supervisory Board regarding the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. E.
Porsche AG and the sale of 25% plus one ordinary share of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG to Porsche Automobil
Holding SE. These Supervisory Board members had already indicated a possible conflict of interest before the
Supervisory Board first discussed the plans for and implementation of the IPO and sale of ordinary shares.
This was because the financial interests of Porsche Automobil Holding SE and Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, and
indirectly those of the Piéch and Porsche families, may potentially have been affected by the matter
concerned. This affected Dr. Kiesling, Dr. Piéch, Mr. Potsch, Dr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche, Dr. Wolfgang
Porsche and Mr. Weresch. Ms. Heif§ instead indicated that she would not participate in discussions or
resolutions of the Supervisory Board of Porsche Automobil Holding SE, of which she is also a member, where
these related to the plans for and implementation of the IPO and sale of ordinary shares. In early September
2022, when Qatar Holding was considering entering into an agreement with Volkswagen AG, Dr. Ing. h.c. F.
Porsche AG and Porsche Holding Stuttgart GmbH as a cornerstone investor in relation to the preferred shares
in Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Dr. Al Jaber and Mr. Al-Mahmoud also indicated that they had a possible conflict
of interest in connection with the plans for and implementation of the IPO and sale of ordinary shares and
did not participate in the further discussions and resolutions of the Supervisory Board regarding the IPO and
sale of ordinary shares. This particularly also involved the discussions and resolutions of the Supervisory
Board regarding the conclusion of the cornerstone investor agreement with Qatar Holding.

As a precaution, Mr. Potsch and Ms. Cavallo abstained from the resolutions of the Supervisory Board on
September 30, 2022 concerning the way forward with regard to the business activities of Scania and MAN in
Russia, which also involved the sale of equity investments by TRATON SE to Volkswagen AG. Mr. Pétsch and
Ms. Cavallo are also members of the Supervisory Board of TRATON SE and had already discussed the relevant
measures in the TRATON SE Supervisory Board.

No other conflicts of interest were reported or were discernible in the reporting period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY

The Supervisory Board meeting on November 11, 2022 focused on the implementation of the recom-
mendations and suggestions of the Code in the Volkswagen Group. We discussed the Code’s requirements in
detail and issued the annual declaration of conformity with the recommendations of the Code in accordance
with section 161 of the AktG together with the Board of Management.

The joint declarations of conformity by the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board are
permanently available at www.volkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations/corporate-governance/declaration-
of-conformity.html. Additional information on the implementation of the recommendations and
suggestions of the Code can be found in the Group Corporate Governance Declaration.

In 2020, the Audit Committee agreed on a suitable procedure with the Board of Management for ongoing
monitoring of the Volkswagen Group’s related-party transactions. As part of this process, the Board of
Management ensures that related-party transactions are generally at arm’s length using the “best price”
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principle. In addition, all transactions with the individual related parties are analyzed to determine whether
transactions with the same related party cumulatively exceed the relevant threshold of 1.5% of the
Volkswagen Group’s total fixed and current assets, above which obligations under the rules on related-party
transactions apply. In addition, the Procurement organization reports all transactions in which the volume
of the contract exceeds the amount of €1 billion; in such cases, it is then checked separately whether the
contractual partner is a related party within the meaning of the rules on related-party transactions. The Audit
Committee continuously monitors the actions of the Board of Management. To this end, the Audit
Committee commissioned Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft (EY), most recently in
November 2022, to conduct spot checks of the related parties with whom Volkswagen AG or other
Volkswagen Group companies were conducting transactions, the total financial value of which in fiscal year
2022 exceeded the relevant threshold of 1.5% of the Volkswagen Group’s total fixed and current assets, above
which obligations under the rules on related-party transactions apply. If and to the extent that the economic
value of the related-party transactions exceeded the relevant threshold, these transactions were also checked
to establish whether they were conducted at arm’s length in accordance with proper business practice. On
September 5, 2022, based on the rules on related-party transactions, the Supervisory Board approved the
conclusion of the share purchase agreement between Volkswagen AG and Porsche Automobil Holding SE for
the sale of 25% plus one ordinary share of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG to Porsche Automobil Holding SE. The
share purchase agreement was concluded on September 18, 2022 and published in accordance with the rules
on related-party transactions. No other disclosures or approval decisions on the part of the Supervisory
Board regarding related-party transactions were required in the reporting period.

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
In the election of the employee representatives to the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG on April 29, 2022
in Wolfsburg, Ms. Simone Mahler, Chair of the Works Council of Volkswagen Financial Services AG in
Braunschweig, Ms. Daniela Nowak, Chair of the Works Council of Volkswagen AG in Braunschweig, and Dr.
Arno Homburg, Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen Management Association were elected as
members of the Volkswagen AG Supervisory Board for the first time. They succeed Ms. Ulrike Jakob, Ms.
Bertina Murkovic and Dr. Hans-Peter Fischer. The other employee representatives on the Supervisory Board
were re-elected. Their term of office began at the close of the Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2022.
Following the Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2022, the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG re-elected
Mr. Hans Dieter Potsch as the Chair and Mr. Jorg Hofmann as the Deputy Chair of the Supervisory Board.
With effect from the close of the Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2022, the Supervisory Board member
Dr. Hussain Ali Al Abdulla stepped down from his post before the end of his term of office. As proposed by
the shareholder Qatar Holding, the Annual General Meeting elected Mr. Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud as
his successor for the remainder of Dr. Al Abdulla’s term of office, beginning from the close of the 2022 Annual
General Meeting on May 12, 2022.
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Mr. Harald Buck, member of the General and Group Works Council of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, was court-
appointed as a member of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG effective from October 4, 2022. He
succeeded Mr. Werner Weresch, who had stepped down from his post with effect from the close of September
30, 2022.

Effective from November 8, 2022, the State of Lower Saxony appointed the new Vice Minister President
and Minister of Education and Cultural Affairs of Lower Saxony, Ms. Julia Willie Hamburg, to the Volkswagen
AG Supervisory Board as Dr. Bernd Althusmann’s successor.

Dr. Gunther Horvath, Managing Director of Dr. Giinther J. Horvath Rechtsanwalt GmbH and self-
employed attorney at Dr. Glinther J. Horvath Rechtsanwalt GmbH, was court-appointed as a member of the
Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG effective February 28, 2023. He succeeded Dr. Louise Kiesling, who
passed away on December 9, 2022.

A new board-level management function — Volkswagen Passenger Cars — was established as of January 1,
2022, and was the responsibility of Mr. Ralf Brandstatter from that same date until June 30, 2022. Moreover,
with effect from February 1, 2022, Ms. Hildegard Wortmann took over responsibility for the new Group Sales
board-level management function, Dr. Manfred Doss the Integrity and Legal Affairs board-level management
function (previously managed by Ms. Hiltrud Dorothea Werner), and Ms. Hauke Stars the IT board-level
management function (previously managed on an interim basis by Dr. Arno Antlitz). Effective from July 1,
2022, Mr. Thomas Schafer took over responsibility for the Volkswagen Passenger Cars function. Mr.
Brandstatter, who was previously in this role, became the Board member responsible for China effective from
August 1, 2022.

OnJuly 22, 2022, the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG appointed Dr. Oliver Blume as the new Chair of
the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG effective from September 1, 2022. Dr. Blume combines this role
with his position as Chair of the Executive Board of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG. The previous Chair of the Board
of Management of Volkswagen AG, Dr. Herbert Diess, left his position as member and Chair of the Board of
Management of Volkswagen AG by mutual agreement with effect from the close of August 31, 2022.

As part of changes to Group management, the Board of Management was reduced from twelve to nine
members with effect from the close of August 31, 2022. In the course of this change, Ms. Hildegard
Wortmann and Mr. Murat Aksel moved from the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG to the Group
Management functions newly created as an extension to the board-level management functions.

Our sincere thanks go out to all of the departing members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of
Management for their work.

Dr. Louise Kiesling, member of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG, passed away on December 9, 2022
at the age of 65. Dr. Kiesling had been a member of the Supervisory Board since 2015 and showed great
personal commitment to the development of our Company during her term of office. We will always honor
her memory.

Prof. Dr. Carl H. Hahn, former Chair of the Board of Management and member of the Supervisory Board of
Volkswagen AG, passed away on January 14, 2023 at the age of 96. Prof. Dr. Hahn was at the Volkswagen Group
from 1954 to 1972 and from 1982 to 1997 and decisively shaped the Company’s development during this
time. With his always tireless commitment, he played a major part in setting the course for the Volkswagen
Group’s success. The Company and its staff applaud his achievements with gratitude and respect. We will
remember his life and work fondly.
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AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In line with our proposal, the Annual General Meeting of Volkswagen AG on May 12, 2022 elected EY as
auditors and Group auditors for fiscal year 2022. The auditors confirmed the annual financial statements of
Volkswagen AG, the consolidated financial statements of the Volkswagen Group and the combined
management report by issuing unqualified audit reports in each case. The Audit Committee had also agreed
with the auditor that the auditor would inform the Audit Committee if, while conducting the audit, matters
were identified that constituted an inaccuracy in the Declaration on the Code submitted by the Board of
Management and Supervisory Board. The auditor did not inform the Audit Committee of any such matters.

The Supervisory Board also commissioned EY to conduct an external limited assurance review of the
content of the combined separate nonfinancial report for 2022.

In addition, the auditors analyzed the risk early warning and monitoring system that is integrated into
the Risk Management System, concluding that the Board of Management had taken the measures required
by section 91(2) of the AktG to ensure early detection of any risks endangering the continued existence of
the Company. The Report on Relationships of Volkswagen AG with Affiliated Companies as per section 312
of the AktG (dependent company report) submitted by the Board of Management for the period from
January 1 to December 31, 2022 was also audited by the auditors, who issued the following opinion: “In our
opinion and in accordance with our statutory audit, we certify that the factual disclosures provided in the
report are correct and that the Company’s consideration concerning legal transactions referred to in the
report was not unduly high.”

The members of the Audit Committee and the members of the Supervisory Board were provided with the
documentation relating to the annual and consolidated financial statements, including the dependent
company report, the documentation relating to the combined management report, and also the audit
reports prepared by the auditors and the report from EY on the external audit of the content of the combined
separate nonfinancial report for 2022 in good time for their meetings both on March 2, 2023. The auditors
reported extensively at both meetings on the material findings of their audit and were available to provide
additional information. The Chair of the Audit Committee was also in close contact with the auditors,
including between the meetings and during preparation for the Audit Committee meetings, about the
progress of the audit and reported to the Audit Committee on this. The Audit Committee consulted regularly
with the auditor, including without the Board of Management.

Taking into consideration the audit reports and the discussion with the auditors, and based on its own
conclusions, the Audit Committee prepared the documents for the Supervisory Board’s examination of the
consolidated financial statements, the annual financial statements of Volkswagen AG, the combined
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management report, the dependent company report and the combined separate nonfinancial report for
2022, and reported on these at the Supervisory Board meeting on March 3, 2023. Following this, the Audit
Committee recommended that the Supervisory Board approve the annual and consolidated financial
statements. We examined the documents in depth in the knowledge and on the basis of the report by the
Audit Committee and the audit report, as well as in talks and discussions with the auditors. We came to the
conclusion that the documents were drawn up in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
and that the assessment of the position of the Company and the Group presented by the Board of
Management in the combined management report corresponds to the assessment by the Supervisory Board.

We therefore concurred with the auditors’ findings and approved the annual financial statements and the
consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board of Management at our meeting on March 3, 2023,
which the auditors also attended for the agenda items relating to the annual and consolidated financial
statements, the dependent company report and the combined management report. The annual financial
statements are thus adopted. Upon completion of our examination of the dependent company report, there
are no objections to be raised to the concluding declaration by the Board of Management in the dependent
company report. We reviewed the proposal on the appropriation of net profit submitted by the Board of
Management, taking into account in particular the interests of the Company and its shareholders, and
endorsed the proposal. EY conducted an external audit of the content in the combined separate nonfinancial
report for 2022 to attain limited assurance and issued an unqualified report. At our meeting on March 3,
2023, EY also took part in the discussions on the agenda items relating to the combined separate nonfinancial
report for 2022. Upon completion of its own independent examination of the combined separate
nonfinancial report for 2022, the Supervisory Board did not have any objections. We also resolved that,
together with the Board of Management, we would prepare the remuneration report for fiscal year 2022. The
Executive Committee prepared the resolution of the Supervisory Board concerning the preparation of the
remuneration report. As well as reviewing whether the remuneration report contained all the disclosures
required by law, EY went beyond statutory requirements to audit its content and issued an unqualified report.

We would like to offer our thanks and particular appreciation to the Board of Management, the Works
Council, the management teams and all the employees of Volkswagen AG and its affiliated companies for
their work in 2022. The year 2022 again brought many, in some cases major challenges to overcome —
particularly the dramatic and far-reaching implications of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. With hard work and a
high level of personal commitment, they all made a decisive contribution to what was a successful 2022 fiscal
year for the Volkswagen Group.

Wolfsburg, March 3, 2023

K. d. Kllw

Hans Dieter Potsch
Chair of the Supervisory Board
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Divisions Brands and Business Fields

Brands and Business Fields

In fiscal year 2022, the Volkswagen Group found itself confronted by the challenges of a
difficult market environment worldwide, the limited availability of parts, and disruption
in the logistics chain.

GROUP STRUCTURE

The Volkswagen Group consists of two divisions: the Automotive Division and the Financial Services
Division. The Automotive Division comprises the Passenger Cars, Commercial Vehicles and Power Engi-
neering business areas. Activities of the Automotive Division comprise in particular the development of
vehicles, engines and vehicle software, and the production and sale of passenger cars, light commercial
vehicles, trucks, buses and motorcycles, as well as businesses for genuine parts, large-bore diesel engines,
turbomachinery and propulsion components. Mobility solutions are gradually being added to the range.
The Ducati brand is allocated to the Audi brand and thus to the Passenger Cars Business Area. Navistar has
supplemented the brands in the Commercial Vehicles Business Area since July 1, 2021. The Financial
Services Division’s activities comprise dealer and customer financing, vehicle leasing, direct banking and
insurance activities, fleet management and mobility services. At the beginning of 2022, we aligned the
reporting structure by brand and business field with the Group’s current strategy and management
structure.

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP REPORTING STRUCTURE

AUTOMOTIVE FINANCIAL SERVICES
DIVISION DIVISION

Passenger Cars Business Area Commercial Vehicles Business Area Power Engineering Business Area Dealer and customer financing
Volkswagen Passenger Cars TRATON Commercial Vehicles MAN Energy Solutions Leasing
SKODA Direct bank
SEAT Insurance
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles Fleet management
Tech. Components Mobility services
Audi
Porsche Automotive
CARIAD

Others
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In this chapter, we present the key volume and financial data relating to the Group brands and to Volks-
wagen Financial Services. In light of the considerable importance of the development of business in the
world’s largest single market for the Volkswagen Group, we also report on business developments and the
results of our activities in China in this chapter.

The production figures and deliveries to customers are differentiated by vehicle brands and their models
that carry the corresponding brand logo. Unit sales figures contain vehicles sold by respective brand com-
panies, including models of other Group brands. In some cases, there are marked differences between
delivery figures and unit sales as a result of our business development in China.

KEY FIGURES BY MARKET

The business of the Volkswagen Group and its brands was affected in 2022 by the difficult market environ-
ment worldwide, the limited availability of parts, and disruption in the logistics chain. The Volkswagen
Group generated an operating result before special items of €22.5 (20.0) billion in the reporting period.
Special items resulting from the diesel issue weighed on operating result in the amount of €-0.4 (-0.8) bil-
lion.

The Volkswagen Group’s unit sales in the reporting year stood at 8.5 (8.6) million vehicles. Sales revenue
increased by 11.6% to €279.2 billion. Improved price positioning and mix and exchange rate effects had a
positive impact.

In the Europe/Other markets region, unit sales decreased by 6.2% year-on-year to 3.5 million vehicles. How-
ever, positive mix effects and improved price positioning helped to lift sales revenue to €154.5 (145.6) bil-
lion.

Unit sales in the North American markets increased by 7.8% to 868 thousand vehicles in 2022. Sales
revenue increased to €60.1 (45.3) billion, due mainly to the inclusion of Navistar as of July 1, 2021, as well as
exchange rate effects.

On markets in the South America region, we sold 487 thousand vehicles in 2022, a decrease of 3.2% com-
pared with 2021. Sales revenue increased by 40.2% to €15.5 billion due to mix and exchange rate effects.

In the Asia-Pacific region, the Volkswagen Group’s unit sales - including the Chinese joint ventures —
increased to 3.6 (3.5) million vehicles in 2022. Sales revenue improved to €51.4 (48.7) billion. Negative
effects resulting from lower volumes — not including the Chinese Joint Ventures — were offset by positive
exchange rate effects. This figure does not include the sales revenue of our equity-accounted Chinese joint
ventures.

Hedging transactions relating to sales revenue in foreign currency had a negative impact of €-2.3 (-0.4) bil-
lion on the sales revenue of the Volkswagen Group in the reporting year.

22



Divisions Brands and Business Fields

KEY FIGURES BY BRAND AND BUSINESS FIELD

VEHICLE SALES SALES REVENUE OPERATING RESULT
Thousand vehicles/€ million 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
IS s SN eSS SN | (——
Volume brand group 4,069 4,133 113,762 101,858 4,045 3,488
Volkswagen Passenger Cars 2,594 2,719 73,773 67,856 2,647 2,160
SKODA 863 784 21,026 17,743 628 1,083
SEAT 468 494 10,941 9,614 33 -233
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles 340 326 11,455 9,909 529 73
Tech. Components - - 17,966 16,386 130 329
Consolidation -195 -190 -21,399 -19,650 78 76
Audi (Premium brand group)* 1,070 1,024 61,753 55,914 7,622 5,936
Porsche Automotive (Sport & Luxury brand group)? 314 297 34,591 30,289 6,423 5,006
TRATON Commercial Vehicles? 306 273 39,516 30,092 1,583 161
Equity-accounted companies in China* 3,122 3,042 - - - -
MAN Energy Solutions - - 3,565 3,278 284 179
CARIAD - - 796 518 —2,068 -1,327
Volkswagen Financial Services - - 44,155 41,662 5,602 5,672
Other® -400 -195 —-18,907 -13,410 -966 913
Volkswagen Group before special items - - - - 22,523 20,026
Special items = - = = -399 =751
Volkswagen Group 8,481 8,576 279,232 250,200 22,124 19,275
Automotive Division® 8,481 8,576 232,385 206,237 16,468 13,230
of which: Passenger Cars Business Area 8,175 8,303 189,304 172,868 14,600 13,051
Commercial Vehicles Business Area 306 273 39,516 30,092 1,588 134
Power Engineering Business Area - - 3,565 3,278 281 45
Financial Services Division - - 46,847 43,963 5,656 6,045
1 The previous year’s figures were calculated by means of the simple addition of the figures for Bentley.
2 Porsche (including Financial Services): sales revenue €37,630 (33,138) million, operating result before special items €6,770 (5,286) million.
3 Includes Navistar as of July 1, 2021.
4 The sales revenue and operating result of the equity-accounted companies in China are not included in the consolidated figures; the share of the operating result generated by these

companies amounted to €3,280 (3,026) million.

In the operating result, mainly intragroup items recognized in profit or loss, in particular from the elimination of intercompany profits; the figure includes depreciation and
amortization of identifiable assets as part of purchase price allocation, as well as companies not allocated to the brands.

Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions.

v
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KEY FIGURES BY MARKET

VEHICLE SALES SALES REVENUE

Thousand vehicles/€ million 2022 2021 2022 2021

L& "3 |
Europe/Other Markets 3,495 3,727 154,529 145,570
North America 868 805 60,077 45,305
South America 487 503 15,476 11,039
Asia-Pacifict 3,632 3,540 51,444 48,672
Hedges on sales revenue - - -2,294 -386
Volkswagen Group* 8,481 8,576 279,232 250,200

1 The sales revenue of the joint venture companies in China is not included in the figures for the Group and the Asia-Pacific market.
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In fiscal year 2022, the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand celebrated the market debut
of the ID.4 Pro 4Motion, the all-electric all-rounder for everyday and leisure use.
The operating result improved year-on-year.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand aims to move people. The centerpiece of the ACCELERATE 2030
strategy is a global initiative through which the brand aspires to transform itself into a technology and
software business focused on customer needs.

In fiscal year 2022, the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand launched the ID.4 Pro 4Motion, the all-electric
all-rounder for everyday and leisure use. The powerful, assertive exterior features soft, gentle transitions,
alternating with sharp, defined edges, and gives the all-rounder excellent aerodynamics. The powerful dual-
motor all-wheel drive provides plenty of traction in virtually any everyday situation. Inside, the model
impresses with open space and a calm design that emphasizes the airy feel. At the ID. Meet in Locarno, the
Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand presented its offroad concept car “ID. XTREME”. The facelifted T-Roc
models also celebrated their premiere in the reporting period. The new compact SUVs “Roc stars” boast fresh
exterior design accents, improved controls and connectivity, and the latest generation of assistance sys-
tems. The popular Touareg and Golf R models also celebrated their 20th anniversary in the reporting period.
The brand celebrated these birthdays with the Touareg “Edition 20” and Golf R “20 Years” special models.

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand delivered 4.6 million vehicles globally in fiscal year 2022. This was
6.8% fewer than in the previous year. The decline was mainly due to continued limited vehicle availability
as a result of parts supply shortages.

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand sold 2.6 (2.7) million vehicles in the reporting year. ID. family
models and the T-Roc were increasingly sought-after, and the new Taigo was also very popular. The differ-
ence between deliveries and unit sales is due mainly to the fact that the vehicle-producing joint ventures in
China are not attributed to the companies in the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand.

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand produced 4.8 (4.6) million vehicles worldwide in 2022. In May
2022, Volkswagen Slovakia celebrated 20 years of Volkswagen Touareg production.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand increased its sales revenue by 8.7% year-on-year to €73.8 billion in
2022. The operating result before special items improved to €2.6 (2.2) billion, which was attributable above
all to improved price positioning, positive mix effects and reduced sales incentives. Increased commodity
prices adversely affected earnings. Upfront expenditure for new products and technologies increased. The
operating return on sales before special items amounted to 3.6 (3.2)%. The diesel issue gave rise to negative
special items.
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PRODUCTION VOLKSWAGEN PASSENGER CARS BRAND
Units 2022 2021 2022 2021 %

I — I . —
Tiguan 604,536 598,656  Deliveries (thousand units) 4,563 4,897 -6.8
Polo/Virtus/Nivus/Taigo 448,043 453,479  Vehicle sales 2,594 2,719 -4.6
Passat/Magotan 447,246 379,614 Production 4,811 4,575 +5.1
Lavida 377,284 394,222 Sales revenue (€ million) 73,773 67,856 +8.7
T-Roc 322,211 282,748  Operating result before
T-Cross/Tacqua/Taigun 315,036 295101  Specialitems 2,647 2,160 +22.5
Golf 300,090 267,352 Operating return on sales (%) 3.6 3.2
Jetta/Sagitar 292,038 295,490
Atlas/Teramont 217,771 180,873
Tharu/Taos 216,397 206,789
Bora 210,896 242,022
ID.4,1D.5 207,934 134,319
JETTA 148,666 157,157
Gol 122,575 131,129
Santana 111,422 138,232
Lamando 99,966 58,551
ID.3 83,432 73,738
Arteon/CC 69,627 42,508
Saveiro 46,282 40,212
ID.6 38,846 20,461
up! 33,317 75,616
Touareg 31,254 34,957
Sharan/Viloran 30,888 16,806
Touran 27,403 30,603
Phideon 7,480 6,618
Fox/Suran - 18,162

4,810,640 4,575,415
ID 4 P 4M s DELIVERIES BY MARKET
° ro Ot 1 O n in percent
Europe/Other Markets  27.7%

North America 9.4%

Asia-Pacific  55.4%

/

Il FURTHER INFORMATION www.volkswagen.com
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SKODA added a coupé and two RS versions to its all-electric Enyaq model range in 2022.
The Czech brand also pushed ahead with its India 2.0 brand offensive with the
Slavia notchback saloon.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
The SKODA models are synonymous with smart understatement, featuring a superior spacious interior, the
highest standards of functionality, excellent value for money and a distinctive design. Added to that are a
number of “Simply Clever” ideas and new digital services, all aimed at making customers’ lives easier.

SKODA expanded its all-electric Enyaq iV range with a coupé and two RS versions in fiscal year 2022. The
Enyaq Coupé iV has an exciting design and, thanks to its outstanding aerodynamics, even larger ranges
than the SUV version. The exterior features a gently sloping roofline that merges seamlessly with the boot
lid. The Enyaq RS models have added another two models to the Czech manufacturer’s RS range. With their
two electric motors and a system output of 220 kW (299 PS), these are the two most powerful vehicles in the
SKODA portfolio. The Enyaq Coupé RS iV was awarded the “Golden Steering Wheel 2022” in the mid-size
SUV category in November 2022. SKODA also continued its India 2.0 brand offensive in 2022. Another
model arrived on the Indian market in the form of the SKODA Slavia, which is based on the MQB. It offers
generous space, extensive safety equipment, modern infotainment and two powerful and efficient TSI
engines. Like the Kushaq, the Slavia impresses with a typical SKODA interior design and Indian design
accents. Due to an intragroup restructuring, responsibility for the Russia region was transferred from the
Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand to the SKODA brand in 2022.

The SKODA brand delivered 0.7 (0.9) million vehicles worldwide in the reporting period. Sales in India
more than doubled again.

SKODA sold 0.9 (0.8) million vehicles in the past fiscal year. There was strong demand for the Kushaq
SUV model, and the Enyaq iV was also very popular with customers.

The SKODA brand produced 0.8 million vehicles worldwide in fiscal year 2022. This was 4.6% fewer than
in the previous year.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

The SKODA brand’s sales revenue increased by 18.5% to €21.0 billion in fiscal year 2022 due to volume
effects. The Russia-Ukraine conflict weighed on the operating result with an amount in the mid-three-digit
millions, bringing it down to €0.6 (1.1) billion. Positive mix effects could not offset the impact from
product costs and exchange rates. The operating return on sales fell to 3.0 (6.1)%.
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PRODUCTION SKODA BRAND
Units 2022 2021 2022 2021 %

—— E—) —— S —
Rapid/Scala 148,895 193,045  Deliveries (thousand units) 731 878 -16.7
Octavia 141,499 172,077  Vehicle sales 863 784 +10.1
Fabia 118,827 94,105  Production 765 802 -4.6
Karoq/Kamiq 106,811 127,470  Sales revenue (€ million) 21,026 17,743 +18.5
Kodiaq 100,164 88,505  Operating result 628 1,083 -42.0
Superb 64,780 57,720  Operating return on sales (%) 3.0 6.1
Enyagq iV 57,213 49,811
Kushaq 26,648 16,291
Citigo - 2,886

764,837 801,910

Enyaq Coupe iV

DELIVERIES BY MARKET

in percent
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Europe/Other Markets  84.4%
North America 0.0%

’ Asia-Pacific  15.4%

Il FURTHER INFORMATION www.skoda-auto.com
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s ¥

SEAT S.A.

SEAT is one company with two complementary brands: SEAT and CUPRA. In 2022, CUPRA cemented
its position as Europe’s fastest growing automotive brand and increased deliveries by 93%, driving
the financial turnaround of the company.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

CUPRA is the unconventional challenger brand that brings together emotion, electrification and perfor-
mance to inspire the world from Barcelona. In 2022, CUPRA presented three concept vehicles for a new era
of its vision up to 2025: the CUPRA Tavascan, as the brand’s first electric SUV, underscores the brand’s aim
of becoming more global and entering new markets. The CUPRA Terramar is a sporty SUV with a powerful
and striking design. The third concept model, the CUPRA UrbanRebel, is designed to democratize
sustainable urban mobility. CUPRA reached new heights in 2022, led by the bestselling CUPRA Formentor.
The brand’s first standalone model saw deliveries to customers of 98 thousand units. CUPRA's second most
popular model, the all-electric CUPRA Born, marked its first full year on the market with 31 thousand units
delivered and multiple awards from trade magazines.

SEAT is the Group brand with Europe’s youngest customer profile. In 2022, SEAT enhanced its SUV flag-
ship, the Tarraco, with the Xperience equipment package. The brand also reached a major milestone with
the sale of the one millionth SUV.

Deliveries to customers from SEAT and CUPRA fell by 18.1% to 386 thousand vehicles in fiscal year 2022,
mainly due to the challenges arising from the shortage of semiconductors. However, the CUPRA brand
increased sales by 93% to 153 thousand vehicles, thereby driving the company’s financial turnaround.

The company’s unit sales amounted to 468 thousand units in the reporting year. This was 5.2% less than
in the previous year. This figure also includes the A1 manufactured for Audi.

SEAT and CUPRA produced 420 thousand vehicles in the reporting period. This was 0.8% fewer than in
the prior year.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

SEAT’s sales revenue was up 13.8% to €10.9 billion in 2022. Positive mix effects, an improved price posi-
tioning and cost reductions drove SEAT’s operating result significantly into the black, although one-
off expenses for restructuring measures of €247 million ultimately led to a result of €33 (-233) million.
The operating return on sales amounted to 0.3 (-2.4)%.
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PRODUCTION SEAT
Units 2022 2021 2022 2021 %
——— — ——— E—— E—

SEAT Deliveries (thousand units) 386 471 -18.1
Arona 85,717 98,656  Vehicle sales 468 494 -5.2
Ibiza 60,385 83,710  Production 420 424 -0.8
Ateca 49,316 53,995  Sales revenue (€ million) 10,941 9,614 +13.8
Leon 36,247 70,143 Operating result 33 —233 X
Tarraco 12,453 22,437  Operating return on sales (%) 0.3 2.4
Alhambra 5,341 4,169
Mii - 8,648

249,459 341,758
CUPRA
Formentor 105,568 58,863
Born 36,153 4,801
Leon 20,070 13,670
Ateca 8,841 4,505

170,632 81,839
SEAT and CUPRA 420,091 423,597

CUPRA Formentor

DELIVERIES BY MARKET

in percent

Europe/Other Markets  95.6%

- North America 3.1%

Asia-Pacific 0.5%

Il FURTHER INFORMATION www.seat.com
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Divisions Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles

@

Commercial
Vehicles

The highlight at the Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles brand in the reporting period was the
presentation and market launch of the all-electric ID. Buzz and ID. Buzz Cargo models.
A second, completely new generation of the versatile Amarok pickup was also launched.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

As a leading manufacturer of light commercial vehicles, Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles is making funda-
mental and sustainable changes to the way goods and services are distributed in cities in order to improve
the quality of life, especially in inner city areas. In this way, the brand will continue to keep the world of
tomorrow moving, with all of its requirements regarding clean, intelligent and sustainable mobility. This is
what Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles stands for with its brand promise: We transport success, freedom
and the future.

In fiscal year 2022, the Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles brand brought the highly acclaimed ID. Buzz to
the market. The vehicle symbolizes the core elements of tomorrow’s mobility: e-mobility, digitalization,
and connectivity. The ID. Buzz and ID. Buzz Cargo contain seven decades of “Bulli” know-how and also -
thanks to the Volkswagen Group’s MEB platform — an electric drivetrain. The ID. Buzz is agile, efficient and
dynamic and combines the attributes of the legendary T1: from the design to the tight overhangs of the
bodywork and the effective use of space. The popularity of the ID. Buzz is reflected in the many awards it
received in its debut year, including “German Car of the Year” and the “Golden Steering Wheel 2022”. The
ID. Buzz Cargo impresses as a spacious and versatile zero-emission van and was named “International Van of
the Year 2023”. The new generation of the Amarok was also presented in the reporting period. Among other
things, the versatile pickup offers optimized features, numerous assistance systems (some completely new
to the pickup segment), mobile online services, two all-wheel-drive systems and an efficient range of engines.

Deliveries by Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles amounted to 329 thousand units (-8.6%) in the reporting
period. Sales in Germany developed particularly encouragingly (+8.3%).

Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles sold 340 thousand vehicles in the reporting period, representing an
increase of 4.3% compared with the previous year. This was also thanks to the ID. Buzz, which was very posi-
tively received by the market.

In 2022, the Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles brand produced 351 thousand vehicles, 4.9% more than in
the previous year.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles increased sales revenue by 15.6% to €11.5 billion in fiscal year 2022. The
operating result rose to €529 (73) million, due mainly to factors relating to price and mix. Lower excess CO;
emissions premiums were taken into account compared with the previous year. The operating return on
sales improved significantly to 4.6(0.7)%.
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Divisions Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles

PRODUCTION VOLKSWAGEN COMMERCIAL VEHICLES BRAND
Units 2022 2021 2022 2021 %

——— — ——— E—— E—
Caravelle/Multivan, Kombi, California 80,698 79,379  Deliveries (thousand units) 329 360 -8.6
Transporter 67,508 80,122  Vehicle sales 340 326 +4.3
Crafter, Grand California 60,326 58,739  Production 351 335 +4.9
Caddy Kombi 46,500 40,156  Sales revenue (€ million) 11,455 9,909 +15.6
Amarok 42,806 42,755  Operating result 529 73 X
Caddy, Caddy California 42,352 33,805  Operating return on sales (%) 4.6 0.7
ID. Buzz 11,013 -

351,203 334,956

DELIVERIES BY MARKET
ID. BUZZ in percent

Europe/Other Markets  84.3%
North America 2.0%

Asia-Pacific 4.0%

Il FURTHER INFORMATION www.volkswagen-commercial-vehicles.com
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€11

Audi

The Audi brand continued its electrification campaign in 2022 despite a
challenging supply and logistics situation. The operating result increased
significantly year-on-year.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The Premium brand group combines four strong brands from the progressive premium and luxury segment:
Audi, Bentley, Lamborghini and Ducati. “Vorsprung” is Audi’s global brand promise, and one which means
the brand with the four rings is consistently focusing on the premium mobility of the future: connected,
sustainable, electric, and autonomous. In developing and scaling up innovative technologies, Audi plays a
leading role within the Group, not least with the Premium Platform Electric (PPE) for all-electric premium
vehicles.

In the reporting period, the Audi brand presented the Audi Q8 e-tron, the successor to the successful
Audi e-tron. The model impresses with its progressive design, optimized drive concept, improved aero-
dynamics, and higher charging and battery capacity. Audi also launched the new version of its Audi A8. The
exterior impresses with even greater presence and athleticism. The feel-good interior offers passengers
generous space. Audi gave a first preview of the Premium Platform Electric with the Audi A6 Avant e-tron
concept. Furthermore, it outlined the mobility of the future with two further concept vehicles — the Audi
urbansphere concept and Audi activesphere concept. The Bentley brand presented the Bentayga EWB and
Flying Spur Speed in fiscal year 2022. The Bentayga EWB is 180 mm longer than the Bentayga. Its emphasis
is on wellbeing and interior luxury. The dynamic Flying Spur Speed grand tourer rounds off the Bentley
brand’s new portfolio.

In a difficult market environment, Audi (Premium brand group) delivered a total of 1.6 (1.7) million
vehicles to customers in 2022. Increases were recorded in Germany (+18.7%), Italy (+1.6%), Spain (+1.4%)
and Canada (+1.2%).

Unit sales at Audi (Premium brand group) amounted to 1.1 (1.0) million vehicles in the reporting period.
There was particularly high demand for the all-electric Audi e-tron, Q4 e-tron and Audi e-tron GT models;
the Audi A3 and Audi Q5 were also very popular. The Chinese joint ventures sold a further 599 (644) thou-
sand locally produced Audi vehicles. Unit sales at the Lamborghini brand amounted to 9.2 (8.3) thousand
vehicles. Bentley sold 15.5 (14.6) thousand vehicles and Ducati 65.0 (56.9) thousand motorcycles.

In 2022, Audi produced 1.7 (1.6) million units worldwide. Bentley produced 16.4 (14.8) thousand vehicles
and Lamborghini 9.9 (8.3) thousand. Ducati produced 70.4 (59.2) thousand motorcycles.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Sales revenue at Audi (Premium brand group) climbed to €61.8 (55.9) billion in fiscal year 2022. The
operating result before special items improved to €7.6 (5.9) billion, mainly attributable to a strong perfor-
mance in the new and used car market and solid results from the Lamborghini, Bentley and Ducati brands.
The operating return on sales before special items climbed to 12.3 (10.6)%. The diesel issue resulted in low
negative special items. The figures for the Bentley, Lamborghini and Ducati brands are included in the key
financial indicators for the Audi brand.
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Divisions Audi

AUDI PRODUCTION BENTLEY, LAMBORGHINI, DUCATI PRODUCTION
Units 2022 2021 Units 2022 2021
——— — ——— —
Q5 319,162 279,613 Bentley
Q3 239,340 250,852 Bentayga 7,346 5,838
A4 234,395 199,628  Continental GT 4,793 5,003
A3 210,341 164,299 Flying Spur 4,226 3,947
A6 208,729 227,237 16,365 14,788
Q2 88,372 103,046  Lamborghini
A5 66,124 64,012 Urus 5,751 5,240
Al 58,777 60,158  Huracan 3,443 2,435
Q4 e-tron 58,764 27,519  Aventador 661 628
Q7 52,514 56,600 9,855 8,303
Q8 e-tron 51,545 44,962
Q8 37,330 35,406  Ducati, motorcycles 70,389 59,214
A8 18,398 22,285
A7 17,437 16,533
e-tron GT 12,674 9,602
- 8,126 8,489 AUDI (PREMIUM BRAND GROUP)
Q5 e-tron 3,113 929
Q6 2,042 -
R8 1,097 1,679 2022 2021 %
1,688,280 1572,019 ——— E—— E—
Deliveries (thousand units) 1,639 1,704 -3.8
Audi 1,614 1,681 -3.9
Bentley 15 15 +3.5
Lamborghini 9 8 +9.9
Vehicle sales 1,070 1,024 +4.5
Production 1,715 1,595 +7.5
Sales revenue (€ million) 61,753 55,914 +10.4
Operating result before
special items 7,622 5,936 +28.4
Operating return on sales (%) 123 10.6

Q8 e_trOn EE;L:C]ERIES BY MARKET

Europe/Other Markets ~ 40.9%
North America  14.2%

Asia-Pacific  44.0%

Il FURTHER INFORMATION www.audi.com
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PORSCHE

Porsche added the versatile Taycan Sport Turismo to its all-electric Taycan model range
in fiscal year 2022. Unit sales, sales revenue and profit increased year-on-year.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
Exclusivity and social acceptance, pioneering spirit and tradition, performance and sustainability, design
and functionality — these are the brand values of the sports car manufacturer Porsche.

Porsche continued its path toward sustainable mobility in fiscal year 2022 and presented the Taycan
Sport Turismo, the third model in its all-electric range. The Taycan Sport Turismo combines the everyday
practicality of the Taycan Cross Turismo with the on-road dynamics of a sports saloon. It also impresses
with state-of-the-art convenience and safety features, in addition to the latest infotainment. The addition of
the new model means that the Porsche Taycan is now available in five variants. The most powerful variant
is the Taycan Turbo S, which accelerates from 0 to 100 km/h in 2.8 seconds and can reach a top speed of
260 km/h. The Taycan 4S Sport Turismo boasts the largest range of all the variants, offering customers up
to 498 km. Porsche also presented the 911 GT3 RS in the reporting period. The uncompromising model
designed for maximum performance wows customers with features such as its modified central cooler
concept and a significantly larger, swan neck-mounted rear wing. The model is available in the Clubsport or
Weissach package. Back in January 2022, Porsche celebrated the 50th anniversary of Porsche Design and
marked the occasion by releasing the exclusive anniversary model “911 Edition 50 Years Porsche Design”,
which is limited to 750 vehicles worldwide.

Porsche delivered 310 thousand sports cars to customers in the reporting period; this represented an
increase of 2.6% compared with the previous year. Growth was achieved in particular in Western Europe
(+11.7%) and Asia-Pacific (+1.2%). China remained the largest single market for Porsche with deliveries of
93 thousand vehicles.

In the reporting year, Porsche increased unit sales by 5.5% to 314 thousand vehicles. Demand for the
911, Panamera and Cayenne models was higher than in the previous year.

Porsche manufactured a total of 338 thousand vehicles in 2022. This was 19.2% more than in the
previous year. The Leipzig factory celebrated 20 years of Porsche production.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Porsche Automotive generated sales revenue of €34.6 (30.3) billion in the reporting period. The operating
result (prior-year figure before special items) increased to €6.4 billion (+28.3%), which was primarily due to
higher earnings contributions and positive exchange rate effects. The operating return on sales (prior-year
figure before special items) improved to 18.6 (16.5)%.
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Divisions Porsche

PRODUCTION PORSCHE AUTOMOTIVE!?

Units 2022 2021 2022 2021 %
I — I . —

Cayenne 104,745 78,850  Deliveries (thousand units) 310 302 +2.6

Macan 99,468 76,506  Vehicle sales 314 297 +5.5

911 Coupé/Cabriolet 42,390 38,347  Production 338 283 +19.2

Taycan 37,577 37,720  Sales revenue (€ million) 34,591 30,289 +14.2

Panamera 35,258 33,233 Operating result before

718 Boxster/Cayman 18,085 18,472  special items 6,423 5,006 +28.3

337,523 283,128  Operating return on sales (%) 18.6 16.5

1 Porsche (Automotive and Financial Services): sales revenue €37,630 (33,138) million,
operating profit (in the prior-year before special items) €6,770 (5,286) million.

DELIVERIES BY MARKET

Taycan Sport Turismo e

Europe/Other Markets  32.0%
North America  26.0%

Asia-Pacific  40.5%

FURTHER INFORMATION www.porsche.com
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Divisions TRATON GROUP

TR/.TON

The TRATON Group recorded successes in all areas of the
“TRATON Way Forward” corporate strategy in fiscal year 2022.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The “TRATON Way Forward” strategy focuses on the following areas: being a responsible company, value crea-
tion and “TRATON Accelerated!”. Successes were recorded in all areas of the corporate strategy in fiscal
year 2022.

For the TRATON Group (TRATON), the future is electric. A total of €2.6 billion is to be spent on research
and development for e-mobility by 2026, whilst existing investments into the development of conventional
drive systems is to decline to less than one fifth in 2026. The establishment of a joint venture with Daimler
Truck and the Volvo Group completed in July 2022 to create a high-performance charging infrastructure for
trucks and buses across Europe will kick-start battery-electric transport. TRATON already joined the UN
Global Compact in 2021 and was followed by the Volkswagen Truck & Bus brand in March 2022. In addition,
TRATON has identified “decarbonization and circular economy” as one of three strategic focus areas for
changing the business model and product design to achieve a reduction in CO, emissions and resource
consumption. TRATON is committed to the Paris Climate Agreement of the UN Climate Conference.

Stronger internationalization as a result of integrating Navistar enabled TRATON to counteract the
significant fluctuations in the market in 2022. Moreover, Scania is set to become the first Western truck
manufacturer to produce its vehicles completely independently in China; an important step for TRATON.
By creating a Group-wide integrated business unit for financial services, TRATON is aiming to provide
comprehensive customer financing services in future in order to meet the demand for new technologies
and business fields.

In 2022, Scania was the first TRATON brand to introduce the Group-wide 13-liter powertrain in its Scania
Super, allowing a reduction in fuel consumption in comparison to the predecessor model. In addition,
Scania has set itself ambitious targets for decarbonizing the supply chain: by 2030, supply chain emissions
arising from batteries, steel, aluminum and cast iron are to be reduced by 60% to 85%. Road tests for auto-
mated driving were expanded. The self-driving Scania trucks that have been upgraded to level 4 may now
drive on all routes between the cities of Sodertdlje and Jonkoping. A driver remains on board for safety
reasons.

By digitalizing its vehicles, MAN wants to tap into new business fields. In 2022, it launched MAN
SimplePay, making it the first vehicle manufacturer to develop a digital, transparent platform for all pay-
ment transactions involving commercial vehicles. In addition, a solution created with its partner BP for
automated, contactless and safe payments for refueling went live. At IAA Transportation 2022, MAN unveiled
the all-electric truck as a prototype that was almost ready for mass production.

In 2022, Navistar presented the International S13 integrated powertrain, with which a new level of
efficiency, profitability and sustainability is expected to be reached. Based on the TRATON Group’s 13-liter
powertrain, the S13 enables fuel savings of up to 15% when combined with optimized aerodynamics. By
opening a new factory in San Antonio, Texas, where electric vehicles can also be produced, Navistar is posi-
tioning itself as an e-mobility provider.

Volkswagen Truck & Bus expanded its importer network in Asia in 2022 and delivered the first vehicles
to customers in the Philippines.
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Divisions TRATON GROUP

PRODUCTION TRATON GROUP
Units 2022 2021 2022 2021 %
——— — ——— E—— E—
Scania 88,142 92,718  Deliveries (thousand units) 305 271 +12.6
Trucks 82,827 89,528  Vehicle sales 306 273 +12.4
Buses 5,315 3,190 Production 318 269 +18.2
MAN 88,952 90,286  Sales revenue (€ million) 39,516 30,092 +31.3
Trucks 62,009 64,883  Operating result 1,583 161 X
Buses 4,675 4,240  Operating return on sales (%) 4.0 0.5
Light Commercial Vehicles 22,268 21,163
Navistar 82,071 28,669
Trucks 69,488 23,267
Buses 12,583 5,402
Volkswagen Truck & Bus 58,647 57,095
Trucks 50,075 52,690
Buses 8,572 4,405
TRATON 317,812 268,768

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Unit sales of TRATON Commercial Vehicles in 2022 went up to 306 (273) thousand vehicles and sales
revenue of €39.5 billion was 31.3% higher than in the same period of 2021. Despite negative effects resulting
from the Russia-Ukraine conflict, the operating result of €1.6 (0.2) billion was higher than in the previous
year. The figure for the previous year had been mainly influenced by expenses of €0.7 billion for restruc-
turing measures at MAN Truck & Bus plus expenses of €0.5 billion for provisions recognized at Scania
Vehicles & Services in connection with the EU antitrust proceedings. Additionally, mix and exchange rate
effects had a positive effect. The operating return on sales increased to 4.0 (0.5)%.

StI’OIlg brands 355225“'“ BY MARKET

Europe/Other Markets ~ 44.2%
\ North America  27.1%

Asia-Pacific 3.7%

S&A@I{Im / m / % / NAYISTAR / m

FURTHER INFORMATION www.traton.com

37
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Volkswagen Group China

In fiscal year 2022, the Volkswagen Group made further progress with its ambitious
transformation in China, achieving significant growth in deliveries of all-electric vehicles.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Despite the challenges arising from the Covid-19 pandemic and the shortage of semiconductors, Volks-
wagen Group China maintained its market leadership in China in 2022 with a market share of 15.1%, and
continued to drive the ambitious transformation to fully connected e-mobility. With 206,500 vehicles
delivered, sales of NEVs rose by 37.1% compared with the previous year, while BEV deliveries were up 68.2%
year-on-year. The key driver of this electric momentum in China was the successful ID. family of the Volks-
wagen Passenger Cars brand. ID. family deliveries more than doubled compared with the previous year.
Another family member, the ID. Aero concept car, is already in the starting blocks.

Together with the Chinese joint ventures, Volkswagen Group China delivered 3.2 (3.3) million vehicles
(including imports) in the Chinese market in 2022 (-3.6%). The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand, including
JETTA, delivered 2.4 million vehicles (-1.3%) and, with a market share of 11.4 (11.7)%, remained number one
with Chinese customers despite the challenging environment. This figure includes 180,600 NEV vehicles
(+51.6%).

In the premium and sports segment, Audi delivered 642,548 vehicles to customers in China. The number
of all-electric models delivered was up 9.8%. Under the new “Vorsprung 2030” strategy, the Audi brand
forms a cornerstone of the advancing transformation of products in China in addition to production and
development capacities. Audi has further expanded its portfolio of all-electric models with the roll out of
the Audi Q4 e-tron, Q5 e-tron Roadjet and RS e-tron GT models. Moreover, the Audi FAW NEV Company
began the construction of its plant in Changchun. Only all-electric models based on the PPE platform will
roll off the production line at this location.

In the past year, Porsche delivered 93,286 vehicles in China, its largest individual market. The electrifi-
cation strategy has made steady progress in China in terms of both product range and charging stations.
Porsche had introduced a total of 21 NEV models in China by the end of 2022, nine of which are the Taycan
and its derivatives. Bentley celebrated its 20" anniversary in China in 2022 with total deliveries of
3,655 vehicles. Lamborghini’s delivery of 1,018 vehicles represents a 8.9% increase compared with 2021.

Volkswagen Group China made considerable progress in its transformation in fiscal year 2022; the intro-
duction of a new management model has facilitated rapid, autonomous decision-making and optimized
cooperation among brands. CARIAD, the Group’s software company, has established its subsidiary in China,
thus systematically driving software development and digitalization. Moreover, Volkswagen Group China
has announced a collaboration with Horizon Robotics in order to implement local solutions for automated
driving together. In December, the first pre-series vehicle rolled off the production line at Volkswagen’s
ultramodern MEB plant in Anhui. Volkswagen Group China also drove the expansion of the energy supply
network, creating, with the charging joint venture CAMS, more than 1,000 charging stations with over 9,000
charging points.
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Divisions Volkswagen Group China
EARNINGS

Thousand units 2022 2021 %  €million 2022 2021

- -—-——S———" — E——

Deliveries 3,185 3,305 —3.6  Operating result (100%) 8,827 8,740

Vehicle sales? 3,122 3,042 +2.6  Operating result (proportionate) 3,280 3,026

Production 3,160 2,949 +7.2

1 Produced locally.

Our joint ventures produced a total of 3.2 (2.9) million vehicles in fiscal year 2022. The joint ventures produce
a mixture of established Group models and those specially modified for Chinese customers (e.g. with
extended wheelbases), as well as vehicles developed exclusively for the Chinese market (such as the Volks-

wagen Lamando, Teramont, ID.6 X, or ID.6 CROZZ).

The proportionate operating result of the joint ventures in the reporting year stood at €3.3 (3.0) billion.
The negative impacts of a highly competitive market environment and pandemic-related restrictions were

offset by improvements in the mix and cost optimization.

The figures of the Chinese joint venture companies are not included in the operating profit of the Group
as they are accounted for using the equity method. Their profits are included solely in the Group’s financial

result on a proportionate basis.

ID. Aero

LOCAL PRODUCTION

Units 2022 2021
Volkswagen Passenger Cars 2,513,613 2,288,021
Audi 604,439 606,509
SKODA 41,936 54,401
Total 3,159,988 2,948,931
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Divisions Volkswagen Financial Services

VOLKSWAGEN FINANCIAL SERVICES

THE KEY TO MOBILITY

The business of Volkswagen Financial Services was robust in a demanding environment
in 2022. Electrification and digitalization are increasingly reflected in the portfolio of
service and mobility offerings.

STRUCTURE OF VOLKSWAGEN FINANCIAL SERVICES

Volkswagen Financial Services comprises dealer and customer financing, leasing, banking and insurance
activities, fleet management and mobility services in 47 countries. The key companies are Volkswagen
Financial Services AG and its affiliated companies such as Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, as well as Volkswagen
Bank GmbH, Porsche Financial Services and the financial services companies in the United States and
Canada, the only exceptions being the financial services business of the Scania and Navistar brands and of
Porsche Holding Salzburg.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The NEW AUTO strategy sets out the Volkswagen Group’s roadmap for the transformation into a software-
oriented mobility provider and defines the creation and expansion of mobility solutions as an important
core element. Volkswagen Financial Services has adopted a key role under this umbrella and incorporated
the Group strategy as an integral part of its own MOBILITY2030 strategy. The core task of Volkswagen
Financial Services in this context is to develop and provide a comprehensive mobility platform to give
customers quick digital and flexible access to mobility — from classic financing and leasing offerings to car
subscriptions (Auto-Abo). This marks an expansion of the existing business model from pure-play auto-
motive financial services provider to mobility provider. Volkswagen Financial Services extends and
optimizes the automotive value chain for its customers and the Group brand vehicles, thereby increasing
vehicle lifetime values.

This is based on pooling resources on a central, Europe-wide marketing platform for used vehicles for all
brands of the Volkswagen Group. The aim is to become one of Europe’s largest providers of used vehicles
and in this way to leverage synergies and tap into additional sources of revenue.

For example, the Europe-wide e-mobility program, “Electrification-as-a-Service” (EaaS), supports the
electrification of fleet customers' vehicle pools. The program benefits customers by offering consistent advice
and implementation from a single source. Alongside this program, fleet customers are offered new finan-
cing for charging infrastructure, which they can use to install the required wallboxes, charging stations,
photovoltaic and buffer storage systems.

In the reporting period, partnered by the City of Braunschweig, Volkswagen Financial Services success-
fully completed a pilot project, unique to Germany, on the digital registration of vehicles by companies. The
project is to be used in Germany as a model for a nationwide system and is aimed at allowing legal persons
such as companies to register their fleet vehicles online using a specifically developed identification
process.
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Divisions Volkswagen Financial Services

The main refinancing sources for Volkswagen Financial Services are money market and capital market
instruments, asset-backed securities (ABS) transactions, customer deposits from the direct banking busi-
ness and bank credit lines.

In 2022, Volkswagen Financial Services AG issued two bonds with different terms and a total volume of
€2.0 billion. Volkswagen Leasing GmbH did not issue any unsecured bonds. Risk premiums in fiscal year 2022
were heavily influenced by the macroeconomic downturn and the turnaround in central bank policies.
Driven by gradual increases, premiums approximately doubled in the first half of the year. In the second
half of the year, they remained stable or trended slightly downward.

Other bond transactions were conducted in currencies such as pounds sterling, Swedish kronor, Czech
korunas, Hong Kong dollars and Japanese yen. In addition, bonds were issued in Australia, Poland, Brazil,
Mexico and Tiirkiye on the basis of local documentation requirements. In addition to this, private place-
ments were issued in various currencies.

Volkswagen Bank did not enter into any transactions with secured or unsecured bonds in the reporting
period.

In fiscal year 2022, Volkswagen Leasing GmbH placed three ABS transactions secured by lease receiv-
ables with a total volume of €2.75 billion. The issuances met the quality criteria of the STS Securitization
Regulation for particularly high-value securitizations and were oversubscribed several times.

Outside Germany, Volkswagen Financial Services issued a total of four ABS transactions in the United
States, Canada, China and Japan.

E-Mobility Program
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Divisions Volkswagen Financial Services

In fiscal year 2022, the number of new financing, leasing, service and insurance contracts from Volks-
wagen Financial Services signed amounted to 7.8 (7.8) million and was therefore similar to the prior-year
figure. At the end of the reporting period, the total number of contracts stood at 22.0 (22.0) million. The
number of contracts in the Customer Financing/Leasing area fell by 5.3% to 10.3 million. The Service/
Insurance area accounted for 11.6 million contracts, 4.7% more than in the previous year. With credit
eligibility criteria remaining unchanged, the penetration rate, expressed as the ratio of financed or leased
vehicles to relevant Group delivery volumes — including the Chinese joint ventures — declined to 32.3 (35.8)%.
On December 31, 2022, Volkswagen Bank GmbH managed 1.3 (1.4) million deposit accounts. Volkswagen
Financial Services employed 14,796 people worldwide, including 7,488 in Germany, as of year-end 2022.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Volkswagen Financial Services generated sales revenue of €44.2 billion in the reporting period, 6.0% more
than in the previous year. The operating result stood at €5.6 (5.7) billion. Strong demand for used vehicles
had a positive effect, as did derivatives. However, expenses relating to loss allowances and risk provisions as
a consequence of the direct impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict weighed on the operating result.

VOLKSWAGEN FINANCIAL SERVICES

2022 2021 %
I N . ——
Number of contracts thousands 21,976 22,033 -0.3
Customer financing 5,557 6,151 -9.7
Leasing 4,783 4,770 +0.3
Service/Insurance 11,636 11,111 +4.7
Lease assets € million 57,906 57,276 +1.1
Receivables from € million
Customer financing 70,266 71,305 -15
Dealer financing 19,868 14,135 +40.6
Leasing agreements 47,446 46,409 +2.2
Direct banking deposits € million 25,431 25,400 +0.1
Total assets € million 240,042 235,620 +1.9
Equity € million 38,257 33,381 +14.6
Liabilities® € million 190,477 192,407 -1.0
Equity ratio % 15.9 14.2 +12.5
Return on equity before tax? % 15.4 17.9 -14.0
Leverage® 5.0 5.8 -13.6
Operating result € million 5,602 5,672 -1.2
Earnings before tax € million 5,513 5,628 -2.0
Employees at Dec. 31 14,796 14,681 +0.8

1 Excluding provisions and deferred tax liabilities.
2 Earnings before tax as a percentage of average equity (continuing operations).
3 Liabilities as a percentage of equity.

Il ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
www.vwfs.com
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Corporate Governance Group Corporate Governance Declaration

Group Corporate Governance
Declaration

The following chapter contains the content of the Group Corporate Governance Declaration
required by sections 289f and 315d of the HGB and the recommendations
and principles of the German Corporate Governance Code.

THE GERMAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE -

A BLUEPRINT FOR SUCCESSFUL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance provides the regulatory framework for corporate management and supervision. This
includes a company’s organization and values, and the principles and guidelines for its business policy. The
German Corporate Governance Code (the Code) contains principles, recommendations and suggestions for
corporate management and supervision. Its principles, recommendations and suggestions were prepared
by a dedicated government commission on the basis of the material provisions and nationally and inter-
nationally accepted standards of sound, responsible corporate governance. In the interests of best practice,
the government commission regularly reviews the Code’s relevance in light of current developments and
updates it as necessary. The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG base their
work on the principles, recommendations and suggestions of the Code. We consider good corporate gover-
nance to be a key prerequisite for achieving a lasting increase in the Company’s value. It helps strengthen
the trust of our shareholders, customers, employees, business partners and investors in our work and
enables us to meet the steadily increasing demand for information from national and international interest
groups.

DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY
(valid as of the date of the declaration)

The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG issued the annual declaration of con-
formity with the Code as required by section 161 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG — German Stock Corporation Act)
on November 11, 2022 with the following wording:

“The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board declare the following:

The recommendations of the Government Commission of the German Corporate Governance Code in the
version dated 16 December 2019 (the 2020 Code) that was published by the German Ministry of Justice in
the official section of the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on 20 March 2020 was complied with in the
period from the last Declaration of Conformity dated 9 December 2021 until the entry into force of the
revised Code in the version dated 28 April 2022 on 27 June 2022, with the exception of the sections and the
stated reasons listed below.
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> a) Recommendation B.3 (Duration of first-time appointments to the Management Board)
As it has done in the past, the Supervisory Board will determine the duration of first-time appointments
to the Board of Management as it deems fit for each individual case and for the good of the company.

> b) Recommendation C.5 (Mandate ceiling regarding Board of Management mandate)
The Chair of the Supervisory Board is also Chair of the Supervisory Boards of two listed companies of the
VOLKSWAGEN Group, namely VOLKSWAGEN AG and TRATON SE, as well as being on the Supervisory Board
of Bertelsmann SE & Co. KGaA. He is also Chair of the Board of Management of Porsche Automobil
Holding SE. Porsche Automobil Holding SE is not part of the same group as VOLKSWAGEN AG and
TRATON SE within the meaning of German stock corporation law. We are, however, confident that the
Chair of the Supervisory Board of VOLKSWAGEN AG has sufficient time at his disposal to fulfil the duties
related to his mandates.

> ¢) Recommendation C.10 sentence 2 (Independence of the Chair of the Audit Committee)
It is unclear from the wording of this recommendation whether the former Chair of the Audit Committee
is independent from the controlling shareholder within the meaning of this recommendation. Such
independence could be considered lacking in view of the fact that the former Chair of the Audit Com-
mittee, in addition to other members of the Porsche and Piéch families, who are also related to each
other, have an indirect interest in Porsche Automobil Holding SE. However, it is our opinion that these
relationships did not constitute a conflict of interest nor did they interfere with his duties as the Chair of
the Audit Committee. This deviation was therefore declared purely as a precautionary measure.

> d) Recommendation C.13 (Disclosure regarding election proposals)
The guidelines in the Code are vague and the definitions unclear with regard to this recommendation,
according to which certain circumstances shall be disclosed when the Supervisory Board makes election
proposals to the General Meeting. Purely as a precautionary measure, we therefore declare a deviation
from the Code in this respect. Notwithstanding this, the Supervisory Board will make every effort to satisfy
the requirements of the recommendation.

> e) Recommendation D.4 (Independence of the Chair of the Audit Committee)
We refer to the statements made above pertaining to Recommendation C.10 sentence 2 as rationale. If the
former Chair of the Audit Committee was not independent from the controlling shareholder, according
to the definition of Recommendation C.6, sentence 2, he was also not independent within the meaning of
Recommendation D.4 of the 2020 Code.

The recommendations of the Government Commission of the German Corporate Governance Code in the

version dated 28 April 2022 (the 2022 Code), which was published by the German Ministry of Justice in the

official section of the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on 27 June 2022, had been complied with in the

period since the entry into force of this version of the Code and will continue to be complied with, with the

exception of the recommendations listed below along with their stated reasons and periods of validity.

> a) Recommendation B.3 (Duration of first-time appointments to the Management Board)
The reasons for this deviation are listed above in the details under point 1 a).

> b) Recommendation C.1 sentence 3 (Sustainability in the profile of skills and expertise)
This recommendation is a new addition to the 2022 Code. In accordance with that day’s resolution, the
Supervisory Board supplemented the profile of skills and expertise in line with Recommendation C.1 of
the 2022 Code to include expertise relating to sustainability issues relevant to the company, which meant
that this recommendation was now being fulfilled.

> ¢) Recommendation C.5 (Mandate ceiling regarding Board of Management mandate)
The reasons for this deviation are listed above in the details under point 1 b). Furthermore, the Chair of
the Supervisory Board is also a member of the Supervisory Board of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, which has
also been a listed company since 29 September 2022. Porsche Automobil Holding SE together with
Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG does not constitute a Group within the meaning of German stock corporation law.

> d) Recommendation C.10 sentence 2 (Independence of the Chair of the Audit Committee)
The former Chair of the Audit Committee, Dr Ferdinand Oliver Porsche, resigned from his post with effect
from the close of 30 July 2022. The Supervisory Board elected Mr. Mansoor Bin Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud to
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succeed Dr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche as Chair of the Audit Committee. The shareholder representatives
deem Mr. Al-Mahmoud to be independent within the meaning of the Code both from the company and
the Board of Management, as well as from the controlling shareholder. As such, the deviation from this
recommendation that had been disclosed as a precautionary measure ceased to apply as of the close of
30 July 2022.

> e) Recommendation C.13 (Disclosure regarding election proposals)
The reasons for this deviation are listed above in the details under point 1 d).

> f) Recommendation G.6 (Predominance of long-term variable remuneration)
On 20 July 2022, Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG (Porsche AG) agreed upon a so-called IPO bonus with Dr Oliver
Blume in the event of the successful IPO of Porsche AG. Since an IPO of this nature is also in the interest
of VOLKSWAGEN AG, we are, as a precaution, treating the IPO bonus agreed upon with Porsche AG as part
of Mr. Blume’s remuneration at VOLKSWAGEN AG (third-party remuneration arrangement). The Super-
visory Board of VOLKSWAGEN AG approved the third-party remuneration arrangement for Dr Blume. The
IPO bonus was awarded in the form of virtual shares. These virtual shares are converted into monetary
sums in three tranches over periods of one, two, and three years depending on the development of the
share price of Porsche AG shares during the relevant time period, and these monetary sums are then paid
out to Dr Blume. As a precaution, the Supervisory Board assumes that the first one and two-year tranches
of the IPO bonus will be allocated to the short-term variable remuneration of Dr Blume, whilst the last
tranche of the IPO bonus will be allocated to the long-term variable remuneration. This means that the
total target value of the short-term variable remuneration approved for Dr Blume for the 2022 fiscal year
exceeds the target value of the long-term variable remuneration. As a precautionary measure, we
therefore declare a deviation from Recommendation G.6 in this respect. Nevertheless, the Board of Man-
agement remuneration for Dr Blume on the whole continues to be oriented towards the company’s
sustainable and long-term development. The Supervisory Board deems the payment of the IPO bonus in
three tranches over one, two, and three years to be a purposeful and appropriate incentive for Dr Blume,
which is not limited solely to work carried out in preparation for the IPO but which also takes into
account how sustained the success of the IPO is.

> g) Recommendation G.7 sentence 1 (Specification of performance criteria)
The performance criteria for the IPO bonus previously described under f) were specified before the point
in time at which Dr Blume was assigned particular tasks both in preparation for and following the IPO in
connection with the IPO bonus. Nevertheless, as a precautionary measure, we declare a deviation from
Recommendation G.7 sentence 1, as it was not possible to specify the performance criteria before the
start of the current fiscal year. This deviation is limited to the remuneration for the 2022 fiscal year. This
recommendation will therefore be fulfilled once again in the following years.

> h) G.10 sentence 2 (Four-year commitment period)
Dr Blume can have access to the third tranche of the IPO bonus previously described under f) as part of
the long-term variable remuneration after three years, and not only after four years. The Supervisory
Board deems the payment of the IPO bonus in three tranches over one, two, and three years as described
above under f) to be a purposeful and appropriate incentive for Dr Blume.

> 1) Recommendation G.13 sentence 1 (Severance cap)
At the end of July 2022, the Supervisory Board of VOLKSWAGEN AG resolved by mutual agreement with
Dr Diess to terminate his employment as member and as Chair of the Board of Management with effect
from the close of 31 August 2022. According to the agreement reached with Dr Diess, his contract shall
continue to run until the end of its regular term, i.e. until the close of 24 October 2025, even following the
premature termination of his appointment, provided that Dr Diess does not resign at an earlier date.
Dr Diess shall accordingly not receive a severance payment but shall potentially receive his contractual
remuneration for a period of more than two years following his departure from the Board of Manage-
ment. It is not clear to us whether this recommendation refers only to severance payments or also to pay-
ments to a retired member of the Board of Management due to a continuing contract of service. As a
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precautionary measure, we therefore declare a deviation from Recommendation G.13 sentence 1 in this
respect.”

The current declaration of conformity and previous declarations of conformity are also published on
our website shown hereafter.

Our listed indirect subsidiaries Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG and TRATON SE also issued a declaration of
conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code. These can be accessed at the websites shown
below.

The suggestions of the Code are complied with.

Il DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY OF VOLKSWAGEN AG
https://www.volkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations/corporate-governance/declaration-of-conformity.html

Il DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY BY DR. ING. H.C. F. PORSCHE AG
https://investorrelations.porsche.com/en/corporate-governance/

Il DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY OF TRATON SE
https://ir.traton.com/websites/traton/English/5000/corporate-governance.html

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

The Volkswagen AG Board of Management has sole responsibility for managing the Company in the Com-
pany’s best interests, in accordance with the Articles of Association and the rules of procedure for the Board
of Management issued by the Supervisory Board.

Accordingly, responsibilities were divided among eleven board-level management functions starting
from January 1, 2022. In addition to the Chair of the Board of Management, a function which also included
the Volume brand group, the other Board functions were Purchasing, Technology, Finance, Human
Resources and Truck & Bus, Integrity and Legal Affairs, Premium, Sport & Luxury, IT, China and Volkswagen
Passenger Cars. A new Group Sales function was created with effect from February 1, 2022.

As of September 1, 2022, the Volkswagen Group refined its Group management. The Board of Manage-
ment was streamlined and the division of responsibilities was reorganized. As a result, the Purchasing and
Group Sales Board functions were dissolved. Furthermore, the Volkswagen Passenger Cars function was
renamed Volume. Since then, responsibilities have been divided among ten board-level management
functions. In addition to the Chair of the Board of Management, the other Board functions are Technology,
Finance, Human Resources and Truck & Bus, Integrity and Legal Affairs, Volume, Premium, Sport & Luxury,
IT and China. The Chair of the Board of Management is also responsible for Sport & Luxury.

Directly attached to the Board are a number of Group Management functions that act as an extension to
the board-level management functions. These comprise Group Sales, Group Production, Procurement and
Technical Architecture functions.

Further information on the composition of the Board of Management can be found in the “Members of the
Board of Management” section.

Working procedures of the Board of Management
In accordance with Article 6 of the Articles of Association, Volkswagen AG’s Board of Management consists
of at least three people, with the precise number determined by the Supervisory Board. As of December 31,
2022, there were nine members of the Board of Management.

The Board of Management generally meets weekly. Its rules of procedure require it to meet at least twice
a month. Meetings of the Board of Management are convened by the Chair of the Board of Management.
The Chair is required to convene a meeting if requested by any member of the Board of Management. The
Chair of the Board of Management chairs the Board of Management meetings. The full Board of Manage-
ment decides on all matters unless they have been assigned to a single member of the Board of
Management by the rules of procedure for the Board of Management or by a resolution of the Board of
Management, on matters assigned to the full Board of Management by law or by the Articles of Association,
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and on matters of general or fundamental importance. The Board of Management takes decisions after
prior debate or — if no other Board of Management member objects — using the written circulation
procedure. Resolutions of the Board of Management are adopted by a majority vote. In the event of a tie,
the Chair of the Board of Management casts the deciding vote. The Board of Management is quorate if at
least half of the members of the Board of Management participate in passing the resolution. Absent
members of the Board of Management may participate in passing the resolution orally, in writing or via
customary communications media (e.g. by e-mail). Details of the responsibilities of the full Board of
Management and of meetings and resolutions of the Board of Management are governed by the rules of
procedure for the Board of Management issued by the Supervisory Board and published on Volks-
wagen AG’s website at https://www.volkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations/corporate-governance.html.

Each Board of Management member manages their area of responsibility independently, without
prejudice to the collective responsibility of the Board of Management. All Board of Management members
must inform each other of events within their remit.

All members of the Board of Management must immediately disclose conflicts of interest to the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board and the Chair of the Board of Management and inform the other members of
the Board of Management accordingly.

The Volkswagen Group companies are managed solely by their respective managements. The manage-
ment of each individual company takes into account not only the interest of its own company but also the
interests of the Group, the relevant brand group and the individual brands in accordance with the frame-
work laid down by law.

Board of Management committees

Board of Management committees exist at Group level on the following areas: products, technologies,
investments, digital transformation, integrity and compliance, risk management, human resources and
management issues. Alongside the responsible members of the Board of Management, the relevant central
departments and the relevant functions of the divisions are represented on the committees.

Cooperation with the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board advises and monitors the Board of Management with regard to the management of
the Company. Through the requirement for the Supervisory Board to provide consent, it is directly
involved, especially in decisions of fundamental importance to the Company. In addition, the Supervisory
Board of Volkswagen AG and the Board of Management regularly discuss factors affecting the strategic
orientation of the Volkswagen Group, including the sustainability strategy. The two bodies jointly assess, at
regular intervals, the progress made in implementing the corporate strategy. The Board of Management
reports to the Supervisory Board regularly, promptly and comprehensively in both written and oral form
on all issues of relevance for the Company particularly with regard to strategy, planning, the development
of the business, the risk situation, risk management and compliance.

The Chair of the Board of Management is responsible for dealings with the Supervisory Board. The Chair
is in regular contact with the Chair of the Supervisory Board and reports to him on all matters of particular
significance without delay.

The Supervisory Board has set out the Board of Management’s obligations to provide detailed infor-
mation and reports in a comprehensive information policy; the information policy has been published
as AnnexII to the rules of procedure for the Board of Management on Volkswagen AG’s website at
https://wwwvolkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations/corporate-governance.html. The Board of Manage-
ment must report conscientiously and faithfully to the Supervisory Board or its committees. With the
exception of the immediate reports from the Chair of the Board of Management to the Chair of the Super-
visory Board on matters of particular importance, the Board of Management is required to report to the
Supervisory Board in writing as a rule. Further information about the information provided to the Super-
visory Board by the Board of Management can be found in the Report of the Supervisory Board.
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For certain measures, especially transactions of fundamental importance, the Supervisory Board must
provide its consent. The documents required for decision-making purposes must be provided to the Super-
visory Board members in good time in advance of the meeting.

Diversity concept and succession planning for the Board of Management
The Supervisory Board has laid down the following diversity concept for the composition of the Board of
Management (section 289f(2) no. 6 HGB):

The Supervisory Board must also take diversity into account when considering who would be the best
persons to appoint to the Board of Management as a body. The Supervisory Board understands diversity, as
an assessment criterion, to mean in particular different yet complementary specialist profiles and profes-
sional and general experience, also in the international domain, with both genders being appropriately
represented. The Supervisory Board will also take the following aspects into account in this regard, in
particular:
> Members of the Board of Management should have many years of management experience.
> Members of the Board of Management should, if possible, have experience based on different training

and professional backgrounds.
> The Board of Management as a whole should have technical expertise, especially knowledge of and
experience in the manufacture and sale of vehicles and engines of any kind as well as other technical
products, and experience in the international domain.
> The Board of Management as a whole should have many years of experience in research and develop-
ment, production, sales, finance and human resources management, as well as law and compliance.
> Efforts are made to achieve a higher proportion of women than the statutory minimum.
> The Board of Management should also have a sufficient mix of ages.
The aim of the diversity concept is for the Board of Management members to embody a range of expertise
and perspectives. This diversity promotes a good understanding of Volkswagen AG’s organizational and
business affairs. Particularly, it enables the members of the Board of Management to be open to new ideas
by avoiding groupthink. In this way, it contributes to the successful management of the Company. With
regard to the participation of women and men on the Board of Management, a mandatory participation
requirement now applies to Volkswagen AG.

In deciding who should be appointed to a specific Board of Management position, the Supervisory
Board takes into account the interests of the Company and all the circumstances of the specific case. In
taking this decision and in long-term succession planning, the Supervisory Board orients itself on the
diversity concept. The Supervisory Board is of the view that the diversity concept is essentially reflected by
the current composition of the Board of Management. The members of the Board of Management have
many years of professional experience, particularly in an international context, and cover a broad spectrum
of educational and professional backgrounds. The Board of Management collectively has excellent techni-
cal expertise and many years of collective experience in research and development, production, sales,
finance and human resources management, as well as law and compliance. In addition, the Board of
Management has a sufficient mix of ages that corresponds to the requirements set by the Supervisory
Board. The gender balance meets the legal requirements (see “Disclosures required by the Fiihrungsposi-
tionen-Gesetz” (Act on Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership positions)).

Long-term succession planning within the meaning of Recommendation B.2 of the Code is achieved
through regular discussions between the Chair of the Board of Management and the Chair of the Super-
visory Board as well as regular discussions in the Executive Committee. The contract terms for existing
Board of Management members are discussed, along with potential extensions and potential successors. In
particular, the discussions look at what knowledge, experience and professional and personal compe-
tencies should be represented on the Board of Management with regard to the corporate strategy and
current challenges, and to what extent the current composition of the Board of Management already
reflects this. Long-term succession planning is based on the corporate strategy and corporate culture and
takes into account the diversity concept determined by the Supervisory Board. In 2022, the Supervisory
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Board and Board of Management also worked intensively on long-term succession planning in connection
with the restructuring of Group management.

As a rule, members of the Board of Management should be appointed for a term of office ending no later
than their 65th birthday. Board of Management members may be appointed to serve beyond their 65th
birthday until no later than their 68th birthday, provided this is agreed by a two-thirds majority of the
Supervisory Board.

SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Volkswagen AG Supervisory Board performs its role through its members working together. It advises
and monitors the Board of Management with regard to the management of the Company and, through the
requirement for the Supervisory Board to provide consent, is directly involved in decisions of fundamental
importance to the Company.

Information on the composition of the Supervisory Board and the Supervisory Board committees and
their chairs as well as on the terms of office of the individual Supervisory Board members can be found in
the “Members of the Supervisory Board and Composition of the Committees” section. Further information
on the work of the Supervisory Board and the Chair of the Supervisory Board’s discussions with investors
can be found in the “Report of the Supervisory Board”.

Overview

The Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG consists of 20 members, half of whom are shareholder represent-
tatives. In accordance with Article 11(1) of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG, the State of Lower
Saxony is entitled to appoint two of these shareholder representatives for as long as it directly or indirectly
holds at least 15% of the Company’s ordinary shares. The remaining shareholder representatives on the
Supervisory Board are elected by the Annual General Meeting.

The other half of the Supervisory Board consists of employee representatives elected by the employees
in accordance with the Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG — German Codetermination Act). A total of seven
of these employee representatives are Company employees elected by the workforce; the other three
employee representatives are trade union representatives elected by the workforce.

The Chair of the Supervisory Board is generally a shareholder representative, and the Deputy Chair is
generally an employee representative. Both are elected by the other members of the Supervisory Board.

The business of the Supervisory Board is managed by a dedicated office of the Supervisory Board Chair.
The Chair of the Supervisory Board ensures the independence of the office of the Supervisory Board Chair
and its staff and exercises the right to appoint and supervise staff in consultation with the responsible
Board of Management members.

The Supervisory Board appoints the Board of Management members and, on the basis of the Executive
Committee’s recommendations, decides on a clear and comprehensible system of remuneration for the
Board of Management members. It presents this system to the Annual General Meeting for approval every
time there is a material change, but at least once every four years.

Each member of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG is obliged to act in the Company’s best inter-
ests. Supervisory Board members are not permitted to delegate their responsibilities to others.

Every Supervisory Board member is obliged to disclose any conflicts of interest to the Chair of the
Supervisory Board without delay. In its report to the Annual General Meeting, the Supervisory Board
informs the Annual General Meeting of any conflicts of interest that have arisen and how these were dealt
with. Material and not merely temporary conflicts of interest on the part of a Supervisory Board member
should result in a termination of the member’s mandate.

Supervisory Board members should not hold board or advisory positions at major competitors of
Volkswagen AG or major competitors of a company dependent on Volkswagen AG and should not be in a
personal relationship involving a major competitor.
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Members of the Supervisory Board receive appropriate support from the Company upon induction as well
as with respect to education and training. Education and training measures are outlined in the “Report of
the Supervisory Board”.

Working procedures of the Supervisory Board

As a rule, the Supervisory Board adopts its resolutions in meetings of all its members. It must hold at least
two meetings in both the first and second halves of the calendar year. The precise number of meetings and
the main topics discussed are outlined in the “Report of the Supervisory Board”. Due to the pandemic,
meetings were also held virtually.

The Chair of the Supervisory Board coordinates the work within the Supervisory Board. He represents
the interests of the Supervisory Board externally and represents the Company to the Board of Management
on behalf of the whole Supervisory Board. Within reason, the Chair of the Supervisory Board discusses
Supervisory Board-specific topics with investors and, in consultation with the Board of Management, may
also discuss non-Supervisory Board-specific topics. More details can be found in the “Report of the Super-
visory Board”.

To underline the importance of environmental sustainability, social responsibility and good corporate
governance, the Supervisory Board has appointed an ESG (environmental, social and governance) officer.
This role is currently performed by Mr. Hans Dieter Potsch.

The Supervisory Board meets regularly also without the Board of Management. Each Supervisory Board
meeting generally ends in a debate. Board of Management members are not present during this part of the
meeting. The Chair of the Supervisory Board convenes and chairs the Supervisory Board meetings. If the
Chair is unable to do so, the Deputy Chair performs these tasks. If the auditor is called to a meeting of the
Supervisory Board or one of its committees as an expert, members of the Board of Management do not
attend such a meeting if the Supervisory Board or the committee does not deem their attendance neces-
sary.

The Supervisory Board is only quorate if at least ten members participate in passing the resolution. The
Chair of the Supervisory Board or of the relevant committee decides the form of the meeting and the voting
procedure for the Supervisory Board and its committees. Should the Chair so decide in individual cases,
meetings may also be held using telecommunications technology, or members may participate in meetings
using this technology. The Chair may also decide that members can participate in the Supervisory Board’s
or its committees’ decision making in writing, by telephone or in another, similar form. Supervisory Board
resolutions require a majority of votes cast, unless legislative provisions or the Articles of Association
stipulate otherwise. Resolutions on consent to establishing or relocating production sites require a two-
thirds majority of the Supervisory Board members. If a vote results in a tie on this item, the vote is
repeated. If this vote is also tied, the Chair of the Supervisory Board casts two votes. Minutes must be taken
of each meeting of the Supervisory Board and its committees. Minutes of a meeting must record the time
and location of the meeting, the participants, the items on the agenda, the material content of the
discussions and the resolutions adopted.

In individual cases, the Supervisory Board and its committees may decide to call upon experts and other
appropriate individuals to advise on individual matters.

Further details on tasks, meetings, resolutions and working procedures of the Supervisory Board are
governed by the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board issued by the Supervisory Board and
published on Volkswagen AG’s website at https://www.volkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations/corporate-
governance.html.

Supervisory Board committees

In order to discharge the duties entrusted to it, the Supervisory Board has established four committees: the
Executive Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Mediation Committee established in accordance
with section 27(3) of the MitbestG and the Audit Committee. The Executive Committee is currently com-
prised of four shareholder representatives and four employee representatives. The shareholder repre-
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sentatives on the Executive Committee make up the Nomination Committee. The Mediation Committee is
comprised of two shareholder representatives and two employee representatives, as was the Audit Com-
mittee until July 31, 2022. Since then, the Audit Committee has been comprised of three shareholder
representatives and three employee representatives.

Which tasks the Supervisory Board has generally transferred to the respective committees is described
below. This does not rule out that the Supervisory Board will not transfer other tasks to committees in
individual cases, where legally admissible.

At its meetings, the Executive Committee meticulously prepares the resolutions of the Supervisory
Board, discusses the composition of the Board of Management and takes decisions on matters such as
contractual issues concerning the Board of Management other than remuneration and consent to ancillary
activities by members of the Board of Management. The Executive Committee supports and advises the
Chair of the Supervisory Board. It works with the Chair of the Board of Management to ensure long-term
succession planning for the Board of Management.

The Nomination Committee proposes suitable candidates for the Supervisory Board to recommend to
the Annual General Meeting for election. Before presenting such proposals, it ensures that the candidates
can commit the expected time to their role and identifies the personal and business relationships of the
candidates to Volkswagen AG and its Group companies, to Volkswagen AG’s corporate bodies and to share-
holders who directly or indirectly hold more than 10% of the voting shares in Volkswagen AG. In its
proposals to the Supervisory Board, the Nomination Committee also takes into account the requirement
for the Supervisory Board to adhere, in its proposals to the Annual General Meeting, to the specific targets
it has set for the composition of the Supervisory Board and to the profile of skills and expertise it has
decided on for the Board as a whole; in so doing, the Nomination Committee also particularly makes sure
that there are no gaps in the Board's skills and expertise as a whole (Skill Gaps Assessment). The Nomi-
nation Committee furthermore takes into account the diversity concept for the composition of the Super-
visory Board.

The Mediation Committee has the task of submitting proposals to the Supervisory Board for an appoint-
ment or revocation of appointment of Board of Management members if there is no majority for the
relevant measure on the Supervisory Board in the first vote. The majority involves at least two-thirds of all
Supervisory Board members.

Among other things, the Audit Committee discusses the auditing of financial reporting, including the
annual and consolidated financial statements, the group management report and the separate non-
financial statement, including the sustainability report. In addition, the Audit Committee concerns itself
with supervising the financial reporting process, the audit of the financial statements, in particular the
selection and independence of the auditor, the quality of the audit, and any additional services provided by
the auditor. Moreover, the Audit Committee concerns itself with compliance, the appropriateness and
effectiveness of the risk management system and internal control system, including the compliance
management system and the internal audit system; it also concerns itself with internal processes within
the meaning of section 111a (2) of the AktG for regularly assessing whether related party transactions were
conducted in the ordinary course of business and at arm’s length. In addition, the Audit Committee
particularly concerns itself with the Volkswagen Group’s quarterly financial reports and half-yearly
financial report.

Further details on tasks, meetings, resolutions and working procedures of the Supervisory Board com-
mittees are governed by the rules of procedure issued by the Supervisory Board for the respective Super-
visory Board committees and published on Volkswagen AG’s website at https://www.volkswagenag.com/
en/InvestorRelations/corporate-governance.html.

Objectives for the composition of the Supervisory Board, profile of skills and expertise and diversity concept

In view of the Company’s specific situation, its purpose, its size and the extent of its international activities,
the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG strives to achieve a composition that takes the Company's owner-
ship structure and the following aspects into account:
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> At least three members of the Supervisory Board should be persons who embody the criterion of inter-
nationality to a particularly high degree.

> In addition, at least four of the shareholder representatives should be persons who, in line with the
criteria of Recommendations C.7 to C.9 of the Code, are independent within the meaning of Recom-
mendation C.6 of the Code.

> At least three of the seats on the Supervisory Board should be held by people who make a special con-
tribution to the diversity of the Board.

> Proposals for election should not normally include persons who have reached the age of 75 on the date of
the election.

The Supervisory Board is of the view that the above criteria have been met. Numerous members of the

Supervisory Board embody the criterion of internationality to a particularly high degree; various nation-

alities are represented on the Supervisory Board and numerous members have international professional

experience. Several members of the Supervisory Board contribute to the Board’s diversity to a particularly

high degree, especially Ms. Hessa Sultan Al Jaber, Ms. Daniela Cavallo, Ms. Julia Willie Hamburg, Ms. Marianne

Heif3, Mr. Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud and Mr. Matias Carnero Sojo. The Supervisory Board comprises

members of various generations. Independent Supervisory Board members within the meaning of Recom-

mendation C.6 of the Code currently comprise at least the following: Ms. Hessa Sultan Al Jaber, Ms. Julia

Willie Hamburg, Mr. Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud and Mr. Stephan Weil.
With regard to the shareholder representatives’ independence from the Company and its Board of Man-
agement, the shareholder representatives have come to the following assessment in accordance with C.7,
8 of the Code:
Supervisory Board members Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang
Porsche have been members of the Supervisory Board for more than 12 years and therefore fulfill one of
the indicators set out in C.7 of the Code regarding a lack of independence from the Company and its Board
of Management. However, considering all the circumstances of the case in hand, the shareholder
representatives are of the opinion that the aforementioned Supervisory Board members are nevertheless
independent from the Company and its Board of Management. This opinion is based in particular on the
following reasons:
> Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche, together with other
family shareholders, are indirectly controlling shareholders of Porsche Automobil Holding SE, which is
the largest single shareholder of Volkswagen AG. The management by the Board of Management of
Volkswagen AG therefore economically affects the personal assets of Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdi-
nand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche.

> The composition of the Board of Management has changed fundamentally several times during the
tenure of Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche. The incumbent
Board of Management members have been in office for a maximum of just under five years. There are
therefore no indications that Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang
Porsche would stop behaving in an impartial manner towards incumbent members of the Board of
Management as a result of a long period of collaboration. There is also no other evidence of “tunnel
vision” on the part of Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche.

> Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr.Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche are not financially
dependent on their remuneration as members of the Supervisory Board.

Aside from their Supervisory Board appointments, Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche

and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche have no personal relationship with the Company or the Board of Management

that could give rise to a material and not merely temporary conflict of interest. The Supervisory Board work

of Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche of previous years has

also not given rise to any conflicts of interest.

The Supervisory Board member Mr. Hans Dieter Pétsch moved directly from the Board of Management to
the Supervisory Board upon his appointment by the court in autumn 2015. This move was less than two
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years prior to his election as a Supervisory Board member by the subsequent Annual General Meeting in
2016, meaning that one of the indicators of a lack of independence from the Company and Board of
Management, set out in C.7 of the Code, applies to Mr. Pétsch. However, considering all the circumstances
of the case in hand, the shareholder representatives are of the opinion that Mr. Potsch is nevertheless
independent from the Company and its Board of Management: it is now more than seven years since Mr.
Potsch’s move from the Board of Management to the Supervisory Board. Mr. P6tsch has already been
elected as a member of the Supervisory Board for a second time by the Annual General Meeting in July
2021. Since his transfer from the Board of Management to the Supervisory Board in October 2015, the
composition of the Board of Management has also fundamentally changed.

In addition, the Supervisory Board adopted the following revised profile of skills and expertise for the full
Board on November 11, 2022 - the profile of skills previously in force can be found in the Corporate Gover-
nance Declaration for fiscal year 2021: to properly perform its supervisory and advisory duties, the Super-
visory Board as a whole must collectively have the required expertise, i.e. knowledge, skills and professional
experience. For this, the members of the Supervisory Board must collectively be familiar with the sector in
which the Company operates — i.e. the automotive industry — and be able to assess the business conducted
by the Company. In addition, the Supervisory Board members as a whole must collectively have expertise
relating to sustainability issues relevant to the Company.
The key skills and expertise that the Supervisory Board must have collectively as a whole are, in partic-
ular, knowledge, skills and professional experience
> in the manufacture and sale of all types of vehicles and engines or other technical products
(vehicles — manufacture/sale)
> in the automotive industry and its transformation, particularly with regard to the topics of e-mobility
and mobility services, the business model and the markets, customer needs and product expertise
(automotive industry)
> in the field of research and development, particularly of technologies with relevance for the Company
(research/development)
> in the fields of digitalization and digital transformation, software, artificial intelligence, automation,
information technology and security
(digitalization/IT)
> in management positions and supervisory bodies of companies, including holding companies and start-
ups, or large organizations
(management/supervision)
> in the fields of law and compliance
(law/compliance)
> in the field of sustainability, particularly with regard to environmental, social and governance aspects
(ESG), e.g. in resources, supply chains, energy supply, corporate social responsibility, sustainable technol-
ogies and corresponding business models
(sustainability/ESG)
> in finance, accounting and auditing, above all special knowledge and experience of the application of
accounting principles and internal control and risk management systems, sustainability reporting, the
audit of financial statements and the audit and assurance of sustainability reporting (financial experts)
(finance/accounting/auditing)
> in human resources (particularly the search for and selection of members of the Board of Management
and the succession process) and knowledge of incentive and remuneration systems for the Board of
Management
(human resources)
> in codetermination, employee matters and the working environment in the Company
(employee matters).
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The Supervisory Board has also specified the following diversity concept for its composition:

> The Supervisory Board must be comprised such that its members collectively have the knowledge, skills,
and professional experience needed to properly perform their duties.

> It has therefore set targets for its composition that also take into account the recommendations of the
German Corporate Governance Code. The targets set by the Supervisory Board for its composition also
describe the concept through which the Supervisory Board as a whole strives to achieve a diverse com-
position (diversity concept in accordance with section 289f(2) no. 6 of the HGB). Attention should also be
generally paid to diversity when seeking qualified individuals to best strengthen the specialist and
managerial expertise of the Supervisory Board as a whole in line with these targets. In preparing
proposals for appointments to the Supervisory Board, it should be considered in each case how the work
of the Supervisory Board will benefit from a diversity of expertise and perspectives among its members,
from professional profiles, professional and general experience that complement one another (including
in the international domain) and from an appropriate gender balance. A wide range of experience and
specialist knowledge should be represented on the Supervisory Board. In addition, the Supervisory Board
should collectively have an extensive range of opinions and knowledge in order to develop a good
understanding of the status quo and the longer-term opportunities and risks in connection with the
Company’s business activities.

> In proposing candidates to the Annual General Meeting for the election of shareholder representatives to
the Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board should take its diversity concept into account in such a way
that the corresponding election of these candidates by the Annual General Meeting would contribute to
the implementation of this concept. However, the Annual General Meeting is not obliged to accept the
candidates nominated.

> The aim of the diversity concept is for the Supervisory Board members to embody a range of expertise
and perspectives. This diversity promotes a good understanding of Volkswagen AG’s organizational and
business affairs. It also enables the Supervisory Board members to challenge the Board of Management’s
decisions constructively and to be open to new ideas by avoiding groupthink. In this way, it contributes to
the effective supervision of the management.

> The Supervisory Board and Nomination Committee, in particular, are called upon to implement the
profile of skills and expertise and the diversity concept within the context of their candidate proposals to
the Annual General Meeting. The Supervisory Board also recommends to employee representatives and
unions (which have the right to submit proposals in employee representative elections) and the State of
Lower Saxony (which has a right to appoint Supervisory Board members) that the diversity concept,
composition targets and profile of skills and expertise should be taken into account. The same applies to
individuals entitled to make proposals should a court-appointed replacement be necessary.

The current composition of the Supervisory Board implements both the diversity concept and the profile

of skills and expertise. The qualification matrix below shows the extent to which the profile of skills and

expertise has been implemented, and indicates which Supervisory Board member has which skills and

expertise.
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QUALIFICATION MATRIX?

Vehicles - Finance/
manufacture/ Automotive Research/  Digitalization/  Management/ Law/  Sustainability/ accounting/ Human Employee
sale industry development T supervision compliance ESG auditing resources matters

Hessa Sultan

Al Jaber X X X X X X X

Mansoor

Ebrahim

Al-Mahmoud X X X X X

Harald Buck X X X X
Daniela

Cavallo X X X X
Matias

Carnero Sojo X X X X X X
Julia Willie

Hamburg X X

Marianne Heif3 X X X X X X X X

Jorg Hofmann X X X X X
Arno Homburg X X X X X X X X
Gilinther

Horvath X X X X

Simone

Mahler X X X X
Peter Mosch X X X X
Daniela

Nowak X X X
Hans Michel

Piéch X X X X X

Ferdinand

Oliver Porsche X X X X X X

Wolfgang

Porsche X X X X

Hans Dieter

Po6tsch X X X X X X X

Jens Rothe X X X X X
Conny

Schénhardt X X X X X X
Stephan Weil X X X X X

1 The skills, knowledge and professional experience associated with the respective key words can be found in the profile of skills. A skill can be attributed to a Supervisory Board member
even if they have expertise in just one subsection of the skill, i.e. for skill in vehicles, for example, either in the area of manufacture or in sales.

In addition, several Supervisory Board members, including Mr. Mansoor Al-Mahmoud, Ms. Marianne Heifs,
Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Hans Dieter Potsch, have expertise in both financial reporting,
including sustainability reporting, and auditing, including the audit and assurance of sustainability
reporting.

As the long-standing CEO of the Qatar Investment Authority and its former Head of Risk Management,
and from his management roles at a bank and stock exchange, Mr. Al-Mahmoud has gained particular
knowledge and experience in the application of accounting principles and internal control and risk
management systems as well as in the field of auditing. This knowledge and experience also relate to
sustainability reporting and the auditing and assurance thereof: at the Qatar Investment Authority, Mr. Al-
Mahmoud has reoriented the investment strategy toward investments with ESG goals and implemented a
sustainability agenda, which was also included in the Qatar Investment Authority’s sustainability
reporting. Mr. Al-Mahmoud therefore also studies companies’ sustainability reports in detail with a view to
whether they fit the Qatar Investment Authority’s sustainability strategy.

56



Corporate Governance Group Corporate Governance Declaration

Ms. Heifd worked as a CFO for a long time and, prior to that, worked for audit and tax consulting firms for
several years; Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche is a long-standing member of audit committees and worked for
an audit firm for several years; Mr. POtsch is a long-standing member and chair of audit committees and
worked for many years as CFO of Volkswagen AG and previously as Head of Controlling at BMW AG. As part
of their long-standing work in audit committees, Ms. Heif, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Potsch
have also been involved in the auditing and assurance of nonfinancial statements, which relate to
sustainability in the form of important environmental and social issues. Ms. Heif3 and Mr. P6tsch are also
involved in sustainability reporting and the auditing and assurance thereof as part of their activities at
BBDO Group Germany GmbH and Porsche Automobil Holding SE, respectively. Ms. Heif? is also a member
of the ESG-Board of Omnicom Group Inc. and an ESG expert in the Supervisory Board of Porsche Auto-
mobil Holding SE. Ms. Heif$, Mr. Al-Mahmoud, Mr. Pétsch and Dr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche track and
monitor the latest developments in the area of sustainability reporting and the auditing thereof and
contribute their expertise to Volkswagen AG's Audit Committee.

Further details on the expertise of the Supervisory Board members can be found in their curricula vitae.
The curricula vitae of the members of the Supervisory Board, which are updated annually, are available
online at www.volkswagenag.com/en/group/executive-bodies.html.

The Nomination Committee and Supervisory Board took into account the diversity concept, specific
composition targets and profile of skills and expertise (in their latest valid versions) when supporting the
proposal by Qatar Holding Germany GmbH to the Annual General Meeting in fiscal year 2022 for the
election of a Supervisory Board member. The composition targets, diversity concept and profile of skills
and expertise were also taken into account in the elections for the employee representatives by the
employees and in the court appointment of another new Supervisory Board member as an employee
representative in fiscal year 2022.

Self-evaluation of the Supervisory Board

On a regular basis every two years, the Supervisory Board internally evaluates how effectively the Board and
its committees are performing their tasks. This initially involves distributing a questionnaire to all Super-
visory Board members, in which they are able to give their view of the effectiveness of the work of the
Supervisory Board and its committees and suggest possible improvements. Following analysis of the
questionnaires, the findings and potential improvements are usually discussed at the next regular meeting
of the full Board. The most recent internal self-evaluation took place from late 2021 to early 2022.

57



Corporate Governance Group Corporate Governance Declaration

DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY THE FUHRUNGSPOSITIONEN-GESETZ

The statutory quota of at least 30% women and at least 30% men has applied to new appointments to the
Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG since January 1, 2016 as required by the Gesetz fiir die gleich-
berechtigte Teilhabe von Frauen und Mdnnern an Fiihrungspositionen in der Privatwirtschaft und im
dffentlichen Dienst (Fiihrungspositionen-Gesetz, FuPoG — German Act on the Equal Participation of Women
and Men in Leadership Positions in the Private and Public Sectors). Shareholder and employee repre-
sentatives have resolved that each side will meet this quota separately. The shareholder representatives
have met the quota of at least 30% women and at least 30% men since the 56th Annual General Meeting on
June 22, 2016. The employee representatives have met the quota since the end of the 57th Annual General
Meeting on May 10, 2017. Both the shareholder and the employee representatives fulfilled the quota on
December 31, 2022.

In line with the Gesetz zur Ergiinzung und Anderung der Regelungen fiir die gleichberechtigte Teilhabe von
Frauen an Fiihrungspositionen in der Privatwirtschaft und im 6ffentlichen Dienst (Fiihrungspositionen-Gesetz
II, FiPoG II - Second Act on Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership Positions in the Private
and Public Sector), Volkswagen AG is subject to a mandatory participation requirement under which the
Board of Management must have at least one woman and at least one man. The participation requirement
has applied to the appointment of one or more members of the Board of Management since August 1,
2022. Volkswagen AG complies with this participation requirement.

For the proportion of women in management in accordance with the Fiihrungspositionen-Gesetz,
Volkswagen AG has set itself the target of 16.5% women in the first level of management and 23.4% women
in the second level of management, each as a proportion of the active workforce, to be achieved by the end
of 2025. As of December 31, 2022, the proportion of women in the active workforce at the first level of
management was 14.2 (13.5)% and at the second level of management it was 19.7 (18.3)%.

REMUNERATION REPORT

The remuneration systems for the members of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board and the
Remuneration Report for fiscal year 2022 are available on the website www.volkswagenag.com/en/
InvestorRelations/corporate-governance/Remuneration.html. Previous years’ remuneration reports can
also be found at this address. The remuneration reports contain both extensive explanations and descrip-
tions of the remuneration systems for the members of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board as
well as information on and explanations of the individual remuneration of members of the Board of
Management and Supervisory Board.

CORPORATE PRACTICES APPLIED IN ADDITION TO STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS

Code of Conduct and Volkswagen Group Essentials

The Volkswagen Group’s Code of Conduct is the key instrument for reinforcing employees’ awareness of
responsible action and decision making. The Group’s underlying values and the foundation for its shared
corporate culture are defined by the seven Volkswagen Group Essentials: responsibility, honesty, bravery,
diversity, pride, solidarity and reliability.

Compliance and risk management

For the Volkswagen Group’s lasting success, we use forward-looking risk management and a uniform

Group-wide framework based on the compliance management system. This includes:

> Compliance. Adherence to statutory provisions, internal company policies, ethical principles and our own
values in order to protect the Company and its brands.

> Whistleblower system. The Volkswagen whistleblower system is the central point of contact for reporting
potential cases of serious rule-breaking in the Volkswagen Group. It focuses on investigating serious
infringements that could cause major damage to the Company’s reputation or financial interests or that
involve major breaches of the Volkswagen Group’s ethical principles.
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> Business and human rights. Volkswagen fully recognizes its corporate responsibility for human rights.
We essentially orient ourselves on the UN (United Nations) Guiding Principles on Business and Human
Rights that are available on the website of the UN (United Nations Global Compact), the content of which
particularly relates to the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the core conventions of the ILO
(International Labor Organization) that can be accessed on the website of the ILO.

> Anti-Corruption. The Volkswagen Group has a zero-tolerance policy on active or passive corruption. This
is anchored in both the Group’s internal Code of Conduct and its Code of Conduct for Business Partners.

> Risk management and internal control system. A comprehensive risk management and internal control
system (RMS/ICS) helps the Volkswagen Group deal with risks in a responsible manner. The organi-
zational design of the Volkswagen Group’s RMS/ICS is based on the internationally recognized COSO
framework for enterprise risk management (COSO: Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread-
way Commission) and can be accessed on the COSO website. Uniform Group principles are used as the
basis for managing risks in a transparent and appropriate manner.

Voluntary commitments and principles
The Volkswagen Group has committed itself to sustainable, transparent and responsible corporate gover-
nance.

We coordinate our sustainability activities across the entire Group and have put in place a forward-
looking system of risk management and a clear framework for dealing with environmental issues in a
future-oriented manner, for employee responsibility and for social commitment across our brands and in
the regions in which we operate.

Voluntary commitments and principles that apply across the Group are the basis and backbone of our
sustainability management. These documents are publicly accessible on the Volkswagen Group’s website in
the section entitled “Sustainability.”

Code of Collaboration and Together4Integrity

The Code of Collaboration, along with our integrity and compliance program Together4Integrity (T4I), is a
central pillar of the NEW AUTO Group strategy. This Code describes how collaboration is to take place
within the Group and between individuals in their day-to-day work. Its core values are encapsulated in the
terms “genuine”, “straightforward”, “open-minded”, “as equals” and “united”. T4I brings together all activi-
ties relating to integrity, culture, compliance, risk management and human resources, creating a common

path toward a new corporate culture.
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MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

(Appointments: as of December 31, 2022 or the leaving date from the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG)

DR. OLIVER BLUME (*1968)

Chair (since September 1, 2022),
Sport & Luxury brand group,

Chair of the Executive Board of

Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG,

April 13,2018, appointed until 2028
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg (Chair)?

MURAT AKSEL (*1972)

Purchasing (until August 31, 2022),
January 1, 2021 to August 31,2022
Nationality: German

Appointments (as of August 31, 2022):
©® SKODA Auto a.s., Mlada Boleslav?

® VfL Wolfsburg-FuBball GmbH, Wolfsburg?

DR. ARNO ANTLITZ (*1970)

Finance,

IT (until January 31, 2022),

April 1, 2021, appointed until 2027

Nationality: German

Appointments:

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart®*

O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter®

O Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Braunschweig
(Chair)?

® Porsche Austria GmbH, Salzburg (Deputy Chair)?

@® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg
(Deputy Chair)?

® Porsche Retail GmbH, Salzburg?

® Volkswagen (China) Investment Co,, Ltd., Beijing?

® Volkswagen Group of America, Inc., Herndon, VA

(Chair)®

RALF BRANDSTATTER (*1968)

Volkswagen Passenger Cars (until June 30, 2022),

Chair of the Board of Management of the

Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand

(until June 30, 2022),

China (since August 1,2022),

Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen

(China) Investment Co. Ltd. (since August 1, 2022)

January 1, 2022, appointed until 2026

Nationality: German

Appointments:

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg?

® Audi (China) Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.,
Beijing®

© FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd., Changchun
(Deputy Chair)?

® Mobility Asia Smart Technology Co. Ltd., Beijing?

@® SAIC Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd., Shanghai
(Deputy Chair)?

@® Volkswagen (Anhui) Automotive Co., Ltd., Hefei
(Chair)®

® Volkswagen (China) Investment Co,, Ltd.,
Beijing (Chair)?

O Membership of statutory supervisory boards in
Germany.
® Comparable appointments in Germany and abroad.
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DR.-ING. HERBERT DIESS (*1958)

Chair (until August 31, 2022),

Volume brand group (until August 31, 2022),

China (until July 31, 2022)

July 1, 2015 to August 31, 2022

Nationality: Austrian

Appointments (as of August 31, 2022):

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt (Chair)?

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg (Chair)?

® FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd., Changchun?

® Porsche Austria GmbH, Salzburg (Deputy Chair)?

@® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg
(Deputy Chair)?

® Porsche Retail GmbH, Salzburg?

@® SAIC Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd., Shanghai
(Deputy Chair)?

@® Volkswagen (China) Investment Co.,, Ltd., Beijing

(Chair)®

DR. JUR. MANFRED DOSS (*1958)

Integrity and Legal Affairs (since February 1, 2022)
February 1, 2022, appointed until 2025
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt (Chair)?

O TRATON SE, Munich®*

® Grizzlys Wolfsburg GmbH, Wolfsburg?

1 Beginning or period of membership in the Board of
Management.

2 Appointment outside the Group.

3 Appointment within the Group.

4 Listed company.
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MARKUS DUESMANN (*1969)
Premium brand group,
Chair of the Board of Management of AUDI AG
April 1, 2020, appointed until 2025
Nationality: German
Appointments:
O FC Bayern Miinchen AG, Munich (Deputy Chair)?
® Audi (China) Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.,
Beijing (Chair)?
@© Automobili Lamborghini S.p.A.,,
Sant’Agata Bolognese (Chair)?
® Bentley Motors Ltd., Crewe®
® Ducati Motor Holding S.p.A., Bologna®
® FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd., Changchun?
® SAIC Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd., Shanghai®

® Volkswagen (China) Investment Co,, Ltd., Beijing?

GUNNAR KILIAN (*1975)

Human Resources and Truck & Bus

April 13,2018, appointed until 2026

Nationality: German

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O MAN Energy Solutions SE, Augsburg (Chair)®

O MAN Truck & Bus SE, Munich?

O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter®

O TRATON SE, Munich®*

O Volkswagen Group Services GmbH, Wolfsburg
(Chair)?

O Wolfsburg AG, Wolfsburg (Chair)?

® Allianz firr die Region GmbH, Braunschweig?

® Autostadt GmbH, Wolfsburg (Chair)?

® FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd., Changchun?

® Scania AB, Sédertalje?

® Scania CV AB, Sodertilje?

® Volkswagen Immobilien GmbH, Wolfsburg (Chair)?

THOMAS SCHAFER (*1970)

Volume brand group (since September 1, 2022),

Chair of the Board of Management of the

Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand (since July 1, 2022)
July 1, 2022, appointed until 2025

Nationality: German

Appointments:

® FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd., Changchun?
@® SAIC Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd., Shanghai?
®© SEAT, S.A., Martorell (Chair)®

© SKODA Auto a.s., Mlada Boleslav (Chair)?

THOMAS SCHMALL-VON WESTERHOLT (*1964)
Technology,

Chair of the Board of Management of

Volkswagen Group Components,

January 1, 2021, appointed until 2023

Nationality: German, Brazilian

Appointments:

O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter (Chair)?

O Volkswagen Group Services GmbH, Wolfsburg?
O Wolfsburg AG, Wolfsburg?

® Brose Sitech Sp. Z 0.0., Polkowice?

HAUKE STARS (*1967)

IT (since February 1, 2022)

February 1, 2022, appointed until 2025
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg?

O Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart®*
O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter?

O RWE AG, Essen®*

® Kiihne + Nagel International AG, Schindellegi**

O Membership of statutory supervisory boards in
Germany.
© Comparable appointments in Germany and abroad.
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HILTRUD DOROTHEA WERNER (*1966)

Integrity and Legal Affairs (until January 31, 2022)

February 1, 2017 to January 31, 2022*

Nationality: German

Appointments (as of January 31, 2022):

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg?

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart®

O MAN Energy Solutions SE, Augsburg?

O Mitteldeutsche Flughafen AG, Leipzig
(Chair)?

HILDEGARD WORTMANN (*1966)

Sales (until August 31, 2022)

February 1, 2022 to August 31, 2022*

Nationality: German

Appointments (as of August 31, 2022):

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg?

O Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Braunschweig?

® Audi (China) Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.,
Beijing®

®© Audi of America, LLC, Herndon, VA (Chair)?

® FAW-Audi Sales Co., Ltd., Hangzhou?

® Ferrovial S.A,, Madrid®*

® Porsche Austria Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg?

® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg?

® Porsche Retail GmbH, Salzburg?

1 Beginning or period of membership in the Board of
Management.

2 Appointment outside the Group.

3 Appointment within the Group.

4 Listed company.
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MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEES

(Appointments: as of December 31, 2022 or the leaving date from the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG or the start date after December 31, 2022)

HANS DIETER POTSCH (*1951)

Chair (since October 7, 2015),

Chair of the Board of Management of

Porsche Automobil Holding SE

October 7, 20152, elected until 2026

Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt®

O Bertelsmann Management SE, Giitersloh?

O Bertelsmann SE & Co. KGaA, Giitersloh?

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart®*

O TRATON SE, Munich (Chair)*>*

O Wolfsburg AG, Wolfsburg?

® Autostadt GmbH, Wolfsburg?

@© Porsche Austria Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg
(Chair)?

@® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg
(Chair)®

® Porsche Retail GmbH, Salzburg (Chair)?

@® VfL Wolfsburg-Fuball GmbH, Wolfsburg

(Deputy Chair)?

JORG HOFMANN (*1955)

Deputy Chair (since November 20, 2015),
First Chair of IG Metall

November 20, 2015, appointed until 2027
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O Robert Bosch GmbH, Stuttgart?

DR. HUSSAIN ALI AL ABDULLA (*1957)

Minister of State

April 22,2010 to May 12, 2022*

Nationality: Qatari

Appointments (as of May 12, 2022):

@© Gulf Investment Corporation, Safat/Kuwait
(Board member)?

@© Qatar Supreme Council for Economic Affairs

and Investment, Doha (Board member)?

DR. HESSA SULTAN AL JABER (*1959)

Former Minister of Information and Communications
Technology, Qatar

June 22, 2016%, elected until 2024

Nationality: Qatari

Appointments:

® Malomatia, Doha (Chair)?

® MEEZA, Doha?

® Qatar Satellite Company (Es'hailSat), Doha (Chair)?

® Trio Investment, Doha (Chair)?

MANSOOR EBRAHIM AL-MAHMOUD (*1974)
Chief Executive Officer of

Qatar Investment Authority

May 12, 2022, elected until 2025

Nationality: Qatari

Appointments:

® Harrods Ltd., London (Board member)?

® Harrods Group (Holding) Ltd., London (Chair)?
© Qatar Airways, Doha (Deputy Chair)?

@© Qatar National Bank, Doha (Board member)?
® Qatar Stock Exchange, Doha (Deputy Chair)?
@© Qatari Diar Real Estate Investment Company, Doha

(Board member)?

O Membership of statutory supervisory boards in
Germany.
®© Comparable appointments in Germany and abroad.
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DR. BERND ALTHUSMANN (*1966)

Minister of Economic Affairs, Labor, Transport and

Digitalization for the Federal State of Lower Saxony

December 14, 2017 to November 8, 2022*

Nationality: German

Appointments (as of November 8, 2022):

O Deutsche Messe AG, Hanover (Deputy Chair)?

® Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven JadeWeserPort-
Marketing GmbH & Co. KG, Wilhelmshaven (Chair)?

®© JadeWeserPort Realisierungs GmbH & Co. KG,
Wilhelmshaven (Chair)?

© JadeWeserPort Realisierungs-Beteiligungs-GmbH,
Wilhelmshaven (Chair)?

@© Niedersachsen Ports GmbH & Co. KG, Oldenburg
(Chair)?

@® Transformationsagentur Niedersachsen GmbH,

Hanover?

HARALD BUCK (*1962)

Chair of the General and Group Works Councils of
Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG

October 4, 2022, appointed until 2027
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart®*

MATIAS CARNERO SOJO (*1968)
Chair of the General Works Council of SEAT
April 1, 2021, appointed until 2027

Nationality: Spanish

1 Beginning or period of membership in the
Supervisory Board.

2 Appointment outside the Group.

3 Appointment within the Group.

4 Listed company.
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DANIELA CAVALLO (*1975)

Chair of the General and Group Works Councils

of Volkswagen AG

May 11, 2021%, appointed until 2027

Nationality: Italian, German

Appointments:

O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter®

O TRATON SE, Munich**

O Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Braunschweig
(Deputy Chair)?

O Wolfsburg AG, Wolfsburg?

@® Allianz fiir die Region GmbH, Braunschweig?

® Brose Sitech Sp. Z 0.0., Polkowice?

® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg?

©® SEAT, S.A, Martorell®

® SKODA Auto a.s., Mlada Boleslav?

® VfL Wolfsburg-FuBball GmbH, Wolfsburg?

® Volkswagen Group Services GmbH?

DR. JUR. HANS-PETER FISCHER (*1959)

Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen
Management Association e.V.

January 1, 2013 to May 12, 2022*

Nationality: German

Appointments (as of May 12, 2022):

® Volkswagen Pension Trust e.V,, Wolfsburg3

JULIA WILLIE HAMBURG (*1986)

Minister of Education and Cultural Affairs for the
Federal State of Lower Saxony

November 8, 2022, delegated until 2023

Nationality: German

MARIANNE HEIB (*1972)

Chief Executive Officer of BBDO Group
Germany GmbH, Diisseldorf

February 14, 2018, elected until 2023
Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart®*

DR.-ING. ARNO HOMBURG (*1968)

Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen
Management Association e.V.

May 12,2022, appointed until 2027

Nationality: German

Appointments:

® Volkswagen Pension Trust e.V., Wolfsburg?

DR. GUNTHER HORVATH (*1952)

Managing Director of

Dr. Giinther J. Horvath Rechtsanwalt GmbH

and self-employed attorney at Dr. Giinther J. Horvath
Rechtsanwalt GmbH

February 28, 2023*

Nationality: Austrian

Appointments (as of February 28, 2023):

O Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart®*

ULRIKE JAKOB (*1960)

Deputy Chair of the Works Council of Volkswagen AG
Kassel plant (until May 4, 2022)

May 10, 2017 to May 12, 2022}

Nationality: German

DR. LOUISE KIESLING (*1957)
Entrepreneur
April 30,2015 to December 9, 2022*

Nationality: Austrian

SIMONE MAHLER (*1971)

Chair of the Joint Works Council of

VW Financial Services AG and

Volkswagen Bank GmbH

May 12, 2022%, appointed until 2027

Nationality: German

Appointments:

O EURO-Leasing GmbH, Sittensen®

O Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Braunschweig?

® Volkswagen Pension Trust e.V., Wolfsburg?

O Membership of statutory supervisory boards in
Germany.
®© Comparable appointments in Germany and abroad.
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PETER MOSCH (*1972)

Chairman of the General Works Council of AUDI AG

January 18, 2006, appointed until 2027

Nationality: German

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt (Deputy Chair)?

O Audi Pensionskasse — Altersversorgung der
AUTO UNION GmbH, VVag, Ingolstadt?

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg (Deputy Chair)?

® Audi Stiftung fir Umwelt GmbH, Ingolstadt?

BERTINA MURKOVIC (*1957)

Chair of the Works Council of Volkswagen Commercial
Vehicles

May 10, 2017 to May 12, 2022*

Nationality: German

Appointments (as of May 12, 2022):

® MOIA GmbH, Berlin®

DANIELA NOWAK (*1970)

Chair of the Works Council of Volkswagen AG,
Braunschweig plant

May 12, 2022, appointed until 2027
Nationality: German

Appointments:

® Volkswagen Pension Trust e.V.,, Wolfsburg3

DR. JUR. HANS MICHEL PIECH (*1942)

Lawyer

August 7,2009%, elected until 2024

Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart>*

O Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart
(Deputy Chair)>*

® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg?

®© Schmittenhéhebahn AG, Zell am See?

1 Beginning or period of membership in the
Supervisory Board.

2 Appointment outside the Group.

3 Appointment within the Group.

4 Listed company.
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DR. JUR. FERDINAND OLIVER PORSCHE (*1961)
Member of the Board of Management of Familie
Porsche AG Beteiligungsgesellschaft

August 7, 2009", elected until 2024

Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart®*

O Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart®*

® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg?

® Porsche Lifestyle GmbH & Co. KG, Ludwigsburg?

DR. RER. COMM. WOLFGANG PORSCHE (*1943)

Chair of the Supervisory Board of

Porsche Automobil Holding SE;

Chair of the Supervisory Board of

Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG

April 24,2008, elected until 2023

Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart (Chair)**

O Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart (Chair)**

®© Familie Porsche AG Beteiligungsgesellschaft,
Salzburg (Chair)?

® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg?

® Schmittenhdhebahn AG, Zell am See?

JENS ROTHE (*1970)

Chair of the General Works Council

of Volkswagen Sachsen GmbH

October 22, 2021, appointed until 2027
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O Volkswagen Sachsen GmbH, Zwickau (Deputy

Chair)?

CONNY SCHONHARDT (*1978)

Union Secretary and Head of the Mobility and Vehicle
Construction Unit attached to the IG Metall Board
June 21, 2019%, appointed until: 2027

Nationality: German

Appointments:

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg?

O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter®

O Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Braunschweig?

STEPHAN WEIL (*1958)
Minister-President of the Federal State of
Lower Saxony

February 19, 2013, delegated until 2023

Nationality: German

WERNER WERESCH (*1961)

Member of the Executive Committee of the Works
Council of Porsche Automobil Holding SE and
Chairman of the General and Group Works Councils
of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG

February 21, 2019 to September 30, 2022*

Nationality: German

O Membership of statutory supervisory boards in
Germany.
© Comparable appointments in Germany and abroad.
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COMMITTEES OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022

Members of the Executive Committee
Hans Dieter Potsch (Chair)

Jorg Hofmann (Deputy Chair)

Daniela Cavallo

Peter Mosch

Dr. Hans Michel Piéch

Dr. Wolfgang Porsche

Jens Rothe

Stephan Weil

Members of the Mediation Committee established
in accordance with section 27(3) of the
Mitbestimmungsgesetz(German

Codetermination Act)

Hans Dieter P6tsch (Chair)

Jorg Hofmann (Deputy Chair)

Daniela Cavallo

Stephan Weil

Members of the Audit Committee
Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud (Chair)
Daniela Cavallo (Deputy Chair)
Marianne Hei3

Dr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche

Jens Rothe

Conny Schonhardt

Members of the Nomination Committee
Hans Dieter Potsch (Chair)

Dr. Hans Michel Piéch

Dr. Wolfgang Porsche

Stephan Weil

1 Beginning or period of membership in the
Supervisory Board.

2 Appointment outside the Group.

3 Appointment within the Group.

4 Listed company.
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Remuneration Report 2022

The Board of Management and Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG must prepare a clear and
understandable remuneration report in accordance with section 162 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG —
German Stock Corporation Act). In this report, we explain the main features of the remuneration
system for the members of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board. The remuneration
report also contains an individualized breakdown of the remuneration components provided to

current and former members of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board.

A. REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

In the reporting year, which was overshadowed by the Russia-Ukraine conflict, the Volkswagen Group’s
business was impacted by the global economic slowdown, the limited availability of parts and disruptions
in the logistics chain. In this environment, the Volkswagen Group’s deliveries declined year-on-year, while
the operating result improved due to improvements in the mix and price positioning. The Board of Man-
agement members also benefited from this in their remuneration.

I. Principles of Board of Management remuneration

The remuneration of the Board of Management is based on the remuneration system developed by the
Supervisory Board and adopted on December 14, 2020 with effect from January 1, 2021. The remuneration
system for the members of the Board of Management implements the requirements of the AktG as
amended by the Gesetz zur Umsetzung der zweiten Aktiondrsrechterichtlinie (ARUG II — German Act on the
Implementation of the Second Shareholder’ Rights Directive) and takes into account the recommendations
of the German Corporate Governance Code (the Code). The Annual General Meeting approved the remuner-
ation system on July 22, 2021 with 99.61% of the votes cast.

The new remuneration system has applied since January 1, 2021 to all Board of Management members
with service contracts newly concluded or renewed after the Supervisory Board resolution of December 14,
2020. For the Board of Management members already appointed at the time of the resolution by the
Supervisory Board on December 14, 2020, the new remuneration system also applies in principle since
January 1, 2021. Until such time as their contracts are renewed, however, the following exceptions apply:
the performance share plan of the Board of Management members already appointed continues to have
only a three-year performance period but otherwise corresponds to the performance share plan described
in the remuneration system. Penalty and clawback rules will only apply to Board of Management members
already appointed on renewal of their contracts.

The level of the Board of Management remuneration should be appropriate and attractive in the context
of the Company’s national and international peer group. Criteria include the tasks of the individual Board
of Management member, their personal performance, the economic situation, and the performance of and
outlook for the Volkswagen Group, as well as how customary the remuneration is when measured against
the peer group and the remuneration structure that applies to other areas of the Volkswagen Group. In this
context, comparative studies on remuneration are conducted on a regular basis.
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In the Remuneration Report for fiscal year 2021, the Board of Management and Supervisory Board reported
in detail on the remuneration paid to members of the Board of Management in fiscal year 2021. The
Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2022 approved the Remuneration Report for fiscal year 2021 with a
majority of 99.78% of the votes. Comments by investors were taken into account in the preparation of the
Remuneration Report for fiscal year 2022, for example by adding an explanation of the composition of the
peer group.

In this chapter, we provide an overview of the remuneration system for the Board of Management
members in fiscal year 2022 before going into the components of the remuneration in fiscal year 2022.

Il. Overview of the remuneration components

The table below provides an overview of the components of the remuneration system applicable for fiscal
year 2022 for the members of the Board of Management. The table also outlines the composition of the
individual remuneration components and explains their targets, particularly in respect of how the remu-
neration will promote the Company’s long-term performance. A more detailed description of the remuner-
ation system applicable for fiscal year 2022 for the members of the Board of Management is available at
www.volkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations/corporate-governance/Remuneration.html.
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Remuneration Report 2022

Component
I

Composition
L]

Fixed remuneration components

Target

Base salary o Twelve equal installments payable at month-end The basic remuneration and fringe benefits
o Chair of the Board of Management: €2,235,000; Board of Management member: are intended to reflect the tasks and
€1,420,000 responsibility of the Board of Management
Fringe benefits o Fringe benefit allowance (€175,000) covers certain benefits at the discretion of the members, provide a ba.sic i.ncome anfj
Board of Management member, for example: z:i\;ent them from taking inappropriate
0 Company cars
o Preventive medical check-ups
o Allowances for health and long-term care insurance
0 Accident insurance
o Crediting of benefits against the fringe benefit allowance where these are subject to
payroll tax
e Payment of the remaining amount
Occupational o Defined contribution plan by means of direct commitments to retirement, disability ~ The occupational retirement provision is

retirement provision

and surviving dependents’ benefits

Normally, when the members reach the age of 65 (or 63 in the case of Board of
Management members who took office before January 1, 2020)

Annual pension contribution of 40% of the contractually agreed base salary (or 50% in

the case of Board of Management members who took office before January 1, 2018)

intended to provide Board of Management
members with an adequate pension when
they retire

Variable remuneration components

Annual bonus .

Plan type: Target bonus

Chair of the Board of Management: €3,045,000; Board of Management member:
€1,350,000

Cap: 180% of the target amount
Assessment period: fiscal year
Performance criteria:

o Financial subtargets:

= Operating result (OR) incl. Chinese joint ventures® (proportionate) (50%) and
operating return on sales (50%)

= The Supervisory Board defines minimum, target and maximum values for the

financial subtargets for each fiscal year. The minimum corresponds to subtarget
achievement of 0% of the OR including Chinese joint ventures (proportionate) or
50% of the operating return on sales, while the target corresponds to a subtarget
achievement of 100% in each case and the maximum to subtarget achievement

of 150%; interim values are interpolated on a linear basis

including Chinese joint ventures (proportionate)” x 50% + “subtarget
achievement operating return on sales” x 50%
0 ESG factor

= Subtargets of 50% each for the Environment (decarbonization index) and Social
(sentiment and diversity index) as well as the Governance factor of between 0.9

and 1.1 (compliance and integrity, standard value of 1.0)
The Supervisory Board defines minimum, target and maximum values for the

Environment and Social subtargets for each fiscal year. The minimum, target and

maximum values correspond to subtarget achievement of 0.7, 1.0 and 1.3
respectively; interim values are interpolated on a linear basis

Calculation of the ESG factor: (Environment subtarget achievement x 50% +
Social subtarget achievement x 50%) x Governance factor (0.9-1.1)

Annual bonus payment amount = individual target amount x financial target
achievement x ESG factor

Payment: In cash in the month following approval of the consolidated financial
statements for the fiscal year in question

Overall financial target achievement = subtarget achievement “operating result

The Supervisory Board sets the Governance factor after the end of the fiscal year
taking into account the collective performance of the Board of Management as a
whole and the performance of each Board of Management member individually

The annual bonus is designed to motivate
Board of Management members to pursue
ambitious targets

The financial performance targets support
the strategic target of achieving competitive
profitability

Integration of the sustainability targets
takes the importance of ESG factors into
account.

1 Equity-accounted companies in China.
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Component Composition

Target

Long-term incentive o
(LTI1) .

Plan type: Phantom performance share plan

Performance period: measured forward over four years®

Chair of the Board of Management: €3,830,000; Board of Management member:
€1,800,000

e Cap:200% of the target amount

The phantom performance shares are a purely mathematical construct and do not
confer any ownership or dividend rights in Volkswagen AG

Allocation of performance shares: At the start of each fiscal year, the individually
agreed target amount is divided by the arithmetic mean of the closing prices of
Volkswagen’s preferred shares (German Securities Identification Number: 766403) in
the Xetra trading system of Deutsche Borse AG on the last 30 trading days prior to
January 1 in the respective performance period (initial reference price)
Target-setting: At the start of the performance period, the Supervisory Board defines
minimum, target and maximum values for EPS as presented in the annual report as
audited, fully diluted earnings per Volkswagen preferred share from the Company’s
continuing and discontinued operations; the EPS minimum corresponds to target
achievement of 50%, the EPS target corresponds to target achievement of 100% and
the EPS maximum corresponds to target achievement of 150%

o Determination of one-quarter of the allocated performance shares at the end of each

fiscal year depending on EPS target achievement

Calculation of the payment amount: fixed performance shares are multiplied by the
arithmetic mean of the closing prices of Volkswagen’s preferred shares in the Xetra
trading system of Deutsche Borse AG on the last 30 trading days prior to the end of
the performance period (“closing reference price”) and the dividends paid out per
Volkswagen preferred share during the performance period (“dividend equivalent”)
Payment: In cash in the month following approval of the consolidated financial
statements for the last fiscal year of the respective performance period

If the service contract ends before the end of the performance period due to a bad
leaver case (extraordinary termination for cause or a breach of a contractual or post-
contractual restraint on competition), all performance shares will be forfeited

The long-term incentive serves to align the
remuneration of the Board of Management
members with the Company’s long-term
performance. The EPS (earnings per share)
financial performance target in conjunction
with share price performance and the
dividends paid, measured over four years,
ensures the long-term effect of the
behavioral incentives and supports the
strategic target of achieving competitive
profitability.

Other benefits

Special payment e Only on the basis of a separate contractual agreement with the Board of

Management member

e The agreement is made in advance for the fiscal year and defines performance
criteria for the special payment

e There are currently no special payment agreements with Board of Management
members

Special payments are intended to reward
outstanding and exceptional performance
and may only be granted if they are in the
Company’s interest and are associated with
future benefits for the Company

Benefits agreed with o
new Board of
Management .
members for a

defined period of time
or for the entire term
of their service
contracts

Only on the basis of a separate contractual agreement with the new Board of
Management member

Payments to compensate for declining variable remuneration or other financial
disadvantages

Benefits in connection with a relocation

e Minimum remuneration guarantee

o New Board of Management members did not receive any special benefits in the past
fiscal year

(Compensation) payments are designed to
attract qualified candidates

1 For the Board of Management members already appointed prior to December 14, 2020, a three-year performance period continues to apply until their contracts are renewed. In all

other respects, the performance share plan corresponds mutatis mutandis to that described for fiscal year 2022.
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Component

Composition

Target

Other remuneration provisions

Penalty and clawback e
rules?

The Supervisory Board can reduce or request repayment of the annual bonus and LTI
by up to 100% in the event of relevant misconduct during the assessment period

A clawback is not permissible if more than three years have elapsed since the bonus
was paid

Penalty and clawback rules are intended to
counteract individual misconduct and
negligence on the part of the organization

Maximum
remuneration

The relevant components are the base salary paid for the respective year, the fringe
benefits granted, the service cost for the occupational retirement provision, the
annual bonus granted for the respective fiscal year and paid out in the following year,
the performance share plan paid out in the respective fiscal year and for which the
performance period ended immediately before the respective fiscal year, any special
payment granted for the respective fiscal year and any benefits granted to new Board
of Management members

For Board of Management members € 7,000,000 (gross) per fiscal year and for the
Chair of the Board of Management € 12,000,000 (gross) per fiscal year

If the maximum remuneration is exceeded, the annual bonus will be reduced; if a
reduction is not sufficient, the Supervisory Board may, at its discretion, reduce other
remuneration components or request repayment of remuneration paid out

The aim of the maximum remuneration is to
ensure that the remuneration of Board of
Management members is not
inappropriately high when measured
against the peer group

Cap on cash
remuneration .

Paid in addition to maximum remuneration

The cash remuneration includes the base salary paid in the respective fiscal year, the
annual bonus granted for the respective fiscal year and paid out in the following year,
the performance share plan paid in the respective fiscal year and for which the
performance period ended immediately before the respective fiscal year, and any
special payment granted for the respective fiscal year

For Board of Management members € 5,500,000 (gross) per fiscal year and for the
Chair of the Board of Management € 10,000,000 (gross) per fiscal year

The cap on cash remuneration is intended to
prevent unacceptably high disbursements in
the individual fiscal year

1 For the Board of Management members already appointed prior to December 14, 2020, penalty and clawback rules only apply once their contracts have been renewed.

I1l. Remuneration of the Board of Management members appointed in fiscal year 2022
1. Board of Management members in fiscal year 2022

The members of the Volkswagen AG Board of Management in fiscal year 2022 were as follows:
> Oliver Blume, member of the Board of Management since April 13, 2018, Chair of the Board of Manage-
ment since September 1, 2022, also Chair of the Executive Board of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG

\

Arno Antlitz, member of the Board of Management since April 1, 2021

> Markus Duesmann, member of the Board of Management since April 1, 2020, also Chair of the Board of
Management of AUDI AG

\

\

Gunnar Kilian, member of the Board of Management since April 13, 2018
Ralf Brandstitter, member of the Board of Management since January 1, 2022, also CEO of Volkswagen

(China) Investment Company Limited

\

\

Hauke Stars, member of the Board of Management since February 1, 2022
Manfred Doss, member of the Board of Management since February 1, 2022

> Thomas Schafer, member of the Board of Management since July 1, 2022
> Thomas Schmall-von Westerholt, member of the Board of Management since January 1, 2021

> Herbert Diess, member of the Board of Management from July 1, 2015 and Chair of the Board of Manage-
ment from April 13, 2018, left the Board effective August 31, 2022

> Murat Aksel, member of the Board of Management from January 1,2021, left the Board effective
August 31, 2022

> Hiltrud Dorothea Werner, member of the Board of Management from February 1, 2017, left the Board
effective January 31, 2022

> Hildegard Wortmann, member of the Board of Management from February 1,2022, left the Board
effective August 31, 2022
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For their work on the Board of Management, its members do not receive additional remuneration for
discharging other mandates on management bodies, supervisory boards or similar, especially in other
companies of the Volkswagen Group. If such remuneration is nevertheless granted, it is counted toward the
remuneration for their work as a member of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG.

A different arrangement has been reached with Mr. Brandstétter for his work at Volkswagen (China)
Investment Company Limited: Mr. Brandstdtter receives a separate remuneration for his work as CEO of
Volkswagen (China) Investment Company Limited. Mr. Brandstitter’s contractual remuneration under his
contract of employment with Volkswagen AG is reduced accordingly for the duration of his work at Volks-
wagen (China) Investment Company Limited.

2. Remuneration granted and owed in fiscal year 2022

In accordance with section 162(1) sentence 1 of the AktG, the remuneration report must report on the

remuneration granted and owed to each individual member of the Board of Management in the last fiscal

year. These terms are understood as follows:

> The term “granted” (gewdihrt) refers to the actual receipt (Zufluss) of the remuneration component.

> The term “owed” (geschuldet) refers to all legally existing liabilities for remuneration components that
are due but have not yet been fulfilled.

> This understanding differs from the terms “benefits granted” and “benefits received” used in remu-
neration reports up to and including December 31, 2020. As per the 2017 version of the Code, “benefits
granted” included, regardless of when they were to be paid out, all remuneration components that had
been agreed at least in principle for a member of the Board of Management in the fiscal year and for
which the amount could be estimated. With the introduction of section 162 of the AktG, it is no longer
possible to maintain the distinction between “granted” and “received” as previously understood. Instead,
the meaning of the term “granted” in section 162 of the AktG corresponds to the previous understanding
of “received”.

2.1. Overview in the tables
The following tables show the remuneration actually received by members of the Board of Management in
fiscal year 2022. The time of actual payment is not relevant. The remuneration reported as granted in fiscal
year 2022 thus consists of the base salary paid out in fiscal year 2022, the fringe benefits, the annual bonus
paid in the month following the approval of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for fiscal year
2022 and the LTI for the performance period 2019 to 2021 paid in fiscal year 2022. As the Company was not
in default on the payment of remuneration components, no remuneration owed is reported in the tables.
The relative shares shown in the tables relate to the remuneration components granted and owed in the
respective fiscal year in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 1 of the AktG. They thus include all
benefits actually received in the respective fiscal year, regardless of the fiscal year for which the Board of
Management members received them. The relative shares indicated here are thus not comparable with the
respective relative shares of fixed and variable remuneration components as part of total remuneration in
the description of the remuneration system according to section 87a(1) sentence 2 no. 3 of the AktG. The
shares indicated in the remuneration system relate to the targets agreed for the relevant fiscal year,
irrespective of the time at which the respective remuneration component was paid out.
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Pension expense is reported as service cost within the meaning of IAS 19. The service cost in accordance
with IAS 19 does not constitute remuneration granted or owed within the meaning of section 162(1) sen-
tence 1 of the AktG as it is not actually received by the Board of Management member in the reporting year.

Maximum remuneration corresponds to maximum remuneration within the meaning of section 87a(1)
sentence 2 no. 1 of the AktG in accordance with the remuneration system adopted by the Supervisory
Board and approved by the Annual General Meeting. As in the past, in addition to maximum remuneration,
a limit on cash remuneration, which includes the base salary paid out for the relevant fiscal year, the annual
bonus granted for the relevant fiscal year and paid out in the subsequent year, the performance share plan
paid out in the relevant fiscal year and for which the performance period ended immediately before the
respective fiscal year, and any special payment granted for the relevant fiscal year, has been agreed with the
members of the Board of Management.

Board of Management service contracts that are new or have been renewed since the Supervisory Board
adopted the new remuneration system for the members of the Board of Management on December 14,
2020 also contain the penalty and clawback rules provided for in this remuneration system. As such, the
service contract of the Board of Management member Mr. Duesmann, who was already appointed at the
time of the Supervisory Board resolution of December 14, 2020, does not contain penalty or clawback rules,
nor did Ms. Werner's service contract, which ended on January 31, 2022. For Mr. Blume, the penalty and
clawback rules apply starting from his new appointment, i.e. from September 1, 2022. Volkswagen AG did
not make use of the existing penalty and clawback rules in fiscal year 2022.

OLIVER BLUME

Chair (since September 1, 2022)
Sport & Luxury brand group
Chair of the Executive Board of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG

2022

€ %
I

Fixed remuneration components

Base salary 1,691,666.64 26.4
Fringe benefits 186,181.00 2.9
Total 1,877,847.64 29.3

Variable remuneration components

One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 3,138,685.00 49.0

Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)
LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 1,392,871.72 21.7

Other remuneration

Special payments N N

Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members N N

Total remuneration granted and owed 6,409,404.36 100.0
Pension expenses 977,063.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 7,386,467.36 X
Maximum remuneration 8,666,666.67 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X
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Fixed remuneration components

MURAT AKSEL

Purchasing (until August 31, 2022)

2022

€ %
I

Base salary 946,666.64 36.6
Fringe benefits 166,201.00 6.4
Total 1,112,867.64 43.0
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,473,079.31 57.0
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 - -
Other remuneration
Special payments - -
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 2,585,946.95 100.0
Pension expenses 709,917.51 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 3,295,864.46 X
Maximum remuneration 4,666,666.67 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

Fixed remuneration components

ARNO ANTLITZ

Finance, IT
(IT until January 31, 2022)

2022

€ %
I

Base salary 1,420,000.00 37.2
Fringe benefits 180,689.00 4.7
Total 1,600,689.00 42.0
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 2,212,650.00 58.0
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 - -
Other remuneration
Special payments - -
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 3,813,339.00 100.0
Pension expenses 1,008,397.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 4,821,736.00 X
Maximum remuneration 7,000,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X
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RALF BRANDSTATTER

Volkswagen Passenger Cars (until June 30, 2022),
Chair of the Board of Management of the
Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand (until June 30, 2022)
China (since August 1, 2022)

Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen (China)
Investment Co. Ltd. (since August 1, 2022)

2022

€ %
. EEEE——

Fixed remuneration components

Base salary
Volkswagen 887,499.98 219
vaict 532,499.99 131
Fringe benefits
Volkswagen 115,363.00 2.8
veic? 311,601.00 7.7
Total 1,846,963.96 45.5

Variable remuneration components

One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus
Volkswagen 1,382,906.25 34.1
vcict 829,743.75 20.4
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)
LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 - -

Other remuneration

Special payments - -

Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -

Total remuneration granted and owed 4,059,613.96 100.0
Pension expenses 696,524.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 4,756,137.96 X
Maximum remuneration 7,000,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

1 Mr. Brandstatter receives 90% of the remuneration of a regular Board of Management member of Volkswagen AG from Volkswagen (China) Investment
Company Limited (VCIC) for his work as CEO of VCIC. VCIC accounts for Mr. Brandstatter as if he received his remuneration from Volkswagen AG in Germany.
These amounts are disclosed here. The actual gross expense incurred by VCIC may differ on account of Chinese tax law.

2 The fringe benefits presented by VCIC include, in particular, the benefits paid by VCIC for Mr. Brandstétter’s assignment to China (such as housing, flight
expenses). Assignment-specific fringe benefits are not counted against the fringe benefit allowance provided by VCIC.
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HERBERT DIESS

Chair (until August 31, 2022),
Volume brand group (until August 31, 2022),
China (until July 31, 2022)

2022

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 1,490,000.00 21.8
Fringe benefits 166,201.00 2.4
Total 1,656,201.00 24.2
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,158,419.71 17.0
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 4,018,246.96 58.8
Other remuneration
Special payments - -
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 6,832,867.67 100.0
Pension expenses 1,069,163.33 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 7,902,031.00 X
Maximum remuneration 8,000,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X
MANFRED DOSS?
Integrity and Legal Affairs (since February 1, 2022)
2022
€ %

Fixed remuneration components

Base salary 976,250.00 37.3
Fringe benefits 120,892.00 4.6
Total 1,097,142.00 41.9
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,521,196.88 58.1
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 - -
Other remuneration
Special payments - -
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 2,618,338.88 100.0
Pension expenses 665,163.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 3,283,501.88 X
Maximum remuneration 4,812,500.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

1 Mr. Doss receives remuneration in the amount of 75% of the remuneration of a regular member of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG.
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MARKUS DUESMANN

Premium brand group,
Chair of the Board of Management of AUDI AG

2022

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 1,420,000.00 37.1
Fringe benefits 197,300.00 5.2
Total 1,617,300.00 42.2
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 2,212,650.00 57.8
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 - -
Other remuneration -
Special payments N N
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members N N
Total remuneration granted and owed * 3,829,950.00 100.0
Pension expenses 993,152.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 4,823,102.00 X
Maximum remuneration 7,000,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

1 Mr. Duesmann received remuneration of €99,860 from FC Bayern Miinchen AG for a Supervisory Board appointment. This remuneration was offset in full
against the reported variable remuneration granted by Volkswagen AG for fiscal year 2022.

GUNNAR KILIAN

Human Resources and Truck & Bus

2022

€ %
I

Fixed remuneration components

Base salary 1,420,000.00 25.0
Fringe benefits 182,139.00 3.2
Total 1,602,139.00 28.2

Variable remuneration components

One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,247,128.28 219

Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)
LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 2,832,871.72 499

Other remuneration -

Special payments - -

Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -

Total remuneration granted and owed 5,682,139.00 100.0
Pension expenses 1,137,688.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 6,819,827.00 X
Maximum remuneration 7,000,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X
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THOMAS SCHAFER

Volume brand group (since September 1, 2022),
Chair of the Board of Management of the Volkswagen
Passenger Cars brand (since July 1, 2022)

2022

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 709,999.98 37.2
Fringe benefits 91,089.00 4.8
Total 801,088.98 42.0
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,106,325.00 58.0
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 - -
Other remuneration
Special payments - -
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 1,907,413.98 100.0
Pension expenses 388,544.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 2,295,957.98 X
Maximum remuneration 3,500,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X
THOMAS SCHMALL-VON WESTERHOLT
Technology,
Chair of the Board of Management of
Volkswagen Group Components

2022

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 1,420,000.00 37.2
Fringe benefits 182,040.00 4.8
Total 1,602,040.00 42.0
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 2,212,650.00 58.0
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 - -

Other remuneration
Special payments - -
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 3,814,690.00 100.0
Pension expenses 885,829.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 4,700,519.00 X
Maximum remuneration 7,000,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

76



Corporate Governance

Remuneration Report 2022

Fixed remuneration components

HAUKE STARS

IT (since February 1, 2022)

2022

€ %
I

Base salary 1,301,666.63 37.2
Fringe benefits 166,031.00 4.7
Total 1,467,697.63 42.0
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 2,028,262.50 58.0
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 - -
Other remuneration
Special payments - -
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 3,495,960.13 100.0
Pension expenses 542,174.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 4,038,134.13 X
Maximum remuneration 6,416,666.67 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

HILTRUD DOROTHEA WERNER

Integrity and Legal Affairs (until January 31, 2022)

2022

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 118,333.33 25.1
Fringe benefits 30,328.00 6.4
Total 148,661.33 315
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 86,768.36 18.4
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 236,072.64 50.1
Other remuneration -
Special payments - -
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 471,502.33 100.0
Pension expenses 111,831.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 583,333.33 X
Maximum remuneration 583,333.33 X

Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG

- X
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HILDEGARD WORTMANN

Sales (February 1 to August 31, 2022)

2022
€ %
& ]
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 828,333.31 36.2
Fringe benefits 172,870.00 7.6
Total 1,001,203.31 43.8
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,285,155.62 56.2
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)
LTI (performance share plan) 2019 — 2021 - -
Other remuneration
Special payments - -
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 2,286,358.93 100.0
Pension expenses 291,581.90 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 2,577,940.82 X
Maximum remuneration 4,083,333.33 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X
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ANNUAL BONUS

TARGET VALUE X TARGET ACHIEVEMENT = PAYOUT

-\
ESG
1 O : 37, Desston 1 Semtiment ating Somplaiiey
/2 Sp::;tf:r?ir:éte) = /2 . x /2 ization index + /2 Diversity index X Integrity (Cl)
— (0 -150% target achievement) _ _ multiplier(0.7-23) ____ ___ multiplier (0.9-1.1) ____

2.2 Explanation

2.2.1 Performance criteria for the variable remuneration
a) Performance criteria for the annual bonus

aa) Financial subtargets

The following overviews show the threshold values, target values and maximum values set by the Super-
visory Board for fiscal year 2022 for the financial subtargets operating result, including Chinese joint
ventures (proportionate), and operating return on sales (RoS), along with the actual figures and target
achievement levels in percent in fiscal year 2022.

COMPONENT 1: OPERATING RESULT INCLUDING CHINESE JOINT VENTURES (PROPORTIONATE)

€ billion 2022

——
Maximum value 25.0
100% target level 17.0
Threshold value 9.0
Actual 25.4
Target achievement (in %) 150

COMPONENT 2: OPERATING RETURN ON SALES

% 2022

—
Maximum value 8.0
100% target level 6.0
Threshold value 4.0
Actual 7.9
Target achievement (in %) 148
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bb) ESG factor

The following overview shows the minimum values, target values and maximum values set by the Super-
visory Board for fiscal year 2022 for the environmental (decarbonization index) and social (sentiment
rating and diversity index) subtargets along with the actual figures and target achievement levels in fiscal
year 2022. The decarbonization index measures the emissions of CO, and CO; equivalents by the passenger
car- and light commercial vehicle-producing brands over the entire life cycle and documents the progress
in improving our carbon footprint. The sentiment rating is an important parameter of the opinion survey
- an employee poll with which the Group regularly gathers information regarding employee satisfaction.
The diversity index is used worldwide to determine the development of the proportion of women in man-
agement and the internationalization of top management. The indicator provides incentives for an
exemplary leadership and corporate culture. The governance factor is a means for the Supervisory Board to
express its satisfaction with the expected and actual behavior of the Board of Management with regard to
the criteria of integrity and compliance. As a rule, the governance factor should be 1.0 and may only be
reduced to 0.9 or raised to 1.1 in exceptional circumstances based on a professional judgment of the
Supervisory Board. For fiscal year 2022, the Supervisory Board has set the governance factor at the standard
value of 1.0 for all Board of Management members; it takes into account and assesses the collective
performance of the Board of Management as a whole and the performance of each Management Board
member individually.

ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL

Decarbonization index* Sentiment rating Diversity index
in tCOe/vehicle 2022 Points 2022 2022
Maximum value 42.7 Maximum value 82.2 136.0
100% target level 43.1 100% target level 78.2 131.0
Minimum value 47.7 Minimum value 74.2 126.0
Actual 44.6 Actual 824 140
Target achievement (factor) 0.9 Target achievement (factor) 1.3 13

1 The methodology used for the decarbonization index as reported in the 2022 management report and the 2022 sustainability report was changed in fiscal year 2022. Contrary to this,
the decarbonization index is used for Board of Management remuneration in accordance with the methodology that the Supervisory Board used to determine the target values for
fiscal year 2022.

80



Corporate Governance

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE (LTI): (PHANTOM) PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP)

Remuneration Report 2022

GRANTING OF THE LTI

PERFORMANCE PERIOD

PAYMENT OF THE LTI

Targetvalue in €

Share price (beginning of the
performance period)

Preliminary number of (phantom)

performance shares

EPS PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

Target achievement in percent

150

100
50

>

I
L
|
t T 1
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EPS per preferred share in €

Measuring EPS performance over four years

Final number of (phantom)
performance shares

x

Share price plus dividends
(end of performance period)

Paymentin €

b) Performance criteria for the long-term incentive (LTI)
The four-year performance share plan has applied since January 1, 2021 to all Board of Management mem-
bers with service contracts newly concluded or renewed after the Supervisory Board resolution of
December 14, 2020. For the Board of Management members already appointed at the time of the Super-
visory Board resolution of December 14, 2020, a three-year performance period continues to apply until
their contracts are renewed. This is the case for Ms. Werner and Mr. Duesmann. For fiscal year 2022, the
four-year performance share plan applies pro rata to Mr. Blume starting from September 1, 2022.

aa) Information on the performance shares

PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE
PERIOD PERIOD PERIOD PERIOD PERIOD PERIOD
2019 - 2021 2020 - 2022 2021 - 2023 2021 - 2024 2022 - 2024 2022 - 2025

Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of

performance shares
allocated at the grant

performance shares
allocated at the grant

performance shares
allocated at the grant

performance shares
allocated at the grant

performance shares
allocated at the grant

performance shares
allocated at the grant

€ date date date date date date
Oliver Blume 12,238 10,144 12,069 - 6,828 7,264
Murat Aksel (until

August 31, 2022) - - - 12,069 - 10,242
Arno Antlitz - - - 9,052 - 10,242
Ralf Brandstatter

(since January 1, 2022) - - - - - 10,242
Herbert Diess

(until August 31, 2022) 26,040 21,585 13,368 12,313 - 21,792
Manfred Doss

(since February 1, 2022) - - - - - 7,041
Markus Duesmann - 7,608 12,069 - 10,242 -
Gunnar Kilian 12,238 10,144 11,342 727 - 10,242
Thomas Schéfer (since

July 1, 2022) - - - - - 5,121
Thomas Schmall-von Westerholt

(since January 1, 2021) - - - 12,069 - 10,242
Hauke Stars (since

February 1, 2022) - - - - - 9,388
Hiltrud Dorothea Werner

(until January 31, 2022) 12,238 10,144 12,069 - 853 -
Hildegard Wortmann

(February 1 to August 31, 2022) - - - - - 9,388
Total 62,754 59,625 60,917 46,230 17,923 111,204
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bb) EPS performance

The following overview shows the minimum value, target value and maximum value set by the Super-
visory Board at the beginning of the performance period for the performance share plan 2019-2021, which
was paid out in fiscal year 2022, along with the actual figure and target achievement level in percent.

PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2019 —-2021

€ 2019 2020 2021

N B ]
Maximum value 30.0 30.0 30.0
100% target level 20.0 20.0 20.0
Minimum value 10.0 10.0 10.0
Actual 26.66 16.66 29.65
Target achievement (in %) 133 83 148

The following overviews show the minimum values, target values and maximum values set by the Super-
visory Board at the beginning of the performance periods 2020-2022, 2021-2023 or 2021-2024 and 2022-
2024 or 2022-2025 along with the actual figures and target achievement levels attained in percent so far
for the individual years of the assessment period up to and including 2022. The performance share plans
for the performance periods 2020-2022, 2021-2023 or 2021-2024 and 2022-2024 or 2022-2025 were not
due in fiscal year 2022 and have not yet been paid out; they therefore do not constitute remuneration
granted or owed in fiscal year 2022.

PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2020 —2022

€ 2020 2021 2022

——— —— —
Maximum value 30.0 30.0 30.0
100% target level 20.0 20.0 20.0
Minimum value 10.0 10.0 10.0
Actual 16.66 29.65 29.69
Target achievement (in %) 83 148 148

PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2021 -2023

€ 2021 2022
Maximum value 30.0 30.0
100% target level 20.0 20.0
Minimum value 10.0 10.0
Actual 29.65 29.69
Target achievement (in %) 148 148
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€ 2021 2022
Maximum value 30.0 30.0
100% target level 20.0 20.0
Minimum value 10.0 10.0
Actual 29.65 29.69
Target achievement (in %) 148 148
PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2022 —2024
€ 2022
——
Maximum value 30.0
100% target level 20.0
Minimum value 10.0
Actual 29.69
Target achievement (in %) 148
PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2022 -2025
€ 2022
Maximum value 30.0
100% target level 20.0
Minimum value 10.0
Actual 29.69
Target achievement (in %) 148

cc) Reference prices/dividend equivalent for the performance periods

The relevant initial reference price, closing reference price and dividend equivalent for the performance

period 2019-2021 can be found in the following overview.

PERFORMANCE
PERIOD

2019 -2021

—

Initial reference price 147.08

Closing reference price 175.75
Dividend equivalent

2019 4.86

2020 4.86

2021 4.86
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The following overview shows the initial reference price, closing reference price and dividend equivalent for
the performance share plans not yet due and not yet paid out for the performance periods 2020-2022,
2021-2023 or 2021-2024 and 2022-2024 or 2022-2025.

PERFORMANCE PERIOD

2020 - 2022 2021 -2023 2021 -2024 2022-2024 2022 -2025

—————— EEE——— EE——— E—— ——

Initial reference price 177.44 149.14 149.14 175.75 175.75

Closing reference price 131.74 -1 -1 -1 -1
Dividend equivalent

2020 4.86 - - - -

2021 4.86 4.86 4.86 - -

2022 7.56 7.56 7.56 7.56 7.56

1 Determined at the end of the performance period.

dd) Advances

In the introductory phase of the performance share plan, the members of the Board of Management
received advances of 80% of their target amount. Mr. Blume received a corresponding advance from the
performance period 2019 to 2021. The advance was paid after the first year of the relevant performance
period. Final settlement in 2022 was based on actual achievement of targets at the end of the three-year
performance period.

2.2.2 Conformity with the remuneration system

The remuneration granted and owed to the Board of Management members in fiscal year 2022 meets the
requirements of the remuneration system for the members of the Board of Management. There was no
deviation from the applicable remuneration system in fiscal year 2022. There was no need to reduce the
payments related to the annual bonus and performance share plan based on the maximum values of the
individual remuneration components being exceeded, as they did not exceed 180% of the target amount
for the annual bonus or 200% of the target amount for the performance share plan. The total remuneration
granted and owed to the Board of Management members in fiscal year 2022 did not exceed the maximum
remuneration envisaged by the remuneration system. Due to the base salary paid out for fiscal year 2022,
the annual bonus granted for fiscal year 2022 and paid out at the beginning of fiscal year 2023, and the
performance share plan paid out in fiscal year 2022 for the 2019 to 2021 performance period, Board of
Management members Mr. Diess, Ms. Werner and Mr. Kilian would have each received total cash remu-
neration above the agreed cash remuneration cap of €10.0 million (Mr. Diess), €5.5 million (Mr. Kilian) and
pro rata €458,333.33 (Ms. Werner) in fiscal year 2022. Against this background, the payment amount from
the annual bonus was reduced by the excess amount of €3,253,125.44 in the case of Mr. Diess and
€965,521.72 in the case of Mr. Kilian. The (pro rata) maximum remuneration of €583,333.33 agreed for
fiscal year 2022 was also exceeded for Ms. Werner. Against this background, Ms. Werner’s annual bonus was
reduced by a total of €97,619.14. The tables detailing remuneration granted and owed therefore show the
reduced amounts of the annual bonus for Mr. Diess, Ms. Werner and Mr. Kilian.

The Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG extended the appointment of Mr. Blume in fiscal year 2022
and appointed Mr. Blume as Chair of the Board of Management with effect from the beginning of Sep-
tember 1, 2022. A new service contract with effect from September 1, 2022 was concluded in this context,
the terms of which correspond to the remuneration system applicable to members of the Volkswagen AG
Board of Management from January 1,2021. A four-year performance share plan has thus applied to
Mr. Blume since September 1, 2022. For fiscal year 2022, the LTI was therefore based pro rata on a three-year
performance share plan up to and including August 31, 2022 and a four-year performance share plan from
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September 1, 2022. The penalty and clawback rules were only applicable as from September 1, 2022.
Mr. Blume is also Chair of the Executive Board of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG. In preparation for the IPO
completed on September 29, 2022, Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG agreed on an IPO bonus for Mr. Blume.
This IPO bonus is structured as a share plan with a one-, two- and three-year term, in each case starting
from the time of the IPO. Mr. Blume was allocated a total of 19,290 phantom preferred shares in Dr. Ing h.c.
E. Porsche AG in fiscal year 2022, divided into three tranches of 6,430 phantom preferred shares each. Any
remuneration granted and owed from this IPO bonus will be reported in the remuneration report for the
fiscal year in which the respective tranche is paid out to Mr. Blume. Volkswagen AG approved this
remuneration from Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG as a third-party remuneration arrangement.

PENSIONS OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT IN 2022 IN ACCORDANCE WITH IAS 19

Pension expenses in fiscal

€ Present value year 2022
Oliver Blume 2,938,205.00 977,063.00
Murat Aksel (until August 31, 2022) - 709,917.51
Arno Antlitz 1,098,569.00 1,008,397.00
Ralf Brandstatter (since January 1, 2022) 696,524.00 696,524.00
Herbert Diess (until August 31, 2022) - 1,069,163.33
Manfred Doss (since February 1, 2022) 665,163.00 665,163.00
Markus Duesmann 1,568,879.00 993,152.00
Gunnar Kilian 2,826,340.00 1,137,688.00
Thomas Schéfer (since July 1, 2022) 388,544.00 388,544.00
Thomas Schmall-von Westerholt 1,308,975.00 885,829.00
Hauke Stars (since February 1, 2022) 542,174.00 542,174.00
Hiltrud Dorothea Werner (until January 31, 2022) - 111,831.00
Hildegard Wortmann (February 1 to August 31, 2022) - 291,581.90
Total 12,033,373.00 9,477,027.74

2.2.3 Benefits and pension commitments in connection with termination
a) Benefits and pension commitments to Board of Management members for early termination

The remuneration system for the members of the Board of Management and the service contracts of the
Board of Management members provide for severance payments in the event that an appointment as
member of the Board of Management is revoked. In such cases — except where there is good cause entitling
the Company to terminate the service contract prematurely or where the appointment is revoked due to a
gross breach of duty - the Board of Management member receives a gross severance payment in the
amount of the total remuneration of the past financial year up to the end of the regular term of the
appointment, for a maximum of two years, calculated as of the date of the termination of the appointment
as member of the Board of Management. Any special payment will not be taken into account for the
calculation. Should a Board of Management member leave during the course of the first fiscal year of the
appointment, the calculation will by way of exception be based on the expected total remuneration for the
current fiscal year. The severance payment will be paid in a maximum of 24 monthly installments from the
time of the termination of the appointment as a member of the Company’s Board of Management.
Contractual remuneration paid by the Company for the period from the termination of the appointment
until the end of the service contract will be offset against the severance payment. Should Board of
Management members take up other work after the termination of their appointment, the amount of the
severance payment will be reduced by the amount of the income earned from that work. Should a post-
contractual non-compete covenant be agreed, the severance payment will be offset against the
compensation received for observing the post-contractual non-compete covenant.
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The members of the Board of Management are also entitled to a pension and to a surviving dependents’
pension as well as the use of company cars for the period in which they receive their pension in the event of
early termination of their service on the Board of Management.

In line with the recommendation under G.14 of the 2022 Code, the service contracts do not provide for
change of control clauses.

b) Pension commitments to Board of Management members for regular termination of service

In the event of regular termination of their service on the Board of Management, the members of the Board
of Management are entitled to a pension, including a surviving dependents’ pension, as well as the use of
company cars for the period in which they receive their pension. The agreed benefits are paid or made
available when the Board of Management member reaches the age of 65, or in Mr. Blume’s, Mr. Diess’s,
Mr. Kilian’s and Ms. Werner’s case, when they reach the age of 63.

The Board of Management members received a defined contribution plan, which is based in principle on
a works agreement that also applies to the employees of Volkswagen AG covered by collective agreements
and includes retirement, invalidity and surviving dependents’ benefits. A pension contribution in the
amount of 40% of the base salary, and for Ms. Werner and Mr. Diess in the amount of 50% of the base salary,
is paid to Volkswagen Pension Trust eV. at the end of the calendar year for each year they are appointed to
the Board of Management. The annual pension contributions result in modules of what is, in principle, a
lifelong pension in line with the arrangements that also apply to employees covered by collective
agreements.

The individual pension modules vest immediately upon payment to Volkswagen Pension Trust eV.
Instead of a lifelong pension, benefits can optionally be paid out as a lump sum or in installments when the
beneficiary reaches retirement age.

There were no changes to these commitments in fiscal year 2022.

The overview on the previous page shows the pensions for the individual members of the Board of
Management in fiscal year 2022, indicating the present value and the pension expense for the Company
during the last fiscal year.

c) Benefits and pension commitments to Board of Management members who left in fiscal year 2022
Ms. Werner, Mr. Diess, Ms. Wortmann and Mr. Aksel left the Board of Management in fiscal year 2022.

Mr. Diess was originally appointed as a member of the Volkswagen AG Board of Management until the
close of October 24, 2025 and had been appointed Chair of the Board of Management. Mr. Diess’s appoint-
ment to the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG was terminated early by mutual agreement with
effect from the close of August 31, 2022. Due to this termination, Volkswagen AG concluded a termination
agreement with Mr. Diess. The subject of this termination agreement included the continuation of his
service contract until its regular termination date, i.e. until the close of October 24, 2025. Volkswagen AG
agreed to continue paying Mr. Diess his remuneration until the termination date of his service contract.
Variable remuneration components will be paid at the contractually agreed time; there will be no early
calculation and payout. The annual bonus will be based in each case on a Governance factor of 1.0. Mr. Diess is
entitled to fringe benefits and will be available to Volkswagen AG in an advisory capacity until the end of
his service contract. He is not receiving a severance payment from Volkswagen AG in the form of a one-off
payment.

Ms. Wortmann was originally appointed as a member of the Board of Management until the close of
January 31, 2025. As part of changes to Group management, Ms. Wortmann’s appointment to the Board of
Management of Volkswagen AG and her service contract were terminated by mutual agreement with effect
from the close of August 31, 2022. Since that time, Ms. Wortmann has been a member of extended Group
Management. In this context, Volkswagen AG and Ms. Wortmann have concluded a termination agreement,
under which Ms. Wortmann’s remuneration for fiscal year 2022 is paid pro rata. Variable remuneration
components will be paid at the contractually agreed time; there will be no early calculation and payout.
Since September 1, 2022, a temporary employment contract for membership of extended Group Manage-
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ment has been in place between Ms. Wortmann and Volkswagen AG with an end date of January 31, 2025;
the remuneration-related provisions of the Board of Management service contract will continue to apply
for the duration of this employment contract. The appointment of Ms. Wortmann as a member of the
Board of Management of AUDI AG - currently until the close of June 30, 2027 - remains unaffected by her
move to extended Group Management.

Mr. Aksel was originally appointed as a member of the Board of Management until the close of Decem-
ber 31, 2023. As part of changes to Group management, Mr. Aksel’s appointment to the Board of Manage-
ment of Volkswagen AG and his service contract were terminated by mutual agreement with effect from the
close of August 31, 2022. In this context, Volkswagen AG and Mr. Aksel have concluded a termination agree-
ment, under which Mr. Aksel’s remuneration for fiscal year 2022 is paid pro rata. Variable remuneration
components will be paid at the contractually agreed time; there will be no early calculation and payout.
From September 1, 2022, an employment contract for membership of extended Group Management was in
place between Mr. Aksel and Volkswagen AG with an end date of December 31, 2022; the remuneration-
related provisions of the Board of Management service contract continued to apply for that period.
Mr. Aksel took over responsibility for Procurement on the MAN Truck & Bus Executive Board effective
January 1, 2023.

2.2.4 No clawback claims in fiscal year 2022
Volkswagen AG did not seek to claw back any variable remuneration components from individual Board of
Management members in fiscal year 2022. The prerequisites for a clawback claim did not apply.

IV. Remuneration of former Board of Management members
In accordance with section 162(1) sentence 1 of the AktG, the remuneration granted and owed to former
members of the Board of Management must also be reported.

1. Remuneration granted and owed in fiscal year 2022 (individualized)

Under section 162(5) sentence 2 of the AktG, the obligation to report individually on the remuneration
granted and owed to former Board of Management members also extends to remuneration granted and
owed in the ten years after their most recent term of office on the Board of Management or Supervisory
Board at Volkswagen AG.

The following tables show the remuneration granted and owed in fiscal year 2022 to the individual
former members of the Board of Management who left after fiscal year 2012. As with the current Board of
Management members, the annual bonus paid at the beginning of 2023 to former Board of Management
members for the 2022 fiscal year is counted as remuneration granted in fiscal year 2022.

2. Total remuneration granted to former Board of Management members

Section 162(5) sentence 2 of the AktG does not require the Company to report individually on the remu-
neration granted and owed in 2022 to former members of the Board of Management whose most recent
term of office on the Board of Management or Supervisory Board at Volkswagen AG came to an end before
the beginning of 2013 and who were then granted and owed remuneration for more than ten years after
leaving Volkswagen AG. A total of €9.2 million was granted and owed to such former Board of Management
members and their surviving dependents in fiscal year 2022. Obligations for pensions for this group of
persons measured in accordance with IAS 19 amounted to €91.6 million.
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KARLHEINZ BLESSING

2022
€ %
I
Pension payments 183,327.72 6.1
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 6,339.00 0.2
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) 2,832,871.72 93.7
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 3,022,538.44 100.0

HERBERT DIESS?

2022
€ %
I —————————
Pension payments - -
Base salary 745,000.00 22.0
Fringe benefits 59,525.00 1.8
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 579,209.85 17.1
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) 2,009,123.48 59.2
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 3,392,858.33 100.0
Pension expenses 534,581.67 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 3,927,440.00 X
Maximum remuneration 4,000,000.00 X

1 Mr. Diess was an active Board of Management member until August 31, 2022. The table shows his remuneration in fiscal year 2022 after his departure from the Board of Management.

FRANCISCO JAVIER GARCIA SANZ

2022

€ %
Pension payments 729,600.00 37.7
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 24,882.00 1.3
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 —2021) 1,180,236.33 61.0
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 1,934,718.33 100.0
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JOCHEM HEIZMANN

2022
€ %
I
Pension payments 757,200.00 88.5
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 20,737.50 2.4
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) 77,464.31 9.1
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 855,401.81 100.0

CHRISTINE HOHMANN-DENNHARDT

2022
€ %
I —————————
Pension payments 108,201.36 74.9
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 36,258.00 25.1
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus N N
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) N N
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 144,459.36 100.0

MICHAEL MACHT

2022
€ %
I
Pension payments 739,200.00 97.1
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 22,080.00 2.9
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 761,280.00 100.0
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MATTHIAS MULLER

2022
€ %
I
Pension payments 1,135,200.00 15.8
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 15,464.50 0.2
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) 6,027,370.44 84.0
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 7,178,034.94 100.0

HORST NEUMANN

2022
€ %
Pension payments 675,224.55 97.1
Base salary N N
Fringe benefits 20,298.00 2.9
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus N N
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 —2021) N N
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 695,522.55 100.0

LEIF OSTLING

2022
€ %
I
Pension payments 246,287.16 100.0
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits - -
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 246,287.16 100.0
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HANS DIETER POTSCH

2022
€ %
—— ——————
Pension payments 834,000.00 96.6
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 28,944.00 34
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 862,944.00 100.0

ANDREAS RENSCHLER

2022
€ %
Pension payments 168,267.70 3.0
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 51,574.00 0.9
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) 2,832,871.72 50.9
Severance payments 2,518,126.50 45.2
Total remuneration granted and owed 5,570,839.92 100.0

ABRAHAM SCHOT

2022
€ %
Pension payments - -
Base salary N N
Fringe benefits - -
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) 2,832,871.72 100.0
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 2,832,871.72 100.0

RUPERT STADLER

2022
€ %
I —————————
Pension payments - -
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 787.30 100.0
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 — 2021) N N
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 787.30 100.0
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Pension payments

HILTRUD DOROTHEA WERNER?

2022

€ %

Base salary

Fringe benefits

One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus

Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 —2021) 2,596,799.08 100.0
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 2,596,799.08 100.0
Pension expenses - X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 2,596,799.08 X

1 Ms. Werner was an active Board of Management member until January 31, 2022. The table shows her remuneration in fiscal year 2022 after her departure from the Board of

Management.

MARTIN WINTERKORN

2022

€ %
Pension payments 1,208,400.00 97.7
Base salary N N
Fringe benefits 28,710.00 2.3
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus N N
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 —2021) N N
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 1,237,110.00 100.0

FRANK WITTER

2022
€ %
5 ]
Pension payments 443,413.72 135
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 10,480.61 0.3
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus N N
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2019 —2021) 2,832,871.72 86.2
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 3,286,766.05 100.0
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V. Comparative presentation

The following table shows a comparison of the year-on-year percentage change in the remuneration of
current and former Board of Management members with the earnings performance of Volkswagen AG and
with the average remuneration of employees on a full time equivalent basis. For members of the Board of
Management, the remuneration granted and owed in the reporting year is placed in relation to the equiva-
lent figure for the previous year.

Earnings performance is shown on the basis of Volkswagen AG’s net income or loss for the year. How-
ever, the remuneration of the Board of Management members is based on Group KPIs. In order to demon-
strate more transparently how the remuneration of the Board of Management members has changed
compared with earnings performance, the earnings after tax, operating result and operating return on sales
of the Volkswagen Group, as reported in the consolidated financial statements, are also used in deter-
mining earnings performance. This means that Group KPIs are not only applied in calculating the remu-
neration of the Board of Management members but also in determining earnings performance. The Group
KPIs used in determining earnings performance show the overall effect of the business activities for which
the Board of Management is responsible.

The comparison with the growth in average employee remuneration is based on the personnel expenses
of Volkswagen AG reported in the notes to the annual financial statements of Volkswagen AG, adjusted for
the remuneration of the members of the Board of Management. These adjusted personnel expenses are
divided by the number of full time equivalent employees of Volkswagen AG as of December 31, 2022,
excluding the members of the Board of Management.

VI. Peer group

The Supervisory Board regularly reviews and, if necessary, adjusts the level of the remuneration, the total
remuneration cap and the individual targets. Among other things, the Supervisory Board performs a
vertical comparison with the remuneration and employment terms of the Company’s employees and a
horizontal comparison with the remuneration and employment terms of other companies’ management
board members. The Supervisory Board conducts a comparison with what it considers to be a suitable peer
group to assess whether the specific total remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Management
is customary when measured against that paid in other companies. This peer group is regularly reviewed
- most recently in December 2022 — and adjusted if necessary. The peer group currently comprises the
following companies: BMW, Mercedes-Benz Group, Ford, General Motors, Stellantis, Nissan Motor Corpo-
ration, Toyota, BYD, Tesla (excluding CEO), hp, IBM, Uber, SAP, Samsung, General Electric, Siemens, Hitachi
and Boeing. The companies in the peer group were chosen to reflect the Volkswagen Group’s strategic
business fields. The peer group used up to and including 2020 was revised and last adjusted following the
adoption of the “Together 2025” strategy. To take proper account of the evolution of the Group’s business
model, in the view of the Supervisory Board, technology and services companies, especially in the battery/
electronics, IT/software and mobility services segments, have also been included in the peer group along
with the global automotive manufacturers. In addition, the peer group includes selected global industrial
corporations that, in the view of the Supervisory Board, appear comparable with the Volkswagen Group in
terms of their development focus, vertical integration, global orientation and level of complexity. In the
view of the Supervisory Board, the composition of this peer group is representative of the Volkswagen
Group’s specific competitive environment in the sales market and in the recruitment market for top
executives.
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2022 compared 2021 compared

Annual change in % with 2021* with 2020*
—— E—

Board of Management remuneration?

Oliver Blume +49.1% +74.8%
Arno Antlitz +28.8% -
Ralf Brandstatter (since January 1, 2022) - -
Markus Duesmann -35% -56.6 %
Manfred Doss (since February 1, 2022) - -
Gunnar Kilian +6.6% +1283%
Thomas Schéfer (since July 1,2022) - -
Thomas Schmall-von Westerholt -34% -
Hauke Stars (since February 1, 2022) - -
Murat Aksel (until August 31, 2022) -345% -
Karlheinz Blessing +346.3% -83.0%
Herbert Diess (until August 31, 2022)3 +19.0% +40.1%
Francisco Javier Garcia Sanz +56.5% —43.8%
Jochem Heizmann -314% -50.7 %
Christine Hohmann-Dennhardt +2.0% +2.7%
Michael Macht -14% +0.6%
Matthias Miiller +408.4 % =714 %
Horst Neumann +03% +0.1%
Leif Ostling +1.0% +1.0%
Hans Dieter P6tsch +25% -15%
Andreas Renschler -0.5% -0.2%
Abraham Schot - -
Rupert Stadler -99.8 % =737 %
Hiltrud Dorothea Werner (until January 31, 2022) -46.0 % +6.6%
Martin Winterkorn +23% +0.2%
Frank Witter +222% -345%

Hildegard Wortmann (February 1 to August 31, 2022) - -

Earnings performance

Net income or loss for the year of Volkswagen AG +208.8% -36.2%
Earnings after tax of the Volkswagen Group +26% +74.8%
Operating result of the Volkswagen Group +14.8% +99.2%
Operating return on sales of the Volkswagen Group +26% +79.1%
Employees

Volkswagen AG employees +269% +9.2%

1 Under the transitional provision of section 26j(2) sentence 2 of the Einfiihrungsgesetz zum Aktiengesetz (EGAktG — Introductory Act to the German Stock Corporation Act), the
comparative presentation is to be based on the average remuneration in the period since fiscal year 2020 only, rather than the average remuneration for the last five fiscal years; this
provision applies until the end of fiscal year 2025.

2 Remuneration “granted and owed” within the meaning of section 162(1) sentence 1 of the AktG.

3 Remuneration “granted and owed” for the full fiscal year 2022 as an active Board of Management member and after his departure from the Board of Management.
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B. REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

I. Principles of Supervisory Board remuneration

Following its regular review of Supervisory Board remuneration, the Supervisory Board proposed a revision
of the remuneration for the members of the Supervisory Board to the 2017 Annual General Meeting. The
proposed revision to the Supervisory Board remuneration system was approved by the Annual General
Meeting on May 10, 2017 with 99.98% of the votes cast. The remuneration of the members of the Super-
visory Board is governed by Article 17 of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft.
Section 113(3) of the AktG, as amended by ARUG II, requires the Annual General Meeting of listed com-
panies to pass a resolution on the remuneration of Supervisory Board members at least every four years,
whereby a resolution confirming the existing remuneration is also permissible. Information on the system
in place for the remuneration of the Supervisory Board members must also be provided in this process. At
the Annual General Meeting on July 22, 2021, the Supervisory Board and Board of Management presented
the existing remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board for confirmation and the remu-
neration system for approval. The Annual General Meeting on July 22, 2021 confirmed the remuneration
and approved the remuneration system with 99.99% of the votes cast.

The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG is comprised entirely of
non-performance-related remuneration components. Until August 14, 2022, remuneration for supervisory
board work at subsidiaries was comprised partly of non-performance-related and partly of performance-
related components. Since August 15, 2022, remuneration for supervisory board work at subsidiaries has
also been comprised entirely of non-performance-related remuneration components.

Il. Overview of remuneration

The members of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG receive fixed remuneration of €100,000 per fiscal
year. The Chair of the Supervisory Board receives fixed remuneration of €300,000; the Deputy Chair receives
fixed remuneration of €200,000.

For their work in the Supervisory Board committees, the members of the Supervisory Board also receive
additional fixed remuneration of €50,000 per committee and fiscal year provided the committee met at
least once that year for the performance of its duties. Memberships of the Nomination and Mediation
Committees established in accordance with section 27(3) of the Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG — German
Codetermination Act) are not taken into account. Committee chairs receive double this amount, while the
deputy chairs receive one-and-a-half times the committee remuneration listed previously. Remuneration is
paid for work on a maximum of two committees, whereby the two most highly remunerated functions are
taken into account if this maximum is exceeded. Supervisory Board members who belonged to the
Supervisory Board or one of its committees for only part of the fiscal year receive remuneration on a pro
rata temporis basis. Any value-added tax incurred on the remuneration is reimbursed by the Company.

Supervisory Board members receive an attendance fee of €1,000 for attending a meeting of the Super-
visory Board or one of its committees; if several meetings take place on the same day, the attendance fee is
paid only once.

The remuneration and attendance fees are each payable after the end of the fiscal year.

The remuneration enables suitable, qualified candidates to be recruited to the Supervisory Board. As
such, the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board contributes to the ability of the Super-
visory Board as a whole to properly and competently perform its duties of monitoring and advising the
Board of Management. Restricting the payment to fixed remuneration is also appropriate to the duties of
the Supervisory Board. The restriction provides the Supervisory Board members with an incentive in their
monitoring and advisory duties to properly scrutinize the activities of the Board of Management without
being guided primarily by the performance of key operating ratios.

Former members of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG do not receive any remuneration for the
period following the termination of office.
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I1l. Other remuneration

Volkswagen AG reimburses Supervisory Board members for the expenses they incur in the course of their
work. In accordance with Article 17(7) sentence 2 of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG, the
members of the Supervisory Board were also covered in the reporting year by the directors and officers
(D&O) insurance taken out by the Company in their interest. The Company paid the premiums for the D&O
insurance. There was a deductible of at least 10% of the damage up to at least one-and-a-half times the fixed
remuneration of the relevant Supervisory Board member. There is no voluntary commitment by members
of the Supervisory Board to buy and hold shares of Volkswagen AG.

IV. Remuneration to Supervisory Board members in fiscal year 2022
1. Supervisory Board members in fiscal year 2022

The members of the Volkswagen AG Supervisory Board in office during the 2022 fiscal year are listed in the
table below.

2. Remuneration granted and owed

The following table shows the remuneration individually granted and owed to each of the Supervisory
Board members in fiscal year 2022. This is based on the same understanding of the term “granted and
owed” as set out on page 6 of this remuneration report. The remuneration reported in the table therefore
reflects the amounts actually received in fiscal year 2022.

96



Corporate Governance

Remuneration Report 2022

REMUNERATION
FOR SERVING ON

MEETING THE BOARDS OF
FIXED WORK IN THE ATTENDANCE OTHER GROUP
REMUNERATION COMMITTEES FEES TOTAL COMPANIES?
€ (%) 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
N B N ;N ]
Hans Dieter Pétsch 300,000.00 100,000.00 20,000.00 420,000.00 512,605.48
(71.4 %) (23.8%) (4.8 %)
Jorg Hofmann? 200,000.00 75,000.00 37,000.00 312,000.00 -
(64.1%) (24.0 %) (11.9 %)
Hussain Ali Al Abdulla (until May 12, 2022) 36,164.38 - 5,000.00 41,164.38 -
(87.9%) (12.1%)
Hessa Sultan Al Jaber 100,000.00 - 11,000.00 111,000.00 -
(90.1 %) (9.9 %)
Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud (since May 12, 2022) 63,835.62 41,917.81 8,000.00 113,753.43 -
(56.1 %) (36.8 %) (7.0 %)
Bernd Althusmann (until November 8, 2022)? 85,479.45 - 11,000.00 96,479.45 -
(88.6 %) (11.4 %)
Harald Buck (since October 4, 2022)? 24,109.59 - 3,000.00 27,109.59 175,936.73
(88.9 %) (11.1%)
Matias Carnero Sojo* - - - - -
Daniela Cavallo? 100,000.00 97,876.71 39,000.00 236,876.71 137,671.23
(42.2%) (41.3 %) (16.5 %)
Hans-Peter Fischer (until May 12, 2022)? 36,164.38 - 5,000.00 41,164.38 -
(87.9%) (12.1%)
Julia Willie Hamburg (since November 8, 2022)* 14,520.55 - 2,000.00 16,520.55 -
(87.9%) (12.1%)
Marianne Heil3 100,000.00 50,000.00 19,000.00 169,000.00 75,000.00
(59.2 %) (29.6 %) (11.2 %)
Arno Homburg (since May 12, 2022)? 63,835.62 - 11,000.00 74,835.62 -
(85.3 %) (14.7 %)
Ulrike Jakob (until May 12, 2022)? 36,164.38 - 5,000.00 41,164.38 -
(87.9 %) (12.1%)
Louise Kiesling (until December 9, 2022) 93,972.60 - 8,000.00 101,972.60 -
(92.2%) (7.8 %)
Simone Mahler (since May 12, 2022)? 63,835.62 - 11,000.00 74,835.62 -
(85.3 %) (14.7 %)
Peter Mosch? 100,000.00 77,123.29 37,000.00 214,123.29 186,250.00
(46.7 %) (36.0 %) (17.3%)
Bertina Murkovic (until May 12, 2022)? 36,164.38 18,082.19 14,000.00 68,246.57 -
(53.0%) (26.5 %) (20.5 %)
Daniela Nowak (since May 12, 2022)? 63,835.62 - 11,000.00 74,835.62 -
(85.3 %) (14.7 %)
Hans Michel Piéch 100,000.00 50,000.00 20,000.00 170,000.00 206,105.48
(58.8 %) (29.4 %) (11.8 %)
Ferdinand Oliver Porsche 100,000.00 79,041.10 14,000.00 193,041.10 204,804.11
(51.8 %) (40.9 %) (7.3 %)
Wolfgang Porsche 100,000.00 50,000.00 20,000.00 170,000.00 300,680.83
(58.8 %) (29.4 %) (11.8 %)
Jens Rothe? 100,000.00 52,876.71 28,000.00 180,876.71 -
(55.3 %) (29.2 %) (15.5 %)
Conny Schénhardt? 100,000.00 50,000.00 19,000.00 169,000.00 -
(59.2 %) (29.6 %) (11.2 %)
Stephan Weil® 100,000.00 50,000.00 35,000.00 185,000.00 -
(54.1 %) (27.0%) (18.9 %)
Werner Weresch (until September 30, 2022)? 74,794.52 - 9,000.00 83,794.52 84,528.76
(89.3 %) (10.7 %)
Total 2,192,876.71 791,917.81 402,000.00 3,386,794.52 1,883,582.62
1 The remuneration for membership of other Group bodies includes variable remuneration components for the following members of the Supervisory Board: Hans Dieter P6tsch

(€150,427.40), Harald Buck (€110,950.43), Daniela Cavallo (€45,000.00), Marianne HeiR (€5,000.00), Peter Mosch (€46,250.00), Hans Michel Piéch (€68,927.40), Ferdinand Oliver

Porsche (€67,626.03), Wolfgang Porsche (€96,324.66), Werner Weresch (€34,158.90).

N

the Deutscher Gewerkschaftsbund (DGB —German Confederation of Trade Unions).

w

These employee representatives have stated that they will transfer their Supervisory Board remuneration to the Hans Bockler Foundation in accordance with the guidelines issued by

Under section 5(3) of the Niedersdchsisches Ministergesetz (German Act Governing Ministers of the State of Lower Saxony), these members of the Supervisory Board are obliged to

transfer their Supervisory Board remuneration to the State of Lower Saxony as soon as and in so far as it exceeds €6,200 per annum. Remuneration is defined for this purpose as

Supervisory Board remuneration and attendance fees exceeding the amount of €200.
Mr. Carnero Sojo waived his remuneration for fiscal year 2022 in its entirety.

IS
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V. Comparative presentation

The following table compares the year-on-year percentage change in the remuneration of the Supervisory
Board members with the earnings performance of Volkswagen AG and with the average remuneration of
employees on a full time equivalent basis.

Earnings performance is shown on the basis of Volkswagen AG’s net income or loss for the year. The
Volkswagen Group’s earnings after tax are also used as a Group KPI.

The comparison with the growth in average employee remuneration is based on the personnel expenses
of Volkswagen AG reported in the notes to the annual financial statements of Volkswagen AG, adjusted for
the remuneration of the members of the Board of Management. These adjusted personnel expenses are
divided by the number of full time equivalent employees of Volkswagen AG as of December 31, 2022,
excluding the members of the Board of Management.

Annual change in % 2022 compared with 2021 2021 compared with 2020*

Supervisory Board remuneration?

Hans Dieter P6tsch +2.0% +15%
Jérg Hofmann +76% -3.0%
Hussain Ali Al Abdulla (until May 12, 2022) -60.4 % +1.0%
Hessa Sultan Al Jaber +4.7 % -2.8%
Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud (since May 12, 2022) - -
Bernd Althusmann (until November 8, 2022) -393% -2.5%

Harald Buck (since October 4, 2022) - _

Matlas Carnero Sojo - -

Daniela Cavallo +67.9% -
Hans-Peter Fischer (until May 12, 2022) —62.6 % -2.7%
Julia Willie Hamburg (since November 8, 2022) - -
Marianne Heif§ -0.7% +26%
Arno Homburg (since May 12, 2022) - -
Ulrike Jakob (until May 12, 2022) —62.6 % -27%
Louise Kiesling (until December 9, 2022) -5.6% -4.4%
Simone Mahler (since May 12, 2022) - -
Peter Mosch +6.4% +21%
Bertina Murkovic (until May 12, 2022) —68.4% +7.8%
Daniela Nowak (since May 12, 2022) - -
Hans Michel Piéch +5.4% +13.5%
Ferdinand Oliver Porsche -6.8% +31%
Wolfgang Porsche -23% +89%
Jens Rothe +754.5% -
Conny Schonhardt +43% -3.0%
Stephan Weil +13.5% -4.1%
Werner Weresch (until September 30, 2022) -173% +91%

Earnings performance

Net income or loss for the year of Volkswagen AG +208.8 % -36.2%
Earnings after tax of the Volkswagen Group +26% +74.8%
Employees

Volkswagen AG employees +26.9% +9.2%

[

Under the transitional provision of section 26j(2) sentence 2 of the Einfiihrungsgesetz zum Aktiengesetz (EGAktG — Introductory Act to the German Stock Corporation Act), the
comparative presentation is to be based on the average remuneration in the period since fiscal year 2020 only, rather than the average remuneration for the last five fiscal years; this
provision applies until the end of fiscal year 2025.

Remuneration “granted and owed” within the meaning of section 162(1) sentence 1 of the AktG.

N
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Goals and Strategies

With the Group strategy NEW AUTO — Mobility for generations to come, we are
preparing ourselves for the global changes in mobility and thus playing a substantial
role in driving Volkswagen’s transformation into a software-oriented company.

In the context of the fast-changing environment and the challenges resulting from it, the Group Board of
Management adopted the Group strategy NEW AUTO — Mobility for generations to come in May 2021 with
the approval of the Supervisory Board. The strategy’s focus is the world of mobility in 2030.

As technology advances, the automotive industry is rapidly forging ahead with its transformation
toward e-mobility and digitalization. We therefore expect the market for electric vehicles to grow strongly
in the next few years, meaning that the cost-efficient and sustainable production of battery systems and
the expansion of the charging infrastructure will be crucial to success.

The shift to connected, intelligent and eventually self-driving vehicles will, however, bring more wide-
reaching changes for the automotive industry. Autonomous driving will change the customer's mobility
experience forever and lay the ground for new business models. Sources of revenue will gradually shift and
will expand beyond the core product of the automobile. Increasing software development capabilities in
order to excite customers with constantly improving digital functionality is the prerequisite for this.

In equal measure to technological trends, the global economic and geopolitical environment is also
posing increased challenges for the automotive industry. These include, for example, the economic influ-
ence of the largest mobility markets, China, the USA and Europe, and their diverging development.

Sustainability will continue to be a recurring theme in the business world and will gain further perti-
nence, driven by the increasingly noticeable consequences of climate change, a greater consciousness of
sustainable lifestyles on the part of the customer and, not least, underlying factors such as the Paris Climate
Agreement. As we transition from automotive manufacturer to mobility group, we are resetting our
priorities with NEW AUTO and positioning ourselves for the future. We are keeping our aim of being a
world-leading provider of sustainable mobility firmly in our sights and making the Group more focused,
efficient, innovative, customer-oriented and sustainable, as well as systematically gearing it toward profit-
able growth.

To this end, we have established 12 Group initiatives across the brand groups. We will use these to
develop the competences needed to implement the strategy. The focus is on the main multidisciplinary
areas addressed by our technology platforms — mechatronics, software, battery & charging, and mobility
solutions — on which the five tech initiatives described below are based. A further seven base initiatives
form the foundation for the Volkswagen Group’s strategic realignment.

100



Group Management Report Goals and Strategies

THE 12 GROUP INITIATIVES OF THE NEW AUTO STRATEGY
THE NEW AUTO STRATEGY

TECH PLATFORMS TECH INITIATIVES

MECHATRONICS 01| Backbone and Scalable Systems Platform (SSP)
SOFTWARE 02 | CARIAD: One E® Platform and Autonomous Driving Stack

03 | Cell and Battery Strategy
BATTERY & CHARGING 04 | Charging and Energy Services

MOBILITY SOLUTIONS 05 | Mobility Solutions
BASE INITIATIVES

06 | ESG, Decarbonization and Integrity

07 | Business 08 | Region 09 | Region 10 | Group 11| People and
NAR

Model 2.0 China Steering Model Transformation

12 | Financing the Transformation

These are ESG, Decarbonization & Integrity, Business Model 2.0, North America (NAR) Region, China
Region, Group Steering Model, People & Transformation and Financing the Transformation.

To make the progress in the relevant Group initiatives of our strategy as transparent as possible for
management and employees, the Group Board of Management decided to structure and regularly measure
the strategic goals and milestones using the OKR (Objectives and Key Results) method. Accordingly,
achievable strategic objectives and envisaged key results are defined for each Group initiative. These are to
be realized largely through time-limited projects and work packages, each of which is measured by specific
key performance indicators. The degree of achievement is discussed three times a year with the Board of
Management. As such, the relevance of the initiatives, and their objectives, milestones, projects and work
packages, are regularly reviewed at Group level. Their focus is continuously monitored and adjusted as
necessary or integrated into standard operations.

The current Group initiatives covered by the strategy are described below. We report on the main
strategic objectives and interim results achieved in the reporting period in the chapters “Internal Manage-
ment System and Key Performance Indicators”, “Structure and Business Activities” and “Sustainable Value
Enhancement”.

MECHATRONICS — BACKBONE AND SCALABLE SYSTEMS PLATFORM

A future-oriented mechatronics platform will form the backbone for innovations, technology and lasting
competitiveness at Volkswagen. With the Scalable Systems Platform (SSP), we are creating the next gene-
ration of an all-electric, fully digital and highly scalable mechatronics platform based on a standardized
software architecture. With this standardized platform, which can be scaled from the smallest vehicles all
the way up to the premium segment, the Volkswagen Group aims to rapidly and efficiently provide its
customers with innovative functions and technologies in their vehicles, across all brands. By reducing
complexity and the number of versions, the SSP will offer maximum synergies and make fast, regular
technology updates possible, while lowering investment costs and ensuring the necessary differentiation
between the products of the individual brands in the Group’s portfolio.
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SOFTWARE — CARIAD: ONE E3 PLATFORM AND AUTONOMOUS DRIVING (AD) STACK

The purpose of the Group’s own software and technology company CARIAD is to create the technical basis
for data-based business models, new mobility services and automated driving (Level 4), and to leverage
cross-brand synergies. Our aim is to increase the proportion of software in the vehicle that is developed in
house.

CARIAD is already working with the Porsche and Audi brands to introduce the new E21.2 platform,
which optimizes the harmonization of the hardware with the vehicle software from CARIAD. This facilitates
the deployment of over-the-air updates and is a key lever for introducing new services even after vehicle
production has begun.

In the long term, the standardized E* software architecture that is already being developed, together
with the VW.OS software platform and the Volkswagen Automotive Cloud, will form the basis of a complete
digital ecosystem, offering customers a wide range of software-based services throughout the product life-
cycle. The aim is for every function that is needed or requested and every service to be customized for the
users in the various markets and to be available for download at any time. This will also open up new
sources of revenue for us.

Applications at various levels of automated driving (up to Level 4) will be gradually introduced to the
new vehicle models in the Group brands.

BATTERY & CHARGING — CELL AND BATTERY STRATEGY

The battery is a key component in an electric vehicle, and an important cost factor. The appeal and market
success of e-mobility is determined not only by the price, but also by the vehicle’s range and the charging
speed. We must become a profit-generating expert across the entire battery life cycle to achieve our
objective of transforming into a world-leading provider of sustainable mobility. To this end, the Cell and
Battery Strategy tech initiative pools expertise across the Group and is driving the transformation process
in cooperation with our strategic partners. The aspects covered include battery management, cell
production and recycling. Our aim is to develop battery cell technology into a core competence in the
Group, and we are also working with partners to achieve this. At the heart of this strategy is the new unified
cell, which can contain different chemistries and will be used in up to 80% of Group models by 2030. The
excellent economies of scale this generates will reduce costs by up to 50% and put us in a leading cost
position. To cover the high demand for battery cells, Volkswagen plans to build six gigafactories in Europe
alone, with a production capacity totaling 240 GWh.

BATTERY & CHARGING — CHARGING AND ENERGY SERVICES

Charging, energy and a sustainable energy supply infrastructure for all-electric vehicles are key prereq-
uisites for accelerating the transition to the battery-electric mobility of the future. It is therefore our
intention also to become a comprehensive charging and energy services provider in the future and we are
investing heavily in building an open fast-charging network worldwide. By 2025, we and our partners plan
to create around 45,000 high-power charging points in Europe, China and the USA. The product portfolio
also includes the full range of charging solutions for private customers and companies. In addition to our
own wallbox and flexible fast-charging station, the focus is particularly on contract-based charging services
and smart green electricity tariffs. Charging processes will then systematically use renewable energy and
reduce pressure on power grids. In a next step, Volkswagen intends to develop the electric vehicle as a
mobile power bank, thus helping electric vehicles to act as storage units and thus become an active part of
the energy system in the future. In this way, Volkswagen wishes to enable its customers to participate in
one of the leading smart-charging and energy ecosystems for decarbonized mobility.
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MOBILITY SOLUTIONS

In keeping with its mission statement, “Mobility for generations to come”, the Volkswagen Group is
developing mobility solutions for the future, taking into account global trends and changes in customer
needs. The Group plans to bring together all of its brands’ mobility services on one mobility platform over
the coming years. Autonomous driving combined with new mobility solutions is expected to mark
Volkswagen’s transformation into a leading provider of sustainable mobility. A vehicle fleet covering all of
the many services, from vehicle rental to car subscription and ride pooling, will ensure high availability,
usage and profitability. With these solutions, we plan to gain market shares and generate long-term com-
petitive and attractive margins.

ESG, DECARBONIZATION AND INTEGRITY

ESG (Environmental, Social, and Governance) refers to the basic principles of doing business sustainably.
The Group’s stakeholders (e.g. investors, employees, customers and non-profit organizations) have high
expectations of the Company’s ESG performance, including in areas such as decarbonization and integrity,
and also of its conduct as an employer and as part of society. The Group's ESG performance therefore
directly affects its market capitalization, cost of capital and investing activities. We aim for a top position
relative to our competitors in sustainability ratings. We are committed to the Paris Climate Agreement and
align our own activities with the 1.5-degree target. We aim to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2050. By
2030, we have also set ourselves the target of reducing CO. emissions from passenger cars and light com-
mercial vehicles over the total life cycle by 30% compared with 2018. As part of this effort, we are looking
for ways to increase the proportion of recyclable materials in our vehicles. We also wish to become the
benchmark for ethical corporate conduct. Volkswagen sees itself as an equal opportunities employer. The
intention is therefore for at least a fifth of Company management positions to be held by women by 2025,
and for at least a quarter to be held by international managers.

BUSINESS MODEL 2.0

The Business Model 2.0 base initiative is developing a Group-wide portfolio of services, the purpose of
which is to create a seamless and innovative product experience to connect brands, customers, dealerships,
our partners and whole markets. The aim is for the key technologies needed for this to be integrated into a
majority of the platform-based vehicles by 2030. Using connected vehicles, the Group’s brands are to be
able in future to remain in contact with their customers throughout the entire vehicle life cycle and thus to
offer them services and functions for their individual needs. This will allow us to build a competitive, data-
driven service portfolio that also maintains our leading position in the automotive market in future.

NORTH AMERICA (NAR) REGION

For the Volkswagen Group, North America, and particularly the USA, is the region with the greatest growth
potential, especially where e-mobility is concerned. We intend North America to become our third core
region alongside Europe and China by 2030. Our aim there is to achieve a very strong increase in total
market share for the Volkswagen Group by then.

We aspire to further expand our presence in the region with strong brands and prepare ourselves for the
future with market-specific products.

We also wish to participate to a disproportionately high extent in the growth of the increasingly elec-
trified markets in the USA and Canada. We will therefore substantially expand our range of all-electric
models across the Group and develop models specifically for these markets. The proportion of battery-
electric vehicles in our sales in the USA and Canada is to increase to 55% by 2030.

In addition, we wish to maximize the potential for synergies in the region and build significantly more
expertise, industrial capacity and vertical value chains in the North America region.
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CHINA REGION

China is of major strategic significance to the Volkswagen Group as its largest single market, and we expect
it to continue growing in the future. All key measures are therefore brought together in this strategic base
initiative in order to continue Volkswagen'’s success story in China. The activities include a comprehensive
program of measures with a focus on cost, long-term technological competitiveness, localized development
activities that are tailored to the market, and the further consolidation of our existing partnerships.

Our aim is to achieve high market shares in the electric vehicle segment and establish ourselves as a
leading provider. For vehicles with combustion engines, our aim is to maintain our share of the market, as
these will also make a contribution to profit in future with high unit sales. We are therefore continuing to
accelerate our Group-wide localization strategy in China so as to offer our Chinese customers tailor-made
products, and we are using not only global platform technologies (hardware and software), but are
increasingly employing platform technologies that have been developed locally. In this way, we wish to
stand our ground against the constantly growing competition in the new intelligent connected vehicle
(ICV) segment.

GROUP STEERING MODEL

To achieve the objectives of the Group strategy and thereby safeguard the Volkswagen Group’s long-term
success, we are extensively optimizing our Group steering model. It is essential that we establish a
consistently high level of mechanisms that facilitate swift decision-making, the development and use of
platform technologies and the exploitation of synergies, and that we constantly enhance these. The
updated Group Steering Model places the brand groups and technology platforms center stage in order to
scale up the latter while maximizing synergies across the entire Group product portfolio. A new strategy
and product planning process that has been optimized for efficiency is being developed on the basis of this
approach. The package of measures for this initiative hones the definition of roles and responsibilities in
the Group and improves transparency in this respect both inside and outside the Company. It also
promotes the entrepreneurship of the independent units and brands and at the same time strengthens
collaboration across the Group.

PEOPLE & TRANSFORMATION

As it becomes a global tech company, the Volkswagen Group will see the biggest transformation of its
workforce in its corporate history. To ensure the Group remains competitive in future, we need to attract
top talent and support existing employees by providing extensive training where required. Our aim is to
retain staff for the long term. It is therefore fundamental that we address the changing needs of our
employees and offer them an outstanding employee experience. To achieve our Group’s ambitious
objectives, we must also create and promote an environment for productive teams, resulting in a strong,
sustainable and socially responsible corporate culture that fosters a sense of belonging and loyalty to the
Company. A further focus is on aligning the Company with society and the environment.
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FINANCING THE TRANSFORMATION

Goals and Strategies

The transformation being driven by digitalization and electrification will require extensive investment. To
meet this need for financing, the Financing the Transformation base initiative aims to leverage even more
Group-wide synergies across all functional areas along the value chain, focusing on costs and efficiency. The
Group has therefore set itself the objective of lasting improvements to its fixed-cost structure, plant
productivity, procurement costs, distribution expenses and working capital management.

STRATEGIC FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS?

2015 Target 2025

.

Operating return on sales? 6.0% 8to 9%

Research and development ratio (R&D ratio) in the Automotive Division 7.4% ~6%

Ratio of capex to sales revenue in the Automotive Division 6.9% ~5%
Net cash flow in the

Automotive Division €8,887 million >€10 billion

Distribution ratio negative 230%

~10% of

Net liquidity in the €24,522 million, consolidated

Automotive Division 11.5% sales revenue

Return on investment (ROI) in the Automotive Division -0.2% >15%

1 The design of the strategic financial key performance indicators is currently under revision.
2 2015 before special items.
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Internal Management System and
Key Performance Indicators

This chapter describes how the Volkswagen Group is managed and the key performance indicators
used for this purpose. In addition to financial measures, our management system also contains
nonfinancial key performance indicators.

The Volkswagen Group’s performance and success are expressed in both financial and nonfinancial key
performance indicators.

In the following, we first describe the internal management process and then explain the Volkswagen
Group’s most significant performance indicators, known as the core performance indicators.

INTERNAL MANAGEMENT PROCESS IN THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

Consistent, close integration of the Group and brand strategies with the operational planning process
ensures transparency at the Volkswagen Group when it comes to the financial assessment and evaluation
of strategic decisions. The operational medium-term planning that is conducted once a year and generally
covers a period of five years is incorporated into the strategic planning as a key management element of the
Group.

Medium-term planning forms the core of our operational planning and is used to formulate and
safeguard the requirements for realizing strategic projects designed to meet Group targets in both technical
and economic terms — and particularly in relation to earnings, cash flow and liquidity effects. In addition, it
is used to coordinate all business areas with respect to the strategic action areas concerned, namely
functions/processes, products and markets.

When planning the Company’s future, the individual planning components are determined on the basis
of the timescale involved:
> The long-term unit sales plan, which sets out market and segment growth and then derives the

Volkswagen Group’s delivery volumes from this
> The product program as the strategic, long-term factor determining corporate policy
> Capacity and utilization planning for the individual site.
The coordinated results of the upstream planning processes are used as the basis for the medium-term
financial planning: the Group’s financial planning, including the brands and business fields, comprises the
income statement, cash flow and balance sheet planning, profitability and liquidity, as well as the upfront
investments needed for alternative products and the implementation of strategic options in the future. The
first year of the medium-term planning period is fixed and a budget drawn up for the individual months.
This is planned in detail down to the level of the operating cost centers.
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The budget is reviewed each month to establish the target achievement level. Key internal management
instruments comprise target/actual comparisons, prior-year comparisons, variance analyses and, where
necessary, action plans to ensure targets are met. For the current fiscal year, detailed revolving monthly
forecasts are prepared for the coming three months and the full year, taking into account the current risks
and opportunities. The focus of intrayear internal management is therefore on adapting ongoing activities.
The current forecast serves as a corrective to the medium-term and budget planning that follows on from it.

CORE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS IN THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

Based on our management process, the Volkswagen Group has defined nine core performance indicators:

> Deliveries to customers

> Sales revenue

> Operating result

> Operating return on sales

> Research and development ratio (R&D ratio) in the Automotive Division

> Ratio of capex to sales revenue in the Automotive Division

> Net cash flow in the Automotive Division

> Net liquidity in the Automotive Division

> Return on investment (ROI) in the Automotive Division

Deliveries to customers are defined as handovers of new vehicles to the end customer. This figure shows
the popularity of our products and is the measure we use to determine our competitive position in the
various markets. Deliveries are closely related to our goal of transforming the Volkswagen Group into a
world-leading, software-oriented mobility provider. One of the most important prerequisites for the Com-
pany’s long-term success is a strong brand portfolio that — on the basis of outstanding quality — offers
tailor-made mobility solutions with safe, connected, resource-efficient and thus largely emission-free
vehicles that meet the diverse needs of customers. Demand for our products and mobility services guaran-
tees not only unit sales and production, but also full utilization of our sites and the jobs of our employees.
The goals we are striving for cannot be achieved without a skilled, flexible and dedicated workforce and a
consensus on shared values.

Sales revenue, which does not include the figures for our equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures,
reflects our market success in financial terms. Following adjustment for our use of resources, the operating
result reflects the Company’s actual business activity and documents the economic success of our core
business. The operating return on sales is the ratio of the operating result to sales revenue.
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The research and development ratio (R&D ratio) in the Automotive Division shows total research and
development costs in relation to sales revenue. Research and development costs comprise a range of
expenses, from futurology through to the development of marketable products. Particular emphasis is
placed on the environmentally friendly orientation and digitalization of our product portfolio, the expan-
sion of our battery expertise, the development of software and new platforms and the creation of new
technologies. The R&D ratio reflects our activities undertaken to safeguard the Company’s future viability.

The ratio of capex (investments in property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible

assets, excluding capitalized development costs) to sales revenue in the Automotive Division reflects both
our innovative power and our future competitiveness. It shows our capital expenditure — largely for
modernizing, expanding, electrifying and digitalizing our product range and for environmentally friendly
drivetrains, as well as for adjusting production capacities and improving production processes — in relation
to the Automotive Division’s sales revenue.
Net cash flow in the Automotive Division represents the excess funds from operating activities available for
dividend payments, for example. It is calculated as cash flows from operating activities less cash flows from
investing activities attributable to operating activities.Net liquidity in the Automotive Division is the total
of cash, cash equivalents, securities, time deposits and loans not financed by third-party borrowings. To
safeguard our business activities, we have formulated the strategic target that net liquidity in the
Automotive Division should amount to approximately 10% of the consolidated sales revenue.

We use the return on investment (ROI) to calculate the return on invested capital for a particular period
in the Automotive Division, including the equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures on a proportionate
basis, by calculating the ratio of the operating result after tax to average invested capital. If the return on
investment (ROI) exceeds the market cost of capital, the value of the Company has increased. This is how we
measure the financial success of our brands, locations and vehicle projects.

To achieve our strategic goals, we are pursuing the Financing the Transformation base initiative. In fiscal
year 2022, we further stepped up our activities and concentrated on optimizing working capital manage-
ment.
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Structure and Business Activities

This chapter describes the legal and organizational structure of the Volkswagen Group
and explains the material changes in 2022 with respect to equity investments.

OUTLINE OF THE LEGAL STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

Volkswagen AG is the parent company of the Volkswagen Group. It develops vehicles and components for
the Group brands, but also produces and sells vehicles, in particular passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles for the Volkswagen Passenger Cars and Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles brands. In its capacity as
parent company, Volkswagen AG holds direct or indirect interests in AUDI AG, SEAT S.A., SKODA AUTO a.s.,
Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, TRATON SE, Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH and a
large number of other companies in Germany and abroad. More detailed disclosures are contained in the
list of shareholdings in accordance with sections 285 and 313 of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB — German
Commercial Code), which can be accessed at www.volkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations.html and is part
of the annual financial statements.

Volkswagen AG is a vertically integrated energy supply company as defined by section 3 no. 38 of the
Energiewirtschaftsgesetz (EnWG — German Energy Industry Act) and is therefore subject to the provisions of
the EnWG. In the electricity sector, Volkswagen AG generates, sells and distributes electricity as a group
together with its subsidiaries.

The Volkswagen AG Board of Management has sole responsibility for managing the Company. The
Supervisory Board appoints, monitors and advises the Board of Management; it is consulted directly on
decisions that are of fundamental significance for the Company.

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

The Volkswagen Group is one of the leading multibrand groups in the automotive industry. The Company’s
business activities comprise the Automotive and Financial Services divisions. Our core brands within the
Automotive Division — with the exception of the Volkswagen Passenger Cars and Volkswagen Commercial
Vehicles brands — are independent legal entities.

The Automotive Division comprises the Passenger Cars, Commercial Vehicles and Power Engineering
business areas.

The Passenger Cars Business Area primarily consolidates the Volkswagen Group’s passenger car brands
and the Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles brand. Activities focus on the development of vehicles, engines
and vehicle software, the production and sale of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles, and the
genuine parts business. The product portfolio ranges from compact cars to luxury vehicles and also
includes motorcycles, and is supplemented by mobility solutions.
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The Commercial Vehicles Business Area primarily comprises the development, production and sale of
trucks and buses, the corresponding genuine parts business and related services. The commercial vehicles
portfolio ranges from light vans to heavy trucks and buses. The collaboration between the commercial
vehicle brands is coordinated within TRATON SE.

The Power Engineering Business Area combines the large-bore diesel engines, turbomachinery and
propulsion components businesses.

The Financial Services Division’s activities comprise dealer and customer financing, vehicle leasing,
direct banking and insurance activities, fleet management and mobility services.

With its brands, the Volkswagen Group is present in all relevant markets around the world. The key sales
markets currently include Western Europe, China, the USA, Brazil, Poland, Mexico, Tiirkiye and Czech
Republic.

Volkswagen AG and the Volkswagen Group are managed by the Volkswagen AG Board of Management in
accordance with the Volkswagen AG Articles of Association and the rules of procedure for Volkswagen AG’s
Board of Management issued by the Supervisory Board.

Accordingly, responsibilities were divided among eleven board-level management functions starting
from January 1, 2022. In addition to the “Chair of the Board of Management”, a function which also includes
the “Volume” brand group, the other Board functions were “Purchasing”, “Technology”, “Finance”, “Human
Resources and Truck & Bus”, “Integrity and Legal Affairs”, “Premium”, “Sport & Luxury”, “IT”, “China” and
“Volkswagen Passenger Cars”. A new “Group Sales” function was created with effect from February 1, 2022.

As of September 1, 2022, the Volkswagen Group refined its Group management. The Board of Manage-
ment was streamlined and the division of responsibilities was reorganized. As a result, the “Purchasing”
and “Group Sales” Board functions were dissolved. Furthermore, the “Volkswagen Passenger Cars” function
was renamed “Volume”. Since then, responsibilities have been divided among ten board-level management
functions. In addition to the “Chair of the Board of Management”, the other Board functions are “Technol-
ogy”, “Finance”, “Human Resources and Truck & Bus”, “Integrity and Legal Affairs”, “Volume”, “Premium”,
“Sport & Luxury”, “IT” and “China”. The Chair of the Board of Management is also responsible for “Sport &
Luxury”.

Directly attached to the Board are a number of Group Management functions that act as an extension to
the board-level management functions. These comprise “Group Sales”, “Group Production”, “Procurement”
and “Technical Architecture” functions.

The allocation of responsibilities on the Board of Management is based on the schedule of respon-
sibilities decided by the Supervisory Board, which takes into account the changes in management during
the reporting period. The way this is structured helps the Board of Management to focus on key tasks such
as strategy, central decisions on the Company’s direction, capital allocation and financial requirements. The
task of the extended board-level management functions is to leverage synergies in the Group and to con-
nect the brands and divisions.

In addition, at Group level, Board of Management committees address key strategic issues relating to
products, technologies, investments, digital transformation, integrity and compliance, risk management,
human resources and management issues. We are continually revising and optimizing the committees in
order to verify that they still align with our corporate strategy and to further increase the efficiency of their
decision making. This reduces complexity and reinforces governance within the Group.

The matrix of brand groups and technology platforms created under the Group Steering Model base
initiative from the NEW AUTO Group strategy was enhanced in both dimensions during the reporting
period. This involved both strengthening the brand groups and creating new units for key technology areas
of the future within our strategic technology platforms. The Group steering model will be further refined in
future on this basis.
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The Volume brand group comprises the Volkswagen Passenger Cars, SKODA, SEAT/CUPRA and Volkswagen
Commercial Vehicles brands. The Premium brand group comprises the Audi, Lamborghini, Bentley and
Ducati brands. The Sport & Luxury brand group consists of the Porsche brand. The company responsible
for this brand, Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, has been listed on the stock market since the end of September
2022. In the Truck & Bus brand group, TRATON SE acts as the umbrella for the Scania, MAN, Volkswagen
Truck & Bus and Navistar commercial vehicles brands. TRATON SE is also a listed company.

As well as strengthening the brand groups, the reorganization and creation of new units enabled sub-
stantial progress with the Software, Battery & Charging and Mobility Solutions technology platforms in the
reporting period. The software subsidiary CARIAD was further expanded, getting a subsidiary of its own in
China, among other things.

In addition to this, Volkswagen founded PowerCo SE in the reporting period as part of the Battery &
Charging technology platform. This company will be responsible for the Group’s global battery business. In
addition to producing battery cells, it will also take on other activities along the battery value chain in
future.

In the Mobility Solutions technology platform, Volkswagen strengthened the Group’s expertise in
advanced fleet management through the equity investment in the Europcar Mobility Group in the
reporting period. The aim is to be able to achieve even better coverage of all customers’ mobility needs
based on a new mobility platform.

We are convinced that our corporate structure, which efficiently connects not only the brand groups but
also the technology platforms, will enable us to make better use of existing expertise and economies of
scale, leverage synergies more systematically and accelerate decision making. Clear responsibilities and a
high degree of business responsibility in the brand groups and technology platforms will enable
comprehensive implementation of the Group’s NEW AUTO strategy.

Each brand within the Volkswagen Group is managed by a brand board of management, which is
responsible for the brand's independent and self-contained development and business operations. To the
extent permitted by law, the board adheres to the Group targets and requirements laid down by the Board
of Management of Volkswagen AG, as well as with the agreements in the brand groups. This allows Group-
wide interests to be pursued, while at the same time safeguarding and reinforcing each brand’s specific
characteristics. Matters that are of importance to the Group as a whole are submitted to the Volkswagen AG
Board of Management to be agreed upon, to the extent permitted by law. The rights and obligations of the
statutory bodies of the relevant brand company thereby remain unaffected.

The Volkswagen Group companies are managed solely by their respective managements. The manage-
ment of each individual company takes into account not only the interest of its own company but also the
interests of the Group, the relevant brand group and the individual brands in accordance with the frame-
work laid down by law.

MATERIAL CHANGES IN EQUITY INVESTMENTS

In 2021, together with investment firm Attestor Limited and Pon Holdings BV., Volkswagen made a joint
public takeover offer for the shares of Europcar Mobility Group S.A., Paris/France through the consortium
company Green Mobility Holding S.A. (GMH) based in Strassen/Luxembourg. The European Commission
issued final antitrust approval at the end of May 2022. During the extended offer period, the French
Financial Markets Authority gave Europcar shareholders the opportunity to tender their shares to the
consortium company. In total, 93.6% of Europcar’s shareholders accepted the offer. The consortium jointly
assumed control of Europcar in mid-June 2022. Because the acceptance rate was over 90%, a squeeze-out
was initiated for the remaining Europcar shares in July 2022, and the company was delisted. Since July 13,
2022, the consortium company has held 100% of the shares in Europcar. The purchase price was 51 cents
per Europcar share. In addition, Volkswagen is the writer of put options held by the other members of the
consortium, and the other members have granted Volkswagen call options on their shares in the
consortium company. The options with Attestor were extended on a long-term basis in December 2022.
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Since joint control has been contractually agreed, the company, in which Volkswagen holds 66% of the
shares, will be accounted for using the equity method in the Volkswagen consolidated financial statements.

Following the fulfillment of all closing conditions, Brose Fahrzeugteile SE & Co. Kommanditgesellschaft
(Brose) and Volkswagen Finance Luxemburg S.A., a subsidiary of Volkswagen AG, created a jointly operated
company in early 2022 for the development and manufacture of complete seat units, seat structures and
components, and solutions for vehicle interiors. As part of this arrangement, Brose acquired half of the
shares in the previous Volkswagen Group company SITECH Sp. z o.0., Polkowice/Poland. Brose and Volks-
wagen each hold 50% of the jointly operated company — Brose Sitech Sp.z o0.0. — with Brose taking the
industrial lead and controlling the company.

Since late September 2022, non-voting preferred shares of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG (Porsche AG) have
been traded in the Regulated Market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The no-par value bearer shares came
from the portfolio of Porsche Holding Stuttgart GmbH, Stuttgart — a wholly owned subsidiary of Volks-
wagen AG. Following the early termination of the stabilization period, the total number of preferred shares
issued in the IPO equated to 24.2% and comprised 110,080,801 preferred shares. The control and profit and
loss transfer agreement between Volkswagen AG and Porsche AG ended in accordance with section 307 of
the Aktiengesetz (AktG — German Stock Corporation Act) on December 31, 2022.

In connection with the IPO, Volkswagen additionally sold an interest of 25% of Porsche’s ordinary shares
plus one ordinary share to Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart. As of the reporting date, Volkswagen
held 75.4 % of the total capital.

Il VOLKSWAGEN AG SHAREHOLDINGS
www.volkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations.html

LEGAL FACTORS INFLUENCING BUSINESS

Like other international companies, the business of Volkswagen companies is affected by numerous laws in
Germany and abroad. In particular, there are legal requirements relating to services, development, prod-
ucts, production and distribution, as well as supervisory, data protection, financial, company, commercial,
capital market, anti-trust and tax regulations and regulations relating to labor, banking, state aid, energy,
environmental and insurance law.

GROUP CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DECLARATION

The Group Corporate Governance Declaration can be found in this annual report and is permanently
available on our website at www.olkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations/corporate-governance/declaration-
of-conformity.html.

Bl GROUP CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DECLARATION
www.volkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations/corporate-governance/declaration-of-conformity.html
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Disclosures Required under
Takeover Law

This chapter contains the Volkswagen Group’s disclosures relating to
takeover law required by sections 289a and 315a of the HGB.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Volkswagen AG’s share capital amounted to €1,283,315,873.28 (€1,283,315,873.28) on December 31, 2022. It
was composed of 295,089,818 ordinary shares and 206,205,445 preferred shares. Each share conveys a
notional interest of €2.56 in the share capital.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS

The shares convey pecuniary and administrative rights. The pecuniary rights include in particular the
shareholders’ right to participate in profits (section 58(4) of the Aktiengesetz (AktG — German Stock Cor-
poration Act)), the right to participate in liquidation proceeds (section 271 of the AktG) and preemptive
rights to shares in the event of capital increases (section 186 of the AktG), which can be disapplied by the
Annual General Meeting with the approval of the Special Meeting of Preferred Shareholders, where
appropriate. Administrative rights include the right to attend the Annual General Meeting, to speak there,
to ask questions, to propose motions and to exercise voting rights. When virtual Annual General Meetings
were held to avoid risks during the Covid-19 pandemic, these rights were partially restricted. Shareholders
can enforce their pecuniary and administrative rights in particular through actions seeking disclosure and
actions for avoidance.

Each ordinary share grants the holder one vote at the Annual General Meeting. The Annual General
Meeting elects shareholder representatives to the Supervisory Board and elects the auditors; in particular, it
resolves on the appropriation of net profit, formally approves the actions of the Board of Management and
the Supervisory Board, and resolves on amendments to the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG,
capital measures and authorizations to purchase treasury shares; if required, it also resolves on the
performance of a special audit, the removal before the end of their term of office of Supervisory Board
members elected at the Annual General Meeting and the winding-up of the Company.

Preferred shareholders generally have no voting rights. However, in the exceptional case that they are
granted voting rights by law (for example, when preferred share dividends were not paid in one year and
not compensated for in full in the following year), each preferred share also grants the holder one vote at
the Annual General Meeting. Furthermore, preferred shares entitle the holder to a €0.06 higher dividend
than ordinary shares (further details on this right to preferred and additional dividends are specified in
Article 27(2) of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG).

The Gesetz iiber die Uberfiihrung der Anteilsrechte an der Volkswagenwerk Gesellschaft mit beschrinkter
Haftung in private Hand (VW-Gesetz — Act on the Privatization of Shares of Volkswagenwerk Gesellschaft
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mit beschrinkter Haftung) of July 21, 1960, as amended on July 30, 2009, includes various provisions in
derogation of the German Stock Corporation Act, for example on the exercising of voting rights by proxy
(section 3 of the VW-Gesetz) and on majority voting requirements at the Annual General Meeting (sec-
tion 4(3) of the VW-Gesetz).

In accordance with the Volkswagen AG Articles of Association (Article 11(1)), the State of Lower Saxony is
entitled to appoint two members of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG for as long as it directly or
indirectly holds at least 15% of Volkswagen AG’s ordinary shares. In addition, resolutions by the Annual
General Meeting that are required by law to be adopted by a qualified majority require a majority of
more than four-fifths of the share capital of the Company represented when the resolution is adopted
(Article 25(2)), regardless of the provisions of the VW-Gesetz.

SHAREHOLDINGS EXCEEDING 10% OF VOTING RIGHTS

Shareholdings in Volkswagen AG that exceed 10% of voting rights are shown in the notes to the annual
financial statements of Volkswagen AG, which are available online at https://www.volkswagenag.com/en/
InvestorRelations.html. The current notifications regarding changes in voting rights in accordance with the
Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (NpHG — German Securities Trading Act) are also published on this website.

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Supervisory Board consists of 20 members, half of whom are shareholder representatives. In accor-
dance with Article 11(1) of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG, the State of Lower Saxony is
entitled to appoint two of these shareholder representatives for as long as it directly or indirectly holds at
least 15% of the Company’s ordinary shares. The remaining shareholder representatives on the Supervisory
Board are elected by the Annual General Meeting.

The other half of the Supervisory Board consists of employee representatives elected by the employees
in accordance with the Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG — German Codetermination Act). A total of seven
of these employee representatives are Company employees elected by the workforce; the other three
employee representatives are trade union representatives elected by the workforce.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board is generally a shareholder representative elected by the other
members of the Supervisory Board. In the event that a Supervisory Board vote is tied, the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board has a casting vote in accordance with the MitbestG.

The goals for the composition of the Supervisory Board and information about its composition are
described in the Group Corporate Governance Declaration.

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION WITH REGARD TO
THE APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF BOARD OF MANAGEMENT MEMBERS AND TO AMENDMENTS TO
THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
The appointment and removal of members of the Board of Management are governed by sections 84 and 85
of the AktG, which specify that members of the Board of Management are appointed by the Supervisory
Board for a maximum of five years. Board of Management members may be reappointed or have their term
of office extended for a maximum of five years in each case. In addition, Article 6 of the Articles of
Association of Volkswagen AG states that the number of Board of Management members is stipulated by
the Supervisory Board and that the Board of Management must consist of at least three persons. The mem-
bers of the Volkswagen AG Board of Management must include at least one woman and at least one man.
The Annual General Meeting resolves amendments to the Articles of Association (section 119(1) of the
AktG). In accordance with section 4(3) of the VW-Gesetz as amended on July 30, 2009 and Article 25(2) of
the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG, Annual General Meeting resolutions to amend the Articles of
Association require a majority of more than four-fifths of the share capital represented.
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POWERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT, IN PARTICULAR CONCERNING THE ISSUE OF NEW SHARES
AND THE REPURCHASE OF TREASURY SHARES

According to German stock corporation law, the Annual General Meeting can authorize the Board of
Management, for a maximum period of five years, to issue new shares. It can also authorize the Board of
Management, for a maximum period of five years, to issue bonds on the basis of which new shares are to be
issued. The Annual General Meeting also decides the extent to which shareholders have preemptive rights
to the new shares or bonds. The maximum amount of authorized share capital or contingent capital
available for these purposes is determined by Article 4 of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG, as
amended.

At the Annual General Meeting on May 14, 2019, a resolution was passed authorizing the Board of
Management, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to increase the Company’s share capital by a total
of up to €179.2 million (corresponding to 70 million shares) on one or more occasions up to May 13, 2024
by issuing new nonvoting preferred shares against cash contributions.

Further details of the authorization to issue new shares and their permitted uses may be found in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY IN THE EVENT OF A CHANGE OF CONTROL
FOLLOWING A TAKEOVER BID

At the end of fiscal year 2019, a banking syndicate granted Volkswagen AG a syndicated line of credit
amounting to €10.0 billion, which currently runs until December 2026. With the line of credit, the
syndicate members were granted the right to call their portion of the syndicated line of credit in the two
forms of a Change of Control described below. A call right exists if one individual or several individuals
acting jointly who as of the date of this agreement exercise control over the Company have legal or
economic ownership of shares that together make up more than 90% of the voting rights of the Company.
However, a call right also exists if one individual or several individuals acting jointly who as of the date of
this agreement do not exercise control over the Company obtain control over the Company. Such a call
right does not exist, however, if one shareholder or several shareholders of Porsche Automobil Holding SE
or one or several legal entities from the Porsche or Piéch family directly or indirectly obtain control over
the Company.

Volkswagen AG and the Ford Motor Company entered into a Master Collaboration Agreement in January
2019. This agreement sets out a framework of obligations, which are to apply to the further co-operation
agreements entered into between the parties, including those entered into in fiscal year 2021. It also covers
the Development Agreement concluded in January 2019 for the development of the next-generation
Amarok. The Master Collaboration Agreement provides for a right of termination with immediate effect in
the event of a Change of Control. A Change of Control has been defined to mean a change affecting more
than 50% of the voting capital of one of the companies or a change in the ability to directly or indirectly
control the management of a company through its decision-making bodies. The right of termination must
be exercised within 90 days of the company becoming aware of a Change of Control.
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Business Development

The world economy recorded positive growth in fiscal year 2022. Global demand for vehicles was on
a level with the previous year. In a market that continued to be challenging, the Volkswagen Group
delivered 8.3 million vehicles to customers.

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE GLOBAL ECONOMY

In the reporting period, the Russia-Ukraine conflict led to a humanitarian crisis and global market upheaval.
Prices rose substantially, particularly on the energy and commodity markets. Parts supply shortages also
intensified in this context. The Russia-Ukraine conflict led to increased uncertainty in respect of develop-
ments in the global economy and prompted large sections of the community of Western states to impose
sanctions on Russia, ranging from extensive trade embargoes to the partial exclusion of Russia from the
global financial system. Russia itself, in its role as an energy exporter, restricted gas deliveries to Europe.
The resulting increase in energy prices and intensified supply shortages had a sustained impact on infla-
tion in Europe particularly.

During 2022, the restrictive measures put in place to protect the population from the SARS-CoV-2 virus
were lifted to a large extent in many countries. The progress made in administering vaccines to the public
had a positive effect, while the emergence of the new Omicron variant and its subvariants led to a renewed
sharp rise in infections on a national scale, mostly causing milder symptoms but increased rates of sick
leave. In China particularly, local outbreaks of infection in the course of 2022 led to tight restrictions under
the zero-Covid strategy being pursued there, resulting in economic constraints and disruption to inter-
national supply chains. The departure from this strategy led to a rapid increase in infection rates in China at
the end of the year.

Following the slump in global economic output in 2020 and the incipient recovery due to baseline and
catch-up effects in 2021, the global economy recorded positive overall growth of +3.0 (+6.0) % in 2022. Both
the advanced economies and the emerging markets continued to recover on average, albeit with dimin-
ishing momentum and slower growth overall than in the prior year.

At national level, developments depended on the one hand on the scale of the negative impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic and the intensity with which measures were taken to contain it, and on the other the
extent to which national economies were affected by the consequences of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. In
response to the further rise of inflation rates around the world, many countries shifted to a more restrictive
monetary policy, which led central banks to increase their key interest rates and reduce bond purchases
during the reporting period. The gloomier economic outlook resulted in large losses on major stock markets.
On average, prices for energy and other commodities rose significantly in some cases year-on-year and short-
ages of certain intermediates and commodities remained high. Global trade in goods increased in 2022.
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The economy in Western Europe recorded positive overall growth of +3.6 (+5.6) % in 2022. The reasons for
this included increased economic resilience in the face of high infection rates in many countries, and the
associated easing of the measures taken to contain the pandemic. However, significantly rising inflation
rates, among other things, resulted in a slowdown in economic momentum. This trend was seen in almost
all countries in Northern and Southern Europe.

At +0.7 (+6.4) %, the economies in Central and Eastern Europe recorded low real growth in absolute gross
domestic product (GDP) overall in the reporting period. While economic output in Central Europe saw
positive, albeit somewhat less dynamic growth of +4.4 (+7.8)%, GDP in the Eastern Europe region fell
significantly compared with the prior year as a consequence of the Russia-Ukraine conflict, with a negative
growth rate of —3.8 (+4.7) %. The sanctions imposed against Russia had a substantial impact in this region
from March 2022 onwards, causing Russian economic output to contract from the second quarter. Russia
saw a negative average growth rate for the year of —2.8 (+4.7) %. Inflation rates rose, in some cases sharply,
across the entire Central and Eastern Europe region.

In Tirkiye, economic output for the year 2022 as a whole rose by +5.1 (+11.6) % amid very high inflation
and a fall in the value of the local currency. South Africa saw slight GDP growth of +2.2 (+4.9)% in the
reporting period, amid persistent structural deficits and political challenges.

Germany

Germany’s economic output recorded a positive growth rate of +1.9 (+2.6) % in the 2022 reporting year, with
declining momentum. The situation on the labor market improved compared with the previous year, with
the unemployment rate and notices of Kurzarbeit (short-time working) for economic reasons falling on
average. At the same time, monthly inflation rates reached the highest level in the history of the Federal
Republic of Germany, while at the same time historic lows were registered in consumer confidence.
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EXCHANGE RATE MOVEMENTS FROM DECEMBER 2021 TO DECEMBER 2022
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North America

US economic output grew by +2.1 (+5.9) % in the reporting period. Given rising inflation and the tight labor
market, the US Federal Reserve consistently maintained its restrictive monetary policy and raised its key
interest rate seven times over the course of the reporting year. Unemployment declined further in 2022 from
the high level seen in the prior year. GDP rose by +3.6 (+5.0)% in neighboring Canada and by +3.1 (+4.9) %
in Mexico.

South America

Brazil’s economy posted GDP growth of +2.9 (+5.3) % in 2022. Argentina registered a positive economic per-
formance with year-on-year growth of +4.6 (+10.4) % amid very high inflation and continued depreciation
of the local currency.

Asia-Pacific

At the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, China was exposed to the negative effects at an earlier stage
than other economies and, due to the strict zero-Covid strategy pursued there, benefited from a relatively
low number of new infections as the pandemic progressed. This strategy resulted in temporary local
lockdowns in the reporting period in connection with the spread of the Omicron variant. The departure
from this strategy led to a rapid increase in infection rates in China at the end of the year. The Chinese
economy grew by only +3.0 (+8.5) % overall. India registered strong growth of +7.0 (+8.7) %. Japan recorded
positive growth of +1.0 (+2.2) % year-on-year.

TRENDS IN THE MARKETS FOR PASSENGER CARS AND LIGHT COMMERCIAL VEHICLES
In fiscal year 2022, the volume of the passenger car market worldwide remained on a level with the prior
year at 69.6 million vehicles. Gains and losses in individual markets were very uneven, since shortages and
disruption in global supply chains, the effects of the Russia-Ukraine conflict and the further consequences
of the Covid-19 pandemic varied around the world in terms of the strength of their impact. Shortages of
semiconductors and other intermediates, which already occurred in the second half of 2021, and the
resulting supply bottlenecks, could also not be fully resolved in 2022.

Slight or noticeable growth was recorded in the overall markets of the Asia-Pacific and Middle East
regions respectively, while South America and Africa were on a level with the previous year. Sales fell in the
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remaining regions: while market volume was slightly down in Western Europe and noticeably down in
North America, Central and Eastern Europe recorded a very strong decline.

In the reporting period, the global volume of new registrations for light commercial vehicles was slightly
(-3.0%) lower than in the previous year.

Sector-specific environment

Along with fiscal policy measures, factors substantially affecting the sector-specific environment were
shortages and disruption in global supply chains, the Covid-19 pandemic and the impacts of the Russia-
Ukraine conflict. This contributed considerably to the mixed trends in unit sales in the markets in 2022. As
a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict, sanctions were imposed that restricted the production and sale of
vehicles, particularly in Russia. The fiscal policy measures included tax cuts or increases, incentive pro-
grams and sales incentives, as well as import duties. In addition, non-tariff trade barriers to protect the
respective domestic automotive industries made the movement of vehicles, parts and components more
difficult.

Europe/Other Markets

In Western Europe, the number of new passenger car registrations in the reporting period was slightly
down on the previous year’s weak level, declining by 4.3% to 10.2 million vehicles. While the first half of the
reporting year fell significantly short of the comparison period, the number of new registrations in the
subsequent months were up again on the — in some cases substantially weaker — prior-year figures. The per-
formance of the large individual passenger car markets was negative in fiscal year 2022: France (-7.7%), the
United Kingdom (-2.0%), Italy (-9.8%) and Spain (-7.1%) did not achieve their respective prior-year levels.

The volume of new registrations for light commercial vehicles in Western Europe was sharply lower than
in the previous year, falling by —20.7%.

After the slight recovery in the prior year, the volume of the passenger car market in the Central and
Eastern Europe region fell very sharply in the 2022 fiscal year and was down by 37.2% at 1.8 million
vehicles. The number of sales was also on an overall downtrend in the individual markets. The Russian
passenger car market in particular saw substantial losses and more than halved in the period under review
(-60.9%). In Central Europe, the decline in new registrations was smaller at -6.0% in Poland and —=7.1% in the
Czech Republic.

The market volume of light commercial vehicles in Central and Eastern Europe was sharply below the
prior-year level (-28.6%). In Russia, the number of vehicles sold in the reporting period fell by 45.2%
compared with the previous year.

The volume of the passenger car market in Tirkiye in the reporting period was slightly up on the weak
prior-year level. In South Africa, the growth trend in passenger car sales that began in 2021 continued
strongly with a rise of 20.4%.

The volume of new registrations of light commercial vehicles in Tirkiye in the reporting period was on a
level (+0.5%) with 2021, while South Africa recorded slight growth (+3.6%).

Germany
At 2.7 million, the total number of new passenger car registrations in Germany in the 2022 fiscal year was
similar to the weak prior-year level (+1.1%). Shortages and disruption in global supply chains continued to
restrict vehicle availability. With delays in semiconductor deliveries persisting, and the associated measures
such as cutbacks in production and production shutdowns therefore continuing too, domestic production
and exports remained at a low level in the reporting period: passenger car production increased by 10.8%
to 3.4 million vehicles and passenger car exports grew by 10.1% to 2.6 million units.

The number of sales of light commercial vehicles in Germany in the reporting period was sharply down
on the 2021 figure (-21.1%).
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North America

At 16.4 million vehicles, sales of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles (up to 6.35 tonnes) in the
North America region in fiscal year 2022 were noticeably lower compared with the prior-year (-7.3%). At
13.9 million units, the market volume in the USA declined by more than the average for this region (-8.0%).
The Canadian automotive market registered a noticeable fall in sales figures to 1.5 million units (-9.7%) in
the reporting period, while new registrations of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles in Mexico
saw a noticeable rise of 7.0% compared with the prior year to 1.1 million vehicles.

South America

In the South America region, the volume of new passenger car and light commercial vehicle registrations in
the reporting period was on a level with the prior year at 3.6 million units (+1.8%). This continued the
positive growth trend that began in the previous year, albeit at a slower pace. In Brazil, the number of new
registrations was also on the same level as the previous year at 2.0 million units (-0.8%). Total exports of
vehicles manufactured in Brazil increased by 28.9% to 450 thousand passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles. In the Argentinian market, demand for passenger cars and light commercial vehicles in the 2022
reporting period rose noticeably by 7.0% to 380 thousand units.

Asia-Pacific

In the Asia-Pacific region, the volume of the passenger car market in fiscal year 2022 was slightly higher
than the previous year’s figure at 33.8 million units (+3.6%). The absolute rise in demand for passenger cars
in the region was again primarily attributable to the positive trend in the Chinese passenger car market.
Here, the recovery seen in 2021 continued but was affected by the semiconductor shortage and local
lockdowns in connection with the spread of the Omicron variant of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. Overall, the
volume of demand in China totaled 21.0 million units (+1.6%), putting it on a level with the previous year.
In India, passenger car sales again rose strongly by 23.2% compared with the prior year to 3.6 million units.
New registrations in the Japanese passenger car market in the reporting period were noticeably down on
the already weak prior-year level at 3.5 million units (-6.9%).

The volume of demand for light commercial vehicles in the Asia-Pacific region in 2022 was slightly
above the previous year’s level (+2.1%). Registration volumes in China, the region’s dominant market and
the largest market worldwide, were slightly lower, falling 3.1% short of the prior-year figure. The number of
new vehicle registrations in India was strongly up on the prior-year level; in Japan this figure was slightly
lower than in the previous year.

TRENDS IN THE MARKETS FOR COMMERCIAL VEHICLES

Since July 1, 2021, Navistar has been a TRATON GROUP brand, making it part of the Volkswagen Group’s
Commercial Vehicles Business Area. This has expanded the relevant markets in the commercial vehicles
business to include North America (consisting of USA, Canada and Mexico).

In the markets that are relevant for the Volkswagen Group, global demand for mid-sized and heavy
trucks with a gross weight of more than six tonnes experienced noticeable growth in fiscal year 2022 versus
the comparison period (+5.5%). Global truck markets declined sharply. This was due to upheaval on the
Chinese market, which slumped dramatically on the back of purchases brought forward to 2021 prior to the
introduction of the new emission level and due to the zero-Covid strategy pursued there.

In the 27 EU states excluding Malta, but including the United Kingdom, Norway and Switzerland
(EU27+3), the number of new truck registrations was noticeably up on the prior-year level, increasing by
5.1% to a total of 337 thousand vehicles. Growth could be observed in many truck markets in the region,
albeit to differing degrees. The substantial market recovery seen in 2021 slowed during the reporting
period to a noticeable level of growth. New registrations in Germany, the largest market in this region, were
on a level with the previous year (-1.7%). The United Kingdom recorded a noticeable increase of 9.8%, while
demand in France was on a level with the previous year (-0.3%). The Russian market declined sharply as a
result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. Turkiye, by contrast, recorded a strong rise in new registrations of
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24.7%. In the South African market, demand rose significantly (+12.3%). The truck market in North America
is divided into weight classes 1 to 8. In the segments relevant for Volkswagen — Class 6 to 8 (8.85 tonnes or
heavier) — new registrations were significantly higher (+13.6%) than the previous year’s figure. In Brazil, the
largest market in the South America region, demand for trucks in the reporting period was slightly lower
year-on-year (-2.5%).

Demand in the bus markets relevant for the Volkswagen Group was on a level with the previous year
(+0.3%). Demand for buses in the EU27+3 markets in the reporting period was slightly down overall on the
level of the previous year (-3.8%), with the picture varying from country to country. The school bus
segment in the USA and Canada recorded a noticeable decline (-6.8%) compared with the prior year.
Demand for buses in Mexico also declined noticeably year-on-year (-7.4%). In Brazil, by contrast, demand
for buses increased and was strongly up on the previous year’s level (+23.4%).

TRENDS IN THE MARKETS FOR POWER ENGINEERING
The markets for power engineering are subject to differing regional and economic factors. Consequently,
their business growth trends are mostly independent of each other.

The marine market remained below the prior-year level in 2022. This is especially attributable to the fact
that the demand in merchant shipping declined. In this sub-market, there was a decline particularly in the
segment for container ships, tankers and bulk cargo carriers compared with the previous year’s high level.
The segment for gas tankers, in contrast, recorded a stable trend. Slightly positive development was evident
in the sub-market for cruise ships and passenger ferries. Here, the easing of Covid-19-related restrictions
enabled business activity to grow again. The special market for government vessels, which is supported by
state investment, was active due to the current geopolitical situation. In the offshore sector, the existing
overcapacity continued to curb investment in offshore oil production despite the sharp rise in oil and gas
prices. In contrast, demand for offshore special ships for wind turbines developed positively. The uncer-
tainty regarding future fuel and emissions regulations persisted once again in the overall market in 2022.

The market for power generation improved in 2022 compared with the previous year. Overall, a signifi-
cant market recovery was evident despite inflation and challenges in supply chains. The trend away from
oil-fired power plants towards dual-fuel and gas-fired power plants continued, underpinned by the resolu-
tion at the UN Climate Change Conference (COP26) and the resulting difficulties in financing oil-fired
power plants. However, the Russia-Ukraine conflict also had a noticeable impact in the form of increasing
gas and commodity prices, as well as a delayed availability of core components. There was still strong
demand for new energy solutions such as hydrogen and long-term energy storage, with an ongoing clear
trend towards greater flexibility and decentralized availability.

The market for turbomachinery improved again year-on-year. Prices for raw materials remained at a
very high level, resulting in an increased demand for production facilities with turbo compressors, in both
the raw materials and processing industry as well as the oil and gas business. The market of the new busi-
ness fields for turbomachinery used in the area of decarbonization improved further compared with the
prior year and was driven by persistently high but volatile prices for carbon dioxide certificates in European
trading and by favorable changes in US tax law. However, demand for steam turbines for power generation
improved only marginally, while demand for gas turbines declined slightly over the course of 2022.

The after-sales markets for engines in the marine and power plant business and for turbomachinery
experienced significantly stronger growth in the 2022 reporting period than in the prior-year period, in
which demand was hit by the Covid-19 pandemic.
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TRENDS IN THE MARKETS FOR FINANCIAL SERVICES

Demand for automotive financial services was at a high level in the first quarters of 2022 due, among other
things, to persistently low key interest rates in the main currency areas. In combination with the Covid-19
pandemic and continuing limits on vehicle availability, the rise in interest rates that began in the second
half of the year put pressure on demand for financial services in almost all regions.

The European passenger car market was still affected by parts supply shortages in the reporting period;
vehicle deliveries were down on the prior-year period. By contrast, the share of financial services products
in the new vehicle business grew positively and exceeded the 2021 figure. The main drivers of this trend
were positive changes in the sales mix that benefited the private customer business, which lends itself
particularly to financing, and an increased share of leasing contracts in the fleet business. The positive
trend in the financing of used vehicles continued in 2022; in particular, the sale of after-sales products such
as servicing, maintenance and spare parts agreements increased. Financial services activities in Russia were
negatively affected by the Russia-Ukraine conflict and the impact of the international sanctions.

In Germany, the continuing challenges presented by the faltering parts supply in vehicle production
impacted on vehicle sales and the financial services business. The decrease in deliveries of new vehicles led
to fewer new leasing and financing contracts being concluded in the reporting period than a year earlier.
New vehicle penetration was down slightly on 2021. Overall, the level of new contracts for used vehicles con-
tinued to be similar to that of the previous year. The number of new after-sales contracts was up in the
second half of the year and ended the reporting period only slightly down on 2021 levels. With few excep-
tions, the number of new contracts in the insurance business fell short of the figures achieved a year earlier.

In South Africa, demand for financing and insurance products for new and used cars remained subdued
in 2022. Coordinated campaigns to promote such products were scaled back due to limited vehicle avail-
ability. To counter rising inflation, the South African Reserve Bank has begun to raise interest rates.

In the North America region, supply bottlenecks meant that vehicle deliveries in 2022 were down on the
previous year. The US and Canadian markets also saw declining demand for leasing and financing contracts
because of interest rate hikes. In the Mexican market, the percentage of new leasing and financing contracts
remained on a level with the previous year and new contracts for after-sales products were up year-on-year.

In the South America region, there was excess demand for vehicles in a volatile environment, exacer-
bated in Argentina by restrictions on imports. The rise in interest rates kept the number of cash purchases
at a high level. In Brazil, there was an increase in the number of new financing contracts.

In the Chinese market, passenger car sales were impacted by parts supply shortages and local restric-
tions due to the pandemic. Both the proportion of credit-financed vehicle purchases and growth in new
contracts declined. The comparative prior-year figures were not achieved in the reporting period.

In fiscal year 2022, the financial services business in the market for heavy commercial vehicles was slightly
up on the comparative prior-year level, also affecting financing and leasing contracts in Europe and Brazil.

NEW GROUP MODELS IN 2022

The Volkswagen Group offers a broad portfolio of products covering almost all key segments and body
types so that its customers can choose the right vehicle for their needs. In fiscal year 2022, we added further
attractive vehicles, not only systematically expanding our portfolio of all-electric and hybrid vehicles, but
also bringing compelling new products with conventional combustion engines onto the market.
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The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand upgraded its best-selling T-Roc, among others, in 2022. The T-Roc
Cabriolet and the sporty R model also benefited from a design and technology update. The brand continued
its transformation to e-mobility with the new ID.5, which is also available as a particularly sporty GTX
model. In 2022, China saw the launch of the Tavendor, a new SUV in the upper range segment tailored to
the Chinese market. Other SUV models such as the Tayron, Tayron X and Teramont X were updated. In the
traditional MPV and notchback segments, the Viloran, Bora, Lavida and Sagitar models were updated. The
Lamando received a redesigned successor. The transformation also made great strides in the United States:
the ID.4 is now manufactured locally and has been customized further for the US market. The high-volume
Jetta received an update. In South America, there were product upgrades in the Polo and Jetta series.

The era of state-of-the-art electric mobility based on the MEB dawned at SKODA in 2021 with the rollout
of the Enyaq iV. An independent coupé version and the particularly sporty RS iV variants were added to the
series in 2022. SKODA underscored its growth plans in India with the market launch of the independent
Slavia on the modern MQB platform.

At Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, 2022 was devoted to the all-electric ID. Buzz, which proved to be a
global sensation. The cooperation with Ford produced the next generation of the Amarok.

Audi updated its best-selling A8 model in 2022, expanding the series to include an especially luxurious
version tailored to the Chinese market. In China, the completely new A7L, the first vehicle produced with
the new joint venture partner SAIC, further underpins Audi’s premium positioning. Two SUVs adapted for
the local market were also launched, the all-electric Q5 e-tron and the Q6.

Bentley expanded its important Bentayga range by adding a particularly exclusive model with a long
wheelbase. A hybrid version of the Flying Spur came onto the market, while the Flying Spur Speed with its
impressive 12-cylinder engine rounds off the series at the upper end of the scale.

In 2022, Lamborghini brought out the Urus Performante, a new top-of-the-range model from its successful
SUV range. The new top-of-the line Tecnica version of the Huracan was also launched.

Porsche extended its Taycan range in 2022, adding the Taycan Sport Turismo and particularly attractive
GTS derivatives. The line of classic sports cars was also expanded: the 718 and 911 series received their most
sporty variants to date with the GT4 RS and GT3 RS, respectively. The 911 Sport Classic was also added to the
portfolio.

Scania was the first brand of the TRATON GROUP to introduce the integrated 13-liter drive in its models
in 2022. It offers fuel savings over the predecessor model and will also be introduced gradually in the other
brands of the TRATON GROUP.

MAN presented a new electric truck for long-distance transport in 2022.

Navistar rolled out the eMV International mid-sized electric truck and the IC Bus Electric CE Series school
bus in 2022.

Since 2022, Volkswagen Truck & Bus has offered customers a product for electric distribution transport
with its e-Delivery.

The motorcycles launched by Ducati in 2022 include the new Multistrada V2 and the Multistrada V4
Pikes Peak. The Streetfighter family was enhanced by the new Streetfighter V2 and Streetfighter V4 SP models.
In addition, the Scrambler 1100 Tribute PRO and the Scrambler Urban Motard were launched along with
the Panigale V4. The brand new Ducati Desert X also came on the market.
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VOLKSWAGEN GROUP DELIVERIES

The Volkswagen Group delivered 8,262,776 vehicles to customers worldwide in fiscal year 2022. This was
7.0% or 619,116 units less than in the previous year. While sales figures for the Passenger Cars Business
Area fell short of the prior-year figure, commercial vehicle deliveries to customers rose year-on-year,
mainly due to the inclusion of Navistar as from July 1, 2021. The chart in this section shows the trend in
deliveries worldwide for the individual months compared with the previous year. In the following, we report
separately on deliveries in the Passenger Cars Business Area and the Commercial Vehicles Business Area.

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP DELIVERIES?

2022 2021 %

I ——

Passenger Cars 7,957,288 8,610,702 -7.6
Commercial Vehicles 305,488 271,190 +12.6
Total 8,262,776 8,881,892 -7.0

1 Prior-year deliveries have been updated to reflect subsequent statistical trends. The figures include the Chinese joint ventures.
As of July 1, 2021, the figures include Navistar.

GLOBAL DELIVERIES BY THE PASSENGER CARS BUSINESS AREA

With its passenger car brands, the Volkswagen Group is present in all relevant automotive markets around
the world. The key sales markets currently include Western Europe, China, the USA, Brazil, Poland, Mexico,
Tiirkiye and the Czech Republic.

Sales of Volkswagen Group passenger cars and light commercial vehicles worldwide declined by 7.6% in
fiscal year 2022 to 7,957,288 units. In the reporting period, limited vehicle availability as a result of the
Covid-19 pandemic and bottlenecks in the supply of parts caused by the shortage of semiconductors and
the Russia-Ukraine conflict had a negative impact. In addition, disruptions in logistics resulted in delays.
While Porsche, Lamborghini and Bentley delivered a higher number of vehicles to customers, none of the
other Volkswagen Group brands reached their prior-year figures. We registered a year-on-year decline in
sales in all regions.

With additional model launches as part of the Group’s e-mobility campaign, sales increased in the
reporting period, bringing deliveries of all-electric vehicles to 572,110 units worldwide. This was 119,267 or
26.3% more units than in the previous year. Their share of the Group’s total deliveries rose to 6.9 (5.1)%. A
total of 245,174 of our plug-in hybrid models were delivered (-21.2%). Total electric vehicle deliveries went
up by 7.0% and their share of total Group deliveries rose year-on-year to 9.9 (8.6) %. The Group’s most suc-
cessful all-electric vehicles included the ID.4 and ID.3 from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the SKODA Enyaq iV,
the CUPRA Born, the ID. Buzz from Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, the Audi Q4 e-tron and Audi e-tron, as
well as the Porsche Taycan and Taycan Cross Turismo.

In an overall global market that was on a level with the previous year, we achieved a passenger car
market share of 11.0 (11.7) %.

The table at the end of this section gives an overview of passenger car deliveries to customers of the
Volkswagen Group in the regions and the key individual markets. The sales figures for Group models in
these markets and regions are explained below.
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VOLKSWAGEN GROUP DELIVERIES BY MONTH

Vehicles in thousands
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Deliveries in Europe/Other Markets

In Western Europe, the Volkswagen Group delivered 2,615,864 vehicles to customers in 2022 in an overall
market experiencing a slight contraction. Deliveries were thus down 5.3% on the already weak previous year.
In the reporting period, limited vehicle availability as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and bottlenecks in
the supply of parts caused by the shortage of semiconductors and the Russia-Ukraine conflict had a nega-
tive impact. In addition, disruptions in logistics resulted in delays.

Customer interest in the Volkswagen Group’s electrified vehicles was strongest in Western Europe, where
we delivered almost three-quarters of our plug-in hybrids and more than half of our all-electric models to
customers in fiscal year 2022. In this region, electrified vehicles accounted for 19.1 (18.6)% of the Group’s
total deliveries; the share of all-electric vehicles stood at 12.6 (10.5)%. The Group models with the highest
sales volume were the T-Roc, Golf, Tiguan and Polo from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand. The ID.4
and Tiguan Allspace from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the Audi Q3 and Q3 Sportback, the SKODA Kodiaq,
the CUPRA Formentor and the Porsche 911 were among the models that saw positive demand. In addition,
the following new or successor models introduced to the market during the previous year proved very
popular with customers: the Taigo from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the SKODA Fabia and Enyaq iV, the
CUPRA Born, the Multivan from Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, the Audi Q4 e-tron, Q4 Sportback e-tron
and Q5 Sportback, as well as the Porsche Macan and Porsche Taycan Cross Turismo. Among others, the
T-Roc, T-Roc Cabriolet and ID.5 models from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the SKODA Karoq, the ID. Buzz and
Amarok from Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, the Audi A8 and the Porsche Taycan Sport Turismo were
successfully launched on the market during the reporting period as new or successor models. The Volks-
wagen Group’s share of the passenger car market in Western Europe amounted to 23.3 (23.5) %.

In the Central and Eastern Europe region, the number of vehicles handed over to customers in 2022 was
down 33.0% year-on-year. This was due in particular to the slump in sales in the Russian market as a
consequence of the sanctions imposed in connection with the Russia-Ukraine conflict. The market as a
whole also recorded a very sharp decline in volumes at the same time. Demand developed encouragingly
for a number of models, including the Taigo and T-Roc from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, as well as for the
SKODA Superb, the CUPRA Formentor and the Audi Q5 Sportback.

The Volkswagen Group’s share of the passenger car market in the Central and Eastern Europe region
amounted to 21.7 (20.4) %.
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WORLDWIDE DELIVERIES OF THE MOST SUCCESSFUL GROUP MODEL RANGES IN 2022

Vehicles in thousands

Tiguan | 458
Passat I 426
Lavida | 351
T-Roc I 301
Q5 I 301
Golf I 297
Jetta I 285
Polo I 278

In Tirkiye, where the overall passenger car market expanded slightly, the Volkswagen Group delivered
15.7% fewer vehicles to customers than in 2021. The T-Roc from Volkswagen Passenger Cars was the most
sought-after Group model. In the South African market, the number of Group models sold decreased by
1.9%, while the overall market recorded strong growth. The Polo from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand
was the most sought-after Group model in this region.

Deliveries in Germany

In Germany, the number of Volkswagen Group vehicles handed over to customers in 2022 was up 4.0% on
the weak previous year in an overall market that was at prior-year levels. In the reporting period, limited
vehicle availability as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and bottlenecks in the supply of parts caused by
the shortage of semiconductors and the Russia-Ukraine conflict had a negative impact. In addition, disrupt-
tions in the logistics chain resulted in delays.

The Group models with the highest sales volume were the Golf and T-Roc from the Volkswagen Passen-
ger Cars brand. Demand also increased for the Tiguan, ID.4 and Arteon Shooting Brake from Volkswagen
Passenger Cars, the CUPRA Formentor and the SKODA Karoq as well as the Audi A3, Q3, Q3 Sportback,
A4 Avant and Q5, among other models. In addition, the following new or successor models introduced to
the market during the previous year proved very popular with customers: the Taigo from Volkswagen
Passenger Cars, the SKODA Fabia, the CUPRA Born, the Multivan from Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, the
Audi Q4 e-tron, Q4 Sportback e-tron and Q5 Sportback, as well as the Porsche Macan and Taycan Cross
Turismo. Seven Group models led the Kraftfahrt-Bundesamt (KBA — German Federal Motor Transport Author-
ity) registration statistics in their respective segments: the Golf, T-Roc, Tiguan, Passat, Audi A6, Porsche 911
and Multivan/Transporter. The Golf was again the most popular passenger car in Germany in terms of
registrations in 2022.

Deliveries in North America
In North America, the number of Volkswagen Group models delivered to customers in the reporting period
was down by 13.3% year-on-year in an overall market that saw a noticeable decline. The Group’s share of the
market in this region amounted to 4.6 (4.9)%. The Tiguan Allspace and Taos from Volkswagen Passenger
Cars as well as the Audi Q5 were the most sought-after Group models in North America.

In the US market, which witnessed a noticeable decline, the Volkswagen Group delivered 12.8% fewer
vehicles to customers in fiscal year 2022 than in the previous year. The volume of all-electric vehicles
delivered in the United States went up by 18.8% year-on-year to 44,173 units. Here, too, parts supply short-

126



Group Management Report Business Development

ages acted as a drag on the Group’s sales figures. The Group models to record the greatest increases in abso-
lute terms included the Taos and ID.4 from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the A3 saloon and Q5 Sportback
from Audi and the Porsche Cayenne. Sales of the Porsche Taycan Cross Turismo also developed encourag-
ingly. The ID.4 and Jetta from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the Audi Q4 e-tron, the Audi Q4 e-tron Sportback
and the Porsche Macan were successfully launched on the market during the reporting period as new or
successor models.

In Canada, the number of vehicles delivered to Volkswagen Group customers was down 13.1% in the
reporting period compared with 2021. The overall market experienced a noticeable decline during this
period. The Taos and ID.4 from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the Audi A3 saloon, Audi Q5 Sportback and the
Porsche Cayenne were some of the models that saw encouraging growth in demand.

In Mexico, where the market as a whole saw noticeable growth, we sold 16.1% fewer vehicles to custom-
ers in the past fiscal year than in the year before. Demand developed encouragingly for a number of models,
including the Saveiro, Taigun and Nivus from Volkswagen Passenger Cars.

Deliveries in South America

In the South American market for passenger cars and light commercial vehicles, which was on a level with
the previous year, the number of Group models handed over to customers in 2022 was down 9.0% on the
prior-year figure. The Gol, T-Cross and Nivus from Volkswagen Passenger Cars were the Group models with
the highest sales volumes. The Group’s share of the market in South America amounted to 11.1 (12.4) %.

In the Brazilian market, which performed at the prior-year level, the Volkswagen Group delivered 10.8%
fewer vehicles to customers in the reporting period than in the previous year. Sales of the Gol, T-Cross and
Nivus models from Volkswagen Passenger Cars developed particularly encouragingly.

In Argentina, the number of Volkswagen Group vehicles handed over to customers in 2022 decreased by
14.1% year-on-year in an overall market exhibiting noticeable growth. Group models with the highest sales
volume were the Taos from Volkswagen Passenger Cars and the Amarok from Volkswagen Commercial
Vehicles.

Deliveries in the Asia-Pacific region

In the past fiscal year, the Volkswagen Group saw deliveries to customers in the Asia-Pacific region drop by
2.7% compared with 2021 in a market that experienced slight growth overall. Parts supply shortages,
especially for semiconductors, affected this region as well, and in addition, local lockdowns in China in
connection with the spread of the Omicron variant of the SARS-CoV-2 virus resulted in restrictions. The
Group’s share of the passenger car market in this region amounted to 10.3 (11.0) %.

In China, the recovery of the market as a whole continued at a slower pace in 2022. The Volkswagen
Group delivered 3.6% fewer vehicles to customers there than in the preceding year. By contrast, the number
of all-electric vehicles delivered to customers in China was up by more than two thirds year-on-year to
155,723 units. The ID.3, ID.4 X, ID.4 CROZZ, ID.6 X, ID.6 CROZZ, Passat and Talagon models from Volkswagen
Passenger Cars, the Audi A3 L saloon and the Porsche Panamera, among others, introduced to the market as
new or successor models during the previous year, showed a positive trend. Some of the models that saw
encouraging demand were the Golf, T-Roc, CC and Magotan from Volkswagen Passenger Cars and the Audi
A4 saloon and Audi Q5. The T-Roc, Bora, Lamando, Lavida, Sagitar, Tayron, Tavendor, Teramont and Viloran
from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the SKODA Kodiaq and the Q2L e-tron, Q4 e-tron, Q5 e-tron, Q6, e-tron GT
and Audi A7L saloon from Audi were successfully launched on the market during the reporting period as
new or successor models.
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In the Indian passenger car market, which recorded strong growth, the Volkswagen Group registered a
surge in demand of over 80% in fiscal year 2022 compared with the weak previous year. The new Taigun
from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand as well as the new Kushaq from SKODA, which was introduced
in the previous year, were the most sought-after Group models there. The Virtus from Volkswagen Passen-
ger Cars, the Kodiaq and the Slavia from SKODA and the Porsche Taycan saloon were successfully launched
on the market during the reporting period as new or successor models.

In Japan, the number of Group vehicles delivered to customers in 2022 was down 6.8% year-on-year in
an overall market experiencing a noticeable decline. Among other models, sales figures for the Golf from
Volkswagen Passenger Cars and the Audi Q5 Sportback developed encouragingly.

PASSENGER CAR DELIVERIES TO CUSTOMERS BY MARKET?

DELIVERIES (UNITS) CHANGE
2022 2021 (%)
—— E—— —
Europe/Other Markets 3,297,402 3,698,948 -10.9
Western Europe 2,615,864 2,761,629 -5.3
of which: Germany 998,000 959,748 +4.0
France 211,430 238,365 -11.3
United Kingdom 377,449 422,594 -10.7
Italy 223,864 248,414 -9.9
Spain 192,311 220,151 -12.6
Central and Eastern Europe 418,513 624,801 -33.0
of which: Czech Republic 103,223 114,250 -9.7
Russia 41,864 204,772 —79.6
Poland 112,389 120,831 -7.0
Other Markets 263,025 312,518 -15.8
of which: Tiirkiye 102,735 121,885 -15.7
South Africa 71,437 72,847 -19
North America 759,791 876,558 -13.3
of which: USA 564,705 647,521 -12.8
Canada 85,860 98,829 -13.1
Mexico 109,226 130,208 -16.1
South America 397,539 436,852 -9.0
of which: Brazil 277,806 311,519 -10.8
Argentina 48,263 56,186 -14.1
Asia-Pacific 3,502,556 3,598,344 -2.7
of which: China 3,182,428 3,301,334 -3.6
India 97,610 52,481 +86.0
Japan 61,112 65,549 —6.8
Worldwide 7,957,288 8,610,702 -7.6
Volkswagen Passenger Cars 4,563,340 4,896,874 —6.8
SKODA 731,262 878,202 -16.7
SEAT 385,592 470,531 -18.1
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles 328,572 359,541 -8.6
Audi 1,614,231 1,680,512 -39
Lamborghini 9,233 8,405 +9.9
Bentley 15,174 14,659 +3.5
Porsche 309,884 301,915 +2.6
Bugatti? - 63 X

1 Prior-year deliveries have been updated to reflect subsequent statistical trends. The figures include the Chinese joint ventures.
2 Until October 31, 2021.
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COMMERCIAL VEHICLE DELIVERIES

In fiscal year 2022, the Volkswagen Group delivered 12.6% more commercial vehicles to customers world-
wide than in the previous year. We delivered a total of 305,488 commercial vehicles to customers. Trucks
accounted for 254,313 units (+10.5%) and buses for 29,591 units (+56.8%). A total of 21,584 (-2.8%) vehicles
from the MAN TGE van series were delivered. The American commercial vehicle manufacturer Navistar
became a TRATON GROUP brand on July 1, 2021. Navistar's sales totaled 81,888 units in the reporting period.

In the 27 EU states excluding Malta, but plus the United Kingdom, Norway and Switzerland (EU27+3),
sales in the reporting period were down by 2.9% on the previous year to a total of 115,532 units, of which
89,061 were trucks and 5,041 were buses. Here, the MAN brand delivered 21,430 vehicles from the MAN TGE
van series.

As a result of the sanctions imposed in connection with the Russia-Ukraine conflict, sales in Russia fell
year-on-year to 1,557 (11,293) units, comprising 1,550 trucks and 7 buses. Since the conflict began, no orders
for new vehicles have been accepted in Russia.

In fiscal year 2022, deliveries in Tirkiye were on a level with the previous year, at 4,413 (4,398) vehicles.
Trucks accounted for 4,122 units and buses for 201 units, while 90 vehicles from the MAN TGE van series
were sold. In South Africa, deliveries of Volkswagen Group commercial vehicles decreased by 6.6% year-on-
year to a total of 3,681 units; of this figure 3,204 were trucks and 477 were buses.

Sales in North America rose to 82,824 (31,869) vehicles in the reporting year; this included 68,903 trucks
and 13,921 buses. From July 1, 2021, the figures also include Navistar’s sales (78,988) whose vehicles were
above all handed over to customers in the United States.

Deliveries in South America decreased to a total of 76,152 vehicles (-2.1%) in 2022, of which 68,211 were
trucks and 7,941 were buses. Sales in Brazil were down by 8.3%. Of the units delivered, 53,704 were trucks
and 5,926 were buses.

In the Asia-Pacific region, the Volkswagen Group sold 11,446 vehicles in the reporting year; among these,
10,528 were trucks and 911 were buses. Overall, this was 5.7% less than in the previous year.

COMMERCIAL VEHICLE DELIVERIES TO CUSTOMERS BY MARKET?

DELIVERIES (UNITS) CHANGE
2022 2021 (%)
I S
Europe/Other Markets 135,066 149,407 -9.6
of which: EU27+3 115,532 119,029 -2.9
of which: Germany 31,623 32,130 -1.6
Russia 1,557 11,293 —86.2
Turkiye 4,413 4,398 +0.3
South Africa 3,681 3,942 —6.6
North America 82,824 31,869 X
of which: USA 66,405 24,234 X
Mexico 11,131 5,375 X
South America 76,152 77,774 =21
of which: Brazil 59,630 65,005 -8.3
Asia-Pacific 11,446 12,140 -5.7
Worldwide 305,488 271,190 +12.6
Scania 85,232 90,366 -5.7
MAN? 84,377 93,578 -9.8
Navistar 81,888 29,876 X
Volkswagen Truck & Bus? 53,991 57,370 -5.9

1 Prior-year deliveries have been updated to reflect subsequent statistical trends. As of July 1, 2021, the figures include Navistar.
2 Until the first quarter of 2022, deliveries for Volkswagen Truck & Bus were reported within MAN.
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DELIVERIES IN THE POWER ENGINEERING SEGMENT
Orders in the Power Engineering segment are usually part of major investment projects. Lead times typi-
cally range from just under one year to several years, and partial deliveries as construction progresses are
common. Accordingly, there is a time lag between incoming orders and sales revenue from the new con-
struction business.

In 2022, sales revenue in the Power Engineering segment was largely driven by Engines & Marine Sys-
tems and Turbomachinery, which together generated more than three quarters of overall sales revenue.

ORDERS RECEIVED IN THE PASSENGER CARS SEGMENT IN WESTERN EUROPE

In the reporting period, orders received in Western Europe decreased by 14.2% compared with the previous
year. All key markets fell short of their respective prior-year level. The extent of the declines varied from
country to country: while Germany saw a single-digit decline, the figures for the United Kingdom, France,
Italy and Spain were down by more than 10%.

ORDERS RECEIVED FOR COMMERCIAL VEHICLES
Orders received for mid-sized and heavy trucks, for buses and for commercial vehicles from the MAN TGE
van series declined by 7.1% year-on-year to 334,583 vehicles in 2022. This trend is mainly attributable to
continuing restrictive order acceptance. In addition, no further orders for new vehicles were accepted from
Russia owing to the Russia-Ukraine conflict. While order intake in the bus markets increased very sharply,
truck markets saw a noticeable decline, while the MAN TGE van series segment even recorded a significant
downturn. In the prior-year period, the truck and MAN TGE business received a particularly high level of
orders due to a Covid-19 catch-up effect. A higher order intake was recorded in the second half of 2022 in
particular.

Order intake in the bus business recorded a very sharp increase year-on-year across all commercial
vehicle brands. In the EU27+3 region, this was attributable, among other factors, to the slow recovery in the
coach market.

ORDERS RECEIVED IN THE POWER ENGINEERING SEGMENT

The long-term performance of the Power Engineering business is determined by the macroeconomic
environment. Individual major orders lead to fluctuations in incoming orders during the year that do not
correlate with these long-term trends.

Orders received in the Power Engineering segment in 2022 amounted to €4.3 (3.8) billion. Engines &
Marine Systems and Turbomachinery generated more than two-thirds of the order volume in a persistently
difficult market environment.

In the marine business, for example, deliveries of 20V32/44CR engines were ordered for four ships in
2022 (two engines per ship). In the power plant business, orders were won for 48 engines and component
sets for 11 completely knocked down engines of different types with an aggregate output of 865 MW. For
turbomachinery, we received several orders for new applications which were driven by the energy transi-
tion and decarbonization such as carbon capture and storage in Europe and in the USA, as well as an expan-
sion of an energy storage facility in England. We also received a significant number of orders for gas
production in West Africa and the North Sea.

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP FINANCIAL SERVICES

The activities in the Financial Services Division cover the Volkswagen Group’s dealer and customer
financing, leasing, banking and insurance activities, fleet management and mobility services. The division
comprises Volkswagen Financial Services and the financial services activities of Scania and Porsche Holding
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Salzburg and also extends to the contracts concluded by our international joint ventures. As of July 1, 2021,
it also includes the financial services business of Navistar.

The Financial Services Division's products and services were popular in fiscal year 2022. However,
demand was affected to varying degrees by the Covid-19 pandemic. Limited vehicle availability caused by
parts supply shortages, and exacerbated by the Russia-Ukraine conflict, also weighed on demand. The
number of new financing, leasing, service and insurance contracts signed worldwide fell by 0.7% to 8.5 mil-
lion. The ratio of leased and financed vehicles to Group deliveries (penetration rate) in the Financial
Services Division’s markets stood at 32.6 (36.4) % in the reporting period. The total number of contracts on
December 31, 2022 was 24.5 (24.5) million.

In fiscal year 2022, the financial services business in the Europe/Other Markets region was impacted by
the Covid-19 pandemic and by limited vehicle availability caused by parts supply shortages, as well as by
the Russia-Ukraine conflict. At 6.1 million, the number of new contracts signed in the reporting period was
down 1.7% on the previous year’s figure. The total number of contracts at the end of December 2022 was on
a level with December 31, 2021 at 18.1 (18.0) million. The customer financing/leasing area was responsible
for 7.2 (7.4) million of these contracts.

The number of new contracts signed in North America in the reporting period decreased year-on-year to
805 (983) thousand owing to the decline in vehicle deliveries. The total number of contracts came to 3.0
million on December 31, 2022, a 7.6% fall on the level reported at the end of 2021. The customer finan-
cing/leasing area recorded 1.7 (1.9) million contracts.

In the South America region, 360 (332) thousand new contracts were concluded in the past fiscal year.
Compared with December 31, 2021, the total number of contracts at the end of the reporting period rose to
828 (723) thousand. The contracts mainly related to the customer financing/leasing area.

The number of new contracts signed in the Asia-Pacific region in fiscal year 2022 increased to 1.2 (1.0)
million, exceeding the comparative prior-year figure. The total number of contracts stood at 2.6 (2.6) mil-
lion on December 31, 2022. The customer financing/leasing area recorded 1.6 (1.8) million contracts.

SALES TO THE DEALER ORGANIZATION

The Volkswagen Group’s unit sales to the dealer organization decreased in the reporting period by 1.1% to
8,481,278 units (including the equity-accounted companies in China). In the reporting period, limited
vehicle availability as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and bottlenecks in the supply of parts caused by
the shortage of semiconductors and the Russia-Ukraine conflict had a negative impact. In addition,
disruptions in the logistics chain resulted in delays. Unit sales outside Germany fell by 1.7% to 7,476,003
vehicles. The United Kingdom, Brazil and France were particularly affected, as was Russia, since vehicle
exports to this region had been halted. Growth was recorded, however, in the USA, China and India. Unit
sales in Germany increased by 3.3% year-on-year. The proportion of the Group’s total unit sales attributable
to Germany increased to 11.9 (11.3) %.

The Tiguan, Passat, Polo, Golf, T-Roc, Jetta and T-Cross from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand were
our biggest sellers last year. The largest increases in unit sales were recorded for the Taigo, ID.4, Passat and
Tharu models from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand, the Q4 e-tron, A3 and e-tron from Audi, the
CUPRA Formentor and the SKODA Fabia. The Porsche Cayenne and Bentley Bentayga also achieved a strong
growth rate.
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PRODUCTION

The Volkswagen Group produced 8,716,606 vehicles (including the equity-accounted companies in China)
from January to December 2022, 5.2% more than in the prior-year period. The shortage of semiconductors
and the disruption of supply chains caused by the Russia-Ukraine conflict and the Covid-19 pandemic
restricted production in the Volkswagen Group; the supply and production situation eased toward the end
of the reporting period. Against the backdrop of the Russia-Ukraine conflict and the resulting conse-
quences, Volkswagen decided to suspend the start of vehicle production in Russia until further notice. Pro-
duction in Germany increased by 11.1% to 1,647,611 vehicles in fiscal year 2022. The proportion of the
Group’s total production accounted for by Germany increased to 18.9 (17.9) %.

INVENTORIES

Global inventories of new vehicles at Group companies and in the dealer organization were higher at the
end of the reporting period than at year-end 2021. Disruptions in the logistics chain, among other factors,
had a negative impact in the reporting period.

EMPLOYEES

Including the Chinese joint ventures, the Volkswagen Group employed an average of 669,275 people in
fiscal year 2022, an increase of 0.2% year-on-year. In Germany, we employed 289,499 people on average; at
43.3 (44.1) %, their share of the total headcount was below the level of the previous year.

The number of active employees in the Volkswagen Group rose by 0.6% to 646,837 as of December 31,
2022. In addition, 12,378 employees were in the passive phase of their partial retirement and 16,590 young
people were in vocational traineeships. At the end of the reporting period, the Volkswagen Group had a
total of 675,805 employees worldwide. This represented an increase of 0.4% since the end of 2021. A total of
293,862 people were employed in Germany (-0.4%) and 381,943 outside Germany (+1.1%).

EMPLOYEES BY DIVISION/BUSINESS AREA
as of December 31, 2022

Passenger Cars 540,784
Commercial Vehicles 102,690

|
/ Financial Services 17,760
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Shares and Bonds

During the reporting period, Volkswagen AG’s ordinary and preferred shares followed the negative
trend on the stock markets, where some automotive stocks dropped at above-average rates.

EQUITY MARKETS AND PERFORMANCE OF THE PRICE OF VOLKSWAGEN’S SHARES

The trend in the international stock markets in fiscal year 2022 was initially overshadowed by investors’
concerns about possible interest rate hikes in the face of rising inflation rates and about the spread of the
Omicron variant of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. Following the outbreak of the Russia-Ukraine conflict in
February 2022, the imposing of sanctions against Russia and the rise in commodity and energy prices that
drove up inflation, the international stock markets came under pressure. In addition, the tight restrictions
under the zero-Covid strategy being pursued in China placed further strain on international supply chains.
The downward trend in stock prices intensified in the further course of the reporting period due to the
continuing confrontations in Ukraine, increasing concerns about a sufficient supply of energy, rising
material costs, persistently high inflation and the resulting tighter monetary policy of the central banks.

The German stock market index (DAX) began the year marginally up on its previous record achieved in
November 2021. After that, apprehension about the tightening of monetary policy in the USA dominated
investor sentiment. The Russia-Ukraine conflict and the fears this triggered of an energy crisis and its
economic fallout provoked uncertainty among market participants and strained the capital market. In view
of high inflation, the European Central Bank initiated an interest rate turnaround that, combined with fears
of recession, resulted in a further fall in the DAX. Stock prices rose significantly in the fourth quarter;
however, the DAX ended 2022 12% below the previous year’s level, primarily under the impact of the high
coronavirus infection rates in China.

Volkswagen AG’s preferred and ordinary shares followed the trend on the stock markets, where cyclical
automotive stocks dropped at above-average rates in some cases. With the announcement of the IPO of
Porsche AG, Volkswagen’s shares managed to temporarily detach themselves from the general trend.
Although the good operating results were received positively by the market, the 2022 year-end closing price
- after correcting for the special dividend of €19.06 per share — was down 34% for the preferred share and
43% for the ordinary share compared with the prior year figure.
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PRICE DEVELOPMENT FROM DECEMBER 2021 TO DECEMBER 2022
Index based on month-end prices: December 31, 2021 = 100

Volkswagen ordinary share  —42.9%
Volkswagen preferred share  —34.4%

EURO STOXX Automobiles & Parts —19.7%
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90 \ — .

" ~ \
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VOLKSWAGEN SHARE KEY FIGURES AND MARKET INDICES
FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2022

High Low Closing

Ordinary share Price (€) 279.40 145.00 147.65
Date Jan.5 Dec. 28 Dec. 30

Preferred share Price (€) 193.10 114.88 116.42
Date Jan. 14 Dec. 22 Dec. 30

DAX Price 16,272 11,976 13,924
Date Jan.5 Sep. 29 Dec. 30

ESTX Auto & Parts Price 684 453 506
Date Jan.5 Jul. 5 Dec. 30

EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

On December 16, 2022, an Extraordinary General Meeting of Volkswagen AG took place in the CityCube
Berlin. The meeting was held in connection with the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, where 25% of
Porsche AG’s preferred shares were placed on the capital market. At the same time, Porsche SE indirectly
acquired 25% of the ordinary shares in Porsche AG plus one ordinary share from Volkswagen AG. To enable
its shareholders to participate in the success of the entire transaction, Volkswagen AG proposed to the
Extraordinary General Meeting an amendment to the resolution on the appropriation of earnings already
adopted by the Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2022. The aim of this was to pay a special dividend to
ordinary and preferred shareholders of Volkswagen AG for fiscal year 2021 in addition to the dividends
already paid to shareholders in May 2022 of €7.50 per dividend-bearing ordinary share and €7.56 per
dividend-bearing preferred share.

94.02% of the ordinary share capital was present at the Extraordinary General Meeting. With a majority
of 99.9974% of the votes cast, the shareholders approved the payment of a special dividend of €19.06 per
dividend-bearing ordinary share and dividend-bearing preferred share. The special dividend was paid on
January 9, 2023.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Our dividend policy matches our financial strategy. In the interests of all stakeholders, we aim for con-
tinuous dividend growth that allows our shareholders to participate appropriately in our business success.
The proposed dividend therefore reflects our financial management objectives — in particular, ensuring a
solid financial foundation as part of the implementation of our strategy.

The current dividend proposal can be found in the chapter entitled “Volkswagen AG (condensed, in
accordance with the German Commercial Code)” of this annual report. The Board of Management and
Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG are proposing a dividend of €8.70 per ordinary share and €8.76 per
preferred share for fiscal year 2022. On this basis, the total dividend amounts to €4.4 (3.8) billion, excluding
the special dividend due to the Porsche IPO. The payout ratio is based on the Group’s earnings after tax
attributable to Volkswagen AG shareholders. This amounts to 29.4% for the reporting period and stood at
25.4% in the previous year, excluding the special dividend due to the Porsche IPO. A payout ratio of at least
30% is one of our strategic goals.

DIVIDEND YIELD

Based on the dividend proposal for the reporting period, the dividend yield on Volkswagen ordinary shares
is 5.9 (2.9) %, excluding the special dividend due to the Porsche IPO, measured by the closing price on the
last trading day in 2022. The dividend yield on preferred shares is 7.5 (4.3) %, excluding the special dividend
due to the Porsche IPO.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per ordinary share were €29.63 (29.59) in fiscal year 2022. Basic earnings per preferred share
were €29.69 (29.65). In accordance with IAS 33, the calculation is based on the weighted average number of
ordinary and preferred shares outstanding in the reporting period. Since the number of basic and diluted
shares is identical, basic earnings per share correspond to diluted earnings per share.

See also “Earnings per share” in the notes to the 2022 consolidated financial statements for the calcu-
lation of earnings per share.
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SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022

Shares and Bonds

At the end of the reporting period, Volkswagen AG’s subscribed capital amounted to €1,283,315,873.28. The
shareholder structure of Volkswagen AG as of December 31, 2022 is shown in the following chart.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022

as a percentage of subscribed capital

Porsche Automobil Holding SE  31.9
Foreign institutional investors 22.2

State of Lower Saxony 11.8

\ _/

The distribution of voting rights for the 295,089,818 ordinary shares was as follows at the reporting date:
Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart, held 53.3% of the voting rights. The second-largest shareholder
was the State of Lower Saxony, which held 20.0% of the voting rights. Qatar Holding LLC was the third-
largest shareholder with 17.0%. The remaining 9.7% of ordinary shares were in free float.

Notifications of changes in voting rights in accordance with the Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHG — Ger-
man Securities Trading Act) are published on our website at https://www.volkswagenag.com/en/Investor

Relations/news-and-publications/Voting_Rights.html

VOLKSWAGEN SHARE DATA

Ordinary shares
I

Preferred shares
L |

ISIN DE0007664005 DE0007664039
WKN 766400 766403
Deutsche Borse/Bloomberg VOW VOW3
Reuters VOWG.DE VOWG_p.DE

CDAX, Prime All Share, MSCI Euro,

Primary market indices S&P Global 100 Index

DAX, CDAX, EURO STOXX, EURO STOXX 50,
EURO STOXX Automobiles & Parts,
Prime All Share, MSCI Euro

Exchanges

Berlin, Dusseldorf, Frankfurt, Hamburg, Hanover, Munich, Stuttgart, Xetra
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VOLKSWAGEN SHARE KEY FIGURES

Shares and Bonds

Dividend development 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
I EESSS——— S S B
Number of no-par value shares at Dec. 31
Ordinary shares thousands 295,090 295,090 295,090 295,090 295,090
Preferred shares thousands 206,205 206,205 206,205 206,205 206,205
Dividend?*
per ordinary share € 8.70 7.50 4.80 4.80 4.80
per preferred share € 8.76 7.56 4.86 4.86 4.86
Dividend paid* €million 4,374 3,772 2,419 2,419 2,419
on ordinary shares €million 2,567 2,213 1,416 1,416 1,416
on preferred shares €million 1,806 1,559 1,002 1,002 1,002
Share price development? 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
& & & | |
Ordinary share
Closing € 147.65 258.40 170.10 173.25 139.10
Price performance % -42.9 +51.9 -18 +24.6 -17.5
Annual high € 279.40 327.20 183.10 182.50 188.00
Annual low € 145.00 165.70 101.50 135.60 131.10
Preferred share
Closing € 116.42 177.48 152.42 176.24 138.92
Price performance % —344 +16.4 -135 +26.9 -16.5
Annual high € 193.10 246.55 185.52 184.24 188.50
Annual low € 114.88 144.80 87.20 134.76 133.70
Beta factor® factor 1.55 116 1.26 117 117
Market capitalization at Dec. 31 €billion 67.6 112.8 81.6 87.5 69.7
Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG share-
holders and hybrid capital investors at Dec. 31 €billion 165.4 144.4 127.0 121.8 117.1
Ratio of market capitalization to equity factor 0.41 0.78 0.64 0.72 0.60
Key figures per share 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
I EE—— S S S
Earnings per ordinary share*
basic € 29.63 29.59 16.60 26.60 23,57
diluted € 29.63 29.59 16.60 26.60 23.57
Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG share-
holders and hybrid capital investors at Dec. 31 € 329.90 288.15 253.44 242.93 233.63
Price/earnings ratio®
Ordinary share factor 5.0 8.7 10.2 6.5 5.9
Preferred share factor 3.9 6.0 9.1 6.6 5.9
Dividend yield®
Ordinary share % 5.9 2.9 2.8 2.8 3.5
Preferred share % 7.5 43 3.2 2.8 35
Stock exchange turnover’ 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
W W W N ]
Turnover of Volkswagen ordinary shares €billion 2.7 6.1 31 33 43
million shares 135 233 21.6 20.9 28.0
Turnover of Volkswagen preferred shares €billion 449 58.8 49.8 41.0 54.1
million shares 302.2 300.4 361.2 266.0 346.6
Volkswagen share of total DAX turnover % 4.7 6.6 4.7 4.6 5.4

1 Figures for the years 2018 to 2021 relate to dividends paid in the following year. For 2021, the figures exclude the special dividend due to the Porsche IPO.

to the proposed dividend.
Xetra prices.

NOoO VA WN
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For the calculation see chapter “Results of Operations, Financial Position and Net Assets” of this annual report.
For the calculation see “Earnings per share” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Ratio of year-end-closing price to earnings per share.

Dividend per share based on the year-end-closing price.

Order book turnover on the Xetra electronic trading platform (Deutsche Borse).

For 2022, the figures relate
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REFINANCING STRUCTURE OF THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP
as of December 31, 2022

Commercial paper Bonds
6% 66%

Money and capital
S ——

market instruments

< lyear
28%

Maturities I

EUR usD
64% 14%

Currencies |

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

REFINANCING
The Volkswagen Group carried out several successful transactions in the international capital markets in
2022 despite volatile and difficult market conditions.

In February 2022, the hybrid note issued in March 2015 with a principal amount of €1.1 billion was
canceled with effect from March 20, 2022.

In March 2022, Volkswagen International Finance NV. placed two hybrid notes with a total volume of
€2.25 billion. Some of the proceeds from this transaction were used to refinance the hybrid note issued in
2017, which had been duly canceled in November with effect from December 14, 2022. A second green
bond was issued in June 2022 under the Green Finance Framework presented in 2020. At €1.5 billion, this
was sufficient to almost completely refinance the expenses arising from the Green Project Portfolio for the
years 2017 to 2020. The Volkswagen Group unveiled a new Green Finance Framework in November 2022.
This allows the Company to finance capital expenditures that are aligned with the EU Taxonomy, whereby
Volkswagen will voluntarily limit itself to all-electric vehicles. On the basis of the new framework, an amount
of €2.5 billion was placed in the same month by way of three green bonds.

Volkswagen Group of America Finance, LLC, raised USD3 billion from investors over the US refinancing
market in May 2022. Notes with a volume of CAD750 million were issued in Canada in November 2022.

Official euro benchmark bonds with an aggregate volume of €2 billion were issued for the Financial
Services Division. In addition to this, securities were issued in various currencies and regions.

Alongside the placement of senior, unsecured bonds, asset-backed securities (ABS) transactions were
another element of our refinancing activities. In Europe, public ABS transactions with a total volume of
€2.75 billion were placed. Public ABS transactions were also issued in Japan and China.

The Volkswagen Group was also actively involved in the commercial paper market with several issuing
companies.

The proportion of fixed-rate instruments in the past year was about three times as high as the propor-
tion of floating-rate instruments.

In our refinancing arrangements, we generally aim to exclude interest rate and currency risk as far as
possible with the simultaneous use of derivatives.
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The following table shows which financial instruments were utilized on the money and capital markets as
of December 31, 2022 and illustrates the financial flexibility of the Volkswagen Group:

Authorized

volume

Amount utilized
on Dec. 31, 2022

Financial instruments € billion € billion
N

Commercial paper 42.0 8.7
Bonds 194.3 95.7
of which hybrid issues 13.9
Asset-backed securities 104.9 41.3

Volkswagen AG’s syndicated credit line of €10.0 billion agreed in December 2019 was unused at the end of

2022.

Of the syndicated credit lines with a total of €12.4 billion at other Group companies, €0.4 billion has been
drawn down. The Volkswagen Group continued to have bilateral confirmed credit lines with national and
international banks in various countries for a total of €4.9 billion, of which €0.6 billion was drawn down.

RATINGS

VOLKSWAGEN FINANCIAL VOLKSWAGEN
VOLKSWAGEN AG SERVICES AG BANK GMBH TRATON SE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—e—— e EEEES—— e S S EE— S—
Standard & Poor’s

short-term A-2 A-2 A-2 A-2 A=2 A=2 - -
long-term BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB BBB
outlook stable stable stable stable stable stable stable stable

Moody’s Investors Service
short-term P-2 P-2 P-2 P-2 P-1 P-1 - -
long-term A3 A3 A3 A3 Al Al Baa2 Baal
outlook stable stable stable stable stable stable stable negative
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In October and November of 2022, rating agency Standard & Poor’s confirmed its short-term and long-term
ratings for Volkswagen AG, Volkswagen Financial Services AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH at A-2 and BBB+,
respectively. In July 2022, the long-term rating of BBB for TRATON SE was also confirmed. The outlook for
all companies remains unchanged at “stable”.

In June and December 2022, Moody’s Investors Service confirmed the short-term and long-term ratings
for Volkswagen AG and Volkswagen Financial Services AG at P-2 and A3, respectively, and those for Volks-
wagen Bank GmbH at P-1 and Al. The outlook was left unchanged at “stable”. For TRATON SE, the long-term
rating was lowered one notch from Baal to Baa2. The reason given was the higher level of debt in
connection with the acquisition of Navistar, the squeeze-out at MAN SE and the provisions in the EU anti-
trust proceedings. The outlook was raised to “stable”.

ESG RATINGS

Analysts and investors are referring increasingly to companies’ sustainability profiles when making their
recommendations and decisions. They draw on ESG ratings, among other things, to evaluate a company’s
environmental, social and governance performance. At the same time, these ratings are instrumental in
determining whether we are meeting our goal in relation to the Group's NEW AUTO strategy, and they are
used to establish internal measures.

After the diesel issue became public knowledge, the Volkswagen Group was downgraded significantly in
numerous ESG ratings. With the successful completion of the Monitorship and reinstatement of the Group
in the UN Global Compact, an improvement in ESG performance was achieved. Compared with the previous
year, our score in the Sustainalytics ESG rating improved from 29.6to 26.1 in 2022. Our MSCI score
remained at B and the ISS score continued to be C. Volkswagen is also listed in the Dow Jones Sustainability
Index Europe. In addition, Volkswagen maintained its score of A- in the CDP climate rating in fiscal year
2022 and its rating of A in the Water Disclosure Project (WDP).
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Results of Operations, Financial
Position and Net Assets

Against the backdrop of the global market slowdown and continued limited vehicle availability due
to parts supply shortages, the Volkswagen Group generated significantly higher sales revenue and
a higher operating result in the reporting year.

The Volkswagen Group’s segment reporting comprises the four reportable segments of Passenger Cars and
Light Commercial Vehicles, Commercial Vehicles, Power Engineering and Financial Services, in compliance
with IFRS 8 and in line with the Group’s internal financial management and reporting structures.

The reconciliation contains activities and other operations that do not, by definition, constitute
segments. These include the unallocated Group financing activities. Consolidation adjustments between
the segments (including the holding company functions) are also contained in the reconciliation. The
purchase price allocations for Porsche Holding Salzburg and Porsche, Scania, MAN and, since July 2021,
Navistar are allocated to their corresponding segments.

The Automotive Division comprises the Passenger Cars and Light Commercial Vehicles segment, the
Commercial Vehicles segment and the Power Engineering segment, as well as the figures from the recon-
ciliation. The Passenger Cars and Light Commercial Vehicles segment is combined with the reconcileation
to form the Passenger Cars Business Area, while the Commercial Vehicles and Power Engineering segments
are identical to the business areas of the same name. The Financial Services Division corresponds to the
Financial Services segment.

At Volkswagen, segment profit or loss is measured on the basis of the operating result.

KEY FIGURES FOR 2022 BY SEGMENT

Passenger Cars

and Light
Commercial Commercial Volkswagen
€ million Vehicles Vehicles Power Engineering  Financial Services Total segments Reconciliation Group

Sales revenue 210,371 39,516 3,565 46,847 300,299 —21,067 279,232
Segment profit or loss
(operating result) 17,153 1,588 281 5,656 24,677 —-2,553 22,124
as a percentage of sales
revenue 8.2 4.0 7.9 121 79
Capey, including capitalized
development costs 20,125 1,907 84 217 22,334 338 22,672
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IPO OF PORSCHE AG

On September 28, 2022, as part of the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart (Porsche AG), a total of
113,875,000 preferred shares of Porsche AG were successfully placed with investors at a placement price of
€82.50 per preferred share, totaling around €9.4 billion - including 14,853,260 preferred shares to cover
potential additional allocations. The non-voting no-par value bearer shares came from the portfolio of
Porsche Holding Stuttgart GmbH, Stuttgart— a wholly owned subsidiary of Volkswagen AG. The total
number of preferred shares offered in the IPO corresponded to up to 25% of the preference share capital of
Porsche AG (including additional allocations). The non-voting preferred shares of Porsche AG have been
traded on the Regulated Market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange since September 29, 2022. Up to the early
termination of the stabilization period on October 11, 2022, a total of 3,794,199 preferred shares had been
bought back on the market. The free float of the preferred shares after the end of the stabilization period is
therefore 24.2% and comprises 110,080,801 preferred shares.

In connection with the IPO, Volkswagen additionally sold an interest of 25% of Porsche AG’s ordinary
shares plus one ordinary share to Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart (Porsche SE). As consideration,
Porsche SE has undertaken to pay a purchase price of around €10.1 billion to Volkswagen; this purchase
price includes a premium of 7.5% on the placement price of the preferred shares per share. The purchase of
the ordinary shares will be completed in two tranches of 79,712,501 and 34,162,500 shares respectively.

As a result of the transactions, the Volkswagen Group’s equity increased by €19.1 billion, net of bank
commissions and fees in the amount of €0.1 billion taken directly to equity; of this amount, €10.8 billion is
reported as noncontrolling interests. The cash inflow for the preferred shares and the first tranche of the
ordinary shares occurred at the beginning of the fourth quarter of 2022.

The resolution of the extraordinary General Meeting of Volkswagen AG on December 16, 2022 gave rise
to the obligation to pay a dividend, which was increased by €19.06 per ordinary and preferred share
(“Special Dividend”) and led to a total obligation to the shareholders of Volkswagen AG amounting to
€9.6 billion. Taking into account the offsetting transaction described below, a corresponding liability was
recognized for this payment as of the balance sheet date. The cash outflow was scheduled for January 9,
2023 and occurred on that day.

Volkswagen AG and Porsche SE agreed to offset the obligation to pay a special dividend to Porsche SE
against Volkswagen AG’s claim to the payment of the purchase price still outstanding for the second
tranche of ordinary shares. In the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2022, the purchase
price receivable of €3.0 billion for the second tranche and the dividend liability of €3.1 billion were
therefore presented on a net basis. Upon payment of the special dividend on January 9, 2023, the netting
process was completed.

The employees of Volkswagen AG and Volkswagen Sachsen GmbH are to participate in the economic
success of the placement of the preferred shares and the sale of ordinary shares in Porsche AG by way of a
one-off payment of up to €2,000 per employee. A liability of €0.3 billion was recognized to this end as of the
balance sheet date. On October 17, 2022, the Board of Management and the Works Council of Porsche AG
communicated a special payment to employees to mark the successful IPO; the payment was made and
recognized in profit or loss in the fourth quarter of 2022. The total bonus for employees in connection with
the IPO of Porsche AG amounted to €0.5 billion in the Volkswagen Group as of the balance sheet date.
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TAKEOVER OF EUROPCAR

In 2021, together with investment firm Attestor Limited and Pon Holdings BV., Volkswagen made a joint
public takeover offer for the shares of Europcar Mobility Group S.A., Paris/France (Europcar) through the
consortium company Green Mobility Holding S.A. (GMH) based in Strassen/Luxembourg. The European
Commission issued final antitrust approval at the end of May 2022. During the extended offer period, the
French Financial Markets Authority gave Europcar shareholders the opportunity to tender their shares to
the consortium company. In total, 93.6% of Europcar’s shareholders accepted the offer. The consortium
jointly assumed control of Europcar in mid-June 2022. Because the acceptance rate was over 90%, a
squeeze-out was initiated for the remaining Europcar shares in July 2022, and the company was delisted.
Since July 13, 2022, the consortium company has held 100% of the shares in Europcar. The purchase price
was 51 cents per Europcar share.

At the end of June 2022, the entire portion of the purchase price attributable to Volkswagen, amounting
to €1.7 billion, was contributed to GMH. Since joint control has been contractually agreed, the company, in
which Volkswagen holds 66% of the shares, will be accounted for using the equity method in the
Volkswagen consolidated financial statements. In addition, Volkswagen is the writer of put options held by
the other members of the consortium, and the other members have granted Volkswagen call options on
their shares in the consortium company. The options with Attestor were extended on a long-term basis in
December 2022. The measurement of the options led to a total non-cash expense of €0.3 billion in the
reporting year, which was recognized in the financial result.

BROSE SITECH SP. Z O.0. TRANSACTION

Following the fulfillment of all closing conditions, Brose Fahrzeugteile SE & Co. Kommanditgesellschaft
(Brose) and Volkswagen Finance Luxemburg S.A., a subsidiary of Volkswagen AG, created a jointly operated
company in early 2022 for the development and manufacture of complete seat units, seat structures and
components, and solutions for vehicle interiors. As part of this arrangement, Brose acquired half of the
shares in the previous Volkswagen Group company SITECH Sp.zo.0., Polkowice/Poland. Brose and
Volkswagen each hold 50% of the jointly operated company — Brose Sitech Sp. z 0.0. — with Brose taking the
industrial lead and controlling the company. Given its significant influence, Volkswagen accounts for
Brose Sitech as an associate using the equity method. The change in the accounting policy did not have any
material effect on the Volkswagen Group’s profit or loss.

ACQUISITION OF NAVISTAR

OnJuly 1, 2021, a TRATON GROUP company acquired all of the outstanding shares in Navistar International
Corporation (Navistar), a US manufacturer of commercial vehicles based in Lisle, Illinois/USA. Due to the
size of the transaction, it was not possible to complete the in-house reviews of the information underlying
the purchase price allocation until the current fiscal year. The update to the purchase price allocation did
not materially affect the results of operations, financial position and net assets of the Volkswagen Group.

IMPAIRMENT OF ARGO Al

In the third quarter of 2022, Volkswagen took the strategic decision not to make further investments in
Argo Al LLC Pittsburgh/USA (Argo Al) to develop autonomous driving. Since Argo Al had previously been
unable to win new investors and no returns were consequently expected, an impairment loss on the entire
interest was therefore recognized. This resulted in an expense of €1.9 billion in fiscal year 2022, which is
recognized in the other financial result. There are plans to liquidate Argo Al
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RUSSIA-UKRAINE CONFLICT

In the reporting year, the ongoing Russia-Ukraine conflict, Russia’s partial mobilization and additional,
more stringent sanctions imposed on Russia by the community of Western states led to the risk assess-
ment of the situation in Russia being adjusted.

This cemented the Volkswagen Group's decision to discontinue business activities in Russia. In this
context, a number of individual companies have already been sold and further sales negotiations have been
initiated. On the basis of this reassessment, comprehensive loss allowances on assets of production
facilities and financial services companies were recognized in the reporting period, as were risk provisions,
especially for third-party expenses expected from the discontinuation of activities in Russia.

Overall, total expenses of around €2 billion were recognized in the reporting year as a direct result of the
Russia-Ukraine conflict, which are reported in cost of sales and in the other operating result. Of this amount,
€1.5 billion was charged to the Automotive Division and €0.5 billion to the Financial Services Division.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS HELD FOR SALE

In December, Porsche AG entered into an agreement with an independent, non-Group investor for the sale of
two Russian sales companies in the Passenger Cars and Light Commercial Vehicles segment, OOO Porsche
Russland, Moscow/Russia, and OOO Porsche Center Moscow, Moscow/Russia, as well as one company
assigned to the Financial Services segment, OOO Porsche Financial Services Russland, Moscow/Russia. More-
over, a repurchase option was agreed with this investor, which can be exercised at the earliest five years and
at the latest ten years after the sale. As of the reporting date, the legal transfer of ownership of the Russian
subsidiaries of Porsche AG was still subject to approval by the Russian authorities. It is currently expected
that ownership will be legally transferred and the purchase price finally determined in the course of the
first quarter of 2023.

It was resolved in the fourth quarter of 2022 to sell the following fully consolidated subsidiaries
allocated to the Financial Services segment: OOO Volkswagen Bank RUS, Moscow/Russia, OOO Volkswagen
Group Finanz, Moscow/Russia, and OOO Volkswagen Financial Services RUS, Moscow/Russia. The resolution
by the competent governing body was immediately followed by the implementation of a disposal plan,
which is expected to be completed in the first half of 2023.

On December 15, 2022, the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG resolved to sell the MAN ES gas turbine
business of MAN Energy Solutions SE, Augsburg, and MAN Energy Solutions Schweiz AG, Zurich/Switzer-
land, by way of an asset deal to CSIC Longjiang GH Gas Turbine Co. Ltd., Harbin/China, and its subsidiaries,
which are still to be established under German and Swiss law. The transaction is expected to be completed
within the next 12 months.

In accordance with IFRS 5, the assets and liabilities held for sale were recognized at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less expected costs of disposal.

SPECIAL ITEMS
Special items consist of certain items in the financial statements whose separate disclosure the Board of
Management believes can enable a better assessment of our economic performance.

In fiscal year 2022, the operating result in the Passenger Cars Business Area was affected by negative
special items of €-0.4 (-0.8) billion in connection with the diesel issue. These special items were mainly
attributable to additional expenses for legal risks.
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INCOME STATEMENT BY DIVISION

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP AUTOMOTIVE? FINANCIAL SERVICES

€ million 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

I T T N ——
Sales revenue 279,232 250,200 232,385 206,237 46,847 43,963
Cost of sales —227,005 —202,959 —189,567 —167,645 -37,437 -35,314
Gross profit 52,228 47,241 42,818 38,592 9,410 8,649
Distribution expenses -19,840 —-19,228 -18,794 —18,068 -1,046 -1,160
Administrative expenses -11,689 -10,420 -9,074 —7,964 -2,616 -2,456
Net other operating result 1,426 1,682 1,518 670 -92 1,012
Operating result 22,124 19,275 16,468 13,230 5,656 6,045
Operating return on sales (%) 7.9 7.7 7.1 6.4 12.1 13.8
Share of profits and losses of equity-accounted
investments 2,395 2,321 2,287 2,232 109 89
Interest result and Other financial result -2,476 -1,470 -2,292 -1,316 -184 -154
Financial result -81 851 -6 915 =75 -64
Earnings before tax 22,044 20,126 16,463 14,146 5,581 5,981
Income tax expense —6,208 —4,698 —4,247 -3,179 -1,961 -1,519
Earnings after tax 15,836 15,428 12,216 10,967 3,620 4,462
Noncontrolling interests 393 46 268 -42 125 87
Earnings attributable to Volkswagen AG hybrid
capital investors 576 539 576 539 0 0
Earnings attributable to Volkswagen AG
shareholders 14,867 14,843 11,371 10,469 3,495 4,374

1 Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions.

SHARE OF SALES REVENUE BY MARKET 2022 SHARE OF SALES REVENUE BY DIVISION/BUSINESS AREA 2022
in percent in percent

Europe (excluding Germany)/ 37%

Other Markets Passenger Cars  68%
Germany 18% Commercial Vehicles 14%
South America 6% Financial Services 17%

—

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results of operations of the Group

In the period from January to December 2022, the Volkswagen Group generated sales revenue of €279.2 bil-
lion, up 11.6% on the prior-year figure. Improvements, above all in the price positioning, the product mix
and exchange rate trends, as well as healthy business performance in the Financial Services Division had a
positive effect, while lower vehicle sales due to parts supply shortages had an adverse impact. Navistar,
which has been consolidated since July 1, 2021, is included in the Group’s sales revenue in an amount of
€10.7 (3.6) billion. In fiscal year 2022, 82.6(82.3)% of the Volkswagen Group’s sales revenue originated
abroad. Gross profit improved by €5.0 billion to €52.2 billion. The gross margin was 18.7 (18.9)%.
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The Volkswagen Group’s operating result before special items increased by €2.5 billion to €22.5 billion in
the reporting year. The operating return on sales before special items amounted to 8.1 (8.0)%. The rise in
the operating result was mainly attributable to improved price positioning and the product mix. Positive
effects amounting to €3.7 (2.7) billion from derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied (in
particular commodity, currency and interest rate hedges) boosted the Group’s earnings. These factors were
offset by increased product costs, especially for commodities, and expenses of around €2 billion relating to
loss allowances and risk provisions as a consequence of the direct impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. In
the reporting period, the Passenger Cars Business Area reported one-off expenses for restructuring mea-
sures at SEAT in an amount of €0.2 billion. In the previous year, one-off expenses had been incurred for
restructuring measures in the Commercial Vehicles Business Area (€0.7 billion) as well as expenses in
connection with the EU antitrust proceedings against Scania (€0.5 billion). An expense of €0.1 billion was
recognized for transaction costs in connection with the IPO of Porsche AG. In addition, employees of
Volkswagen AG, Volkswagen Sachsen GmbH and the Porsche AG Group participated in the economic success
of the sale of shares in Porsche AG by way of a one-off payment; to this end, an amount of €0.5 billion was
recognized in personnel costs.

Special items in connection with the diesel issue reduced the operating result, which amounted to
€-0.4 (-0.8) billion. In the period from January to December 2022, the Volkswagen Group’s operating result
amounted to €22.1 billion, up €2.8 billion on the prior-year figure. The operating return on sales increased
t0 7.9 (7.7)%.

The financial result amounted to €-0.1 (0.9) billion. The interest expenses included in this item decreased
due to measurement-related factors resulting primarily from a change in the discount rates used in the
measurement of provisions. The other financial result was negatively impacted by the impairment loss of
€1.9 billion recognized on the equity investment in Argo Al, which weighed on net other investment
income, and by changes in share prices, mainly as a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict, which affected net
income from securities and funds. Both factors were offset by favorable exchange rate effects. The mea-
surement of forward purchase agreements for new shares in QuantumsScape had additionally weighed on
the previous year. The share of the result of equity-accounted investments of the Chinese joint ventures
was up on the previous year.

The Volkswagen Group’s earnings before tax were up €1.9 billion to €22.0 billion in fiscal year 2022. The
return on sales before tax amounted to 7.9 (8.0)%. Income taxes resulted in an expense of €6.2 (4.7) billion
in the reporting year, which in turn led to a tax rate of 28.2 (23.3)%. Earnings after tax rose by €0.4 billion
year-on-year to €15.8 billion.

Results of operations in the Automotive Division

The Automotive Division recorded sales revenue of €232.4 (206.2) billion in fiscal year 2022. Favourable
price positioning, product mix and exchange rate trends were set against the fact that vehicle availability
continued to be limited due to parts supply shortages. In the period from January to December 2022, sales
revenue in the Passenger Cars Business Area went up noticeably, by 9.5%. In the Commercial Vehicles
Business Area, sales revenue rose very sharply by 31.3% compared with the previous year; it should, how-
ever, be noted that the prior-year figure had included the Navistar business only from July 2021 onward.
The Power Engineering Business Area’s sales revenue was noticeably higher than in 2021. As our Chinese
joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, the Group’s business performance in the Chinese
passenger car market is essentially reflected in the Group’s sales revenue only through deliveries of vehicles
and vehicle parts.

146



Group Management Report Results of Operations, Financial Position and Net Assets

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS IN THE PASSENGER CARS, COMMERCIAL VEHICLES AND POWER ENGINEERING
BUSINESS AREAS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31

€ million 2022 2021

Passenger Cars

Sales revenue 189,304 172,868
Operating result 14,600 13,051
Operating return on sales (%) 7.7 7.5

Commercial Vehicles*

Sales revenue 39,516 30,092
Operating result 1,588 134
Operating return on sales (%) 4.0 0.4

Power Engineering

Sales revenue 3,565 3,278
Operating result 281 45
Operating return on sales (%) 7.9 1.4

1 From July 1, 2021, the figures include Navistar.

Cost of sales increased for reasons that included higher product costs (especially for commodities) and
higher research and development costs recognized in profit or loss. Its share of sales revenue was on a level
with the previous year. Driven by a sharp rise in total research and development costs, the research and
development ratio (R&D ratio), defined as total research and development costs as a percentage of the
Automotive Division’s sales revenue, was higher than in the previous year, at 8.1 (7.6)% for the reporting
year. In addition to new models, our activities focused above all on the electrification of our vehicle port-
folio, digitalization, new technologies and enhancements of our modular and electric toolkits and plat-
forms.

There was a year-on-year increase in both distribution and administrative expenses in fiscal year 2022.
The ratio of distribution expenses to sales revenue went down, while the ratio of administrative expenses
remained virtually unchanged. The other operating result stood at €1.5 (0.7) billion. Positive factors included,
at €2.9 (2.4) billion, the fair value measurement and realization of derivatives to which hedge accounting is
not applied, offset by negative special items in connection with the diesel issue and one-off expenses for
restructuring measures in both periods. The prior-year period had, moreover, been influenced by expenses
in connection with the EU antitrust proceedings against Scania in the Commercial Vehicles Business Area.

In the period from January to December 2022, the Automotive Division’s operating result improved by
€3.2 billion to €16.5 billion. The operating return on sales of the Automotive Division climbed to 7.1 (6.4)%.
The main contributing factors were improvements in price positioning and in the product mix. Compared
with the previous year, the decline in unit sales as a result of parts supply shortages, higher product costs
(especially for commodities), charges incurred because of the Russia-Ukraine conflict, and expenses in
connection with the IPO of Porsche AG had an adverse effect. The negative special items recognized in fiscal
year 2022 were lower than in the year before.

The operating result before special items increased by €2.9 billion to €16.9 billion, while the operating
return on sales before special items went up to 7.3 (6.8)%.

Our operating result largely benefits from the business performance of our equity-accounted Chinese
joint ventures only through deliveries of vehicles and vehicle parts and through license income, as these
joint ventures are included in the financial result.
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Results of operations in the Financial Services Division
At €46.8 billion, the sales revenue reported by the Financial Services Division in 2022 was 6.6% higher than
in the prior-year period. Cost of sales increased proportionately.

The Financial Services Division’s operating result of €5.7 billion was €0.4 billion down on the previous
year. The decline was caused mainly by expenses relating to loss allowances and risk provisions due to the
direct impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict; they were recognized in the other operating result. Continued
strong demand for used vehicles and positive effects from derivatives to which hedge accounting is not
applied (interest rate hedges) had a beneficial effect. The operating return on sales decreased to 12.1 (13.8)%.
The return on equity before tax was 14.0 (17.3)%.

Principles and goals of financial management

Financial management in the Volkswagen Group covers liquidity management, the management of
currency, interest rate and commodity price risks, and credit and country risk management. It is performed
centrally for all Group companies by Group Treasury, based on internal guidelines and risk parameters.
Some functions of the MAN Energy Solutions, Porsche AG, Porsche Holding Salzburg and TRATON GROUP
subgroups and of the Financial Services Division are included in the financial management and, in
addition, have their own financial management structures.

The goal of financial management is to ensure that the Volkswagen Group remains solvent at all times
and, at the same time, to generate an adequate return from the investment of surplus funds. We use a
liquidity pooling system to optimize the use of existing liquidity between the significant companies.
Among other features of this system, the balances, either positive or negative, accumulating in cash
pooling accounts are swept daily into a regional target account and thus pooled. The overriding aim of
currency, interest rate and commodity risk management is to hedge, using derivative financial instruments
and commodity forwards, the prices on which investment, production and sales plans are based when
making planning assumptions and to mitigate interest rate risks incurred in financing transactions. In the
management of credit and country risk, diversification is used to limit the Volkswagen Group’s exposure to
the so-called counterparty risk. To achieve this, counterparty risk management imposes internal limits on
the volume of business allowed per counterparty when financial transactions are entered into. Various
credit rating criteria are applied in this process. These focus primarily on the capital resources of potential
counterparties, as well as the ratings awarded by independent agencies. The relevant risk limits and the
authorized financial instruments, hedging methods and hedging horizons are approved by the Group
Board of Management Committee for Risk Management. For additional information on the principles and
goals of financial management, please refer to the chapter on “Financial risk management and financial
instruments” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

Financial position of the Group

In the reporting year, the Volkswagen Group’s gross cash flow went up to €49.3 (43.7) billion for earnings-
related reasons. The change in working capital amounted to €-20.8 (—5.1) billion. A smaller rise in lease
assets and a higher rise in liabilities were unable to offset an increase in inventories and receivables and a
reduction in other provisions compared to the prior year. Cash outflows resulting from the diesel issue
were higher than in 2021. The payment of the fine arising from the EU antitrust proceedings against Scania
led to a cash outflow of €0.9 billion in fiscal year 2022. As a result, cash flows from operating activities went
down by €10.1 billion to €28.5 billion.

The Volkswagen Group’s investing activities attributable to operating activities grew by €1.3 billion to
€25.5 billon in fiscal year 2022. This also includes the full portion of the purchase price payable by Volks-
wagen for the acquisition of Europcar, amounting to €1.7 billion, which was contributed to Green Mobility
Holding.

Financing activities resulted in a cash inflow of €4.2 billion, compared with an outflow of €7.8 billion in
the previous year. Financing activities related primarily to the issuance and redemption of bonds and other
financial liabilities, the redemption of the hybrid notes called in February and November 2022, the issuance
of the hybrid notes successfully placed in March 2022, the payment of the €3.8 billion dividend to the
shareholders of Volkswagen AG from the appropriation of net profit for fiscal year 2021, and the cash
inflow of €16.1 billion from the PO of Porsche AG (partial cash inflow from the sale of the ordinary and
preferred shares). At the end of the fiscal year, the Volkswagen Group reported cash and cash equivalents of
€29.7 (39.1) billion in its cash flow statement.

At the end of December 2022, the Volkswagen Group’s net liquidity stood at €-125.8 billion, compared
with €-136.6 billion on December 31, 2021.

Financial position of the Automotive Division
In the period from January to December 2022, the Automotive Division’s gross cash flow of €33.2 billion
exceeded the prior-year figure by €4.1 billion. The increase was mainly attributable to improved earnings.
The change in working capital amounted to €-3.3 (3.4) billion, resulting mainly from higher inventories
and lower other provisions, offset by a larger increase in liabilities compared to the prior year.

Cash outflows resulting from the diesel issue were higher than in the prior-year period. The payment of
the fine arising from the EU antitrust proceedings against Scania led to a cash outflow in fiscal year 2022.
Consequently, cash flows from operating activities decreased by €2.5 billion to €29.9 billion.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT BY DIVISION

Results of Operations, Financial Position and Net Assets

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

AUTOMOTIVE?

FINANCIAL SERVICES

€ million 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
I T N WIS S | —
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 39,123 33,432 24,899 23,758 14,224 9,674
Earnings before tax 22,044 20,126 16,463 14,146 5,581 5,981
Income taxes paid —-4,415 —-4,216 -3,561 -3,329 —-854 —887
Depreciation and amortization expense? 30,670 27,473 20,854 18,378 9,816 9,094
Change in pension provisions 898 992 857 947 41 45
Share of the result of equity-accounted investments 575 787 639 839 -64 =52
Other noncash income/expense and reclassifications® —511 —-1,473 —2,089 —1,938 1,578 465
Gross cash flow 49,261 43,690 33,163 29,044 16,097 14,646
Change in working capital —20,765 -5,056 -3,299 3,358 -17,466 -8,415
Change in inventories -8,385 2,110 —8,262 624 -123 1,486
Change in receivables —3,207 1,888 —-529 421 -2,678 1,466
Change in liabilities 8,586 1,856 8,179 2,009 407 —153
Change in other provisions -2,754 951 -2,934 938 180 14
Change in lease assets (excluding depreciation) -8,711 —16,205 406 —-536 -9,117 —15,669
Change in financial services receivables —6,294 4,345 —-158 -97 -6,136 4,442
Cash flows from operating activities 28,496 38,633 29,865 32,402 -1,369 6,231
Cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating
activities —25,454 —-24,181 —25,058 —-23,793 -396 —388
of which: investments in property, plant and equipment,
investment property and intangible assets, excluding
capitalized development costs —-12,948 -10,655 -12,731 -10,496 -217 -159
capitalized development costs -9,723 —7,843 -9,723 —7,843 0 0
acquisition and disposal of equity investments -3,219 -6,151 —-2,997 —5,882 —-222 —-268
Net cash flow* 3,042 14,453 4,807 8,610 -1,765 5,843
Change in investments in securities and time deposits, as well as in
loans —16,368 —1,948 —15,052 -933 -1,316 -1,015
Cash flows from investing activities —41,822 —26,128 —-40,110 —24,726 -1,712 -1,403
Cash flows from financing activities 4,225 -7,754 8,621 -7,375 -4,396 -380
of which: capital transactions with noncontrolling interests 16,198 —590 16,198 —590 0 0
capital contributions/capital redemptions —-235 -1,071 —-235 -1,575 -0 504
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents —285 942 —-233 839 =52 102
Change of loss allowance within cash and cash equivalents 1 -1 1 -1 -0 -0
Net change in cash and cash equivalents -9,385 5,691 -1,856 1,141 -7,529 4,550
Cash and cash equivalents at Dec. 31° 29,738 39,123 23,042 24,899 6,695 14,224
Securities and time deposits, as well as loans 49,771 34,515 30,891 16,200 18,880 18,314
Gross liquidity 79,509 73,637 53,934 41,099 25,575 32,539
Total third-party borrowings —205,312 —210,213 -10,919 -14,413 —194,393 —195,800
Net liquidity® -125,803  -136,576 43,015 26,685  -168,818  -163,261

N B

Net of impairment reversals.

w

investing activities.

IS

in securities, time deposits and loans).
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks, checks, cash-in-hand and call deposits.

o un
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Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions.

These relate mainly to the fair value measurement of financial instruments and the reclassification of gains/losses on disposal of noncurrent assets and equity investments to

Net cash flow: cash flows from operating activities, net of cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities (investing activities excluding change in investments

The total of cash, cash equivalents, securities and time deposits, as well as loans to affiliates and joint ventures net of third-party borrowings (noncurrent and current financial liabilities).
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FINANCIAL POSITION IN THE PASSENGER CARS, COMMERCIAL VEHICLES AND POWER ENGINEERING
BUSINESS AREAS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31

€ million 2022 2021

Passenger Cars

Gross cash flow 28,740 26,221
Change in working capital —444 3,439
Cash flows from operating activities 28,296 29,659
Cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities —23,060 —-19,266
Net cash flow 5,236 10,393

Commercial Vehicles*

Gross cash flow 4,079 2,491
Change in working capital -2,877 -109
Cash flows from operating activities 1,201 2,382
Cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities -1,953 —4,453
Net cash flow =752 -2,071

Power Engineering

Gross cash flow 345 333
Change in working capital 23 29
Cash flows from operating activities 368 362
Cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities —44 -74
Net cash flow 323 287

1 From July 1, 2021, the figures include Navistar.

Investing activities attributable to operating activities increased by €1.3 billion to €25.1 billion. Within this
figure, investments in property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets, excluding
capitalized development costs (capex) increased by €2.2 billion to €12.7 billion. The ratio of capex to sales
revenue was 5.5 (5.1)%. A considerable portion of capex was above all allocated to our production facilities
and to models that we launched in 2022 or are planning to launch in 2023, or for which production is set to
start. This expenditure relates mainly to vehicles in the ID. family (ID. Buzz, ID.3, ID.7) and product upgrades
for the T-Roc, Amarok and Tiguan. Other vehicles in the volume segment are the SKODA Enyaq Coupé and
upgrades to the Scala, Kamiq and Superb Combi models. The Bentley Bentayga, the facelift of the Audi Q8
e-tron and the Q6 e-tron expand the range of models in the Premium segment, among others. In the sports
segment, the Cayman, Panamera, Cayenne, 911 and Taycan are among the models being updated, and the
Macan is being electrified. Other investment priorities include the electrification and digitalization of our
products and enhancements to the modular and all-electric toolkits and platforms. Additions to capitalized
development costs rose to €9.7 (7.8) billion in the reporting period. The “Acquisition and disposal of equity
investments” (M&A) item amounted to €-3.0 (-5.9) billion. It included strategic investments in a variety of
companies, especially Europcar. The sale of Sitech Sp. z 0.0. in the fiscal year under review had an offsetting
effect. The prior-year period had included, among other items, the acquisition of Navistar and the invest-
ment in the associate Gotion High-Tech.

In the period from January to December 2022, the Automotive Division’s net cash flow of €4.8 billion
was €3.8 billion down on the prior-year figure.

In fiscal year 2022, the Automotive Division’s financing activities led to a cash inflow of €8.6 billion,
compared with a cash outflow of €7.4billion in the previous year. Hybrid notes with a total nominal
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AUTOMOTIVE DIVISION NET CASH FLOW 2022
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amount of €2.25 billion, which were successfully issued via Volkswagen International Finance NV. in March
2022, led to a cash inflow. They comprise a €1.0 billion note with a coupon of 3.748%, which is noncallable
for five years and nine months, and a €1.25 billion note with a coupon of 4.375%, which is noncallable for
nine years. Both notes are perpetual and increase net liquidity and equity by the nominal amount less
transaction and other costs. The repayment of the hybrid notes called in February and November 2022
resulted in a cash outflow totaling €2.6 billion in the reporting year. The dividend payment to shareholders
of Volkswagen AG was made in May 2022 from the appropriation of net profits for fiscal year 2021. It was
set against cash inflows from the dividends paid by the financial services companies. The “capital trans-
actions with noncontrolling interests” item includes the cash inflow from the sale of the shares of
Porsche AG related to that company’s IPO. In the prior-year period, this item had included the present value
of the cash settlement for MAN noncontrolling interest shareholders in connection with the merger of
MAN SE and TRATON SE. In addition, the prior-year figure had included the repayment of a hybrid note.
Financing activities also include the issuance and redemption of bonds and changes in other financial
liabilities.

At the end of 2022, the Automotive Division’s net liquidity stood at €43.0 billion, compared with
€26.7 billion at the end of 2021. The Automotive Division’s net liquidity as a proportion of consolidated
sales revenue increased to 15.4 (10.7)% in the reporting year, mainly because of cash inflows from the IPO.

Financial position in the Financial Services Division

In fiscal year 2022, the Financial Services Division generated gross cash flow of €16.1 (14.6) billion. The
change in working capital amounted to €-17.5 (—8.4) billion, leading to higher funds tied up in working
capital than in the previous year because of an increase in receivables and inventories, which could not be
offset by a smaller rise in lease assets. As a result, cash flows from operating activities went down by
€7.6 billion to €-1.4 billion.

Investing activities attributable to operating activities were on a level with the previous year, at
€0.4 (0.4) billion. The Financial Services Division’s financing activities resulted in a cash outflow of
€-4.4(-0.4) billion in the period from January to December 2022. This figure relates primarily to the issu-
ance and redemption of bonds and to other financial liabilities, as well as dividend payments by the
financing companies.

On December 31, 2022, the Financial Services Division’s negative net liquidity, which is common in the
industry, was €-168.8 billion as against €-163.3 billion at the end of 2021.
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NET ASSETS

Consolidated balance sheet structure

On December 31, 2022, the Volkswagen Group had total assets of €564.8 billion, 6.8% more than at the end
of 2021. The increase was mainly attributable to the proceeds of the successful IPO of Porsche AG, higher
earnings and changes in exchange rates. A chart showing the structure of the consolidated balance sheet as
of the reporting date can be found in this chapter. The Volkswagen Group’s equity rose by €32.2 billion to
€178.3 billion. The IPO of Porsche AG led to a €19.1 billion rise in equity, of which €10.8 billion is reported
as noncontrolling interests. The equity ratio increased to 31.6 (27.6)%.

As of the end of fiscal year 2022, the Group had off-balance-sheet commitments in the form of contin-
gent liabilities in the amount of €10.6 (9.7) billion and in the form of financial guarantees in the amount of
€1.2 (1.4) billion. In addition, there were other financial obligations of €35.4 (34.7) billion. The contingent
liabilities relate primarily to legal risks in connection with the diesel issue, as well as to potential liabilities
from tax risks in the Commercial Vehicles Business Area in Brazil. Other financial obligations primarily
result from purchase commitments for property, plant and equipment, irrevocable credit commitments to
customers and from development and supply contracts. They also include commitments to invest in the
infrastructure for zero-emission vehicles and in initiatives to promote access to and awareness of this
technology. These commitments were made as part of the settlement agreements in the USA in connection
with the diesel issue. The other financial obligations include an amount of €0.5 (0.7) billion for this pur-
pose. In addition to the other financial obligations, there are purchase commitments for inventories with a
short turnover period, which arise primarily from the Master Collaboration Agreement with Ford Motor
Company for the joint development of vans and mid-sized pickups for the global market.

Automotive Division balance sheet structure

As of December 31, 2022, intangible assets in the Automotive Division were up on the previous year, driven
primarily by a rise in capitalized development costs. Property, plant and equipment was on a level with the
previous year. Equity-accounted investments were likewise virtually unchanged compared to the previous
year’s balance sheet date. The increase attributable to capital increases, in particular at Green Mobility
Holding, and the positive results of the Chinese joint venture companies were offset by the dividends of the
joint ventures resolved in fiscal year 2022 and the impairment loss recognized on the equity investment in
Argo Al Noncurrent other receivables and financial assets increased, due mainly to positive effects from
the measurement of derivatives. In total, noncurrent assets ended the year at €178.7 (170.4) billion and
therefore higher than at the end of 2021.

Current assets rose by €21.2 billion compared with the figure at the end of 2021, to €122.8 billion. The
inventories included in this figure increased, primarily for production-related reasons, and were attri-
butable, among other factors, to disruptions in the logistics chain. Current other receivables and financial
assets stood at €18.8 billion — €0.5 billion more than at the end of 2021. The figure included higher trade
receivables and positive effects from the measurement of derivatives.

The Automotive Division’s cash and cash equivalents contracted by €2.5 billion to €23.0 billion. Total
securities amounted to €32.9 billion, thus exceeding the figure as of December 31, 2021 by €15.2 billion.

The “Assets held for sale” item comprises primarily the carrying amounts of the assets intended for
derecognition of subsidiaries of Volkswagen Financial Services and Porsche in Russia that are planned to be
divested as well as assets of MAN Energy Solutions. The “Liabilities held for sale” item comprises the
carrying amount of the corresponding liabilities intended for derecognition.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET BY DIVISION AS OF DECEMBER 31

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

AUTOMOTIVE?

FINANCIAL SERVICES

€ million 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
I T e N ——

Assets
Noncurrent assets 340,464 328,261 178,667 170,391 161,797 157,871
Intangible assets 83,241 77,689 82,846 77,290 394 399
Property, plant and equipment 63,890 63,695 62,908 62,684 982 1,011
Lease assets 59,380 59,699 1,279 2,316 58,100 57,383
Financial services receivables 86,944 84,954 -767 -781 87,711 85,735
Investments, equity-accounted investments and
other equity investments, other receivables and
financial assets 47,009 42,224 32,400 28,882 14,609 13,342
Current assets 224,309 200,347 122,751 101,539 101,557 98,808
Inventories 52,274 43,725 48,768 40,361 3,506 3,363
Financial services receivables 61,549 56,498 —-799 -936 62,348 57,434
Other receivables and financial assets 43,375 37,195 18,786 18,275 24,589 18,921
Marketable securities and time deposits 37,206 22,532 32,867 17,674 4,338 4,858
Cash and cash equivalents 29,172 39,723 23,034 25,491 6,137 14,232
Assets held for sale 733 674 95 674 638 0
Total assets 564,772 528,609 301,418 271,930 263,354 256,679
Equity and liabilities
Equity 178,327 146,154 135,936 109,022 42,392 37,131

Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG

shareholders 151,257 130,009 109,549 93,592 41,707 36,417

Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG

hybrid capital investors 14,121 14,439 14,121 14,439 0 0
Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG
shareholders and hybrid capital investors 165,378 144,449 123,670 108,031 41,707 36,417
Noncontrolling interests 12,950 1,705 12,265 991 684 714
Noncurrent liabilities 203,453 218,062 88,321 98,923 115,132 119,139
Financial liabilities 121,737 131,618 21,871 24,639 99,866 106,978
Provisions for pensions 27,553 41,550 27,104 40,769 449 781
Other liabilities 54,163 44,894 39,346 33,515 14,816 11,379
Current liabilities 182,992 164,393 77,161 63,984 105,831 100,409
Financial liabilities 83,448 78,584 -10,953 -10,237 94,401 88,821
Trade payables 28,748 23,624 26,106 20,977 2,641 2,647
Other liabilities 70,639 61,948 61,995 53,007 8,643 8,940
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 158 238 12 238 146 0
Total equity and liabilities 564,772 528,609 301,418 271,930 263,354 256,679

1 Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions, primarily intragroup loans.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE 2022

in percent
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At the end of December 2022, the Automotive Division’s equity of €135.9 billion was 24.7% up on the end
of 2021. The proceeds from the successful IPO of Porsche AG, healthy earnings performance, lower actuarial
losses from the remeasurement of pension plans and the hybrid notes issued in March 2022 pushed equity
higher. The dividend payment in May 2022 and the special dividend to shareholders of Volkswagen AG
resolved by the extraordinary General Meeting as well as the redemption of the hybrid notes called in
February and November 2022 reduced the Automotive Division's equity. Noncontrolling interests went up
as a result of the sale of shares in Porsche AG. They are now primarily held by the noncontrolling interest
shareholders of the Porsche AG Group and the TRATON Group. The equity ratio was 45.1 (40.1)%.

Noncurrent liabilities decreased by €10.6 billion to €88.3 billion. The noncurrent financial liabilities
included in this item were lower than at the end of 2021, mainly because of reclassifications from noncur-
rent to current liabilities reflecting shorter remaining maturities. Pension provisions decreased, driven
primarily by actuarial remeasurement following a change in the discount rate. Noncurrent other liabilities
went up, due among other things to the effects of the measurement of derivatives.

Current liabilities increased by €13.2 billion to €77.2 billion. Current financial liabilities amounted to
€-11.0 (-10.2) billion. The figures for the Automotive Division also contain the elimination of intragroup
transactions between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions. As the current financial liabilities
for the primary Automotive Division were lower than the loans granted to the Financial Services Division, a
negative amount was disclosed in both periods. Trade payables were up by 24.5% compared with the end
of 2021. Current other liabilities exceeded the figure as of December 31, 2021, driven primarily by the
special dividend, which was resolved in December 2022 and paid in January 2023. An offsetting transaction
was the netting of the payment claim from the second tranche of the ordinary shares of Porsche AG.

At the end of the reporting year, the Automotive Division reported total assets of €301.4 billion, 10.8%
more than at the end of 2021.
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BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE OF THE PASSENGER CARS, COMMERCIAL VEHICLES AND
POWER ENGINEERING BUSINESS AREAS

€ million Dec. 31,2022 Dec. 31,2021
.|

Passenger Cars

Noncurrent assets 142,467 133,857
Current assets 105,077 86,362
Total assets 247,544 220,218
Equity 119,637 93,894
Noncurrent liabilities 71,637 80,621
Current liabilities 56,270 45,704

Commercial Vehicles®

Noncurrent assets 34,620 34,730
Current assets 14,184 12,264
Total assets 48,804 46,994
Equity 13,804 12,807
Noncurrent liabilities 16,252 17,778
Current liabilities 18,748 16,409

Power Engineering

Noncurrent assets 1,579 1,804
Current assets 3,491 2,914
Total assets 5,070 4,718
Equity 2,495 2,322
Noncurrent liabilities 432 524
Current liabilities 2,143 1,872

1 From July 1, 2021, the figures include Navistar.

Financial Services Division balance sheet structure
At €263.4 billion, the Financial Services Division’s total assets on December 31, 2022 were 2.6% higher than
a year earlier.

Noncurrent assets rose to €161.8 billion, up 2.5% compared with the end of 2021; the lease assets
included in this item expanded mainly due to exchange rate movements. Noncurrent financial services
receivables increased, driven by business growth; noncurrent other receivables were also up on the pre-
vious year.

Current assets climbed by 2.8% to €101.6 billion. The current financial services receivables included in
this item went up, as did current other receivables and financial assets, buoyed among other factors by the
rise in trade receivables. The Financial Services Division’s cash and cash equivalents stood at €6.1 (14.2) bil-
lion on December 31, 2022. Total securities were €0.5 billion lower, at €4.3 billion.

On December 31, 2022, the Financial Services Division accounted for 46.6 (48.6)% of the Volkswagen
Group’s assets.

The Financial Services Division’s equity at the end of 2022 was €42.4 billion, exceeding the figure on the
2021 reporting date by 14.2%. The equity ratio increased to 16.1(14.5)%.

The Financial Services Division’s noncurrent liabilities were down 3.4% as of the balance sheet date. The
noncurrent financial liabilities included in this item saw a noticeable decline, while noncurrent other
liabilities rose sharply, driven by adverse effects from the measurement of derivatives. Current liabilities
were higher, driven above all by noticeable growth in current financial liabilities.

Deposits from the direct banking business amounting to €26.7 (26.7) billion were on a level with the
previous year.
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RETURN ON INVESTMENT (ROI) AND VALUE CONTRIBUTION

The central focus of the Volkswagen Group’s financial target system is to continuously and sustainably
increase the value of the Company. In order to make efficient use of resources in the Automotive Division
and to measure the success of this, we have been using a value-based management system for a number of
years, with return on investment (ROI) as a relative indicator and value contribution?, a key performance
indicator linked to the cost of capital, as an absolute performance measure.

The return on investment serves as a constant target in strategic and operational management. If the
return on investment exceeds the market cost of capital, there is an increase in the value of the invested
capital and a positive value contribution. The concept of value-based management makes it possible to
assess the success of the Automotive Division and individual business units. It also enables the earning
power of our products, product lines and projects — such as new plants — to be measured.

Components of value contribution
Value contribution is calculated on the basis of the operating result after tax and the opportunity cost of
invested capital.

The operating result shows the economic performance of the Automotive Division and is initially a pre-
tax figure. Based on our companies’ income tax rates, which vary from country to country, we assume an
overall average tax rate of 30% when calculating the operating result after tax.

The cost of capital is multiplied by the average invested capital to give the opportunity cost of capital.
Invested capital is calculated as total operating assets reported in the balance sheet (property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, lease assets, inventories and receivables) less non-interest-bearing liabilities
(trade payables and payments on account received). Average invested capital is derived from the balance at
the beginning and the end of the reporting period.

As the concept of value-based management only comprises our operating activities, assets relating to
investments in subsidiaries and associates and the investment of cash funds are not included when
calculating invested capital. Interest charged on these assets is reported in the financial result.

1 The value contribution corresponds to the Economic Value Added (EVA®). EVA® is a registered trademark of the consulting firm Stern Value Management.
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Determining the current cost of capital
The cost of capital is the weighted average of the required rates of return on equity and debt.

The cost of equity is determined using the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). This model uses the
yield on long-term risk-free Bunds, increased by the risk premium attaching to investments in the equity
market. The risk premium comprises a general market risk and a specific business risk. The general risk
premium of 7.5% reflects the general risk of a capital investment in the equity market. The specific business
risk — price fluctuations in Volkswagen preferred shares — is modeled in comparison to the MSCI World Index
when calculating the beta factor. The MSCI World Index is a global capital market benchmark for investors.

The analysis period for the beta factor calculation spans five years with annual beta figures calculated on
a weekly basis followed by the subsequent calculation of the average. A beta factor of 1.55 (1.16) was deter-
mined for 2022.

The cost of debt is based on the average yield for long-term corporate bonds. As borrowing costs are tax-
deductible, the cost of debt is adjusted to account for the tax rate of 30%.

A weighting on the basis of a fixed ratio for the fair values of equity and debt results in an effective cost
of capital for the Automotive Division of 8.3 (6.2) % for 2022.

COST OF CAPITAL AFTER TAX IN THE AUTOMOTIVE DIVISION

% 2022 2021

I
Risk-free rate 2.0 0.1
Market risk premium 7.5 7.5
Volkswagen-specific risk premium 11 12
(Volkswagen beta factor) (1.55) (1.16)
Cost of equity after tax 10.7 8.8
Cost of debt 5.0 13
Tax -15 -0.4
Cost of debt after tax 3.5 0.9
Proportion of equity 66.7 66.7
Proportion of debt 333 333
Cost of capital after tax 8.3 6.2
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Return on investment (ROI) and value contribution in the reporting period

The operating result after tax for the Automotive Division, including the proportionate operating result of
the equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures, increased to €14,078 (11,740) million in fiscal year 2022. The
year-on-year improvement resulted primarily from favorable price positioning and positive changes in the
product mix. Negative impacts during the reporting period arose primarily from a decline in unit sales as a
result of parts supply shortages, higher product costs (especially for commodities), negative impacts from
the Russia-Ukraine conflict, and the recognition of negative special items in the reporting period. The effect
of purchase price allocation on earnings and assets is not taken into account as this cannot be influenced
by management in the course of business operations.

At €117,412 (113,386) million, invested capital increased slightly in the reporting year compared with
the prior year.

The return on investment (ROI) is the return on invested capital for a particular period based on the
operating result after tax. Due to the improved operating result, the ROI of 12.0 (10.4) % exceeded both the
prior-year figure and our minimum required rate of return on invested capital of 9%.

At €9,702 (6,984) million, the opportunity cost of capital — invested capital multiplied by the cost of
capital — was strongly up on the previous year. Improvements in the operating result after tax, net of the
opportunity cost of invested capital, led to a positive value contribution of €4,376 (4,756) million, which fell
short of the prior-year figure, mainly because of the increased cost of capital.

More information on value-based management is contained in our publication entitled “Financial
Control System of the Volkswagen Group”, which can be downloaded from our Investor Relations website:
www.volkswagenag.com/en/InvestorRelations/news-and-publications/More_Publications.html.

RETURN ON INVESTMENT (ROI) AND VALUE CONTRIBUTION IN THE AUTOMOTIVE DIVISION?

€ million 2022 2021

I
Operating result after tax 14,078 11,740
Invested capital (average) 117,412 113,386
Return on investment (ROI) in % 12.0 10.4
Cost of capital in % 83 6.2
Cost of invested capital 9,702 6,984
Value contribution 4,376 4,756

1 Including proportionate inclusion of the Chinese joint ventures (including the relevant sales and component companies) and allocation of consolidation adjustments between the
Automotive and Financial Services Divisions.
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SUMMARY OF BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND ECONOMIC POSITION

In view of the political and economic developments in 2022 and the transformation of the industry, the
Board of Management of Volkswagen AG considers business development and the economic position chal-
lenging, but positive overall.

In the reporting period, the Volkswagen Group’s business was impacted by the global economic slow-
down, the limited availability of parts and disruptions in the logistics chain. As a result, we had to adjust
some aspects of our forecast. In this environment, we consequently delivered 8.3 million vehicles in the
past fiscal year to customers and thereby fewer than planned.

The Group’s sales revenues rose — in line with our expectations — by 11.6%, which was primarily due to
prices, product mix and exchange rate effects as well as the good performance in the Financial Services
Division.

The operating result before special items increased to €22.5 billion. The operating return on sales before
and after special items was 8.1% and 7.9% respectively, and thus within the forecast range.

Research and development costs reflect our activities undertaken to safeguard the Company’s future
viability. The R&D ratio in the Automotive Division met our adjusted expectations at 8.1%.

The ratio of capex to sales for the Automotive Division was on a level with the forecast at 5.5%.

Net cash flow amounted to €4.8 billion and therefore fell short of the previous year’s level; this was mainly
attributable to cash tied up in working capital, caused in particular by disruptions in the supply chain.

Net liquidity stood at €43.0 billion at the end of fiscal year 2022, exceeding the originally expected range
thanks to the cash inflow from the successful IPO of Porsche AG.

Return on investment (ROI) in the Automotive Division improved to 12.0% and was therefore, as antici-
pated, above our minimum required rate of return on invested capital.
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FORECAST VERSUS ACTUAL FIGURES

Results of Operations, Financial Position and Net Assets

Original Forecast

Adjusted Forecast

Actual 2021 for 2022 for 2022 Actual 2022
& & | ]|
Deliveries to customers (units) 8.9 million 5-10% increase  around the prior-year level 8.3 million
Volkswagen Group
Sales revenue €250.2 billion 8-13% increase 8-13% increase €279.2 billion
Operating return on sales before special items 8.0% 7.0-8.5% 7.0-8.5% 8.1%
Operating return on sales 7.7% 7.0-85% 7.0-8.5% 7.9%
Operating result before special items €20.0 billion in forecast range in forecast range €22.5 billion
Operating result €19.3 billion in forecast range in forecast range €22.1 billion
Passenger Cars Business Area
Sales revenue €172.9 billion 8-13% increase 5—10% increase €189.3 billion
Operating return on sales before special items 8.0% 7.0-8.5% 8.0-9.0% 7.9%
Operating return on sales 7.5% 7.0-85% 8.0-9.0% 7.7%
Operating result before special items €13.8 billion in forecast range in forecast range €15.0 billion
Operating result €13.1 billion in forecast range in forecast range €14.6 billion
Commercial Vehicles Business Area
Sales revenue €30.1 billion strong increase strong increase €39.5 billion
Operating return on sales 0.4% 5.0-7.0% 4.0-5.0% 4.0%
Operating result €134 million in forecast range in forecast range €1.6 billion
Power Engineering Business Area
Sales revenue €3.3 billion moderate increase moderate increase €3.6 billion
low positive triple-digit low positive triple-digit
Operating result €45 million million euro range million euro range €281 million
Financial Services Division
Sales revenue €44.0 billion noticeable increase noticeable increase €46.8 billion
Operating result €6.0 billion ~€4.5 billion ~€5 billion €5.7 billion
R&D ratio in the Automotive Division 7.6% ~7.0% ~8.0% 8.1%
Capex/sales revenue in the Automotive Division 5.1% ~5.5% ~5.5% 5.5%
Net cash flow in the Automotive Division €8.6 billion around the prior-year level around the prior-year level €4.8 billion
Net liquidity in the Automotive Division €26.7 billion up to 15% increase up to 15% increase €43.0 billion
Return on investment (ROI) in the
Automotive Division 10.4% 12-15% 12-15% 12.0%
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Volkswagen AG

(Condensed, in accordance with the German Commercial Code)

The year 2022 was impacted by the global market slowdown, the limited
availability of parts and disruptions in the logistics chain.

ANNUAL RESULT

Special items in connection with the diesel issue were recognized in 2022 and amounted to €0.3 (0.7) bil-
lion. These related in particular to further provisions for legal risks. Special items had an impact of €-0.3
(-0.7) billion on net other operating result.

In the fiscal year under review, the Russia-Ukraine conflict negatively affected Volkswagen AG in an
amount of approximately €1 billion. This was due to write-downs on the shares in OOO Volks-
wagen Group Rus, Kaluga, as well as loss allowances and risk provisions following the discontinuation of
business activities in Russia.

Sales revenue increased by 12.1% year-on-year to €79.5 billion in the reporting year, driven mainly by
higher sales volumes and a more favorable price-product mix. Sales generated abroad accounted for a share
of €46.3 billion or 58.2%. Cost of sales increased faster than sales revenue, rising by 17.9% to €79.5 billion,
mainly because of higher commodity prices for vehicle production.

Gross profit on sales fell accordingly to €-0.0 (3.5) billion.

INCOME STATEMENT OF VOLKSWAGEN AG

€ millon 2022 2021

——
Sales 79,491 70,917
Cost of Sales —79,499 —67,424
Gross profit on sales -8 3,494
Distribution, general and administrative expenses -7,292 —6,973
Net other operating result 1,997 66
Financial result® 16,825 8,545
Taxes on income 955 -1,091
Earnings after tax 12,477 4,041
Net income for the fiscal year 12,477 4,041
Retained profits brought forward 5,774 1,609
Release of/appropriation to revenue reserves —6,230 13,450
Net retained profits 12,021 19,101

1 Including write-downs of financial assets.
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The other operating result amounted to €2.0 billion, up €1.9 billion on the previous year, driven in
particular by a decline in expenses for legal and litigation risks, positive effects from the measurement and
settlement of hedging transactions and foreign currency translation.

The financial result went up by €8.3 billion to €16.8 billion, mainly because of a rise in income from profit
transfers, which resulted primarily from higher profit transferred by Porsche Holding Stuttgart GmbH,
Stuttgart, in connection with the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart (Porsche AG).

Taxes on income amounted to €1.0 (-1.1) billion, particularly due to higher tax expenses for prior years.
Net income for fiscal year 2022 thus amounted to €12.5 (4.0) billion.

NET ASSETS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets amounted to €225.2 billion on December 31, 2022, up €38.9 billion on the comparative 2021
figure. Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment were up by €0.3 billion, with capital expen-
diture exceeding depreciation and amortization charges. Financial assets rose to €138.9 (127.6) billion as a
result of a number of capital increases, including a capital increase at Porsche Holding Stuttgart GmbH,
Stuttgart, in the amount of €2.8 billion in connection with the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. E. Porsche AG, Stuttgart.
To finance the acquisition of Europcar by Green Mobility Holding S.A., Strassen, Volkswagen AG paid con-
tributions of €1.7 billion to the capital reserves of Volkswagen Finance Luxemburg S.A., Strassen (VFL). In
addition, Volkswagen AG paid contributions of €0.9 billion to finance several capital increases by VFL at
Volkswagen do Brasil Industria de Veiculos Automotores Ltda., Sio Bernardo do Campo. In addition, a capital
increase of €1.7 billion was implemented at Porsche Siebte Vermogensverwaltung GmbH, Wolfsburg, to
finance the creation of battery cell production by PowerCo SE, Salzgitter.

Fixed assets accounted for a share of 65.9 (73.5) % of total assets.

Current assets (including prepaid expenses) amounted to €76.7 (49.4) billion as of December 31, 2022.
Inventories went up by €0.9 billion to €7.8 billion. In particular finished goods and merchandise were
higher than in the previous year because of a shortage of transport capacity. Receivables and other assets
rose to €59.7 (32.3) billion. Their rise is attributable to higher receivables from profit transfers from sub-
sidiaries and an increase in time deposits with maturities of more than three months without call right.
Cash instruments were down, driven particularly by the decrease in restricted short-term time deposits.

BALANCE SHEET OF VOLKSWAGEN AG AS OF DECEMBER 31

€ million

2022

2021

Fixed assets 148,516 136,892
Inventories 7,816 6,921
Receivables® 59,773 32,355
Cash-in-hand and bank balances 9,122 10,168
Total assets 225,227 186,336
Equity 40,323 41,172
Special tax-allowable reserves 17 17
Long-term debt 33,717 40,748
Medium-term debt 38,647 38,087
Short-term debt 112,523 66,312

1 Including prepaid expenses.
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Equity at the end of the reporting year was €40.3 billion; the decrease was primarily due to earnings-related
factors. The equity ratio was 17.9 (22.1) %.

Other provisions decreased by €1.6 billion to €17.7 (19.2) billion, due mainly to the reduction in pro-
visions for litigation risks and sales-related provisions. Provisions for pensions rose by €4.0 billion to
€25.3 billion, particularly as a result of a change in measurement inputs, while provisions for taxes
decreased by €1.4 billion to €3.4 billion.

The €38.8 billion increase in liabilities, including deferred income, to €138.6 billion was mainly the
result of higher loan liabilities to affiliated companies and of liabilities for the special dividend in connec-
tion with the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart.

Volkswagen AG’s cash funds, comprising cash instruments with a maturity of less than three months,
less bank liabilities repayable on demand and cash pooling liabilities, improved year-on-year from
€-2.1 billion to €-1.0 billion. The interest-bearing portion of debt amounted to €107.7 (84.3)billion. In our
assessment, given the context created by political and economic developments in 2022, the limited parts
availability and disruptions in the logistics chain, the economic position of Volkswagen AG is challenging,
but just as positive overall as that of the Volkswagen Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY
Our dividend policy matches our financial strategy. In the interests of all stakeholders, we aim for con-
tinuous dividend growth that allows our shareholders to participate appropriately in our business success.
The proposed dividend therefore reflects our financial management objectives — in particular, ensuring a
solid financial foundation as part of the implementation of our strategy.

In our Group strategy, we have set ourselves the goal of achieving a payout ratio of at least 30%. The
payout ratio is based on the Group’s earnings after tax attributable to Volkswagen AG shareholders. This
amounts to 29.4% for the reporting period and stood at 25.4% in the previous year.

SPECIAL DIVIDEND FOLLOWING PORSCHE AG IPO

The resolution of the extraordinary General Meeting of Volkswagen AG on December 16, 2022 gave rise to
the obligation to pay a dividend, which was increased by €19.06 per ordinary and preferred share and led to
a total obligation to the shareholders of Volkswagen AG amounting to €9.6 billion. A corresponding
liability was recognized for this payment as of the balance sheet date. The cash outflow was scheduled for
January 9, 2023 and occurred on that day.
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DIVIDEND PROPOSAL

Volkswagen AG

In fiscal year 2022, net retained profits amounted to €12.0 billion. The Board of Management and Super-
visory Board are proposing to pay a total dividend of €4.4 billion, i.e. €8.70 per ordinary share and €8.76 per

preferred share.

PROPOSAL ON THE APPROPRIATION OF NET PROFIT

€ 2022
Dividend payout on subscribed capital (€1,283 million) 4,373,641,114.80
of which: ordinary shares 2,567,281,416.60
preferred shares 1,806,359,698.20
Appropriation to other revenue reserves 7,645,000,000.00
Balance (carried forward to new account) 2,390,656.18
Net retained profits 12,021,031,770.98
EMPLOYEE PAY AND BENEFITS AT VOLKSWAGEN AG
€ million 2022 % 2021 %
& & ;3 |
Direct pay including cash benefits 8,231 56.7 7,816 67.5
Social security contributions 1,510 10.4 1,340 11.6
Compensated absence 1,208 8.3 1,084 9.4
Retirement benefits 3,557 24.5 1,345 11.6
Total expense 14,506 100.0 11,585 100.0

VEHICLE SALES

Volkswagen AG sold a total of 1,882,535 (1,775,556) vehicles in fiscal year 2022. During the reporting period,
demand recovered from the declines in sales in the prior-year period precipitated by the Covid-19
pandemic. However, the limited vehicle availability due to bottlenecks in the supply of parts caused by the
shortage of semiconductors and the Russia-Ukraine conflict had a detrimental impact. In addition, disrupt-
tions in the supply chain resulted in delays. Vehicles sold abroad accounted for a share of 64.1 (66.3) %.

PRODUCTION

Volkswagen AG manufactured a total of 666,722 vehicles (+5.6%) in the reporting year at its vehicle
production plants in Wolfsburg, Hanover and Emden. In fiscal year 2022, supply shortages, especially for
semiconductors, continued to limit production.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2022, a total of 116,677 (117,633) people were employed at the sites of Volkswagen AG,
excluding staff employed at subsidiaries; of this figure, 4,452 (4,635) were vocational trainees. 7,528 (7,235)
employees were in the passive phase of their partial retirement.

Female employees accounted for 18.3 (17.9) % of the workforce. Volkswagen AG employed 7,908 (7,227)
part-time workers. The percentage of foreign employees was 6.5 (6.5)%. In the reporting period, 83.3 (83.3) %
of the employees in Volkswagen AG’s production area had completed vocational or additional training. The
proportion of graduates was 21.9 (21.4)% in the same period. The average age of employees in fiscal year
2022 was 45.1 (44.8) years.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Volkswagen AG’s research and development costs as defined in the German Commercial Code amounted to
€4.6 (3.5) billion in the reporting period. 15,053 (+11.5%) people were employed in this area at the end of
the reporting period. The year-on-year rise is attributable, among other factors, to a change in the data
collection method.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OF VOLKSWAGEN AG

As the parent of the Volkswagen Group, Volkswagen AG is fundamentally subject to the same expected
developments and risks and opportunities. The forecast is explained in the chapter entitled “Report on
Expected Developments” and the risks and opportunities in the chapter entitled “Report on Risks and
Opportunities” of this annual report.

RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Risks for Volkswagen AG arising from the use of financial instruments are generally the same as those to
which the Volkswagen Group is exposed. An explanation of these risks can be found in the chapter “Report
on Risks and Opportunities” of this annual report.

DEPENDENT COMPANY REPORT

The Board of Management of Volkswagen AG has submitted to the Supervisory Board the report required by
section 312 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG — German Stock Corporation Act) and issued the following concluding
declaration:

“We declare that, based on the circumstances known to us at the time when the transactions with affiliated
companies within the meaning of section 312 of the AktG were entered into, our Company received
appropriate consideration for each transaction. No transactions with third parties or measures were either
undertaken or omitted on the instructions of or in the interests of Porsche or other affiliated companies in
the reporting period.”

The Annual Financial Statements of Volkswagen AG (in accordance with the German Commercial Code) can be accessed from the electronic company register at
www.unternehmensregister.de.

166



Group Management Report Sustainable Value Enhancement

Sustainable Value Enhancement

Our goal is to run our business responsibly along the entire value chain. Everyone should benefit
from this — our customers, our employees, the environment and society. Even in our Group strategy
NEW AUTO — Mobility for generations to come, we aim to make mobility sustainable for
present and future generations.

The main financial performance indicators for the Volkswagen Group are described in the “Results of
Operations, Financial Position and Net Assets” chapter. Nonfinancial key performance indicators also
provide information on the efficiency of our Company’s value drivers. These include the processes in the
areas of research and development, procurement, technology, production, marketing and sales, informa-
tion technology and quality assurance. In all of these processes, we are aware of our responsibility towards
our customers, our employees, the environment and society. In this chapter we provide examples of how
we want to increase the value of our Company in a sustainable way.

SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainability means maintaining intact environmental, social and economic systems with long-term
viability at a global, regional and local level. The Volkswagen Group can influence these systems in various
ways, and actively takes responsibility to make a contribution to their sustainability. We have thus devel-
oped a sustainable style of company management and put in place the necessary management structures.

We have also anchored our goal to sustainably shape mobility for present and future generations in our
Group strategy NEW AUTO. Especially the Group’s ESG, Decarbonization and Integrity base initiative will
drive this topic further.

The materiality process is used to identify and evaluate the most important sustainability issues for the
Group. Based on the business model of Volkswagen AG and its social impacts, the focus is on key ESG
requirements, stakeholder expectations and adherence to legal regulations and internationally established
reporting standards.

We conducted another materiality analysis in the reporting period. In reviewing potentially material
issues, we considered perspectives from within and outside the company and reviewed whether the focus
topics of the Group’s NEW AUTO strategy are still in keeping with the times. As a result of this process, the
six focus areas already defined — decarbonization, circular economy, supply chain and human rights,
people & transformation, diversity, and integrity — were confirmed and classified as material by the Group
Sustainability Steering Committee. The six focus areas cover most of the requirements formulated in the
ESG ratings for assessment criteria applied. Wherever this is already possible, each focus area is linked to
clear goals and milestones, KPIs and appropriate packages of measures. ESG-related KPIs such as the
decarbonization index and the diversity index are already today reflected in the remuneration of members
of the Board of Management.
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Decarbonization

The decarbonization of the Group and in particular its portfolio of products is a major part of the NEW
AUTO Group strategy, where it has been defined as one of the focus areas in the base initiative. We have
established the decarbonization index (DKI) as a key performance indicator: the decarbonization index
measures the emissions of CO; and CO; equivalents (jointly referred to as CO.e) by the brands that produce
passenger cars and light commercial vehicles in the regions of Europe (EU27, United Kingdom, Norway and
Iceland), China and the USA over the entire life cycle. In this index, the use phase is calculated over
200,000 km and with reference to region-specific fleet values without statutory flexibilities. The CO.e
intensity of the charging current of the electric vehicles is also calculated based on region-specific elec-
tricity mixes. Our vehicle life cycle assessments, which are used as the data basis for calculating supply
chain and recycling emissions, have been verified externally and independently in accordance with ISO
14040. The DKI gives us an informative measuring tool that makes our progress and interim results public
and verifiable. The DKI calculation methodology is regularly adapted according to internal and external
requirements, such as new test cycles for fleet emissions. Published DKI values can therefore also be
adjusted to the new methodology and thus changed to facilitate the presentation of a time series that is
methodologically consistent. In 2021, the methodology was adjusted to the WLTP test cycle for fleet emis-
sions. By 2030, the DKI is to be reduced by 30% compared with the base year 2018, and emissions offsetting
will not be included in the figure. In the reporting year, the DKI value averaged 48.0 t CO.e/vehicle. This
represents a reduction of 0.4 t COze/vehicle compared with the figure adjusted for 2021 due to a change in
the assumption on which the calculation is based, for example the first-time inclusion of region-specific
life cycle assessments for Chinese models.

Circular economy

The finite nature of natural resources and the social and environmental consequences of mining raw
materials make decoupling economic growth from resource consumption and the development of a
circular economy key sustainability topics. Policymakers at both international and national level have
addressed these challenges and made it their mission to regulate markets more aggressively in the future in
an effort to speed up the transformation towards resource efficiency and a circular economy. Recognizing
the importance of the topic, Volkswagen anchored the topic of circular economy in the NEW AUTO Group
strategy through its ESG, Decarbonization and Integrity base initiative.

The Volkswagen Group created and implemented concepts for the reconditioning and recycling of
vehicle components from an early stage. Going forward, we plan to intensify our efforts for a transition to a
loop-oriented and resource-conserving approach to doing business by pooling expertise within the Group
and working on projects and measures on a cross-brand basis.

We are stepping up efforts to use recyclable materials in our vehicle projects. These currently include
raw materials from production residues as well as renewable raw materials or natural fibers such as flax,
cotton, wood and cellulose, provided they comply with all the technical requirements. In the future, the use
of raw materials from end-of-life vehicles will be increasingly taken into account and simplified.

To preserve circular materials from electric vehicles, Volkswagen Group Components opened the
Group’s first pilot facility for recycling high-voltage vehicle batteries at the Salzgitter site in early 2021. The
objective is industrialized recovery of valuable raw materials such as lithium, nickel, manganese and cobalt.

More information on the focus areas can be found in the sections on integrity and compliance,
procurement and employees, as well as in our Sustainability Report for fiscal year 2022.
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Parameters and guiding principles

Our actions are determined by the Volkswagen Group Essentials as the foundation of values and the basis
for our shared corporate culture. The Volkswagen Group Essentials support managers and employees in
overcoming legal and ethical challenges that arise in their daily work. At the same time, we are guided in
our activities by several internal guidelines on sustainability.

On this basis, we seek to align the Volkswagen Group's actions with international agreements and
frameworks such as the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations (UN), the declarations
of the International Labour Organization (ILO), the principles and conventions of the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and the UN covenants on basic rights and freedoms.

UN Global Compact

Since 2021, after a five-year hiatus, the Volkswagen Group has officially been reinstated as a participant of
the UN Global Compact (UNGC), the world’s largest corporate sustainability initiative, and participates in
national and international initiatives together with Audi, Porsche, TRATON, MAN Truck & Bus and Scania.
Investors and asset managers in the capital markets view membership of the UNGC as an important factor
when deciding to invest in shares and bonds of Volkswagen AG. ESG funds have become very popular in
recent years and indispensable for stakeholders.

Management and coordination

The Volkswagen Group has established a Group-wide sustainability management. The related structures,
processes and responsibilities are codified in a specific Group policy. We view sustainability management
as a continuous improvement process. The core elements include assumption of cross-functional overall
responsibility for sustainability by the Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG, specification
of the competence of the responsible Board members for specific sustainability management concepts and
implementation of the Group Sustainability Steering Committee as a top management committee. The
members of this steering committee include managers from central Board of Management business areas
and Group divisions as well as representatives from the brands and the Group Works Council. The steering
committee defines concrete strategic goals and programs, establishes measures for uniform further devel-
opment of sustainability management across divisions, brands and regions and decides on fundamental
sustainability issues. The office of the Group Sustainability Steering Committee is the responsibility of the
Group’s Sustainability function.

Strategic stakeholder management

Our stakeholders are individuals, groups, or organizations who have an influence on or are influenced by
the course or the result of corporate decisions. Our customers and employees are at the center of our
stakeholder network. Based on continuous stakeholder analysis, we have also identified eight more stake-
holder groups. The Group’s supervisory and advisory bodies —i.e. the Supervisory Board, the Works Council
and the Sustainability Council - act as interfaces between internal and external stakeholder groups.

We understand stakeholder management as systematic interaction with key interest and stakeholder
groups in line with our NEW AUTO Group strategy. Our goal is an open, constructive and also critical
exchange with the stakeholder groups shown in the following chart. We aim to actively shape and promote
implementation of their requirements and expectations, as well as central strategic issues.
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To be able to continuously incorporate our stakeholders’ suggestions and recommendations, we have given
our stakeholder management an organizational structure that also includes external committees. At Group
level, this is the Sustainability Council. In addition, we offer our stakeholders a broad range of opportunities
for interaction including regular discussion panels and surveys. Following the pandemic-related interrup-
tion, we were able to resume the exchange in the reporting period.

Sustainability Council

The Sustainability Council provides assistance to the Volkswagen Group with important, strategic sustain-
ability issues and is made up of internationally renowned experts from the academic world, politics and
society. This advisory body establishes its own working methods and areas of focus independently, has far-
reaching rights for the purposes of exchanging information, consultation and initiating action, and
consults regularly with the Board of Management, top management and the employee representatives.

Dialogue between Volkswagen and the Sustainability Council in 2022 focused specifically on the Liefer-
kettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz (German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act), the use of digital technologies for
sustainable development, the Zero Impact Factory concept, promotion of transformation and training,
Volkswagen’s further decarbonization, and the future alignment of mobility solutions with the NEW AUTO
Group strategy. The Sustainability Council also discussed the impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict on the
Group.

Furthermore, the projects launched by the Council to examine the importance of digitalization for
sustainability, the transformative potential of employment and training and the inclusivity and effect-
tiveness of climate legislation in the transport sector were completed in the reporting period. Further links
to the letters of recommendation to the Group Board of Management and the results of the Council
projects are provided on the Sustainability Council internet page.
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Corporate citizenship

As a good corporate citizen, we aim to be a source of economic impetus for local structural development
and equal opportunities. We have always believed in the importance of recognizing our social respon-
sibilities toward our stakeholders. The main focus of our corporate social engagement activities is on sup-
porting future, environmental, educational and community projects at many of our sites across the world.
In 2022, the brands and companies supported around 800 projects and initiatives worldwide.

Environmental Strategy

As one of the largest automobile manufacturers, Volkswagen takes responsibility for the environmental

impact of its activities. Based on the NEW AUTO Group strategy, we have put greater focus on our ambitious

environmental targets. With our environmental mission statement goTOzero, we aspire to reduce environ-

mental impact along the entire life cycle — from raw material extraction until end-of-life - for all our products

and mobility solutions in order to keep ecosystems intact. Compliance with environmental regulations,

standards and voluntary commitments is a basic prerequisite of our actions.

Our focus is on four prioritized action areas:

> Climate action. We are committed to the Paris Climate Agreement and align our activities with the
1.5 degree goal. We consistently focus on the electrification of our products, decarbonization of our entire
value chain and expansion of renewable energy generation to supply our sites and customers. We intend
to be a net-carbon-neutral company by 2050 at the latest.

> Conservation of resources. We reduce the volumes of primary raw materials needed by using recycled
material and renewable raw materials. We maximize our energy and resource efficiency and establish
loops for materials and water. Together with our business partners we cut down on the amount of natural
resources utilized throughout our supply chain.

> Conservation of ecosystems. We reduce harmful emissions in air, soil and water. We mitigate the impact
of our business operations on biodiversity and ecosystems and support projects to conserve these.

> Environmental compliance. Where integrity and compliance are concerned, we aim to be a role model for
a modern, transparent, successful enterprise. With this in mind, we use environmental compliance man-
agement systems to identify and manage environmental risks and opportunities throughout the lifetime
of our mobility solutions. We conduct open dialog with our stakeholders and incorporate their expecta-
tions into our decisions.
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Organization of environmental protection

Volkswagen has created an environmental policy that sets out guidelines for environmental decision-
making, for the management of projects and for the Group’s environmental stewardship. Thus, parameters
are set for the conduct and working methods of management and staff in five areas: management behavior,
compliance, environmental protection, collaboration with stakeholders and continuous improvement.

The Board of Management of Volkswagen AG is the highest internal decision-making body for environ-
mental issues. Both it and the brands’ boards of management take not only business, but also social and
environmental criteria into account when making key company decisions. The Group-wide management of
environmental protection is the responsibility of the Group Steering Committee for the Environment and
Energy. Other bodies take responsibility for steering key individual aspects. They include the Group CO,
Steering Committee, the Group Steering Committee for Fleet Compliance and Exhaust Gas, and the Group
Sustainability Steering Committee.

The Volkswagen Group coordinates the activities of the brands, which in turn steer the measures in the
regions. The brands and companies are responsible for their own environmental organization. They base
their own environmental protection activities on the targets, guidelines and principles that apply through-
out the Group.

Our declared aim is to comply with legal and regulatory requirements. Furthermore, we are guided by
Company standards and targets. The intention of our environmental compliance management systems is
to ensure that environmental aspects and obligations are given appropriate consideration in our business
operations. Disregard for the rules is treated as a severe compliance violation, as are fraud and deliberate
misconduct. Compliance with our Environmental Policy Statement and with other Group environmental
requirements is evaluated annually and reported to the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG, and the
respective brand boards of management or the managing directors of the companies.

Bl CSR-PROJECTS
https://www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/strategy-policy t/er t/cc-projects.html
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HOLISTIC INTEGRITY AND COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Integrity and compliance are major priorities in the Volkswagen Group. We firmly believe that, for long-
term commercial success, it is important that each and every individual complies with laws, regulations
and commitments. Compliant behavior must be a matter of course for all Group employees. This is why
integrity and compliance remain key elements of our Group's NEW AUTO strategy and a focus topic in
matters of sustainability.

Our objective is to be a role model and deepen the trust of our employees, customers, shareholders and
partners in our Company. Our regulations, processes and corporate culture are designed in such a way that
all employees can act with integrity and comply with the rules at all times.

At the same time, we have embedded integrity in our decision-making processes. For example, every
resolution proposal submitted to the Board of Management must demonstrate that the intended decision
is in line with integrity and compliance, what risks may be associated with it, and how the risks can be
reduced. Similar requirements apply to Group brands and companies and to Group bodies to which the
Board of Management has delegated decision-making powers.

As performance indicators, integrity and compliance must have the same strategic and operational
priority in our Company as sales revenue, profit, product quality and employer attractiveness. We have
been building a holistic integrity and compliance management system (ICMS) since 2018. This system was
set up in line with the five internationally recognized ECI (Ethics and Compliance Initiative) principles:
strategy, risk management, a culture of integrity, a speak-up environment and resolute accountability.

We employ our TogetherdIntegrity (T4I) program as a means of making integrity and compliance a
mainstay throughout the Group. This program brings the vast majority of the Group’s integrity and com-
pliance activities together under one roof, applying uniform, robust process and implementation standards.

Thus, we are not only establishing a worldwide ICMS for all Group and brand companies, we are also
advancing one of the most extensive change and cultural programs in the history of the Volkswagen Group.

T4l: eleven key initiatives
The rollout of T41 is almost complete, with full implementation scheduled for 2025. The Group is over-
seeing the program planning and also the rollout of T4l. The managing directors of the individual com-
panies are responsible for implementing the program at a local level. The packages of measures may differ
depending on local circumstances. The implementation time will also vary.

The packages of measures are divided into eleven key initiatives:
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1. HR (Human Resources) Compliance Policies and Procedures

The aim of this key initiative is the integration of integrity and compliance into the standard HR processes
such as recruitment, training, promotion and remuneration (bonus payments). Integrity and compliance
are also a compulsory topic in annual employee appraisals and are a component of the training measures
for employees across all levels of the Company.

2. Code of Conduct

The Code of Conduct (CoC) is a key instrument for reinforcing employee awareness of responsible action
and decision making, creating the basis for compliance within the Company. The CoC serves as an aid,
provides support in finding the right contact persons where needed and is binding for all Group employees.
We and our employees undergo regular mandatory training in the key contents of the CoC.

3. Integrity Program

The integrity program is designed to reinforce the culture of integrity. Its objective is to communicate to
employees the importance of integrity and motivate employees to behave with integrity in their everyday
work. We regard integrity as an attitude; it provides an inner compass for correct action and becomes par-
ticularly decisive in gray areas, when explicit rules are missing or conflicting goals exist. We place particular
emphasis on making decisions with integrity. Appropriate training modules on this topic provide support
to all management levels, from foremen up to executives.

4. Risk Management and Internal Controls

Binding structures and processes are designed to help create transparency and manage risk. These include
the quarterly risk process, which focuses on acute risks, the standard internal control system (ICS), which is
designed to protect key processes, and root cause analysis.

5. Internal Compliance Risk Assessment

The internal compliance risk assessment (ICRA) identifies and addresses compliance risks in the Group, in
particular those risks involving corruption, money laundering and embezzlement. In the reporting period,
the ICRA process was brought into line with the requirements of the Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz
(LkSG - German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act). Compliance measures are developed and defined for each
company on the basis of the risk profiles derived from the ICRA.

6. Whistleblower System

The whistleblower system is the central point of contact for reporting cases of rule-breaking by Group
employees or by direct and indirect suppliers. This includes white collar crimes, acts of corruption, tax
offenses, environmental offenses, human rights violations, infringements of antitrust and competition
legislation, money laundering and terrorism financing, breaches of product safety and licensing regula-
tions, and serious breaches of privacy. Employees and third parties can report misconduct at any time and
in many languages. A wide range of channels is available for this purpose, and the information can be
lodged completely anonymously, if preferred. The aim is to use binding principles and a clearly governed
process to avert damage to the Company and its employees.

7. M&A and NCS compliance

In the event of planned mergers and acquisitions (M&A transactions), the relevant companies are audited
for commercial risks such as corruption, breaches of trust or fraud, and for human rights risks. The analyses
provide recommendations for the mitigation of the risks identified. This also applies to joint ventures and
to industrialization and cooperation projects with external partners. Furthermore, the Group Compliance
organization works to achieve appropriate compliance management at non-controlled shareholdings (NCSs),
i.e. companies that are not controlled by a Volkswagen Group company as a majority shareholder.
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8. Business Partner Due Diligence

In the business partner due diligence process, the integrity of business partners and suppliers is reviewed,
especially with regard to corruption risks and compliance with ethical standards. The aim is to identify
these risks at an early stage, to avoid such business partners, and to define measures to minimize risk and
implement these with the business partner. If this is not possible, options for terminating the business
relationship are explored, or the business relationship is not established in the first place.

9. Product Compliance

The product compliance management system (PCMS) is designed to ensure that our products comply with
the legal and regulatory requirements of the exporting and importing country, internal and external
standards, contractually agreed customer requirements and externally communicated voluntary commit-
ments over their life cycle.

10. Environmental Compliance

Statutory environmental regulations and voluntary commitments are binding at all locations and in all
business fields. The Group’s environmental policy and the environmental compliance management system
stipulate the relevant requirements and responsibilities for all strategy, planning and decision-making
processes in the Group brands and companies. This includes a system of key indicators to determine
progress in meeting environmental targets in the fields of renewable energy, CO, emissions and resource
efficiency.

11. Anti-Corruption

The Volkswagen Group has a zero-tolerance policy on active or passive corruption. This is anchored in both
our internal Code of Conduct and our Code of Conduct for Business Partners. Our investigation offices look
into and process any reported violations of our principles, and sanctions are imposed on the employees
concerned. Tackling corruption also includes the development and implementation of mandatory training
for employees in divisions or companies with a high risk exposure.

The aim of T4l is thus not only to strengthen uniform corporate governance throughout the Group in
relation to integrity and compliance, but also to advance the culture of integrity. This includes steadfast-
ness in adhering to principles of integrity regardless of economic or social pressures. T4I and the ICMS
therefore contribute significantly to increasing sustainability in the Volkswagen Group.

Sustainably measuring success

Methods for monitoring effectiveness and measuring progress are an integral part of the compliance
management system. The central planning and reporting system of the T4I program provides continuous
transparency on the implementation status of the key initiatives. It is used for internal reporting to the
Group Board of Management and the Brand Board of Management, makes project advances known and can
provide assistance when countermeasures are being introduced in response to project delays.
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In addition to this, the annual opinion survey provides information about the extent to which our culture
of integrity has developed. This Group-wide employee survey asks a number of questions, including
whether each individual is able to act with integrity. Where a fixed threshold value is not achieved, the
relevant manager must identify and remove possible obstacles together with the team.

To measure the level of target achievement in relation to integrity and legal matters, we have defined an
indicator for the major brands that manufacture passenger cars: compliance, a culture of dealing openly
with mistakes and acting with integrity. This is based on an evaluation of the answers to three questions in
the opinion survey that address compliance with regulations and processes, dealing with risks and errors,
and the possibility of acting with integrity. In the event of negative deviations, the relevant departments
develop and implement measures.

Compliance: clear rules in the Group

Compliance with the rules must be a matter of course for all employees of the Volkswagen Group. The
Group compliance organization provides support worldwide in the form of programs, guidelines, processes
and practical advice. It helps the Group and brand companies to comply with the rules when carrying out
their business activities and to comply with the relevant laws and internal regulations. The compliance
work focuses on the anti-corruption measures, and preventing fraudulent breaches of trust and money
laundering.

The Compliance Infopoint has established itself as the central help center for compliance questions in
the Volkswagen Group. The team either directly issues a recommendation on the matter in question or
forwards the query to a competent body. Case studies derived from these consultations are regularly
incorporated into communications about compliance. Employees can also contact the Compliance Info-
point directly via the Volkswagen 360° app, an option of particular benefit to employees without a computer
workstation of their own.

In addition, the Group Compliance organization offers training and communication formats tailored to
specific target groups — management discussions and training courses for key personnel being two of these.
Moreover, compliance content is part and parcel of all career development paths from the induction
program for trainees to programs for leadership and management development to the senior management
program. The measures are supplemented by information and communication activities such as awareness
campaigns, film and dialogue formats, newsletters and interactive games for learning about laws and rules.

The Group Compliance organization's program of activities addresses areas of importance for the
future. The activities include projects for cross-Group collaboration in the markets, further development of
IT-based compliance tools and exchange formats with internal and external compliance experts.

For more information on integrity and compliance, as well as the topic of business and human rights,
please see our 2022 Group Sustainability Report.

Il WHISTLEBLOWER SYSTEM
https://www.volk genag.com/en/group/compli -and-risk-manag 1t/whistlebl system.html
Phone: +49 5361 9 46300
E-mail: io@volkswagen.de
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CO, EMISSIONS OF THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP‘S EUROPEAN (EU27+2) NEW PASSENGER CAR FLEET
in grams per kilometer (WLTP)
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1 The European Commission switched its calculation of CO; fleet emissions from NEDC to WLTP in 2021.
2 Subject to confirmation of CO data within the scope of official publication by the European Commission.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Forward-looking mobility solutions with brand-defining products and services would be unthinkable
without innovation. This makes our research and development work essential for sustainably increasing
the value of the Company.

Together with our Group brands, we have launched measures based on our NEW AUTO strategy to link
development activities across the Group. At the heart of this is an efficient, cross-brand development
alliance characterized by a close network of our experts, collaboration on an equal footing, an innovative
working environment and the pooling of development activities. The aim is to make use of synergies across
the Group and act as a role model for the environment, safety and integrity. The development alliance plays
a major part in driving the Volkswagen Group’s transformation and helping to make it fit for the future.

In view of this strategic focus, we concentrated in the reporting period on continuing to develop
forward-looking mobility solutions, establishing technological expertise to strengthen our competitive-
ness, expanding our range of products and services and improving the functionality, quality, safety and
environmental compatibility of our products and services.

CO; fleet emissions
We use the strategic indicator of CO; fleet emissions in Europe and the United States to evaluate the
effectiveness of our measures to reduce CO; emissions when driving our vehicles.

The Volkswagen Group’s new passenger car fleet in the EU (EU27+2) (from 2022 including Lamborghini
and Bentley) emitted an average of 119 g CO,/km (Worldwide Harmonized Light Vehicles Test Procedure —
WLTP)! in the reporting period in accordance with the statutory measurement bases. The statutory target is
122 g CO,/km (WLTP)!. The Volkswagen Group thus more than met the EU’s CO; fleet target. All figures are
subject to confirmation of CO; data within the scope of official publication by the European Commission.
The targets are expected to be tightened as from 2025 (subject to publication in the EU Official Journal): the
European Commission has thus set a target of a 15% reduction in CO, emissions, which corresponds to a
CO; target of less than 105 g CO,/km for our new passenger car fleet in the EU. A reduction of 55% has been
defined for 2030, equivalent to a CO; target of less than 55 g CO./km. We assume that our new passenger car
fleet in the EU will meet the target for 2025 and more than meet the target for 2030. A CO, reduction target
of 100% for passenger cars has been set for 2035.

The Volkswagen Group’s new light commercial vehicles fleet in the EU emitted an average of 193 g
CO/km (WLTP)! in the reporting period according to the statutory measurement bases. The statutory
target is 199 g CO/km (WLTP)!. The Volkswagen Group thus more than met the EU’s CO, fleet target. All
figures are subject to confirmation of CO, data within the scope of official publication by the European
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CO,EMISSIONS IN VOLKSWAGEN GROUP PASSENGER CARS AND LIGHT COMMERCIAL VEHICLES UNDER GHG STANDARDS IN THE USA
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2 Subject to confirmation by EPA and CARB (final MY report MY21 submitted but not yet confirmed).

Commission. The targets are expected to be tightened as from 2025 (subject to publication in the EU
Official Journal): the European Commission has thus stipulated a 15% reduction of CO, emissions, which
corresponds to a CO; target of less than 184 g CO,/km for our new light commercial vehicle fleet in the EU.
A reduction of 50% has been defined for 2030, equivalent to a CO, target of less than 108 g CO,/km. We
assume that our new light commercial vehicles fleet in the EU will meet this target for 2025 and more than
meet the target for 2030. A CO, reduction target of 100% for light commercial vehicles has been set for
2035. In the United Kingdom and Switzerland/Liechtenstein markets, the Volkswagen Group’s light com-
mercial vehicle fleets met the statutory requirements for the reporting period. In Switzerland, the Volks-
wagen Group’s passenger car fleet fell just short of the statutory requirements for the reporting year. The
CO; pool established together with other manufacturers in the UK achieved its target.

In the United States, the emission pool — comprising the Group brands Volkswagen Passenger Cars, Audi,
Lamborghini, Bentley and Porsche — commits to the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) and Corporate Average Fuel
Economy (CAFE) regulations. Due to a model year — the accounting period used in the USA - differing in
length from the calendar year, internal calculations are used to determine the figures for the current and
preceding model year. The average GHG CO, value (internal data as of September 2022) for the passenger car
and light commercial vehicle fleets in model year 2022 is 141 g CO»/km (model year 2021: 146 g CO,/km). The
statutory target is 136 g CO./km (model year 2021: 142 g CO,/km). Application of the statutory flexibility
offered by GHG and CAFE together with externally acquired credits enabled the Volkswagen Group to
comply with the applicable requirements for model year 2021 subject to confirmation by the authorities.
The figure given for model year 2022 is also subject to confirmation by the Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA). For 2025, we anticipate a CO, target in the USA of approximately 110 g CO./km and expect to
meet this target. For 2030, we aim to increase the share of electric vehicles in our new vehicle fleet to
significantly more than 50%, which would put us within the target range of the current administration.

Fuel and drivetrain strategy

With a view to the legal regulations on emissions, we are currently developing a forward-looking vehicle
and drivetrain portfolio: we have set ourselves the objective of increasing drive system efficiency with each
new model generation — irrespective of whether it is a combustion engine, a hybrid or a purely electric drive
system. The Volkswagen Group closely coordinates technology and product planning with its brands so as
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to avoid breaches of fleet fuel consumption limits. Around one in five new Volkswagen Group vehicles
worldwide is therefore to have a purely electric drive already by the year 2025; depending on market
development, this could be over two million electric vehicles a year. As part of our electrification campaign,
we aim to offer our customers worldwide around 50 completely battery-electric models by 2030. By 2030,
the Volkswagen Group aims to have electrified its entire model portfolio, from high-volume models to
premium vehicles. This will mean offering at least one electric version — battery electric or hybrid vehicles -
of each of our passenger car models across all Group brands. To this end, in addition to the Modular Electric
Drive Toolkit (MEB), we have also developed an all-electric platform for our premium and sports brands — the
Premium Platform Electric (PPE). Furthermore, we are currently concentrating our energies on designing the
Scalable Systems Platform (SSP), the successor platform for our future all-electric vehicles, in the Mecha-
tronics technology initiative within the Group's NEW AUTO strategy. The strategic goals of this SSP plat-
form are to further reduce variance by consistently enhancing synergies and thus tapping into considerable
potential for cost savings. A first deployment of the SSP platform is currently under appraisal.

To offer sustainable, affordable mobility in the future for as many people around the world as possible,
we offer a range of drivetrains with a focus on electrification. From today’s perspective, conventional com-
bustion engines will continue to make up a large share of the drive portfolio in the coming years. In the
interest of using resources responsibly, it is therefore essential to further enhance this engine segment and
systematically consolidate it for specific markets. Powertrain measures such as significantly more sophisti-
cated exhaust gas purification or mild hybridization of our vehicles, as well as vehicle measures such as
optimized aerodynamics or reduced rolling resistance will be necessary to fulfill future emissions stan-
dards. We are preparing intensively for this as we develop our product portfolio.

It is more important to us than ever to rigorously pursue the modular approach. We are reducing the
number of individual modules so that we can make a large product portfolio economically viable. For
example, we are reducing the number of versions of conventional combustion engines in the Group in the
long term as part of our transformation towards e-mobility. This will create capacity for the development
and production of new electric drives.

Life cycle engineering and recycling

Technological innovation for reducing fuel consumption is not enough on its own to minimize the effect of
vehicles on the environment. We consider the environmental impact caused by our products throughout
the entire vehicle life cycle and at all stages of the value chain. This includes the manufacturing process
with the associated extraction of raw materials, the production of materials, the processes at our suppliers
and our own production operations at our sites, the use phase with the resulting vehicle emissions and the
necessary supply of fuel and charging current, and ultimately the recycling of the vehicle at the end of its
life cycle. We identify the stages of the life cycle at which improvements will have the greatest effect and
develop appropriate solutions. We call this life cycle engineering. Recycling, for example, is an important
means of reducing environmental impact and conserving resources. We therefore already take the recy-
clability of the required materials into consideration when developing new vehicles, use high-quality
recycled material and avoid pollutants. One of the recommendations for achieving this goal is avoiding
substances on the EU REACH Candidate List of Substances of Very High Concern. Under the European
Directive on end-of-life vehicles, passenger cars and light commercial vehicles must be 85% recyclable and
95 % recoverable. Our vehicles registered in Europe comply with these standards.
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Leveraging synergies increases efficiency

When developing vehicles, we cooperate closely with our brands to leverage synergies. The joint strategy of
our development alliance involves, for example, making the Group more competitive and viable in the long
term by deploying resources more effectively and efficiently in the research and development of new
mobility-related technologies, products and services. In our Group-wide development alliance, the brands
therefore not only work with each other, but also for each other on key technologies, forming cross-brand
networks of expertise to address topics of importance for the future.

The Volkswagen Group further streamlined its innovation portfolio, gearing it towards multibrand
technologies of the future in order to provide effective support for the brands’ capacity for innovation. In
the reporting period, we invigorated the new leading roles assigned to the brands in Technical Develop-
ment in 2020 to increase efficiency and leverage synergies in module variance, components, parts and
processes.

We coordinate the use of modules centrally to reduce costs, capital expenditure and complexity. We are
seeking to reduce expenditure in the modular toolkits, while at the same time facilitating widespread elec-
trification and a focus on autonomous systems. We wish to achieve this through a considerable reduction
in complexity using streamlined platforms that synergize but do not overlap. To this end, the individual
Group brands draw on the modular toolkits, thus creating synergies between the various models of a
product line, as well as across the product lines. By optimizing the toolkits, we are giving ourselves the
financial leeway needed for developments in topics of importance for the future.

Sustainable mobility, connectivity and automated driving

The mobility of people and goods is a prerequisite for economic growth and social development. But
natural resources are dwindling and climate change is advancing. This calls for comprehensive mobility
concepts to minimize the environmental impact. Such solutions need to be efficient, sustainable, crisis-
proof, customer-oriented and accessible anytime and anywhere.

We are researching and developing such concepts in our Group-wide alliance: when shaping the future
of mobility, we are looking not only at the automobile and related services, but at all modes of transport,
transport infrastructures and people’s mobility habits. Digital connectivity and automated driving allow
for completely new approaches to solving problems. They can help us play our part in a comprehensive
mobility system for the future and drive forward our industry’s transformation.

New software solutions are the basis for this. This is why the Volkswagen Group has declared software
development to be one of its target core competencies in its NEW AUTO strategy. Our software subsidiary
CARIAD is responsible for this. It is to develop a sustainable, convenient, connected, safe automotive experi-
ence for the customers of our Group brands. CARIAD aims to provide answers to the strategic aspects of
digitalization and pool the Group's software expertise.

Developers from CARIAD work at plants in Germany and Europe and collaborate with development
teams from the Volkswagen Group in North America. CARIAD established a subsidiary in China in 2022. Its
mission of ‘In China for China’ allows the local development teams to sharpen their focus on the wishes of
Chinese customers. CARIAD SE employs around 5,500 specialists who are developing the following solu-
tions in the Group:
> VW.OS, a uniform software platform for all Group vehicles
> Uniform end-to-end electronics architectures
> Connectivity with VW.AC, a uniform Volkswagen Automotive Cloud
> An infotainment platform with an app store for third-party providers
> Driver assistance systems, automated parking functions and highly automated driving for private

mobility
> A data marketplace
> New mobility services and digital business models
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In 2022, the teams of developers from CARIAD worked closely together with the Audi and Porsche brands to
complete the E3 1.2 architecture that will optimize the alignment of the hardware with CARIAD’s vehicle
software. This is designed not only to improve the performance of the vehicle’s computers but also to make
it easier to install over-the-air updates — a key lever for the introduction of new services — even after vehicle
production has begun.

CARIAD is already supplying updatable software for current vehicle generations on its E* 1.1 architecture
to the Group brands with the goal of making the software secure and traceable. It is already being installed
in the vehicles as over-the-air updates.

In the long term, CARIAD is to pool all of its solutions on an enhanced, scalable software platform that
will be made available to the Group brands, from the volume segment up to the premium platform. This is
expected to generate economies of scale and to lower the cost of growing software requirements in the
vehicle for all brands.

The new platform is also set to pave the way for the autonomous driving functions of the future. The
development of autonomous driving is a core element of the NEW AUTO strategy, with CARIAD responsible
for developing partially and highly automated driving functions (up to Level 4) for the Volkswagen Group’s
brands. These applications will be progressively introduced in their new vehicle models at different
performance levels (Levels 2+, 3 or 4). Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles is responsible specifically for the
areas of Mobility as a Service and Transportation as a Service (MaaS/TaaS). The strategic Mobility Solutions
technology initiative is promoting autonomous driving in conjunction with new service models, i.e. shared
mobility in these areas using robotic shuttles and vans.

CARIAD and Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles will continue to drive the future rollout of autonomous
drive technologies together with development partners.

Pooling strengths with strategic alliances

The aim of our NEW AUTO strategy is to transform our core business activities and to expand the mobility
solutions business area at the same time. It is decisive to the success of this plan that we place our
innovative strength on even broader foundations.

Within the Volkswagen Group, we combine our technological innovation activities in the Volkswagen
Group Innovation unit. At seven locations worldwide in the USA, Europe and Asia, employees are working
on sustainable solutions for urban and interurban mobility systems in line with our motto “Mobility for
generations to come”. Technologies and activities that are ready for pre-development are regularly trans-
ferred from Volkswagen Group Innovation to our Group brands to ensure that the areas of digitalization,
sustainability and e-mobility receive continuous support in innovative projects. In this way, we are creating
an agile innovation structure that allows us to initiate new milestone projects with innovative international
partners, even at short notice.
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Growth in the mobility sector is strongly defined through regional innovation activities. Volkswagen
therefore concentrates its strategic venture-capital activities and partnerships in the Group’s international
innovation ecosystem. This helps us to identify the regional needs of customers more precisely, to adjust
our product range accordingly and to establish competitive cost structures. In doing so, we rely to a greater
extent than in the past on partnerships, acquisitions and venture-capital investments and manage invest-
ment selection centrally so as to generate maximum value for the Group and its brands. It is against this
backdrop that we formed an alliance with Ford Motor Company. At the beginning of June 2020, Ford Motor
Company and Volkswagen AG signed additional contracts within their existing global alliance for light
commercial vehicles, electrification and autonomous driving. Among other things, the contracts serve as
the foundation for a total of three vehicle projects: a mid-sized pickup, a city van and a one-tonne cargo
van. In addition, Ford will use the Modular Electric Drive Toolkit (MEB) developed by Volkswagen for two
electric volume models that are expected to be offered in Europe from 2023. The aim of the cooperation is
to place both Volkswagen and Ford in a position that enables them to improve their competitiveness, tailor
their products to better meet the needs of customers worldwide and at the same time to leverage synergies
related to cost and investment.

We are transforming ourselves into a mobility provider with a digital ecosystem and a fully connected
vehicle fleet. Together with our strategic partner Microsoft, we intend to press ahead with software develop-
ment for the automobile of tomorrow. The Automated Driving Platform being built with Microsoft is
accelerating the agile development of cloud-based driver assistance systems and automated driving and
parking functions by our software teams.

To design the framework conditions for the approval and introduction of our own self-driving system,
we are actively involved in public projects. The experience we are gathering here benefits the Group brands
and thus our customers.

Software subsidiary CARIAD is responsible for developing automated driving functions for our brands’
customers, for which it entered into several major partnerships in 2022. In the Automated Driving Alliance,
CARIAD and Bosch are striving to make partially and highly automated driving suitable for mass use, i.e.
also in the volume segment. The aim is to provide functions for Group vehicles that allow drivers to take
their hands off the steering wheel at times where this is possible in regulatory terms. In the alliance, both
companies are jointly developing Level 2 hands-free systems for driving in cities, the countryside and on
the highway, and a system in which the vehicle takes over the complete task of driving on the highway.

CARIAD has entered into a local partnership with Horizon Robotics to drive up development expertise in
highly automated driving functions in the Chinese market. The companies also plan to develop a high-tech
semiconductor, a system on a chip (SoC), as part of a new joint venture to push the integration of numerous
functions on a single chip.

Over and above this, CARIAD is committed to open collaboration in the global developer community.
CARIAD joined the Eclipse Foundation open source community in 2022, where as a strategic member of the
Software Defined Vehicle working group it is involved in developing basic automotive software more
efficiently and promoting innovation.
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Key R&D figures

In fiscal year 2022, we filed 5,305 (5,638) patent applications worldwide for employee inventions, the
majority of them in Germany. The fact that an ever-increasing share of these patents is for important
cutting-edge fields underscores our Company’s innovative power. These fields include driver assistance
systems and automation, digitalization, connectivity, as well as alternative drive systems.

The Automotive Division’s total research and development costs in the reporting period amounted to
€18.9 (15.6) billion and were 21.3% higher than in the previous year; their percentage of the Automotive
Division’s sales revenue — the R&D ratio — was 8.1 (7.6)%. In addition to new models, our activities focused
above all on the electrification of our vehicle portfolio, digitalization, new technologies and enhancements
of our modular and all-electric toolkits and platforms. The capitalization ratio was 51.4(50.3)%. Research
and development expenditure recognized in profit or loss in accordance with the IFRSs increased to
€14.3 (12.8) billion.

As of December 31, 2022, our Research and Development departments - including the equity-accounted
Chinese joint ventures — employed 58,912 people (+11.1%) Group-wide, corresponding to 8.7% of the total
workforce. The year-on-year increase is partly due to a change in the data collection methodology.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS IN THE AUTOMOTIVE DIVISION

€ million 2022 2021
& ]

Total research and development costs 18,908 15,583
of which capitalized development costs 9,723 7,843
Capitalization ratio in % 51.4 50.3
Amortization of capitalized development costs 5,144 5,050
Research and development costs recognized in profit or loss 14,329 12,790
Sales revenue 232,385 206,237
Total research and development costs 18,908 15,583
R&D ratio 8.1 7.6
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PROCUREMENT

In fiscal year 2022, the main task for Procurement was to make a decisive contribution to the Group’s result
in five areas: costs, supplies, sustainability, quality and innovation. The challenges related to supplies and
costs were the area of focus. 2022 was mainly devoted to safeguarding the supply of parts. Through pin-
pointed task force work, we minimized impending vehicle losses due particularly to the shortage of parts in
connection with the Russia-Ukraine conflict. In the second half of 2022, the focus was additionally on rising
energy prices, the resulting supplier receivables, and safeguarding the energy supply at the company’s own
plants and at those of its suppliers.

Procurement strategy

The NEW AUTO Group strategy also stands for more speed, focus and stringency within the Procurement
division, accelerating change even more. In 2022, we continued to drive forward and improve our
functional area strategy. Alongside short-term cost targets, our strategy seeks to improve our supply
situation, increase product quality and boost innovativeness and sustainability. The goals are based on the
NEW AUTO Group strategy and are driving Volkswagen’s transformation also from within the Procurement
division. In addition, we are also creating optimized structures for our procurement staff and establishing
further focus areas with the digitalization of our processes and increased employee orientation.

E-mobility
A key task for Procurement is to safeguard supplies for the continually growing requirements of the
e-mobility offensive over the next five to ten years in a sustainable way, while optimizing cost structures.
When awarding contracts to our electric mobility partners, we lay down requirements as regards
sustainable supplier practices, transparent, traceable supply streams, and energy- and carbon-optimized
supply chains. Global demand from the European, American and Asian markets is bundled in the awarding
of Group contracts with the aim of achieving cost leadership for electric mobility solutions. To this end, we
consider diversification in conjunction with dual-supplier strategies as well as localization of the supplier
portfolio for all core components of the electric vehicle fleet in an effort to reduce economic and geo-
political risks.

Digitalization of supply

We are working systematically to implement a completely digitalized supply chain. This is intended to help
us to safeguard supply and leverage synergies throughout the Group. We are therefore creating a shared
database and using innovative technologies to enable efficient, networked collaboration in real time — both
within the Group and with our partners. The Procurement division aims to standardize transactions with
our suppliers in the future and automate them where possible. This will not only reduce transaction costs
but will also accelerate business processes. The integration of Catena-X, the data network for the auto-
motive industry, is one important part of this. It will allow possible supply risks to be identified at an earlier
stage and appropriate measures and alternatives to be jointly developed faster. Procurement’s digitalization
strategy is being consistently followed with the specific aim of not only eliminating the weaknesses of Pro-
curement’s IT system environment but also increasing the organization’s effectiveness, efficiency and
future viability. The initial systems or modules such as a cloud-based module for automating procurement
activities in the vehicle project phase and an acclaimed online negotiation tool have already been
implemented and integrated into the existing system environment.

184



Group Management Report Sustainable Value Enhancement

Structure of key purchasing markets
The procurement process is organized at a global level, with a presence in the key markets around the
world. This allows us to purchase production materials, investments in property, plant and equipment, and
services worldwide at the quality required and on the best possible terms. Networking among the brands’
procurement organizations enables us to leverage synergies across the Group in the various purchasing
markets.

In addition to the brands’ procurement units, the Volkswagen Group operates seven regional offices. In
growth markets, we identify and train local suppliers to generate cost advantages for all Group production
sites. In this context, we are also focusing on start-ups and software suppliers.

Supply chain management in Procurement

Supply chain management activities at Procurement are focused on safeguarding supplies during start-up
phases and for series production. This entails providing support in our suppliers’ industrialization pro-
cesses, monitoring series production and managing supply crises, for example energy and raw material
shortages related to the Covid-19 pandemic and the Russia-Ukraine conflict.

Even in the early stages of new projects, we conduct audits to ensure that our suppliers will be able to
deliver. Furthermore, we provide support for purchased parts along the individual project milestones up to
the start of production. Complex components in particular frequently require onsite support from our
supplier management team. Finally, an acceptance test of production capacities is carried out to facilitate
the timely start of series production of the vehicles at our plants.

In addition, regular checks are carried out during series production, for example related to the con-
tinuous matching of demand and capacity or possible capacity adjustments at suppliers. This also safe-
guards the capacity at suppliers when using existing components in new projects.

Thanks to our established crisis management structure and global supplier network, we are able to
overcome complex challenges along the supply chain and have access to a wide range of locations and
technologies. This structure has been instrumental in helping us cope in particular with the impact of the
Russia-Ukraine conflict, which has necessitated the construction of backup sites. Cross-divisional work
among Procurement, Quality Assurance, Development, Production and Logistics reduced short-term losses
and successfully industrialized the backup sites.

The measures pursued as a consequence of the Russia-Ukraine conflict demonstrate that global supplier
management is working effectively. However, the precarious supply situation, especially for semiconduc-
tors, resulted in limited vehicle availability for customers.

Sustainability in supplier relationships
Successful relationships with our business partners are based on respecting human rights, compliance with
occupational health and safety standards, active environmental protection and combating corruption.
These sustainability standards are defined in the contractually binding Volkswagen Group Requirements
for Sustainability in Relations with Business Partners (Code of Conduct for Business Partners). The Code of
Conduct for Business Partners also sets out the expectation that business partners will take steps to ensure
compliance in their supply chain. We review compliance with the requirements, which has been an explicit
condition for the award of contracts since 2019, using sustainability ratings for relevant suppliers. The
relevance of a business partner for this rating depends, among other things, on the size of the company or
the risk exposure arising from the type of service provided.

In our sustainability rating, we determine suppliers’ sustainability performance by means of self-
disclosures and risk-based on-site audits. By the end of the reporting period, we had obtained 12,660
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ratings for suppliers, covering 75% of the total order volume. Both the validation of the questionnaire and
the on-site audits are carried out by selected service providers. As a rule, contracts are not awarded to
suppliers who fail to meet our requirements concerning compliance with sustainability standards. Tying
award decisions to sustainability criteria is one of the strongest levers for enforcing these. We address
existing sustainability risks and violations of sustainability principles by systematically defining and
implementing measures to correct the violations; this also includes the upstream supply chain. In the
reporting period we continued to offer advanced and continuing training for suppliers. In fiscal year 2022,
more than 2,900 suppliers took advantage of our training programs such as digital supplier training
courses and e-learning.

With regard to decarbonization, the Volkswagen Group is striving to continuously reduce greenhouse
gas emissions or avoid them altogether over the entire life cycle of a vehicle. The Group’s transformation
into a provider of sustainable mobility solutions and in particular the trend towards electric mobility are
shifting the action required from the service life of the vehicle to supply chains and the manufacture of
vehicles and components. We are aware of our social responsibility and are committed to the Paris Climate
Agreement. We have therefore incorporated the use of renewable energy, among other things, into the
specifications for cell manufacturers.

In our sustainable supply management, we are also involved in protecting groups of people who may be
subject to a high risk of potential human rights violations at any point in our supply chain. We imple-
mented a human rights focus system in 2022 to comply with international frameworks and requirements
and specifically the Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz (German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act). The
system aims to identify particularly high risks in our supply chain in connection with human rights
violations and the environment and to manage these appropriately. We continued to implement our raw
material due diligence management system to manage the sometimes extensive risks in the raw material
supply chains. This sets out in detail the prioritization and processing of the raw material supply chains
that we classify as particularly high risk. Transparency requirements for our battery suppliers constitute an
important basis for responsible raw material purchasing. Within the framework of these contractual
requirements, we ask, for example, that our battery suppliers disclose their entire upstream supply chain
before we award new contracts.

For more information on human rights, please see the section on Supply Chain and Human Rights in our
2022 Sustainability Report.

TECHNOLOGY
The Technology Board position is responsible for the following focus areas: all activities of Volkswagen
Group Components, the marketing of the Volkswagen platforms and components to third parties, the
development, manufacturing and procurement of battery cells (Cell and Battery technology initiative), and
all topics relating to charging and energy for the Group worldwide (Charging and Energy Services technol-
ogy initiative).

The aim is further improvement of future viability and competitiveness through cross-brand manage-
ment of technology activities and a value creation strategy coordinated throughout the Group. Synergies
are to be leveraged across both traditional technologies and future areas to advance the transition to
e-mobility.

The Volkswagen Group formalized its objectives for battery and charging for 2030 in its technology
roadmap. With the battery roadmap we aim to significantly reduce the complexity and cost of this key
component so as to make electric vehicles attractive and affordable for as many people as possible.
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Battery

In 2022, Volkswagen founded the battery company PowerCo SE that will be responsible for the Group’s
global battery activities. From the new European battery hub in Salzgitter, this company will manage the
development of international factory operations, continuous development of cell technology, vertical
integration of the value chain and supplies of machinery and equipment to factories. Other products such
as large-scale storage systems for the energy grid are planned for further down the line.

At the ceremony for laying the foundation stone for the Group’s first battery cell factory in Salzgitter,
which is due to start production in 2025, PowerCo presented two key concepts with which it intends to set
industry standards in the future. One is the unified battery cell, which allows flexible use of many different
chemical elements and is to be fitted in up to 80% of all Group models. The second key concept is the
standard factory, which aims to enable the rapid rollout of in-house production with standardized build-
ings, equipment, IT and infrastructure and will thus be able to be adapted quickly and flexibly to future
innovations.

A second cell factory will be built in Valencia, Spain and possible locations for three more cell factories in
Europe are currently being explored. PowerCo is already conducting a site search for further gigafactories in
North America as well. Each factory is to operate solely on renewable power and be designed for future
closed-loop recycling. In addition to the cell manufacturer PowerCo, a center of excellence has also been
established, whose responsibilities include Group-wide product management for battery cells and battery
systems, the development of battery systems and supplier quality.

Vertical integration

Vertical integration of value creation is one of the main components of the battery strategy. By building up
its own cell production, Volkswagen will progressively take charge of further stages of the value chain so
that it can exercise greater influence over the availability, cost and sustainability of key raw materials and
other items. Examples include a long-term supply agreement with Vulcan Energy Resources for carbon-
neutral lithium from the Rhine Rift Valley and a memorandum of understanding with the Canadian
government for accelerating the development of sustainable, regional raw material supply chains in North
America.

Cathode materials have a key role to play in the transformation to e-mobility as a major cost factor and
one of the main components in batteries. PowerCo and the Belgian materials technology group Umicore
have formed a joint venture that aims to supply cathode and primary materials to the European cell
factories starting in 2025. The partners aim to be producing materials for 160 GWh of cell capacity per year
by the end of the decade.

Charging and Energy

Since early 2021, all activities in the Charging and Energy area have been combined and managed by the
Technology Board position, which will thus play a key role in the Group’s electric mobility strategy in its bid
to become the leading provider of a smart charging and energy ecosystem.

As part of the Group’s strategic alignment, the Charging and Energy area is focusing on two key areas.
Firstly, sales of electric vehicles are being underpinned by the international development of a widespread
charging infrastructure. With a joint participation of our Group brands Volkswagen Passenger Cars, Audi
and Porsche in the pan-European high power charging (HPC) joint venture IONITY, the Ewiva joint venture
in Italy formed by Volkswagen and Enel and other partnerships, an extensive charging infrastructure is
being developed to safeguard mobility. The number of public fast charging points in Europe is to be
increased to 18,000 by 2025. At the same time, the charging network in North America is to be increased to
10,000 fast charging points in collaboration with Electrify America, while the charging network in China is
planned to be expanded to 17,000 fast charging points in conjunction with CAMS. Secondly, sustainable
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business models are being developed by expanding value creation, such as smart and energy market-
integrated charging. The Group acts as a vehicle charging subscription provider in Europe with its charging
and energy brand Elli. This proprietary charging service gives customers with any electric vehicle access to
some 450,000 charging points with approximately 20,000 fast chargers operated by around 800 providers
across 27 countries. In addition, Elli’s product portfolio also includes the full range of charging solutions for
private customers and companies, from the Company’s own wallboxes to flexible fast-charging stations
and smart green electricity tariffs.

Drivetrain and Platform

The independent corporate entity Volkswagen Group Components, under the umbrella of Volkswagen AG,
employs around 70,000 people worldwide. The focus of their expertise is the development and manu-
facture of vehicle components. As part of the restructuring of Group Components, the former business unit
structure was transferred to the Drivetrain and Platform area in a modified form as product lines (con-
ventional powertrain, chassis and electric drivetrain) with effect from April 1, 2021. The product lines
assume responsibility for product management and product costs across all locations, covering Group
Components’ conventional portfolio.

Besides the product lines, the development areas of Group Components are combined in the Drivetrain
and Platform area. The development portfolio focuses on the following areas: chassis components, steering
systems, drive shafts, transmissions, electric drives and thermal management systems in the electric
drivetrain. The new Systems and Innovation Development department, which was created when all compo-
nents were bundled at organizational level, is working on the holistically optimized electric drivetrain
across all business areas. Close integration of product management and development in the Drivetrain and
Platform area are expected to optimize product costs, further sharpen the portfolio of Group Components
and play a key role in shaping the electric drivetrain of the future.

Platform Business

Group-wide responsibility for external sales of platforms and components has been combined in the
Technology Board position. The scope of this Platform Business organizational unit extends to successful
initiation and acquisition (including contract design) as well as to support of customer projects including
the related order processing (logistics, billing). In the cooperation project with Ford, the necessary cross-
brand structures and processes have been created within the Volkswagen organization so that other
external customers can also be efficiently served in the future. Expansion of the cooperation with Ford was
agreed in 2022. The automaker aims to manufacture around 1.2 million vehicles based on the MEB - double
the volume of prior arrangements. Volkswagen is also exploring a supply agreement with Indian
automaker Mahindra for MEB components such as electric motors and battery systems.

PRODUCTION
The international, cross-brand production network enables the process from the supplier to the factory and
assembly line, and from the factory to dealers and customers. Enduring efficiency is a prerequisite for our
competitiveness. To be able to meet the challenges of the future, we rely on holistic optimizations, forward-
looking innovations, robust supply streams and structures, and a flexible team. At 8.72 million vehicles,
global vehicle production in fiscal year 2022 was 5.2% up on the prior-year figure. Productivity increased by
1.2% year-on-year.

The shortage of semiconductors and the disruption of supply chains caused by the Russia-Ukraine
conflict and the Covid-19 pandemic restricted production in the Volkswagen Group; the supply and produc-
tion situation eased toward the end of the reporting period.
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VEHICLE PRODUCTION LOCATIONS OF THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP
Share of total production 2022 in percent

NORTH AMERICA
8 locations (8%)

ASIA
20 locations (38%)

SOUTH AMERICA
6 locations (5%)

’ AFRICA

4 locations (1%)

one.PRODUCTION production strategy

Production is supporting the NEW AUTO Group strategy with its one.PRODUCTION functional area strategy.
By adopting a common approach for the thematic focus of our activities, we aim to pool the strengths and
potential of our global production and logistics across brands and take advantage of the resulting synergy
effects.

We have created content clusters around the following topics: production network, efficient processes,
environment, digitalization and innovation, and cooperation. Within these five strategic goals, expert teams
work on the strategic topics relevant for production in the Group. Examples include the design of our global
production network, increasing efficiency in production processes, the reduction and offsetting of environ-
mental impact throughout the production process, and the digital transformation of production and
working processes and of collaboration formats.

Our scenario-based strategy process provides the thematic framework for the strategic goals. The over-
arching aim is to increase productivity and profitability. This will enable us to manufacture high-quality
products at our sites that give customers maximum benefit at competitive prices.

Global production network
The Group’s production network encompasses 119 production sites, including our Chinese joint ventures.
72 of which are vehicle production plants. Standardizing production with uniform product concepts, plants,
operating equipment and production processes within a product family is a key factor in our forward-
looking production. We are constantly enhancing our production concepts and aligning them with new
technologies to achieve ambitious targets in the individual projects. In a challenging environment, the
Volkswagen Group succeeded in starting up 38 vehicle projects in 2022, 12 of which were new products or
successor products and 26 were product upgrades and derivatives.

The flexible production capacities provided by our platforms allow us to respond to market challenges,
make requirements-based use of the production network and leverage synergies across brands through
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multibrand sites. Currently, almost half of the 46 passenger car locations are already multibrand locations.
The Bratislava plant continues to serve as a prime example in the Group, producing vehicles for the Volks-
wagen Passenger Cars, SKODA, Audi and Porsche brands.

With its NEW AUTO Group strategy, the Volkswagen Group has set itself the goal of becoming one of the
world’s leading providers of sustainable mobility. Here, the priority is to make mobility solutions which are
innovative, efficient, sustainable and customer-oriented, as well as geared towards profitable growth. The
foundation for these efforts was the introduction of the Modular Electric Drive Toolkit (MEB), which we are
using to complement our range with additional battery-electric vehicles. We have been manufacturing
battery-electric vehicles based on the MEB in Zwickau, the Volkswagen Group’s first electric car factory,
since 2019. One example is the ID.3 from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand. The portfolio of the MEB
platform in Zwickau was expanded in 2021 through the addition of the CUPRA Born and the Audi Q4 e-tron,
and in 2022 through the addition of the ID.5 from Volkswagen Passenger Cars. Furthermore, we use an all-
electric platform for premium and sports brands — the Premium Platform Electric (PPE) - to leverage
synergies in production across brands. This meant that electric v